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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute "fadadlaoking statements” within the meaning of the PBv&ecurities Litigatic
Reform Act of 1995. Such forwaldoking statements involve known and unknown rigkssertainties and other factors which may caus
actual results, performance or achievements to atenmally different from any future results, perfance, or achievements expresse
implied by such forward-looking statements. Forwimaking statements may include, but are not limitedhe ability of our patents to prot
our products from generic competition, our abilibyprotect and enforce our patent rights in anyagaph IV patent infringement litigatic
whether private plaintiffs will challenge the Seftlent Agreements we entered into with each of arrRaceutical and Impax Laborato
relating to our Oxecta® patent infringement litigat, whether or not additional third parties may seeknerket generic versions of Oxe@ta
and the results of any litigation that we havedfitg may file to defend and/or assert our pategéénst such companies, the possible occur
of one of the specific events that would resultPiar Pharmaceutical Impax Laboratoriemarketing a generic Oxecta@arlier than w
anticipate, the possible approval by the U.S. Faodl Drug Administration (“FDA”) of Sandoz Inc.’s Banbaxy Incs generic Oxecta prodt
prior to the expiry of our patents covering Oxeaar and our licensee's ability to successfully thuand commercialize our products
technologies including Oxecta® Tablets and Nexafdd®lets, the price discounting that may be offdsgdPfizer for Oxecta, our and ¢
licensee's ability to obtain necessary regulatgmyrevals and commercialize products utilizing cechinologies and the market acceptant
and competitive environment for any of our produtie willingness of wholesalers and pharmaciesttak Nexafed Tablets, expectati
regarding potential market share for our produntsthe timing of first sales, our ability to enteto additional license agreements for our c
product candidates, our exposure to product lighéind other lawsuits in connection with the conmeiadization of our products, the increa
cost of insurance and the availability of produability insurance coverage, the ability to avandringement of patents, trademarks and ¢
proprietary rights of third parties, and the abilib fulfill the FDA requirements for approving ouaroduct candidates for commer
manufacturing and distribution in the United Statesluding, without limitation, the adequacy ofethesults of the laboratory and clini
studies completed to date, the results of laboyadad clinical studies we may complete in the fatiox support FDA approval of our prod
candidates and the sufficiency of our developmemnnéet over-theounter, or OTC, Monograph standards as applicéiieadequacy of tl
development program for our product candidateduéticg whether additional clinical studies will bequired to support FDA approval of «
product candidates, changes in regulatory requinésnadverse safety findings relating to our prodamdidates, whether the FDA will ag
with our analysis of our clinical and laboratorydies and how it may evaluate the results of tlstsdies or whether further studies of
product candidates will be required to support Fapproval, whether or when we are able to obtain Eparoval of labeling for our prodt
candidates for the proposed indications and wilabke to promote the features of our abuse disgingatechnologies, whether our proc
candidates will ultimately deter abuse in commémédtings and whether our Impede technology witupt the processing of pseudoephec
into methamphetamine. In some cases, you can fgdativard{ooking statements by terms such as "may," "wiktould," "could," "would,
"expects,” "plans," "anticipates," "believes," Testes," "projects,” "predicts," "potential” andndliar expressions intended to identify forward
looking statements. These statements reflect auercuviews and beliefs with respect to future ésemmd are based on assumptions and si
to significant risks and uncertainties. Given thaseertainties, you should not place undue relisorc¢hese forwardboking statements. V
discuss many of these risks in greater detailamIfLA of this Report.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assuomgti the forwardeoking events and circumstances discussed inRbort may ne
occur and actual results could differ materiallyl atlversely from those anticipated or implied ia fbrward-looking statements. Forward
looking statements speak only as of the date efRiport, and Acura undertakes no obligation taateodr revise these statements.




PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagtiresearch, development and commercializafie@chnologies and produ
intended to address medication abuse and misugée have discovered and developed two proprietachin@ogies. Our Aversid
Technology is a mixture of inactive ingredientsdrmorated into pharmaceutical tablets and capsukefded to address some comi
methods of product tampering associated with opadidse. Pfizer Inc.’s Oxecta®xycodone HCI) tablets, Cll is the first approven
marketed product utilizing Aversion and is commalized under our license agreement with a subsidi&iPfizer, or the Pfizer Agreement.
We have also developed our Impedé&hnology which is a combination of inactive irdjents that prevent the extraction of pseudoephe
from tablets and disrupt the direct conversionsduymloephedrine from tablets into methamphetamine.

We have 7 additional opioid products utilizing Asien in various stages of developmer@@ur product containing hydrocodone bitart
and acetaminophen utilizing the Aversion technoJamyhydrocodone/acetaminophen, is the most adebopmid product in development ¢
the primary focus of our opioid development effort$lydrocodone/acetaminophen is the most widely piesdrand often abused opi
product in the United StatesWe filed an Investigational New Drug Applicatiorr, IND, with the Food and Drug Administration, or ADon
December 20, 2012, which became effective in lateudry 2013. On August 26, 2013, we announceddp-line results from Study AP-
ADF-301 (“Study 301"), a phase Il clinical study in 40 recreational drupusers assessing the liability of snorting
hydrocodone/acetaminophen product. Study 301s pyireadpoint indicated that Aversion hydrocodonet@menophen had slightly low
numeric mean maximum drug liking compared to arivedent dose of a generic hydrocodone/acetaminopdiget, however these results w
not statistically significant. The Study 301 secondary endpoints demonstratddtitalt significance in mean minimum drug likingetOvera
Drug Liking score and the Take Drug Again assessme®n December 5, 2013, we met with the FDA to disdtiise FDA will conside
whether the results of Study 301 are acceptablsubmission in a New Drug Application, or NDAOn February 7, 2014, the FDA adviser
their discussion of whether the results of study-ABF-301 could support abuse-deterrent labelingomgoing. We expect that tt
development program for our other Aversion opioidoducts in development will be consistent with thaet Oxecta and o
hydrocodone/acetaminophen product candidate.

We launched Nexafed commercially in niddcember 2012 into the $1 billion United Statesrdlkie counter market, or OTC, for ¢
and allergy products containing a decongestahtexafed was demonstrated in a clinical study totntee FDA Guideline standards
bioequivalence to the reference drug Sudafed® ntedkey Johnson & Johnson CorporatioWe anticipate developing line extensions for
Nexafed franchise to capitalize on the many difier@mbination offerings in the OTC cold/allergy nket and expect to launch our first |
extension in 2014. We also are developing a gereration of our Impede Technology in order téhfeir improve our Nexafed franchise.

We also have discovered an eastgge technology which, in proof of concept labamatests, demonstrates the ability to limit
release of the active ingredient from tablets wimerltiple tablets are consumed simultaneously.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to become a leading specialty pharntaaucompany focused on addressing the growingesalcproblem ¢
pharmaceutical drug abuse by developing a broatfiotiorof products with abuse deterrent featured benefits. Specifically, we intend to:




« Capitalize on our experience and expertise in tegearch and development of technologies that addmesdication abuse and
misuse We have two products commercially launched aioimig our Aversion and Impede Technologies. Metioue to invest in
improvements in these technologies and to innavete technologies to address medication abuse aswubm

« Leverage our technologies by developing a full lafepharmaceutical products which utilize our prgpary technologies.
Medication abuse and misuse is not limited to gindfugs but often pervades entire drug categori®¥ge intend to develop or
collaborate with strategically focused pharmacelittompanies to develop multiple products in thespription opioid and OTC
cold/allergy markets with our technologi

« Commercialize our products with our internal resoes or license to strategically focused compamethé United States and other
geographic territories. We have developed a small infrastructure to mencialize our OTC products that utilize the Impede
Technology. We have licensed our Aversion Teabgwlto Pfizer for use in Oxecta in the United Staded Mexico. We are
seeking licensing partners for our Aversion and dd® technologies worldwide, and marketing partriersNexafed outside the
United States

« Maintain an efficient internal cost structu. We maintain an efficient internal cost structfoeused on discovering new technologie:s
and developing product formulations using thos@netogies. We also have a small, focused OTC etinds and sales team. We
outsource many high cost elements of developmethtcammercialization, such as clinical trials anghaeercial manufacturing that
minimize required fixed overhead and capital inirestt and thereby reduces our business

« In-license or acquire technologies and/or productgxpand our portfolio of technologies and product&Ve intend to pursue the in-
license or acquisition of product candidates awtirielogies that will allow us to expand our poiiodf products. Such in-licensing
or acquisition transactions, if successfully cortgde of which no assurance can be given, may ieclpbduct candidates or
technologies for pain relief, addiction, and ottargs.

Aversion Technology Overview

Aversion Technology is a unique composition of thacpharmaceutical ingredients utilized with arioigh or other drug susceptible of abus
provide abuse deterrent functionalityAll of our Aversion Technology opioid products arevered by six issued U.S. patents, which e
between 2023 and 20250ur Aversion Technology products are intended tivigle the same therapeutic benefits of the actiug thgredier
as currently marketed products containing the sactige pharmaceutical ingredient, while simultarspuliscouraging the following comm
methods of pharmaceutical product misuse and abuse:

. Drug abusers may dissolve pharmaceutitdéts or capsules in water, alcohol, or other comsalvents, filter the dissolv
solution into a syringe, and inject the resultihgd intravenously to obtain euphoric effectéwersion Technology tablets dissolver
generally available solvents, including water aohbl, into a volume and form suitable for intrages injection, converts the tat
into a viscous gel mixture.We believe this gel will limit or impede drug abtsérom extracting and injecting the active ingeedi
from our tablets.

. Drug abusers may crush pharmaceuticaltablecapsules and intranasally snort the resufiowder to absorb active ingredi
through the nasal passages to obtain euphorictefféeEhe combination of Aversion Technology inactive redjents is intended
induce nasal passage discomfort if the tabletsaoeted. We believe products which utilize Aversion Techrgglanay be dislike
and will discourage prospective nasal drug abusens snorting crushed tablets or capsules.

The extent and manner in which any of the featdessribed above may be described in the FDA apprtakel for our pipeline products v
be dependent on the results of and the acceptanite -DA of our and our licensees’ studies forheamduct.




Oxecta

Oxecta is a Schedule Il narcotic indicated forri@nagement of acute and chronic moderate to spa@mevhere the use of an opi
analgesic is appropriate. Oxecta utilizes ourr8im Technology. Pfizer received FDA approval for its 505(b)(2) ND#+ Oxecta on Jur
17, 2011 and introduced the product into the maitkegtebruary 2012. Pending receipt of the FDA'siegon Pfizers proposed Oxec
promotional materials, which were submitted to B®A in July 2012, Pfizer did not market Oxecta to/gicians. As such, Pfizer attained
meaningful sales of Oxecta in 2012 or 2013. In AP0l 3, Pfizer received FDA’advice on its Oxecta promotional materials amdroenced
non-branded marketing campaign to raise awarenksheoproblem of opioid abuse in the "8 quarter of 2013. Pfizer expanded i
commercialization of Oxecta to health care proéderlate 4" quarter of 2013 but this effort was minimal duetie holidays. We do nc
expect the Pfizer promotional activities will indieithe use of field representatives.

The safety and efficacy of Oxecta 5mg and 7.5metatwas established by demonstrating bioequiveléocommercially availak
oxycodone immediateslease tablets in the fasted state. Oxecta differa oxycodone tablets when taken with a highnfetal though the:
differences are not considered clinically relevamigl Oxecta can be taken without regard to food. HbA-approved label for Oxecta descri
elements unique to our Aversion Technology, whiidfes from current commercially available oxycogommediaterelease tablets. The la
for Oxecta includes the results from a clinicaldstdhat evaluated the effects of nasally snortingsleed Oxecta and commercially availi
oxycodone tablets, and limitations on exposing @x¢ablets to water and other solvents and admatish through feeding tubes. The clin
study evaluated 40 non-dependent recreational dpieérs, who self-administered the equivalent ofid ®f oxycodone. After accounting fc
a first sequence effect, the study demonstrated:

« 30% of subjects exposed to Oxecta responded testwlould not take the drug again compared to 5%ubfects exposed to
immediate-release oxycodon:

« subjects taking Oxecta reported a higher incidefoceasopharyngeal and facial adverse events comipgaranmediate-release
oxycodone

» a decreased ability to completely insufflate twastred Oxecta tablets within a fixed time period (240 subjects), while all
subjects were able to completely insufflate théremtose of immedia-release oxycodone; al

« small numeric differences in the median and meay diking scores, which were lower in response t@€a than immediate-
release oxycodon

Although we believe these abuse deterrent charsiitsr differentiate Oxecta from immediatelease oxycodone products currently or
market, consistent with FDA guidance which requigpilemiology studies to support a claim of abustemence, the clinical significance
the difference in drug liking and difference inpease to taking the drug again in this study hasaen establishedThere is no evidence tl
Oxecta has a reduced abuse liability compared toddiate release oxycodone. Pfizer has agreegdstapproval commitment with the FL
to perform an epidemiology study to assess theahthpact on abuse of Oxecta tablets.

Further, the Oxecta product label guides patieatsacrush and dissolve the tablets or goak, lick or otherwise wet the tablets p
to administration. Similarly, caregivers are advised not to crush digbolve the tablets or otherwise use Oxecta faonimidtration vi
nasogastric, gastric or other feeding tubes asay mause an obstruction.Our laboratory studies demonstrated that the Ox&altée
characteristics may change when Oxecta is expasegrtain solvents, including water.

Aversion Technology Opioid Products in Development
We have the following multiple opioid products idilhg our Aversion Technology in various stageslefelopment. Pursuant to a

September 24, 2012 agreement with Pfizer, the dieemd/or option rights to these products weremetlito us by Pfizer and we retain all
rights to develop and commercial these productddwade.




Comparable Brand

Aversion Technology Table Namel Status
Hydrocodone bitartrate/acetaminophen Vicodin®, Lortab®, IND submitted to the FDA on December 20, 2012.
Norcc® Pharmacokinetic studies in progress.

Awaiting feedback from the FDA on the applicabild/the results of
Study AF-ADF-301 for NDA submissior

Hydromorphone HCI Dilaudid® Proof of Concep?
Methadone HCI Methadose Proof of Concep?
Morphine Sulfate MSIR® Proof of Concep?
Oxycodone HCl/acetaminophen Percocet® Proof of Concep?
Oxymorphone HCI Opana® Proof of Concep?
Tramadol HCI Ultram® Proof of Concep?

1 Comparable Brand Name refers to currently markptedcription products in the United States contgrthe same active analgesic ingrediel
(s) as in the corresponding Aversion Technologylpob.

2 Proof of Concept is attained upon demonstratioprofluct stability and bioavailability parametersl groof of concept formulations cont:
niacin (derived from the initial Aversion formulati) and will require reformulation.

Development of Hydrocodone/Acetaminophen
Our hydrocodone/acetaminophen product was prevwioustier development by Pfizer who, before returrting product to us: (

removed niacin from the formulation, (2) conduct#dequivalence testing and (3) held a pre-IND nmeetvith the FDA. We expect ot
clinical development program for our hydrocodonetaminophen product to consist of:

. A pharmacokinetic study in about 36 fasted subjdotsestablish bioequivalence of product made byew montract
manufacturer to the FC's reference listed drug and determine the foodetfie our drug

. A pharmacokinetic study in about 24 subjects toaldisth safety compared to the reference listed grug
tramadol/acetaminophen (for acetaminophen) anddegdione bitartrate/ibuprofen (for hydrocodor

. A pharmacokinetic study in about 24 subjects denmatisg dose proportionality of our formulation;

. A nasal abuse liability liking study in about 4@reational drug users against a reference dru§tuaty AP-ADF-301;

. Laboratory studies demonstrating extraction, syng@nd particle size characteristics of our pradaied

. An assessment of the routes of abuse of hydrocopiatiicts.

On August 26, 2013, we announced top-line resutis fStudy AP-ADF301 (Study 301), a phase Il clinical study in 46reatione
drug abusers assessing the abuse liability of imgodf our crushed hydrocodone/acetaminophen prtodbitidy 3018 primary endpoil
indicated Aversion hydrocodone/acetaminophen higtith} lower numeric mean maximum drug liking (Em&®.1) compared to an equival
dose of a generic hydrocodone/acetaminophen tdBlmiax: 75.6) currently on the market, however thessults were not statistica
significant (p=0.22). The secondary endpoints destrated the effects of the Aversion ingredients drug snorting. Aversior
hydrocodone/acetaminophermean minimum liking (Emin: 40.2) was less tham tbmparator (Emin: 50.4) (the difference beingistieally
significant at p=0.0003). The mean minimum drug liking for Aversion hydrocoddacetaminophen and the placebo control were dfx
48.8, respectively (the difference being statidiifcsignificant at p=0.0042). A score below 50 indicates a subject disliked theydhey wer
taking at some point during the treatment (a so6f®0 means neither like or dislike), and a scaeater than 50 indicates they liked the «
they were taking.




The mean minimum liking results correlated clogbly Overall Drug Liking score (ODL) and Take Drugah assessment (TDA).
ODL assessed the subject like or dislike for theugdrexperience 12 hours after taking the doseThe ODL for Aversio
hydrocodone/acetaminophen (52.7) was lower thagémeric comparator (71.0) (the difference beiagisttcally significant at p=0.0001) w
a score of 50 indicating a neither a like or dislifDA assessed a subjectillingness to take the drug again assessed @ ledter taking tt
dose. The TDA for Aversion hydrocodone/acetaminophen I%#5vas lower than the generic comparator (71.0¢ difference beir
statistically significant at p=0.0001) with the As®n hydrocodone/acetaminophen score below 5@atidig an unwillingness to take the d
again.

There were no serious adverse events reportedvfersfon hydrocodone/acetaminophefihere was no sequence effect identifie
the study but a carryover effect between the 5ystudssover periods was identified for the Emax snea but not the Emin measurel his
effect is being further evaluated.

On December 5, 2013, we met with the FDA to disétitfse FDA will consider whether the results oliy 301 are acceptable
submission in a NDA. On February 7, 2014 the Faalvised us their discussion of whether the resflistudy AP-ADF301 could suppa
abuse-deterrent labeling is ongoing.

We have completed scalg activities for our Aversion hydrocodone/acetampimen product at the proposed commercial manufa
and have manufactured our registration batchesiderin subsequent clinical trials. We commencedpti@macokinetic studies for Avers
hydrocodone/acetaminophen in the first quarter 2014

We continue to evaluate possible partnering ofAuersion development products with alternativetey& partners.
U.S. Market Opportunity for Opioid Analgesic Products Utilizing Aversion Technology

The misuse and abuse of controlled prescriptioggl{CPDs) in general, and opioid analgesics inqudar, continues to constitute
dynamic and challenging threat to the United States is the nation’s fastest growing drug probl&esults from the 2013 National Di
Threat Assessment conducted by the DEA reportGR&rates of abuse remain high, with individuals abgg$dPDs at a higher prevalence
than any illicit drug except marijuana. Opioid ajedics are the most common type of CPDs takeiitlifliand are the CPDs most commc
involved in overdose incidents. According to thaiAbuse Warning Network (DAWN), the estimated nembf emergency department vi
involving nonmedical use of prescription opiatepioads increased 112 percent—384,671 to 179,787—dmw2006 and 2010mmediatt
release, or IR, opioid products comprise the vagbrity of this abuse compared with extended re&eas ER, opioid productsIn addition, i
is estimated that more than 75 million people i thnited States suffer from pain and the FDA edisanore than 45 million people recei
prescription for the opioid hydrocodone annualllifor many pain sufferers, opioid analgesics prottidé only pain relief. As a result, opioi
analgesics are among the largest prescription clagges in the United States with over 253 miltedslet and capsule prescriptions dispens
2013, of which approximately 238 million were fé&t bpioid products and 15 million were for ER opipicbducts. However, physicians a
other health care providers at times are reludtaptescribe opioid analgesics for fear of misadeise, and diversion of legitimate prescript
for illicit use.

We expect our Aversion Technology opioid produotsampete primarily in the IR opioid product seginefithe United States opic
analgesic market. Because IR opioid products are used for both aaotk chronic pain, a prescription, on average, dosité5 tablets «
capsules. According to IMS Health, in 2013, sales in the IBiadd product segment were approximately $2.6 doilliof which ~97% we
attributable to generic productsDue to fewer identified competitors and the sigmifitly larger market for dispensed prescriptionsIR
opioid products compared to ER opioid productshaee initially focused on developing IR opioid puatk utilizing our Aversion Technolog

Oxecta and our Aversion Technology products in tgment include the active opioid ingredients repreaing approximately 76% of 1
U.S. IR Opioid Product segment. A summary of thefivid product prescription data for 2013 is po®d below:




2013 US

Prescriptions %

IR Opioid Product(%) (Millions) @) of Total
Hydrocodone 128 54
Oxycodone 52 22
Tramadol 41 17
Codeine 11 5
3 others 6 2

Total (Average 238 100

Lincludes all salts and esters of the opioid andidpiin combination with other active ingredientsis as acetaminophen.
2|MS Health, 2013

Despite considerable publicity regarding the abake@xyContin® extendedelease tablets and other ER opioid products,
government statistics suggest that far more pebplee used IR opioid products non-medically than dgfvid products. These statistic
estimate that nearly four times as many people haisused the IR opioid products Vicodin®, Lortab®dalorcet® hydrocodon
bitartrate/acetaminophen brands and generics) @arContin®. We estimate 685% of the 37 million lifetime U.S. opioid abusdrave
engaged in the nomedical use of the active ingredients in our IRo@piproduct candidates. As indicated in the follegvichart, the top fi
abused opioid products are available only as IRidgroducts.

Lifetime Non-Medical Use of Selected Pain Relieverége 12 or Older: 2012

El

Source: SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, 201atnal Survey on Drug Use and Health.

In a 2011 survey of 400 opioid prescribing physisi@onducted for us by an independent research 3&% of physicians indicat
they were highly concerned with the diversion ddittopioid prescriptions for nomedical purposes and 42% were highly concernedt
opioid misuse by their patientsHowever, less than 17% of these same physiciancated they were confident they could adequatedyfidy
patients who are diverting or misusing their opipréscriptions. Further, 77% and 66% of the physicians indicated #buse of their opia
prescription by injection and snorting, respectiy&ould likely lead to serious adverse health egpences for the abuser as compared tc
38% for abuse by oral administration.




A majority of pharmaceutical products in the UnitSthtes are paid for by thighrty payers such as insurers, pharmacy b
managers, self-insured companies and the fedetaktate governments through Medicare, Medicaid @thér health care programsWe
believe our product candidates must demonstralieiaat benefit to the patient and/or an econoneadfit to thirdparty payers and/or a ben
to health care providers to receive favorable reirsbment status by the third-party payers, of whizgkassurance can be given.

Several independent organizations have estimategbakential cost impact of prescription opioid abts insurers. An analysis ¢
health and pharmacy insurance claims between 1882@02 for almost two million Americans conductgdAnalysis Group, Inc. and oth
indicated that enrollees with a diagnosis of opialtise had average claims of approximately $14p@90year higher than an agende
matched non-opioid abuse samplé 2007 report by the Coalition Against Insurancau, after adjusting for inflation, estimated thises
cost per patient at more than $16,000 for 2007y aBplying the U.S. governmeat'estimated 4.4 million annual opioid abusers,
organization concluded that abuse of IR and ERidgmoducts could cost health insurers up to $bilion a year.

Product Labeling for Aversion Technology Products

In January 2013, the FDA published draft guidammedridustry on the evaluation and labeling of abdisterrent opioids. While this
guidance is non-binding on the FDA, it outlines FBAurrent thinking on the labeling of abuse-detetmproducts. FDA encourages spons
to seek approval of proposed product labeling Heas$ forth the results of physiochemical, physimlopharmacodynamic, pharmacokine
and/or formal postmarketing studies that approplyatharacterizes the abuse-deterrent propertiespbduct. To date the FDA has limit
data correlating the potentially abuseterrent properties of certain opioid drug produetth actual reduction in abuse or adverse e
associated with abuse. When the data predidhaw shat a product’s potentially abudeterrent properties can be expected to, or agtdal
result in a significant reduction in that prodsctibuse potential, these data, together with anraieccharacterization of what the data m
should be included in product labeling.

We or our licensee may seek to include descriptminstudies that characterize the abds&errent properties in the label for
Aversion Technology products in development. Althlothe FDA approved label for Oxecta contains ftiins on exposing Oxecta tablet
water and other solvents and administration throieglling tubes, the FDA approved Oxecta label dm¢scontain a description of the |
injection studies we performed to characterize dbese deterrent properties of Oxectd&fizer has committed to the FDA to underi
epidemiological studies to assess the actual coesegs of abuse of Oxecta in the market. Thenextewhich a description of the abuse
deterrent properties or results of epidemiologimalother studies will be added to or included ie #DA approved product label for «
products in development will be the subject of discussions with the FDA as part of the NDA revipicess, even after having obtai
approval of Oxecta.Further, because the FDA closely regulates promatimaterials, even if the FDA initially approvedeéling that include
a description of the abuse deterrent propertieh@fproduct, the FDA' Office of Prescription Drug Promotion, or OPDHIl wontinue tc
review the acceptability of promotional labelingiohs and product advertising campaigns for our etaxk products.

Pfizer Agreement

In October 2007, we entered into a License, Devalat and Commercialization Agreement, or the Pfixgreement, with Kin
Pharmaceuticals Research and Development, Inc. answbsidiary of Pfizer, covering the United Sta@snada and MexicoUnder the Pfize
Agreement, Pfizer will manufacture and commercalXxecta in the United State#\s of December 31, 2013, we had received an agtged
$78.5 million in payments from Pfizer in the forrhab$30.0 million upfront cash payment, milestoagmpents, option fees and reimburser
for research and development expenses, includgpa) million milestone fee relating to the recapFDA approval of the NDA for Oxec
In addition, as of December 31, 2013, we had receaggregate royalties of $10 thousand from Pfirenet sales of Oxecta, which royalt
calculated at 5% of Oxecta net sales based onrtammual net sales levels.




Pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement, we and Pfizeméal a joint steering committee to oversee developraad commercializatic
strategies for Oxecta. Pfizer is responsiblésabwn expense, for all regulatory, manufacturamgl commercialization activities for Oxecta.
Subject to the Pfizer Agreement, Pfizer will hair@af decision making authority with respect toraljulatory and commercialization activil
for Oxecta.

Pfizer's royalty payment obligations for Oxecta iegmn a country-bycountry basis upon the later of (i) the expiratidrihe last vali
patent claim covering Oxecta in such country, Drifp years from the first commercial sale of Oxeict such country. No minimum annu
fees are payable by either party under the Pfizne@ment. If Pfizer, after consultation with us, enters idicense agreement with a tf
party to avoid or settle such third pagyallegations or claims regarding freedom to opeeafainst Oxecta, Pfizer may deduct 50% of
royalties or other license payments it pays to shald party under such license, provided thatrthelties payable to us are no less than 8C
the royalties otherwise due to us under the Pzgeement.

The Pfizer Agreement expires upon the expirationPéiker's royalty payment and other payment obligationseurithe Pfize
Agreement. Pfizer may terminate the Pfizer Agreetrin its entirety at any time by written notiae us. We may terminate the Pfiz
Agreement in its entirety if Pfizer commences amgiiference or opposition proceeding challengirggualidity or enforceability of any of o
patent rights licensed to Pfizer under the Pfizgreg@ment. Either party has the right to termirtate Pfizer Agreement on a country-by
country basis if the other party is in materialdmte of its obligations under the Pfizer Agreemetdting to such country, and to terminate
Agreement in its entirety in the event the othatypemakes an assignment for the benefit of cregljtiles a petition in bankruptcy or otherw
seeks relief under applicable bankruptcy lawsgichecase subject to applicable cure periods.

In the event of termination, no payments are dwejgixthose royalties and milestones that have edgouor to termination under {
Pfizer Agreement and all licenses under the Pilmmeement are terminatedFor all Acura terminations and termination by Pfingnere wi
are not in breach, the Pfizer Agreement providegsHte transition of development and marketing & licensed products from Pfizer to
including the conveyance by Pfizer to us of theleraarks and all regulatory filings and approvaltelgoused in connection with t
commercialization of such licensed products andcdrtain cases, for Pfizer'supply of such licensed products for a transiiqueriod &
Pfizer's cost plus a mark-up.

Impede Technology Overview

Our Impede Technology, a proprietary mixture ofcinge ingredients, prevents the extraction of psepthedrine, or PSE, from tabl
and disrupts the direct conversion of PSE from efgblinto methamphetamine. The chemical structure of PSE is very simila
methamphetamine, facilitating a straight-forwareriical conversion to methamphetamin®©TC PSE products are sometimes purchase
used for this conversion.There are multiple known processes to convert RSHdthamphetamine, all of which are not complex dado
require specialized equipment; however, many dairegeadily available but uncommon ingredieniBwo of the three most popular proce:
follow two general processing steps: (1) dissolving PSE tablets in a solvent to isolate purifi&ERnd (2) a chemical reduction of the |
into methamphetamine for drying into crystals. eThird method, or the “one-patiethod, involves the direct chemical reductionhef PSE t
methamphetamine in the presence of the tablet&iirmingredients. All the solvents used are ultimately dried off dhe&rwise removed sc
vast range of solvents are amenable to the process.

Studies sponsored by us at an independent labgréémnonstrated our Impede Technology preventsxitraaion of PSE from table
for conversion into methamphetamine using what elestre are the two most common extraction methedsh requiring extraction of PSE
an initial step. Laboratory tests conducted onlmhalf by an independent CRO using the “one-pa¢thod demonstrated that our Imp
Technology disrupted the direct conversion of P&&Enfthe tablets into methamphetamineThe study compared the amount of |
methamphetamine hydrochloride produced from NexafetlJohnson & Johnson’s Sudafed® tabldiising one hundred 30 mg tablets of t
products, multiple oneet tests and a variety of commonly used solveh&sstudy demonstrated an average of 38% of thémmoaxx 2.7 gram
of pure methamphetamine hydrochloride was recovémd Nexafed. Comparatively, approximately twice rauch pure methamphetarr
hydrochloride was recovered from Sudafed® tabléBath products yielded a substantial amount of &ftiil solids such that the purity of
total powder provided contained approximately 65¢hamphetamine hydrochloride.




We are developing a next generation of our Impestghmology in order to further improve our Nexafeghthise.

Separately, we are advancing in development ost fine extension of Nexafed, a combination prodwi@h additional activ
ingredients using our current Impede Technolodye expect to launch our Nexafed first line extensio2014.

Nexafed

Our Nexafed product is an immediatdease pseudoephedrine HCI, tablet which utilmaspatent pending Impede Technology.
is a widely-used nasal decongestant available imyman-prescription and prescription cold, sinud allergy productsWe have demonstrat
that our Nexafed 30mg tablets is bioequivalentaiondon & Johnson’s Sudafed® 30mg Tablets whenglesih tablets dose is administered.
Commencing in 2006, the Combat Methamphetaminedspicl Act, or CMEA, required all noprescription PSE products to be held seci
behind the pharmacy counter, has set monthly coesymrchase volume limits, and has necessitateducoer interaction with pharme
personnel to purchase PSE-containing products.niféad to capitalize on this consumpdrarmacist interaction at the point of sale bycstitig
distribution to pharmacies and educating and eragpng pharmacists to recommend Nexafed to thetoousrs.

We launched Nexafed commercially in nilgdcember 2012 into the United States OTC marketdtd and allergy products and h
shipped Nexafed to several regional and nationad dvholesalers for redistribution to pharmaciesluding the three largest U.S. d
wholesalers: McKesson, Cardinal Health and AmerseBergen. In March 2013, we completed our first shipment efxifed directly to tk
warehouse of a regional drug chain who, we undedstevould further stock all of their pharmacieshwitlexafed. We have also gain
support from other pharmacy chain customers, inofydRite Aid who has made Nexafed available in shibstantial majority of its 4,6
pharmacies. The support for Nexafed from thesencbastomers varies from providing Nexafed educafiomaterials to their pharmacists
allowing each pharmacy to make their own purchadigjsion, to the stocking of Nexafed as their d®yng pseudoephedrine produciVe
estimate Nexafed is currently stocked in approxaiya8,300 U.S. pharmacies, or about 12% of the®b|0.S. pharmacy outletsWe estimat
that approximately 46% of these pharmacies, exotuéfite Aid which initiated purchasing in thé'4uarter of 2013, are repeat customers
continue to work to expand the wholesale and reliatribution network for Nexafed and intend toamproach some chain customers alr
stocking Nexafed with programs designed to impnoseetration in those chains.

We are using telemarketing, direct mail, and onlém& journal advertising to educate pharmacistutabexafed and encoure
pharmacists to recommend Nexafed to their customedsare currently readapting our advertising pogto differentiate Nexafed fron
meth-resistant competitive product that launchedAimgust 2013. We may use consumer advertising @ ftliure. We have shippe
approximately $252 thousand and $402 thousand xafed product during the quarter and year endecibéer 31, 2013, respectively.

We are marketing our 30mg Nexafed product under 'BDégulations applicable to OTC Monograph produciéexafed tablets a
offered in 24-count blister packaged cartons amcedrcomparable to other branded PSE 30mg tablets.

Impede Technology Product in Development
Given the fragmented nature of the PSE market wittducts containing multiple active ingredients, are assessing our ini

success with the launch of Nexafed and are corisgleur product development options:
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Impede Technology Produ Status

In manufacturing scale-up
Immediate-release Combination #1
Launch expected in 20!

Immediate-release pseudoephedrine HCI in combinatith other . . :
A . Formulations being considered
cold and allergy active ingredier

Extenderrelease formulatio Development initiate:

We also have been working on a next generation depeechnology, an improvement for our Nexafed fréses which is a
enhancement on the methamphetamine resistance ofioent technology in the one-pot methamphetarmamersion method.

We continue to evaluate possible licensing of oypdde Technology with commercial partners withid aotside the United States.
U.S. Market Opportunity for Impede PSE Products

Methamphetamine is a highly addictive illicit druged normedically by an estimated 13 million people at sgroiat in their lifetime
In 2006, the CMEA was enacted in response to armalg increase in and widespread conversion of BBEaining products in
methamphetamine.Among other things, the CMEA requires retail stai@snaintain their inventory of PSE containing ot in a secure
location and restricts the amount of PSE produst®ie can sell to an individual customdmplementation of the CMEA initially reduced
number of illegal methamphetamine laboratory seigueported by the Drug Enforcement AdministratmmDEA, as the then most comma
used process for conversion of PSE to methamphegaraguired substantial quantities of PSHowever, a newer process for converting
to methamphetamine requires less PSHRossibly as a result of this new conversion prqcéiss DEA reported 2010 clandes!
methamphetamine laboratory seizures increased 84%ctloe low reported in 2007. Laboratory seizuresendown 12% and 5.5% in 2011
2012, respectively, although certain states costittusee increasesln response to the ongoing methamphetamine probéeweral loc:
jurisdictions (state, counties and/or local murddiges) have enacted or propose to enact legislaid require a physici’s prescription t
obtain a PSE-containing product.

PSE is a widely-used nasal decongestant availabieany non-prescription and prescription cold, siand allergy productsPSE i
sold in products as the only active ingredientathbimmediate and extended-release produdisaddition, PSE is combined with other c
sinus and allergy ingredients such as pain religeveough suppressants and antihistamin®SE also competes against phenylephrin
alternate nasal decongestant available in non-pptien products. In 2009, AC Nielsen reportegrpximately $1.0 billion in sales of non-
prescription products containing either PSE or glephrine as a nasal decongestant, of which apmately 47% contained PSE.

The market for cold, sinus and allergy productiigsly competitive and many products have strongsomer brand recognition a
in some cases, prescription drug heritage. Cayelgading brands are often supported by natioredsymarketing and promotional efforts.
Consumers often have a choice to purchase a lgengixe store brandStore brands contain the same active ingredientiseasore populi
national brands but are not supported by large etandx campaigns and are offered at a lower priddon-prescription products atgpically
distributed through retail outlets including drutpre chains, food store chains, independent phaessand mass merchandisersThe
distribution outlets for PSE products are highlypsalidated. According to Chain Drug Review, the top 50 druggd@nd mass merchandis
chains operate approximately 40,000 pharmacidseitutS., of which 58% are operated by the fourdstghains.

Our 2010 market research study showed that 93%e®204 pharmacists surveyed believe that PSE heeieu efficacy as a na:
decongestant compared to phenylephrime.our 2012 survey of 215 chain and independentrpheists, 164 indicated they had influence
the pharmaciesproduct offerings. Of such pharmacists, 70% indidathey were likely to stock or recommend stockiexafed in the
pharmacies. The 215 surveyed pharmacists also indicated angitiess to recommend Nexafed to over 50% of theitoooers who seek
pharmacist’s advice for a single ingredient nasalothgestant.
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Our 2009 survey of PSE 30mg tablet prices at thegsdour drug chains indicates that branded PSHums were priced, on avera
to the consumer at approximately $0.25 per talsletapared to approximately $0.12 per tablet ferdbrresponding store brand.

Product Labeling for Impede Technology Products

We are marketing our Nexafed product pursuant &0 RBDA’s OTC Monograph regulations, which require that product hav
labeling as specified in the regulations. Weaaeertising the extraction characteristics and aggletamineesistant benefits of our Nexa
product, which is supported by our research studies

We expect that any of our other Impede Technolaggpcts that are marketed pursuant to an NDA or ANBII be subject to a lab
approved by the FDA.We expect that such a label will require submisgibour scientifically derived abuse liability deaad we intend 1
seek descriptions of our abuse liability studiethimn FDA approved product label, although therelmano assurance that this will be the case.

Research and Manufacturing

We conduct research, development, manufacture bafrdgory clinical trial supplies, and warehousirgi\aties at our operatiol
facility in Culver, Indiana and lease an adminite office in Palatine, Illinois. The 25,000 square foot facility is registered witts. Drug
Enforcement Administration, or DEA, to perform resgh, development and manufacture of certain BEReduled active pharmaceut
ingredients and finished dosage form products. haie obtained quotas for supply of DE&heduled active pharmaceutical ingredients
the DEA and develop finished dosage forms in ouv&uacility. We manufacture clinical trial supplies of drug mrots in our Culver facilit
in volumes sufficient to meet FDA standards for NDAIn addition to internal capabilities and activiti@ge engage numerous clinical rese
organizations, or CROs, with expertise in regulatfairs, clinical trial design and monitoringjrital data management, biostatistics, me:
writing, laboratory testing and related serviceBfizer is responsible for commercial manufactur®©wrecta under the Pfizer AgreemenW¥We
expect that future opioid product candidates dexadoand licensed by us will be commercially mantfisadd by our licensees or other quali
third party contract manufacturers.

We rely on a contract manufacture r to manufastpackage and supply our commercial quantitieefafed. Initially, we will
source our commercial requirements of Nexafed feosingle manufacturer and will not have a seconncgo Although we believe there ¢
alternate sources of supply that can satisfy ounraercial requirements, replacing or adding a cehtn@anufacture will result in additior
costs and may delay or interrupt the supply of Necka

In 2012, we completed initial discovery researchaonew technology to address abuse and misuseestnption pharmaceutic
tablets though the intentional or accidental ingesof multiple tablets in excess of the recommehdese. In a laboratory proof of conce
study with prototype tablets, 100% of the activgradient from 2 tablets was released in approxilyatd to 20 minutes compared w
approximately 20% being released in the same tamsfrwhen 8 tablets are testedhe synergistic effect of the ingredients in thehteology
retards the release of the active ingredient whaltipfe tablets are co-administeredlThe objective of this technology, if it can be opitiec
and it translates consistently to human use, otlwhio assurance can be given, will be to reduc@dad plasma concentration of drug wl
may be associated with adverse health consequences.

Competition

Our products and technologies will, if marketednpete to varying degrees against both brand andrigeproducts offering simil.
therapeutic benefits and being developed and nedkey small and large pharmaceutical (for presiompproducts) and consumer packe
goods (for OTC products) companiesdany of our competitors have substantially grefiteancial and other resources and are able to &
more funds and effort than us in research, devedoprand commercialization of their competitive tealogies and products. Prescriptiol
generic products and OTC store brand productsoffér cost savings to third party payers and/orsconers that will create pricing pressure
our products. Also, these competitors may have a substantiak sadume advantage over our products, which mayltrés our costs ¢
manufacturing being higher than our competitorstso
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We believe potential competitors may be developipgpid abuse deterrent technologies and produetsh $otential competitc
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapsytiin collaboration with Pfizer, Purdue Pharmalaitic Pharmaceuticals, Ege
Corporation, KemPharm, Shionogi, Nektar Therapsutiignature Therapeutics, QRx Pharma, Tris PhaRisgah Labs, and Collegit
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Pfizer, our partner for €xgis also developing and/or marketing ER opmiltlucts, other analgesic products and no
analgesic products, all of which will compete favdlopment and commercialization resources withppsaducts, which may adversely img
the sales of Oxecta.

Our Impede Technology products containing PSE edihpete in the highly competitive market for cathus and allergy produs
generally available to the consumer without a pipgon. Some of our competitors will have multiple consumpeyduct offerings both with
and outside the cold, allergy and sinus categooyiging them with substantial leverage in dealingghwa highly consolidated pharme
distribution network. The competing products may have well establisheshdmames and may be supported by national ornal
advertising. Nexafed will compete directly with dglbn & Johnson’s Sudafed®and as well as generic formulations manufactimeerrigc
Company and others. A competing product from \&astPharmaceuticals is being marketed with claafmmethamphetamine-resistance.

We are aware that some large pharmaceutical compamithe past have sought to develop PSE techieslay products that res
conversion into methamphetamine, but believe tledfests have been discontinued, although therebeamo assurance that this is the case.

We may consider licensing our Impede Technologgroducts utilizing such technology for commerciatian.
Patents and Patent Applications

In April 2007, the United States Patent and Trad&n@Hfice, or USPTO, issued to us U.S. Patent Na0%,920 titled Methods an
Compositions for Deterring Abuse of Opioid ContagiDosage Forms,” or the 920 PatenfThe 54 allowed claims in the 920 Pa
encompass certain pharmaceutical compositionsdeténo deter the most common methods of prescniggfmoid analgesic product misi
and abuse. These patented pharmaceutical commpssiticlude the mixture of functional inactive indients and specific opioid analge:
such as oxycodone HCI and hydrocodone bitartraangrothers.

In January 2009, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Patent7,476,402, or the 402 Patent, with 18 allovetaims. The 402 Pate
encompasses certain combinations of kappa and neidagceptor agonists and other ingredients inteintb deter opioid analgesic proc
misuse and abuse.

In March 2009, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Patent™b10,726, or the 726 Patent, with 20 alloweadnt$. The 726 Pater
encompasses a wider range of abuse deterrent cimpsshan our '920 Patent.

In July 2011, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Patenf7/81,439, or the 439 Patent, with 7 allowednataiThe 439 Patent encompa:
certain compositions including any water solublagdof abuse intended to deter the most common rdsthb prescription opioid analge
product misuse and abuse.

In January 2012, the USPTO issued to us U.S. P&tent3,101,630, or the 630 Patent with a singlénclthat encompasses
extended release abuse deterrent dosage form obdayge or a pharmaceutically acceptable salt thereo

In April 2013, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Patemt 8)409,616, or the 616 Patent, that encompasstsrcimmediateelease abu:
deterrent dosage forms.
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In January 2014, the USPTO issued to us U.S. P&tenB,637,540, or the 540 Patent, that encompasstain immediateeleas
abuse deterrent opioid products.

In addition to our issued U.S. patents, we hawefinultiple U.S. patent applications and internatlgatent applications relating
compositions containing abusable active pharmazautigredients as well as applications coveringlmpede Technology.Except for thos
rights conferred in the Pfizer Agreement, we haatained all intellectual property rights to our Asien Technology, Impede Technology,
related product candidatesSee below under the caption Legal Proceedings icentan Item 3 of this Report for a discussion af pendin
patent infringement actions against two generiaispcs of ANDAs for generic drugs listing Oxectalzes reference drug.

Reference is made to the Risk Factors containétgnm 1A of this Report for a discussion, among othings, of patent applicatio
and patents owned by third parties, including ctathrat may encompass our Aversion Technology arettaxablets.

Government Regulation

All pharmaceutical firms, including us, are subjecextensive regulation by the federal governmentcipally by the FDA under tl
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or the FD&Q, And, to a lesser extent, by state and local mowents. Before our prescriptic
products and some OTC products may be marketelleirutS., they must be approved by the FDA for comsiakdistribution. Other OT
products must comply with applicable FDA regulatipknown as OTC Monographs, in order to be markeétatido not require FDA revie
and approval before marketing. Additionally, we aréject to extensive regulation by the DEA under €Controlled Substances Act,
Combat Methamphetamine Act of 2005, and related lamd regulations for research, development, matwrfag, marketing and distributi
of controlled substances and certain other pharataed active ingredients that are regulated asetisChemicals. Extensive FDA, DEA, ¢
state regulation of our products and commercialratpmns continue after drug product approvals, #re requirements for our contint
marketing of our products may change even aft¢ialrapproval. We are also subject to regulatiodarrfederal, state and local laws, incluc
requirements regarding occupational safety, laboyatractices, environmental protection and haassdmbstance control, and may be su
to other present and future local, state, fedardlfareign regulations, including possible futuegulations of the pharmaceutical industry.
cannot predict the extent to which we may be afiédby legislative and other regulatory developmetscerning our products and
healthcare industry in general.

The FD&C Act, the Controlled Substances Act andeptfederal statutes and regulations govern théntgsinanufacture, quali
control, export and import, labeling, storage, rdckeeping, approval, pricing, advertising, proranfisale and distribution of pharmaceu
products. Noncompliance with applicable requireradydth before and after approval, can subject wsthard party manufacturers and ot
collaborative partners to administrative and jumlisianctions, such as, among other things, wareiteys, fines and other monetary paym
recall or seizure of products, criminal proceedjrgyspension or withdrawal of regulatory approviaterruption or cessation of clinical trie
total or partial suspension of production or disition, injunctions, limitations on or the limitati of claims we can make for our products,
refusal of the government to enter into supply @it for distribution directly by governmental ages, or delay in approving or refusa
approve new drug applications. The FDA also hasthbority to revoke or withhold approvals of nemuglapplications.

FDA approval is required before any "new drug" banmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generally gaiped, by experts qualifi
by scientific training and experience, as safe effelctive for its intended use. Our products ndijsct to and in compliance with an O
Monograph are new drugs and require prior FDA aypgdtdSuch approval must be based on extensivenrgtion and data submitted in a NI
including but not limited to adequate and well colied laboratory and clinical investigations tawnstrate the safety and effectiveness c
drug product for its intended use(s). In additionptoviding required safety and effectiveness dataFDA approval, a drug manufactur
practices and procedures must comply with curresadsManufacturing Practices, or with cGMPs, whigplg to manufacturing, receivir
holding and shipping. Accordingly, manufacturerssincontinue to expend time, money and effort inaglplicable areas relating to qua
assurance and regulatory compliance, including ystioh and quality control to comply with cGMPs.ilEee to do so comply risks delays
approval of drug products and possible FDA enformimactions, such as an injunction against shiproémiroducts, the seizure of non-
complying products, criminal prosecution and/or afiyhe other possible consequences described abddeeare subject to periodic inspec
by the FDA and DEA, which inspections may or may lmannounced in advance.
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The FDA Drug Approval Process

The process of drug development is complex andthgngrhe activities undertaken before a new phasutical product may |
marketed in the U.S. generally include, but are limited to, preclinical studies; submission to thBA of an Investigational New Dri
application, or IND, which must become active befbuman clinical trials may commence; adequatevegiicontrolled human clinical tria
to establish the safety and efficacy of the prodsiebmission to the FDA of an NDA; acceptance fiing of the NDA by FDA; satisfactol
completion of an FDA prepproval inspection of the clinical trial sites amdnufacturing facility or facilities at which botte activi
ingredients and finished drug product are produoesssess compliance with, among other thingatient informed consent requirements,
clinical trial protocols, current Good Clinical ties, or GCP, and cGMPs; and FDA review and agraf the NDA prior to any commerc
sale and distribution of the product in the U.S.

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluatidrpmduct chemistry and formulation, and in someesa animal studies and ot
studies to preliminarily assess the potential yafetd efficacy of the product candidate. The resok preclinical studies together w
manufacturing information, analytical data, andadet! information including protocols for proposaagiman clinical trials are then submitte:
the FDA as a part of an INDAn IND must become effective, and approval mustbtined from an Institutional Review Board, or |RBus
be obtained prior to the commencement of humaicelitrials. The IND becomes effective 30 daysdaling its receipt by the FDA unless
FDA objects to, or otherwise raises concerns ostioies and imposes a clinical holdVe, the FDA or the IRB may suspend or termin
clinical trial at any time after it has commencet do safety or efficacy concerns or for commen@akons. In the event that FDA objects
the IND and imposes a clinical hold, the IND spansist address any outstanding FDA concerns ortigmssto the satisfaction of the FI
before clinical trials can proceed or resumé&here can be no assurance that submission of anvilDresult in FDA authorization 1
commence clinical trials.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imgl phases that may sometimes overlap or be cothbine

Phase 1: This phase is typically the first involving humgarticipants, and involves the smallest numbehwihan participan
(typically, 20-50). The investigational drug is initially introducedadnhealthy human subjects or patients and testesafiety, dosa¢
tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution ardretion. In addition, it is sometimes possildegain a preliminary indication
efficacy.

Phase 2 Once the preliminary safety and tolerability loé tdrug in humans is confirmed during phase 1, eRasvolves studies ir
somewhat larger group of study subjectklnlike phase 1 studies, which typically involve hiey subjects, participants in phas
studies may be affected by the disease or condiiowhich the product candidate is being develop@thase 2 studies are intende
identify possible adverse effects and safety riskgvaluate the efficacy of the product for sged#irgeted diseases, and to deter
appropriate dosage and tolerance.

Phase 3 Phase 3 trials typically involve a large numbkpatients affected by the disease or conditionafbich the product candids
is being developed. Phase 3 clinical trials arecutatten to evaluate clinical efficacy and safetgamconditions resembling those
which the product will be used in actual clinicaagtice after FDA approval of the NDAPhase 3 trials are typically the most cc
and time-consuming of the clinical phases.

Phase 4 Phase 4 trials may be required by FDA after the@am of the NDA for the product, as a conditiontieé approval, or mi
be undertaken voluntarily by the sponsor of thal.triThe purpose of phase 4 trials is to continue tduatta the safety and efficacy
the drug on a longerm basis and in a much larger and more diverserpigoopulation than was included in the prior gg®of clinice
investigation.
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After clinical trials have been completed, anchiéy were considered successful, the sponsor magisalNDA or an Abbreviated New Dr
Application, or ANDA, to the FDA including the rdss of the preclinical and clinical testing, togettwith, and among other things, deta
information on the chemistry, manufacturing, quyatibntrols, and proposed product labeling. Theestan types of NDAs; a 505(b)(1) NL
and a 505(b)(2) NDA. A 505(b)(1) NDA is also knowas a "full NDA" and is described by section 505{b)§f the FD&C Act as an applicati
containing full reports of investigations of safetyd effectiveness, in addition to other informatidhe data in a full NDA is either owned
the applicant or are data for which the applicaa# bbtained a right of reference. A 505(b)(2) agpion is one described under section 505(
(2) of the FD&C Act as an application for which anfnation, or one or more of the investigationseetlupon by the applicant for apprc
"were not conducted by or for the applicant andvitich the applicant has not obtained a right éénence or use from the person by ol
whom the investigations were conducted". This miovi permits the FDA to rely for approval of an NIh data not developed by
applicant, such as published literature or the BO#ding of safety and effectiveness of a previpapproved drug. 505(b)(2) applications
submitted under section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C Autl are therefore subject to the same statutoryigioms that govern 505(b)(1) applicatir
that require, among other things, "full reports"saffety and effectiveness. Pfizesubmission for Oxecta Tablets was accepted liog fby
FDA as a 505(b)(2) NDA.

505(b)(2) NDAs must include one of several differmpes of patent certifications to each patent ihéisted in the FDA publicatic
known as the Orange Book in connection with anyipresly approved drug, the approval of which iseglupon for approval of the 505(b)
NDA. Depending on the type of certification made, therapal of the 505(b)(2) NDA may be delayed unt# tlelevant patent(s) expire, o
the case of a Paragraph IV Certification may leapatent litigation against the applicant and &ptial automatic approval delay of 30 moi
or more.

Each NDA requires payment of a user fee, pursuarthé¢ requirements of the Prescription Drug Uses Bet, or PDUFA, ¢
periodically amended. According to the F3Afee schedule, effective on October 1, 2013, fier 2014 fiscal year, the user fee for
application fee requiring clinical data, such aN@A, is $2,169,100. The FDA adjusts PDUFA user fees on an annual bR&$IFA alst
imposes annual product and facility fee$he annual product fee for prescription drugs aietbhics for the 2014 fiscal year is $104,060
the annual facility fee for facilities used to mémture prescription drugs and biologics for thd£fiscal year is $554,600A written reques
can be submitted for a waiver of the applicatioa fer the first human drug application that isdiley a small business, but no waivers
product or establishment fees are available. Wheareare subject to these fees, they are signifieapenditures that may be incurred in
future and must be paid at the time of submissfagach application to FDA.

After a NDA is submitted by an applicant, and ifdtaccepted for filing by the FDA, the FDA willgh review the NDA and, if al
when it determines that the data submitted arewsstego show that the product is safe and effedtiwés intended use, the FDA will apprc
the product for commercial distribution in the UTEhere can be no assurance that any of our produaigvelopment will receive FC
approval or that even if approved, they will be @wed with labeling that includes descriptionstsfabuse deterrent featureMoreover, eve
if our products in development are approved withelang that includes descriptions of the abuserdaté features of our products, adverti
and promotion for the products will be limited hetspecific claims and descriptions in the FDA appd product labeling.

The FDA requires drug manufacturers to establighraaintain quality control procedures for manufaoty, processing and holdi
drugs and investigational products, and productstine manufactured in accordance with defined §patibns. Before approving a NDA, tl
FDA usually will inspect the facility(ies) at whidhe active pharmaceutical ingredients and finistieerdy product is manufactured, and will
approve the product unless it finds that cGMP caamngk at those facility(ies) are satisfactonyf the FDA determines the NDA is r
acceptable, the FDA may outline the deficiencieshim NDA and often will request additional inforneet, thus delaying the approval ¢
product. Notwithstanding the submission of any requestedtiatidl testing or information, the FDA ultimatetyay decide that the applicat
does not satisfy the criteria for approvalifter a product is approved, changes to the apptrgueduct, such as adding new indicati
manufacturing changes, or changes in or additiorike approved labeling for the product, may regsirtbmission of a new NDA or, in sa
instances, an NDA amendment, for further FDA revieWwostapproval marketing of products in larger or différ@atient populations th
those that were studied during development cantlea@w findings about the safety or efficacy a&f firoducts. This information can lead tc
product sponsos requesting approval for and/or the FDA requiichgnges in the labeling of the product or evenatitiedrawal of the produ
from the market.
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The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act, or BP®&came law in 2002 and was subsequently reaudfiband amended by 1
Food and Drug Administration Amendments Act, or P The reauthorization of BPCA provides an additiogial months of mark
exclusivity beyond the expiration date of existimgrket exclusivities or eligible patents to NDA &pgnts that conduct acceptable pedi:
studies of new and currentiyarketed drug products for which pediatric inforimatwould be beneficial, as identified by FDA irPadiatrit
Written Request. The FD&C Act, as amended by thdigd®ec Research Equity Act, or PREA, requires thmatst applications for drugs &
biologics include a pediatric assessment (unlessedeor deferred) to ensure the drugs' and biokdgiafety and effectiveness in children.
Such pediatric assessment must contain data, edtlesing appropriate formulations for each age grfou which the assessment is requi
that are adequate to assess the safety and e#fieetis of the drug or the biological product for ¢lemed indications in all relevant pedia
subpopulations, and to support dosing and admétistr for each pediatric subpopulation for whick tirug or the biological product is s
and effective. The pediatric assessments cantanbjeferred provided there is a timeline for thmpletion of such studiesFDA may waivt
(partially or fully) the pediatric assessment regoient for several reasons, including if the agpitccan demonstrate that reasonable atte
to produce a pediatric formulation necessary fat #ige group have failed. The FDA has indicatedelPfis exempt from the pediatric stuc
requirement of the PREA for Oxecta.

The terms of approval of any NDA for our produchdalates, including the indication and product ladge (and, consequen
permissible advertising and promotional claims \&we make) may be more restrictive than what is sbimgthe NDA or what is desired by
Additionally, the FDA conditioned approval of OxacIablets on Pfizes’commitment to conduct Phase 4 epidemiologicalistuto assess t
actual abuse levels of Oxecta in the market. Thng and FDA approval process for our product @atds requires substantial time, ef
and financial resources, and we cannot be suratheapproval will be granted on a timely basigtiéll.

Further, drug products approved by the FDA may ulgest to continuing obligations intended to asssafe use of the products.
Specifically, under the FD&C Act, as amended by fle®d and Drug Administration Amendments Act of 200r FDAAA, the FDA ma
require Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies,REMS, to manage known or potential serious risgsociated with drugs or biologi
products. If the FDA finds, at the time of approealafterward, that a REMS is necessary to endaethe benefits of our products outwe
the risks associated with the products, the FDA mgtjuire a REMS and, consequently, that we tak#tiadal measures to ensure safe us
the product. Components of a REMS may include,apetnot limited to, a Medication Guide and/or Ratieackage Insert, a marketing
sales communication plan for patients or healthpao®iders concerning the drug, Elements To As8afe Use, or ETASUs such as, but
limited to, patient, prescriber, and pharmacy rteigis, and restrictions on the extent or methoddistfibution, a REMS implementation syst
and a timetable for assessment of the effectiveoied®e REMS. The FDA has indicated Pfizer is not required tontan a REMS for Oxect

There can be no assurance, however, that a REMBgmnowill not be required by the FDA in the futdoe Oxecta or for our Aversion |
opioid product candidates in development. Weaavare that a Citizens Petition has been filed whith FDA seeking to expand the FBA'’
REMS requirement for ER opioid products to incliReopioid products.

In addition, we, our suppliers and our licenseesraquired to comply with extensive FDA requirensdmith before and after appro

For example, we or our licensees are requiredfortecertain adverse reactions and production prob) if any, to the FDA, and to com

with certain requirements concerning the advegisand promotion of our products, which, as discdisseove, may significantly affect 1

extent to which we can include statements or claigfierencing our abuse deterrent technology in ybthbeling and advertising.Also,

quality control and manufacturing procedures mostioue to conform to cGMP after approval to avibiel product being rendered misbrar

and/or adulterated under the FD&C Act as a reduttanufacturing problemslin addition, discovery of any material safety issuay result i
changes to product labeling or restrictions onaapet manufacturer, potentially including removéttee product from the market.
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Whether or not a FDA' NDA approval in the U.S. has been obtained, agtsdrom comparable governmental regulatory autiles
in foreign countries must be obtained prior to teenmencement of commercialization of our drug potslin those countries. The apprc
procedure varies in complexity from country to ctoynand the time required may be longer or shdhan that required for FDA approval.

FDA's OTC Monograph Process

The FDA regulates certain ngmescription drugs using an OTC Monograph whichemvfinal, is published in the Code of Fed
Regulations at 21 C.F.R. Parts 330-358or example, 21 C.F.R. Part 341 sets forth the yoisj such as pseudoephedrine hydrochloride
may be marketed as an OTC cold, cough, allergyndiradilator, or antiasthmatic drug product in arfauitable for oral, inhalant, or topi
administration and is generally recognized as sai@ effective and is not misbrandedSuch products that meet each of the condi
established in the OTC Monograph regulations aedther applicable regulations may be marketedouitprior approval by the FDA.

The general conditions set forth for OTC Monograpbducts include, among other things:
« the product is manufactured at FDA registered éstabhents and in accordance with cGMPs;

« the product label meets applicable format and edntequirements including permissible “Indicatioresid all required dosing
instructions and limitations, warnings, precauticensd contraindications that have been establisine@n applicable OTC
Monograph;

« the product contains only permissible active inggsts in permissible strengths and dosage forms;

« the product contains only suitable inactive ingeats which are safe in the amounts administereddandot interfere with the
effectiveness of the preparation; ¢

« the product container and container components Fi2Aats requirements.

The advertising for OTC drug products is regulatsdthe Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, which paherequires th:
advertising claims be truthful, not misleading, asdbstantiated by adequate and reliable sciendfitlence. False, misleading,
unsubstantiated OTC drug advertising may be sulijeETC enforcement action and may also be chadléng court by competitors or oth
under the federal Lanham Act or similar state lavwRenalties for false or misleading advertising majude monetary fines or judgment:
well as injunctions against further disseminatiésuch advertising claims.

A product marketed pursuant to an OTC Monographtinesegistered with the FDA and have a Nationald>€ode listing, which
required for all marketed drug productsAfter marketing, the FDA may test the product ohestvise investigate the manufacturing
development of the product to ensure compliancé wie OTC Monograph. Should the FDA determine that a product is not regadt ir
compliance with the OTC Monograph or is advertisedside of its regulations, the FDA may requirerective action up to and includi
market withdrawal and recall.

DEA Regulation
Several of our products, if approved and marketeitl, be regulated as “controlled substances’ defined in the CSA, whi
establishes registration, security, recordkeepiagorting, storage, distribution and other requeata administered by the DEA. The DE/

concerned with the loss and diversion of potentiabused drugs into illicit channels of commercd alosely monitors and regulates hanc
of controlled substances, and the equipment andmaterials used in their manufacture and packaging.
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The DEA designates controlled substances as Sah&dd Ill, IV or V or as List | Chemicals. Schelé | substances by definiti
have no established medicinal use, and may not édeated or sold in the United States. A pharmacalufproduct may be listed a
Schedule II, I, IV or V, with Schedule Il substas considered to present the highest risk of abndeSchedule V substances the lo
relative risk of abuse among such substances.| IG$temicals are used to regulate potentially abuaadmaterials, such as pseudoephe!
HCI.  We believe all of our products will receillEA Scheduling consistent with current DEA Schenlylstandards. For example, Oxec
Tablets are listed as Schedule Il controlled sufegts. under the CSA, the same as all other oxyco#f®leproducts. Consequently, tt
manufacture, shipment, storage, sale and use wilsubject to a high degree of regulation. For examgenerally all Schedule II dr
prescriptions must be signed by a physician, pljlgipresented to a pharmacist and may not bdeéfilithout a new prescription.

Annual DEA registration is required for any fagilithat manufactures, tests, distributes, dispensgmrts or exports any controll
substance or List | Chemical. Except for certainfADdefined coincidental activities, each registration is specth a particular location a
activity. For example, separate registrations aeded for import and manufacturing, and each magish must specify which schedules
controlled substances are authorized.

The DEA typically inspects a facility to review iggcurity measures prior to issuing a registrasiod, thereafter, on a periodic be
Security requirements vary by controlled substasceedule, with the most stringent requirements yapplto Schedule | and Schedul
substances. Required security measures includey@otber things, background checks on employeeghysical control of inventory throu
measures such as vaults, cages, surveillance cauamadanventory reconciliations. Records must batamed for the handling of all controll
substances and List | Chemicals, and periodic tepmiade to the DEA, for example distribution repdidr Schedule | and Il controll
substances, Schedule Il substances that are itacand other designated substances. Reportsaisasbe made for thefts or significant los
of any controlled substance and List | Chemicald #nobtain authorization to destroy any controlgdstance and List | Chemicals
addition, special authorization, notification aretpit requirements apply to imports and exports.

In addition, a DEA quota system controls and lintfiis availability and production of controlled stayges in Schedule | or Il and L
I Chemicals. Distributions of any Schedule | orcbintrolled substance must also be accomplishedyuspecial order forms, with cop
provided to the DEA. Because Oxecta Tablets areddb Il, they are subject to the DEAproduction and procurement quota scheme
DEA establishes annually an aggregate quota for mmoeh oxycodone active ingredient may be produnedtal in the United States basec
the DEA's estimate of the quantity needed to meet legignsatentific and medicinal needs. This limited a&ggite amount of oxycodone t
the DEA allows to be produced in the United Sta@sh year is allocated among individual comparnié®s, must submit applications annui
to the DEA for individual production and procurememotas. We or our licensees must receive an amqueda from the DEA in order
produce or procure any Schedule | or Schedulebktsunce and List | Chemicals. The DEA may adjugiregate production quotas
individual production and procurement quotas frammetto time during the year, although the DEA halsssantial discretion in whether or
to make such adjustments. Our or our licensgasta of an active ingredient may not be sufficientneet commercial demand or complete
manufacture or purchase of material required fimiadl trials. Any delay or refusal by the DEA istablishing our or our licenseeguota fo
controlled substances or List | Chemicals couldagedr stop our clinical trials or product launches,interrupt commercial sales of 1
products, which could have a material adverse effeour business, financial position and resulispzrations.

The DEA also regulates Listed Chemicals, which @remicals that may be susceptible to abuse, dorersind use in the illic
manufacture of controlled substance§ome Listed Chemicals, including pseudoephedrire,uaed in various prescription and OTC «
products. DEA and state laws and regulations impose extensiverdkeeping, security, distribution, and repatiequirements for compan
that handle, manufacture, or distribute Listed Cicals, including lawful drug products containingstéd Chemicals.In particular, OTC dru
products containing certain Listed Chemicals, idiolg pseudoephedrine, are required to be secutdddthe pharmacy counter and dispel
to customers directly by a pharmacist only in leditquantities. Pharmacists must obtain proof of identity from ousérs, and must ke
detailed records and make reports to the DEA reggushles of such productdndividual states may, and in some cases have,setpetricte
requirements on the sale of drug products contgihisted Chemicals, including requiring a docsoprescription prior to dispensing s
products to a customer.
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The DEA conducts periodic inspections of registazsthblishments that handle controlled substanued isted Chemicals. Failure
maintain compliance with applicable requirementstipularly as manifested in loss or diversion, casult in enforcement action that cc
have a material adverse effect on our businessltsesf operations and financial condition. The DBy seek civil penalties, refuse to rei
necessary registrations, or initiate proceedinggetoke those registrations. In certain circumstanoviolations could lead to crimil
prosecution.

Individual states also regulate controlled substarend List | Chemicals, and we or our licenseessabject to such regulation
several states with respect to the manufacturdwtace distribution of these products.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

In the United States, the commercial success ofpooduct candidates will depend, in part, upon dkailability of coverage ai
reimbursement from thirgarty payers at the federal, state and privatelde@overnment payer programs, including Medicareé &ledicaid
private health care insurance companies and mareagedolans may deny coverage or reimbursemerd fsoduct or therapy in whole or
part if they determine that the product or theregppot medically appropriate or necessary. Alsodtparty payers have attempted to cor
costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reirmbment for particular procedures or drug treatméeftie United States Congress and
legislatures from time to time propose and adofitatives aimed at cost containment, which coulgatt our ability to sell our produ
profitably.

For example, in March 2010, President Obama signidlaw the Patient Protection and Affordable CA, as amended by t
Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, whieh refer to collectively as the Health Care Refdraw, a sweeping law intended
broaden access to health insurance, reduce orraom#te growth of healthcare spending, enhancedés against fraud and abuse, add
transparency requirements for healthcare and hiitinance industries, impose new taxes and feéiseohealth industry and impose additic
health policy reforms. Among other cost containtrraeasures, the Healthcare Reform Law establishes:

« An annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that uf@ctures or imports certain branded prescriptiaingsl and biologic
agents

« A new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount progmanmvhich pharmaceutical manufacturers who wishawge their drugs
covered under Part D must offer discounts to dkgiieneficiaries during their coverage gap pertbd“donut hol”); and

« A new formula that increases the rebates a marurtzcinust pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Pmgra

We will not know the full effects of the Health @aReform Law until applicable federal and statenages issue regulations
guidance under the new law. Many of the Healthédeform Laws most significant reforms do not take effect ug€ilLl4 and thereafter, a
their details will be shaped significantly by impilenting regulations, some of which have yet toibalized. In 2012, the Supreme Court
the United States heard challenges to certain giané of the Healthcare Reform Law. The SupremertGoudecision upheld most of
Healthcare Reform Law; however, the Supreme Cdrutls down a provision in the Healthcare Reform Lthat penalized states that chose
to expand their Medicaid programs through an irseda the Medicaid eligibility income limit from states current eligibility levels to 133
of the federal poverty limit. As a result of thepBame Cours ruling, it is unclear how many states will expahéir Medicaid programs |
raising the income limit to 133% of the federal pdy level and whether there will be more uninsypatients in 2014 than anticipated w
Congress passed the Healthcare Reform Law. For gath that does not expand its Medicaid prograeretwill be fewer insured patie
overall. An increase in the proportion of uninsupadients who are prescribed products resultinghfomur proprietary or partnered progre
could impact future sales of any products thatcaramercialized in the future and our business asdlts of operations. Where patients rec
insurance coverage under any of the new optionseraadilable through the Healthcare Reform Law,pbssibility exists that manufactur
may be required to pay Medicaid rebates on thatitteg drug utilization, a decision that could ingpananufacturer revenues. In addition,
Administration has also announced delays in theléampntation of key provisions of the Healthcare dRef Law. The implications of the
delays for our sales, business and financial cmmgitf any, are not yet clear.
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Although it is too early to determine the effecttioé Health Care Reform Law, the new law appe&gdylito continue the pressure
pharmaceutical pricing, especially under governnpograms, and may also increase our or our li@segulatory burdens and operal
costs. Moreover, in the coming years, additionalngfes could be made to governmental healthcaregmsgthat could significantly impact -
success of our products.

The cost of pharmaceuticals continues to generabstantial governmental and thipdwty payer interest. We expect that
pharmaceutical industry will experience pricinggsares due to the trend toward managed healthbarécreasing influence of managed
organizations and additional legislative proposaiaddition to the Healthcare Reform Law, theré eantinue to be proposals by legislator
both the federal and state levels, regulators hind-party payers to keep healthcare costs dowifevexipanding individual healthcare benefits.
Economic pressure on state budgets may resulaiassincreasingly seeking to achieve budget satimgsigh mechanisms that limit cover
or payment for drugs. State Medicaid programs aceeasingly requesting manufacturers to pay supghah rebates and requiring pi
authorization by the state program for use of amygdor which supplemental rebates are not beind. pdanaged care organizations conti
to seek price discounts and, in some cases, tosenpestrictions on the coverage of particular dr@svernment efforts to reduce Medic
expenses may lead to increased use of managedarizations by Medicaid programs. This may resulinanaged care organizati
influencing prescription decisions for a larger reegt of the population and a corresponding comgti@i prices and reimbursement for
products. Certain of these changes could limit the prices$ ¢aa be charged for drugs we develop or the ansoofnteimbursement availal
for these products from governmental agenciesiad-fharty payers, or may increase the tax obligationpltarmaceutical companies, or t
facilitate the introduction of generic competitisith respect to products we are able to commeesali In short, our or our licenseessults o
operations could be adversely affected by curredtfature healthcare reforms.

In international markets, reimbursement and heafh@ayment systems vary significantly by counamd many countries hs
instituted price ceilings on specific products dnerapies. There can be no assurance that our gisodill be considered medically reason:i
and necessary for a specific indication, that owdpcts will be considered cost-effective by thiraty payers, that an adequate leve
coverage or payment will be available so that tiigdtparty payersreimbursement policies will not adversely affect aibility to sell ou
products profitably.

Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

We and our licensees that commercialize our pradact subject to various federal and state lawgetiang fraud and abuse in
healthcare industry. For example, the federali-Kitkback Statute prohibits persons from knowinglydawillfully soliciting, receiving
offering or paying remuneration, directly or inditly, to induce either the referral of an individluar the furnishing, recommending,
arranging for a good or service, for which paymertly be made under a federal healthcare progranh, asiche Medicare and Medic
programs. The reach of the Aitiekback Statute was broadened by the Health CaferR Law, which, among other things, amend:
intent requirement of the statute so that a peocsantity no longer needs to have actual knowleafglis statute or specific intent to violat
in order to have committed a violatioriThe Healthcare Reform Law also provides that theegument may assert that a claim including it
or services resulting from a violation of the fealehnti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudutdaim for purposes of the civil Fa
Claims Act or the civil monetary penalties statutdhe civil False Claims Act imposes liability on apgrson who, among other thin
knowingly presents, or causes to be presented|sa fa fraudulent claim for payment by a federahltteeare program. The “qui tam”
provisions of the False Claims Act allow a privéidividual to bring civil actions on behalf of tHfederal government alleging that
defendant has submitted a false claim to the fédgneernment, and to share in any monetary recowéiglations of these laws or any ot
federal or state fraud and abuse laws may subjediaensees to civil and criminal penalties, imthg fines, imprisonment and exclusion fr
participation in federal healthcare programs, whicluld harm the commercial success of our prodants materially affect our busine
financial condition and results of operations.
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Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment; the reseaghlopment and manufacture of innovative abusermete orally administere
pharmaceutical products.

Environmental Compliance

We are subject to regulation under federal, statklacal environmental laws and believe we are atemal compliance with su
laws. We incur the usual waste disposal cost aatativith a pharmaceutical research, developmehtremufacturing operation.

Employees
We have 15 fulime employees, 9 of whom are engaged in the relsedevelopment and manufacture of product canekdatilizing
our proprietary Aversion® and Impede®echnologies. The remaining employees are engagediministrative legal, accounting, finar
marketing, market research, and business develapseénities. All of our senior management and most of our o#raployees have had pr
experience in pharmaceutical or biotechnology cargza None of our employees are covered by colledviargaining agreementsWe
believe that our relations with our employees aredy
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Our future operating results may vary substantifabyn anticipated results due to a number of fa;torany of which are beyond «
control. The following discussion highlights sonfettese factors and the possible impact of thestifs on future results of operations. If
of the following factors actually occur, our busssefinancial condition or results of operationsilddbe materially harmed.In that case, tt
value of our common stock could decline substagtéid you may lose all or part of your investment.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We are largely dependent on the commercial sucadsd9xecta
We anticipate that, for at least fiscal 2014 an@i®®ur ability to generate revenues and beconféagdste will depend in large part on
the commercial success of our only FDA approvedipeq Oxecta, which in turn, will depend on sevéaators, including our licensee Pfizer’
ability to:
« obtain and increase market demand for, and sal&3xefcta,;

« Obtain acceptance of Oxecta by physicians andriatie

« Obtain and maintain adequate levels of coverageraimbursement for Oxecta from commercial healdmpland government
health programs, which we refer to collectivelytlaisd-party payors, particularly in light of the alability of other branded and
generic competitive product

- maintain compliance with regulatory requirements;
» price Oxecta competitively and enter into priceedimting contracts with third-party payors;
» establish and maintain agreements with wholesaleisdistributors on commercially reasonable terms;

« manufacture and supply Oxecta to meet commercialade, including obtaining sufficient quota from tBeug Enforcement
Administration; anc

« maintain intellectual property protection for Oxeeind obtaining favorable drug listing treatmenth® FDA to minimize generic
competition.
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There can be no assurance that Pfizer will devotiicent resources to the marketing and commematibn of Oxecta. Pfizes’
marketing of Oxecta may result in low market acaapé and insufficient demand for, and sales ofptieeluct. If Pfizer fails to successful
commercialize Oxecta and increase sales, we maynable to generate sufficient revenues to sustagraw our business and we may ne
become profitable, and our business, financial itaomdand results of operations will be materiaffected.

If we are not successful in commercializing Nexafadd other Impede Technology products, our revenaas business will suffer.

We commenced the launch and commercial distributbriNexafed in mid-December 2012. Nexafed competes in the hig
competitive market for cold, sinus and allergy prctd generally available to the consumer withoptescription. Many of our competito
have substantially greater financial and other ueses and are able to expend more funds and dffart us in marketing their compet
products. Category leading brands are often stggdoy regional and national advertising and prijomal efforts. Nexafed will compet
with national brands as well as pharmacy storedwahat are offered at a lower pricelThere can be no assurance that we will succe
commercializing Nexafed, or that the pricing of déed will allow us to generate significant revenoegrofit. Regulations have been enar
in several state or local jurisdictions requiringactor’s prescription to obtain pseudoephedriragpcts. An expansion of such restrictions
other jurisdictions or even nationally will advegsampact our ability to market Nexafed as an OTi@duct and generate revenue from Nex
product sales. Our failure to successfully commercialize Nexafed & develop and commercialize other Impede Tedgyoproducts wil
have a material adverse effect on our businesdiaadcial condition.

If Pfizer is not successful in commercializing Oxg our revenues and our business will suffer.

Pursuant to our license, development and commeaian agreement with a subsidiary of Pfizer, tox Pfizer Agreement, Pfizer
responsible for manufacturing, marketing, pricipgomoting, selling, and distributing Oxecta in tHaited States and Mexico, or the Pfi
Territory. If such agreement is terminated inadence with its terms, including due to a partfailure to perform its obligations
responsibilities under the agreement, then we woeledl to commercialize Oxecta ourselves for whiehcwrrently have no infrastructure,
alternatively enter into a new agreement with aeotfharmaceutical company, of which no assurancebeagiven. If we are unable to bui
the necessary infrastructure to commercialize Gxeatselves, which would substantially increaseeqomenses and capital requirements
we might not be able to fund, or are unable to fnduitable replacement commercialization partner,would be unable to generate
revenue from Oxecta.Even if we are successful at replacing the comrakizaition capabilities of Pfizer, our revenues andbyalties fror
Oxecta could be adversely impacted.

Pfizer's third party manufacturing facility is cemtly the sole commercial source of supply for Qaec If Pfizers manufacturin
facility fails to obtain sufficient DEA quotas foixycodone, fails to source adequate quantitiectfeand inactive ingredients, fails to conr
with regulatory requirements, or otherwise expergndisruptions in commercial supply of Oxectadprt revenue and our royalties coulc
adversely impacted.

Pfizer has a diversified product line for which ©tee Tablets will vie for Pfizer's promotional, mating, and selling resourceslf
Pfizer fails to commit sufficient promotional, matkng and selling resources to Oxecta, productmeeeand our royalties could be adver
impacted. Additionally, there can be no assurance that PfiwBrcommit the resources required for the sucfitésommercialization of Oxec
Tablets.

The market for our opioid product candidates ishlyigcompetitive with many marketed namuse deterrent brand and ger
products and other abuse deterrent product cardidadevelopment.f Pfizer prices Oxecta inappropriately, fails tosgtion Oxecta properl
targets inappropriate physician specialties, oemtise does not provide sufficient promotional suppproduct revenue and our royalties ci
be materially adversely impacted.
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Pfizer's promotional, marketing and sales activities inrection with Oxecta are subject to various fedaral state fraud and abi
laws, including, without limitation, the federal #dKickback Statute and the federal False Claims. AcThe federal AntKickback Statut
prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliing, receiving, offering or paying remuneratiafirectly or indirectly, to induce, or
return for, the purchase or recommendation of @m ibr service reimbursable under a federal heakhgeogram. The federal False Clair
Act imposes liability on any person who, among ottiiengs, knowingly presents, or causes to be ptese a false or fraudulent claim
payment by a federal healthcare program. If Pfizactivities are found to be in violation of théme&s or any other federal and state fraud
abuse laws, Pfizer may be subject to penaltieqyudimy civil and criminal penalties, damages, fimesl the curtailment or restructuring of
activities with regard to the commercialization@fecta, which could harm the commercial succe€3xafcta and have a material affect on
business, financial condition and results of openst

Our failure to continue the development of the tleelevelopment stage products terminated by Pfizedar the Pfizer Agreement, or
successfully establish a license agreement withhanmaceutical company for the development and comeraization of such product:
will adversely impact our ability to develop, matkand sell such products and our revenues and besis will suffer.

In July 2012, Pfizer exercised its right to terméthe license to the three products in developnwrthe returned products, under
Pfizer Agreement. The termination of such license provides for themnmreto us of oxycodone hydrochloride with acetaspimen, hydrocodol
bitartrate with acetaminophen and another undisdaspioid product. We have the right to develop the returned prodoot®ur own or i
partnership with a third party.Our plan for developing, manufacturing and comnaizing the returned products includes entering ia
agreement similar to the Pfizer Agreement withrategically focused pharmaceutical comparitowever, there can be no assurance thi
will be successful in entering into such an agree@mé?ending any such agreement, we expect to conthmuddvelopment of our hydrocodt
bitartrate with acetaminophen product on our owAlthough we believe we have sufficient cash resesiio fund the development of s
product and submit a corresponding NDA to the Fib¥re can be no assurance that this will be the.cd$ie continued development of «
hydrocodone bitartrate with acetaminophen produnct the other returned products may require additidimancing, which may not |
available on acceptable terms, or at alh the absence of available financing, or our falto successfully enter into a license agreeméhta
pharmaceutical company to develop and commerciiieeeturned products, we may have to limit tize sir scope of, or delay or abandon
development of some or all of the returned prodwetsch would adversely impact our financial cormatitand results of operations.

We have a history of operating losses and may ratiave profitability sufficient to generate a posi¢ return on shareholdersinvestment
We had a net loss of $13.9 million and $9.7 millfonthe years ended December 31, 2013 and 2042ecévely, net income of $1(
million for the year ended December 31, 2011 amettaloss of $12.7 million and $15.8 million for thears ended December 31, 2010

2009, respectively. Our future profitability wikepend on several factors, including:

« our receipt of royalties relating to Pfizer's safeOxecta Tablets;

« our successful marketing and sale of Nexafed ahdroproducts utilizing our Impede Technology, andrkat acceptance,
increased demand for and sales of Nexe

« our receipt of milestone payments and royaltieatim) to our Aversion Technology products in depet@nt, including the
products returned by Pfizer, from future licenseésyhich no assurance can be given;

» the receipt of FDA approval and the successful cercialization by future licensees (if any) of prothiutilizing our Aversion
Technology and our ability to commercialize our bdp Technology without infringing the patents atfteointellectual property
rights of third parties

We cannot assure you that our Oxecta or Nexafedugte will be successfully commercialized or ourefsion Technology or Impe
Technology products in development will be sucadbistieveloped or be approved for commercializatigrthe FDA.
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We recognized revenues of $10 thousand in the fifrroyalty payments from Pfizer for the year endstember 31, 2013. Ever
Pfizer succeeds in commercializing Oxecta, or if avea licensee succeed in developing and commaiciglone or more of our pipeli
Aversion Technology products, or if we are sucadsafcommercializing Nexafed or other Impede Teabgy products, we expect to conti
using cash reserves for the foreseeable future.e@penses may increase in the foreseeable futuee rasult of continued research
development of our product candidates, including tiree products returned to us by Pfizer underPtieer Agreement, maintaining ¢
expanding the scope of our intellectual properynmercializing our Nexafed product, and hiring dfiional research and development staff

We will need to generate revenues from direct pcodales or indirectly from royalties on sales ¢hiave and maintain profitability.
we cannot successfully commercialize Nexafed, ifd?fdoes not successfully commercialize Oxectdf we or our licensee (if any) cani
successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval emmmercialize our products in development, we mok be able to generate such roy
revenues or achieve future profitability. Our faluo achieve or maintain profitability would haaenaterial adverse impact on the market |
of our common stock.

We must rely on current cash reserves, royalty mave from Pfizers sale of Oxecta, revenues from Nexafed sales piteeeeds of our ter
loan and the net proceeds, if any, from our “at-threarket” offering of our common stock to fund opetians.

Pending the receipt of milestone payments and tiegalinder license agreements similar to the PAggeement that we may er
into with other pharmaceutical companies in theret of which no assurance can be given, we mlysbreour current cash reserves, roy
revenue from Pfizer on its sales of Oxecta, reverit@m our sales of Nexafed, the proceeds of oOrr#illion term loan from Oxford Finan
and the net proceeds, if any, from our “at-the-ratirkffering of our common stockto fund operations and product development actisitN¢
assurance can be given that current cash reseoyedty revenue from Pfizer on its sales of Oxeot&enues from Nexafed product sales
term loan from Oxford Finance or the net proceddany, from our “at-the-marketbffering of our common stock will be sufficient fond
continued operations and the development of oudyrbcandidates until such time as we generatdiaddi royalty revenue from the Pfi
Agreement or any similar future license agreemenkdoreover, no assurance can be given that we willeressful in raising additiol
financing or, if funding is obtained, that such dimg will be sufficient to fund operations untilquuct candidates utilizing our Aversion
Impede Technologies may be commercializelth. the event our cash reserves are insufficierfuta continued operations, we may nee
suspend some or all of our product developmenttsffir possibly discontinue operations.

Our and our licenseesability to market and promote Oxecta and other Asien Technology products by describing the abustedent
features of such products will be determined by #2A approved label for such products.

The commercial success of our Aversion Technolaggucts will depend upon our and our licensedslity to obtain FDA approve
labeling describing such products’ abuse deterfeatures or benefits. Our or our licensediure to achieve FDA approval of prod
labeling containing such information will prevemtsubstantiality limit our and our licenseeslvertising and promotion of such abuse dete
features in order to differentiate Aversion Teclogyl products from other immediate release opioiddpcts containing the same ac
ingredients, and would have a material adverse éingaour business and results of operations. FDW's January 2013 draft guidance, w
not binding on the FDA, outlines the FDA'’s curremws on the labeling of abuse deterrent productse FDA encourages sponsors to !
approval of proposed product labeling that setthftine results of physiochemical, physiologic, phacodynamic, pharmacokinetic, ant
formal post-marketing studies that appropriatelsireloterizes the abuse-deterrent properties ofdupto To date, the FDA has limited data
correlating the potentially abusketerrent properties of certain opioid drug prodweith actual reduction in abuse or adverse evasgsciate
with abuse. When the data predict or show a prslgpotential abusdeterrent properties can be expected to, or agtaal] result in
significant reduction in that produstabuse potential, those data, together with aarate characterization of what the data mean, shi
included in product labeling.We intend to utilize certain clinical and laborata@tudies for our opioid products in developmensipport
label describing the abuse-deterrent featuresaf puoducts. However, the extent to which such information igliiled in the FDA approw
product label is the subject of our and our liceisddiscussions with, and agreement by, the FDA asgfahte NDA review process for eact
our product candidatesThe outcome of those discussions with the FDA datlermine whether we or our licensees will be éblmarket oL
products with labeling that sufficiently differeates them from other products that have compardddeapeutic profiles. While the FL
approved label for Oxecta includes the results fraralinical study which evaluated the effects ofally snorting crushed Oxecta
commercially available oxycodone tablets and litiotas on wetting or dissolving Oxecta, it does ratwever, include the results of
laboratory studies intended to evaluate Oxecgotential to limit extraction of oxycodone HCbifn dissolved Oxecta Tablets and re
conversion into an injectable, or IV solutionThe absence of the results of these extractiorsgridge studies in the FDA approved labe
Oxecta may substantially limit Pfizerability to differentiate Oxecta from other immaigi release oxycodone products, which would hi
material adverse effect on market acceptance ot@and on our business and results of operations.
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Notwithstanding the FDA approved labeling for Oxgcthere can be no assurance that our Aversionnbémlly products i
development will receive FDA approved labeling tdascribes the abuse deterrent features of sucugi If the FDA does not appro
labeling containing such information, we or ouelisees will not be able to promote such producedan their abuse deterrent features,
not be able to differentiate such products fromeoiimmediate release opioid products containingstrae active ingredients, and may nc
able to charge a premium above the price of sutbrgiroducts which could materially adversely affaer business and results of operations.

Because the FDA closely regulates promotional neseand other promotional activities, even if f2A initially approves produ
labeling that includes a description of the abustemlent characteristics of our product, as inclee of Oxecta, the FDA may object to ot
our licensees marketing claims and product advertising cammidihis could lead to the issuance of warning et untitled letter
suspension or withdrawal of Oxecta from the marketalls, fines, disgorgement of money, operati@sfrictions, injunctions or crimir
prosecution, which could harm the commercial sueadsour product and materially affect our busindssmncial condition and results
operations.

Our product candidates are unproven and may notdpproved by the FDA.

We are committing a majority of our resources te ttevelopment of product candidates utilizing owesion and Impet
Technologies. Notwithstanding the receipt of FDA approval of Otee@ablets and our marketing of Nexafed, therelmamo assurance tl
any other product candidate utilizing our Aversammimpede Technologies will meet FDA’s standardsdommercial distribution. Further
there can be no assurance that other product atedithat may be developed using Aversion Techgabodmpede Technology will achie
the targeted end points in the required clinicaldigts or perform as intended in other plieical and clinical studies or lead to an N
submission or filing acceptance. Our failure tocassfully develop and achieve final FDA approvabof product candidates in developn
will have a material adverse effect on our finahcandition.

If the FDA disagrees with our determination that deain of our products meet the over-theunter, or OTC, requirements, on
those products are commercialized, they may be resdofrom the market; the FDA or the U.S. Federal&e Commission, or FTC, mi
object to our advertisement and promotion of thetraxtion characteristics and benefits of Nexafed.

Drugs that have been deemed safe and effectiveebiFDA for use by the general public without a priggion are classified as O°
drug products. Certain OTC drug products may be commercializedhauit premarket review by the FDA if the standaresferth in th
applicable regulatory monograph are mefn OTC monograph provides the marketing conditiémsthe applicable OTC drug prodt
including active ingredients, labeling, and otheneral requirements, such as compliance with cGRUP establishment registrationAny
product which fails to conform to each of the gaheonditions and a monograph is subject to regnfaaction. Further, although the FC
regulates OTC drug product labeling, the FTC reggldhe advertising and marketing of OTC drug patgluWe believe that Nexafed
classified for OTC sale under an FDA OTC monographich will allow us to commercialize them withosttbmitting an NDA or ANDA t
the FDA. We have also determined that, providedadhere to the FDA’requirements for OTC monograph products, inclgiginoduc
labeling, we can advertise and promote the extraatharacteristics and benefits of Nexafed whieéhsaipported by our research studiddo
assurance can be given, however, that the FDAagilke that Nexafed may be sold under the EDBTC monograph product regulation:
that the FDA or FTC will not object to our adveetisent and promotion of Nexafed's extraction chamdstics and benefits. If the FDA
determines that Nexafed does not conform to the @bGograph or if we fail to meet the general cdnd#, once commercialized, the proc
may be removed from the market and we may facewaractions including, but not limited to, residas on the marketing or distribution
such products, warning letters, fines, productwseizor injunctions or the imposition of civil oriminal penalties. Any of these actions m
materially and adversely affect our financial cdiodi and operations. Additionally, the FDA has mbe announced that it is consider
material changes to how it regulates OTC drug prtsland has scheduled a hearing in late March #f¥lgublic comment. Changes to tt
existing OTC regulations could result in a requiestithat Acura file an NDA or ANDA for Nexafed other Impede Technology product:
order to commercialize such products. If the FDAuiees that we submit a NDA or ANDA to obtain maikg approval for Nexafed or ott
Impede Technology products, this would result ibstantial additional costs, suspend the commezeiédin of Nexafed and require Fl
approval prior to sale, of which no assurance aaprbvided. In such case, the label for Nexafed or other ImpBeighnology products wot
be subject to FDA review and approval and there lmamo assurance that we will be able to marketaféekor other Impede Technolc
products with labeling sufficient to differentiaitefrom products that have comparable therapeutidilps. If we are unable to advertise
promote the extraction characteristics of Nexafedtber Impede Technology products, we may be @nabtompete with national brands
pharmacy chain store brands.
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Our Aversion and Impede Technology products may hetsuccessful in limiting or impeding abuse or m& upon commercialization.

We are committing a majority of our resources te ttevelopment of products utilizing our Aversiorddmpede Technologies.
Notwithstanding the receipt of FDA approval of Oteedablets and the results of our numerous clingcal laboratory studies for Oxer
Nexafed, and our Aversion and Impede Technologyyets in development, there can be no assuranteOtkecta, Nexafed or any otl
product utilizing our Aversion or Impede Technokgwill perform as tested and limit or impede th&ial abuse or misuse of such produc
commercial settings. Moreover, there can be sarasce that the poapproval epidemiological study required by the F&#a condition «
approval of Oxecta will show a reduction in the segquences of abuse and misuse by patients for vihweuta is prescribed.The failure o
Oxecta, Nexafed or other products utilizing our fsien and Impede Technologies to limit or impedtialcabuse or misuse in practice
have a material adverse impact on market accepfansech products and on our financial conditiod aesults of operations.

Relying on third party CROs may result in delays @ur pre-clinical, clinical or laboratory testinglf pre-clinical, clinical or laboratory
testing for our product candidates are unsuccessfat delayed, we will be unable to meet our antidipd development ar
commercialization timelines.

To obtain FDA approval to commercially sell andtdimite in the United States any of our prescripwoduct candidates, we or
licensees must submit to the FDA a NDA demonstga@mong other things, that the product candidasaie and effective for its intended 1
As we do not possess the resources or employ alpénsonnel necessary to conduct such testingelyeon CROs for the majority of tt
testing with our product candidates. As a resudt,have less control over our development program thwe performed the testing entirely
our own. Third parties may not perform their resgbitities on our anticipated schedule. Delays iur aevelopment programs co
significantly increase our product development£astd delay product commercialization.

The commencement of clinical trials with our produandidates may be delayed for several reasoolsiding, but not limited t
delays in demonstrating sufficient pekrical safety required to obtain regulatory ap@ioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreetsien
acceptable terms with prospective CROs, clinidal sites and licensees, manufacturing and quaisurance release of a sufficient supply
product candidate for use in our clinical trialsglam obtaining institutional review board approwalconduct a clinical trial at a prospec
clinical site. Once a clinical trial has begunmiay be delayed, suspended or terminated by usgatatery authorities due to several fact
including ongoing discussions with regulatory auities regarding the scope or design of our clinidals, a determination by us or regulai
authorities that continuing a trial presents aneasonable health risk to participants, failure ¢mduct clinical trials in accordance w
regulatory requirements, lower than anticipateduiément or retention rate of patients in clinit@ls, inspection of the clinical trial operatic
or trial sites by regulatory authorities, the imitios of a clinical hold by FDA, lack of adequatenfling to continue clinical trials, and
negative or unanticipated results of clinical sial
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Clinical trials required by the FDA for commercegproval may not demonstrate safety or efficacguwfproduct candidates. Succ
in pre<linical testing and early clinical trials does rassure that later clinical trials will be succassResults of later clinical trials may 1
replicate the results of prior clinical trials apce-clinical testing. Even if the results of our piviopdnase Il clinical trials are positive, we ¢
our licensees may have to commit substantial tinteadditional resources to conduct further giaical and clinical studies before we or
licensees can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory epgirfor our product candidates.

Clinical trials are expensive and at times, diffido design and implement, in part because theysabject to rigorous regulat
requirements. Further, if participating subjectpatients in clinical studies suffer droglated adverse reactions during the course of siath
or if we, our licensees or the FDA believes thatipipating patients are being exposed to unactéptaealth risks, we or our licensees |
suspend the clinical trials. Failure can occur may atage of the trials, and we or our licenseeddcamcounter problems causing
abandonment of clinical trials or the need to can@ulditional clinical studies, relating to a protlaandidate.

Even if our clinical trials and laboratory testinge completed as planned, their results may ngiastigommercially viable prodic
label claims. The clinical trial process may faildemonstrate that our product candidates areagafeeffective for their intended use. S
failure may cause us or our licensees to abangwoduct candidate and may delay the developmeotheir product candidates.

We have no commercial manufacturing capacity andyren third-party contract manufacturers to produce commercigantities of ou
products.

We do not have the facilities, equipment or pergbhm manufacture commercial quantities of our pidd and therefore must rely
our licensees or other qualified thiparty contract manufactures with appropriate faediand equipment to contract manufacture comml
guantities of products utilizing our Aversion amdpede Technologies. These licensees and thandy contract manufacturers are also su
to cGMP regulations, which impose extensive procaldand documentation requirementsAny performance failure on the part of
licensees or contract manufacturers could delaynwercialization of any approved products, deprivisgpf potential product revenue.

Our drug products, including Nexafed, require mechigh quality manufacturingFailure by our contract manufacturers to act
and maintain high manufacturing standards couldlrés patient injury or death, product recallsvathdrawals, delays or failures in testing
delivery, cost overruns, or other problems thatldomaterially adversely affect our businessContract manufacturers may encou
difficulties involving production vyields, quality ootrol, and quality assurance. These manufactuages subject to ongoing perio
unannounced inspection by the FDA and corresponstiaig and foreign agencies to ensure strict camgd with cGMP and other applica
government regulations; however, beyond contracteatedies that may be available to us, we do nee heontrol over thirgsarty
manufacturers’ compliance with these regulatiords standards.

If for some reason our contract manufacturers cepadorm as agreed, we may be required to replaem. Although we believ
there are a number of potential replacements, vleieur added costs and delays in identifying apalifying any such replacementsin
addition, a new manufacturer would have to be egacim, or develop substantially equivalent proesdsr, production of our products or d
candidates.

We or our licensees may not obtain required FDA apyal; the FDA approval process is time-consumingdaexpensive.

The development, testing, manufacturing, markedingd sale of pharmaceutical products are subjemttensive federal, state and Ic
regulation in the United States and other count@asisfaction of all regulatory requirements tyig takes years, is dependent upon the
complexity and novelty of the product candidate] amquires the expenditure of substantial resouimesesearch, development and tes
Substantially all of our operations are subjeatdmpliance with FDA regulations. Failure to adh&rapplicable FDA regulations by us or
licensees would have a material adverse effect inoperations and financial condition. In addition, the event we are successfu
developing product candidates for distribution aatk in other countries, we would become subjectgalation in such countries. Such fore
regulations and product approval requirements goeated to be time consuming and expensive.
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We or our licensees may encounter delays or rejegtiluring any stage of the regulatory review guur@val process based upon
failure of clinical or laboratory data to demonstra&ompliance with, or upon the failure of the prodcandidates to meet, the FRA’
requirements for safety, efficacy and quality; dimolse requirements may become more stringent dabatoges in regulatory agency polic
the adoption of new regulations. After submissiéradNDA, the FDA may refuse to file the applicatiateny approval of the applicati
require additional testing or data and/or requiostgmarketing testing and surveillance to monitar safety or efficacy of a productFor
instance, the FDA's approval of Oxecta is condiéidron Pfizer conducting a paspproval epidemiological study to assess the actoab
levels and consequences of Oxecta in the markée Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, siete standards for the FDé&'review o
NDA'’s. The FDA's timelines described in the PDUFA gnaaare flexible and subject to change based okleant and other potential revi
issues and may delay the FDA's review of an NDBurther, the terms of approval of any NDA, incluglithe product labeling, may be m
restrictive than we or our licensees desire andidcaifiect the marketability of our products.

Even if we comply with all the FDA regulatory recgiinents, we or our licensees may not obtain reguylapproval for any of o
product candidates in development. For exampleprggiously submitted a NDA to the FDA for an AversiTechnology product containi
niacin, intended to provide impediments to overesting the product. Such niacin containing prodves not approved by the FDAIf we ot
our licensees fail to obtain regulatory approvalday of our product candidates in developmentwilehave fewer commercialized produ
and correspondingly lower revenues. Even if regmaipproval of our products in development is nes# such approval may invol
limitations on the indicated uses or promotionalirals we or our licensees may make for our produst®therwise not permit labeling tl
sufficiently differentiates our product candidafesm competitive products with comparable therajpeptofiles but without abuse deterr
features (see risk factor above entitl&@lt and our licensees ability to market and pronitecta and other Aversion Technology produc
describing the abuse deterrent features of sudupts will be determined by the FDA approved ldbelsuch products”). Such events wou
have a material adverse effect on our operatiodsiaancial condition. We may market certain of our products without thierpapplication t
and approval by the FDA. The FDA may subsequergtuire us to withdraw such products and submitADfor approval prior to re-
marketing.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or suspappulovals of previously approved products for eaus debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the druapproval process, to request recalls of allegedijative products, to seize allegedly violal
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufantuplants allegedly not operating in conformitytlweurrent cGMP and to stop shipment
allegedly violative products.In the event the FDA takes any such action relatingur products, such actions would have a matadeers:
effect on our operations and financial condition.

We must maintain FDA approval to manufacture clirat supplies of our product candidates at our fatylj failure to maintain complianc
with FDA requirements may prevent or delay the mdacture of our product candidates and costs of méacture may be higher tha
expected.

We have installed the equipment necessary to metuiéa clinical trial supplies of our Aversion anehdede Technology prodt
candidates in tablet formulations at our Culvediana facility. To be used in clinical trials, afl our product candidates must be manufaci
in conformity with cGMP regulations. All such prarticandidates must be manufactured, packaged afeted and stored in accordance
cGMPs. Modifications, enhancements or changes in manufacfisites of marketed products are, in many cirstamces, subject to FL
approval, which may be subject to a lengthy appiboaprocess or which we may be unable to obtaur. Culver, Indiana facility, and those
any thirdparty manufacturers that we or our licensees may ase periodically subject to inspection by theAF&nd other governmen
agencies, and operations at these facilities coelshterrupted or halted if the FDA deems sucheértipns are unsatisfactory. Failure to con
with FDA or other governmental regulations can lesufines, unanticipated compliance expendituresall or seizure of products, total
partial suspension of production or distributiomsgension of FDA review of our product candidat@smination of ongoing resear
disqualification of data for submission to regutstauthorities, enforcement actions, injunctiond animinal prosecution.
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We develop our products, and manufacture clinicalpplies, at a single location.Any disruption at this facility could adversely &€t oul
business and results of operations.

We rely on our Culver, Indiana facility for deveing our product candidates and the manufacturdimital supplies of our produ
candidates. If the Culver, Indiana facility wel@maged or destroyed, or otherwise subject to mlism, it would require substantial letidie
to repair or replace. If our Culver facility weadfected by a disaster, we would be forced to egltirely on CROs and thirgarty contrac
manufacturers for an indefinite period of timeAlthough we believe we possess adequate insuramcgaimage to our property and for
disruption of our business from casualties, sushii@ance may not be sufficient to cover all of oateptial losses and may not continue t
available to us on acceptable terms, or at &loreover, any disruptions or delays at our Culvedjana facility could impair our ability
develop our product candidates utilizing the Avamsor Impede Technologies, which could adversefgcafour business and results
operations.

Our operations are subject to environmental, healihd safety, and other laws and regulations, withiash compliance is costly and whit
exposes us to penalties for non-compliance.

Our business, properties and product candidatesudnject to federal, state and local laws and egguis relating to the protection
the environment, natural resources and worker Ine@altl safety and the use, management, storageigpubal of hazardous substances, v
and other regulated material8Because we own and operate real property, variousaamental laws also may impose liability on os the
costs of cleaning up and responding to hazardoostanices that may have been released on our propertuding releases unknown to us.
These environmental laws and regulations also cagdire us to pay for environmental remediatiod esponse costs at thipdrty location
where we dispose of or recycle hazardous substantks costs of complying with these various environtakrequirements, as they now e
or may be altered in the future, could adverseigcafour financial condition and results of opeyas.

Our failure to successfully establish new licensgraements with pharmaceutical companies for the depment and commercialization
our other products in development may adversely @anpur ability to develop, market and sell suchqatucts.

The Pfizer Agreement grants Pfizer an exclusivense to develop and commercialize Oxectde believe that opportunities exis
enter into agreements similar to the Pfizer Agregméth other partners for the commercialization{ecta outside the Pfizer Territory,
the development and commercialization of our oth@oid analgesic products (including the produetsimed to us by Pfizer under the Pf
Agreement) in the United States and worldwide, fandhe development and commercialization of add#il Aversion Technology and Impe¢
Technology product candidates for other abusednaisdsed drugs, such as tranquilizers, stimulaet$atsres and nasal decongestants i
United States and worldwideHowever, there can be no assurance that we wiiuoeessful in entering into such license agreeniantse
future. If we are unable to enter into such agreements,ability to develop and commercialize our produahdidates, and our financ
condition and results of operations, would be askigraffected.

If our licensees do not satisfy their obligationse will be unable to develop our licensed produahdidates.

As part of our Pfizer Agreement or other futureiamlicense agreements (if any), we do not and mat have day-tatay control ove
the activities of our licensees with respect to prgduct candidate.If a licensee fails to fulfill its obligations undan agreement with us,
may be unable to assume the development of theupradndidate covered by that agreement or to emteralternative arrangements w
another third party. In addition, we may encourdelays in the commercialization of the product d¢datg that is the subject of a lice
agreement. Accordingly, our ability to receive aryenue from the product candidates covered by agobements will be dependent on
efforts of our licensee. We could be involved ismlites with a licensee, which could lead to delay® termination of, our development
commercialization programs and result in time comisg and expensive litigation or arbitration. Indén, any such dispute could dimin
our licensees commitment to us and reduce the resources thegtaldo developing and commercializing our produdtsany license
terminates or breaches its agreement, or otheffailseto complete its obligations in a timely manreur chances of successfully developin
commercializing our product candidates would beemally adversely effected. Additionally, due teethature of the market for our proc
candidates, it may be necessary for us to licets® a significant portion of our product candidgtto a single company, thereby elimins
our opportunity to commercialize other product ddates with other licensees.
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If we fail to maintain our license agreement withfi2er, we may have to commercialize Oxecta on owno

Our plan for manufacturing and commercializing Gaetablets currently requires us to maintain otgrise agreement with Pfizer
addition to other customary termination provisiothe Pfizer Agreement provides that Pfizer may teate the Pfizer Agreement at any t
upon written notice to us.f Pfizer elects to terminate the Pfizer Agreementif we are otherwise unable to maintain our &xgsrelationshi
with Pfizer, we would have to commercialize Oxeataiselves for which we currently have no infrastmoe, or alternatively enter into a n
agreement with another pharmaceutical company,hi¢lwno assurance can be give@ur ability to commercialize Oxecta on our own |
require additional financing, which may not be &afale on acceptable terms, or at all.

The market may not be receptive to products incagimg our Aversion or Impede Technologies

The commercial success of our products will depmacceptance by health care providers and othatstich products are clinice
useful, coseffective and safe. There can be no assurance dhatnour products utilizing the Aversion or Impetlechnologies would |
accepted by health care providers and others. Eatttat may materially affect market acceptanceusfproduct candidates include but are
limited to:

« the relative advantages and disadvantages of odupts compared to competitive products;

« the relative timing to commercial launch of our gwots compared to competitive products;

« the relative safety and efficacy of our productsipared to competitive products;

« the product labeling approved by the FDA for owdurcts;

« the perception of health care providers of thele i@ helping to prevent abuse and their willinghés prescribe abuse-deterrent
products to do sc

. the willingness of third party payers to reimbuf@eour prescription products;

. the willingness of pharmacy chains to stock ourédgwTechnology products;

. the willingness of pharmacists to recommend ourddgTechnology products to their customers; and

. the willingness of consumers to pay for our product

Oxecta and our product candidates, if successtidiyeloped and commercially launched, will compeith Wwoth currently markete
and new products launched in the future by othempamies. Health care providers may not acceptitizeutiny of our products. Physician
and other prescribers may not be inclined to piles@ur prescription products unless our produeta@hstrate commercially viable advant:
over other products currently marketed for the sardzations. Pharmacy chains may not be willing to stock our éng Technology produt
and pharmacists may not recommend such produatertsumers. Further, consumers may not be willinguahase our productslf our
products do not achieve market acceptance, we iayenable to generate significant revenues orregqarofitable.

If we, our licensees or others identify serious &ise events or deaths relating to any of our prottuonce on the market, we may
required to withdraw our products from the markethich would hinder or preclude our ability to genate revenues.

We or our licensees are required to report to eglevegulatory authorities all serious adverse &vendeaths involving our prodi
candidates or approved products$f we, our licensees, or others identify such eserggulatory authorities may withdraw their appisvo
such products; we or our licensees may be requiredformulate our products; we or our licenseey Imave to recall the affected prodt
from the market and may not be able to reintrodheen onto the market; our reputation in the mailkeg may suffer; and we may become
target of lawsuits, including class actions suitdny of these events could harm or prevent salahefaffected products and could mater
adversely affect our business and financial cooliti
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Our revenues may be adversely affected if we faibbtain insurance coverage or adequate reimbursemfer our products from third-
party payers.

The ability of our licensees to successfully conutadize our products may depend in part on thelabgity of reimbursement for o
prescription products from government health adstiation authorities, private health insurers, atiger thirdparty payers and administratc
including Medicaid and Medicare. We cannot prediet availability of reimbursement for newdpproved products utilizing our Avers
Technology. Thirdparty payers and administrators, including statedivid programs and Medicare, are challenging teep charged f
pharmaceutical products. Government and other-ftartly payers increasingly are limiting both coveramd the level of reimbursement
new drugs. Thirgearty insurance coverage may not be available temia for any of our products candidates. The inoirig efforts o
government and thirgarty payers to contain or reduce the costs oftthealre may limit our commercial opportunity. Ifvgsnment and oth
third-party payers do not provide adequate coverage aimdbursement for any product utilizing our Aversidechnology, health ce
providers may not prescribe them or patients mdy their health care providers to prescribe comgetimoducts with more favorat
reimbursement. In some foreign markets, pricing praditability of pharmaceutical products are sabj® government control. In the Uni
States, we expect there may be federal and stapogals for similar controls. In addition, we exptaat increasing emphasis on managed
in the United States will continue to put pressamethe pricing of pharmaceutical products. Costmbiinitiatives could decrease the price
we or our licensees charge for any of our prodircthe future. Further, cost control initiativesuteh impair our ability or the ability of o
licensees to commercialize our products and olityabi earn revenues from commercialization.

In both the United States and certain foreign gicigsons, there have been and we expect there asilitinue to be a number
legislative and regulatory changes to the health sgstem that could impact our or our licensebdita to sell our products profitably.In
particular, in 2010, the Patient Protection AffdiliaCare Act, as amended by the Health Care anddfidn Reconciliation Act, collective
the Healthcare Reform Law, was enacted’he Healthcare Reform Law substantially changeswag healthcare is financed by b
governmental and private insurers and significaaffgcts the pharmaceutical industryAmong the provisions of the Healthcare Reform
of greatest importance to the pharmaceutical inguse the following:

« An annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that ufiactures or imports certain branded prescriptinrgs and biologic agents,
beginning in 2011

« Anincrease in the minimum rebates a manufacturestpay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program;
« A new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount prograrder which manufacturers must agree to offep&@ent point-of-sale
discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brdnes to eligible beneficiaries during their caage gap period, as a condition

for the manufactur’s outpatient drugs to be covered under MedicarePdveginning in 2011

« Extension of manufacturer's Medicaid rebate lidpitio covered drugs dispensed to individuals whe emrolled in Medicaid
managed care organizations, effective March 2302

« A new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Instiiuteversee, identify priorities in, and conduct gamative clinical
effectiveness researc

« Arevision to the definition of “average manufaeuprice” for reporting purposes; and

« Encouragement for the development of comparatifectifeness research, which may reduce the exterirobursement for our
products if such research results in any advensiniys.
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At this time, it remains uncertain what the fullgact of these provisions will be on the pharmacaltindustry generally or o
business in particular.The full effects of these provisions will becomgagent as these laws are implemented and the Gdptevledicare ¢
Medicaid Services and other agencies issue appdicalgulations or guidance as required by the Heale Reform Law. Moreover, in th
coming years, additional changes could be madeot@®rgmental healthcare programs that could sigmifly impact the success of
products.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirgpabilities for our products that are not licensed third parties, our revenues and o
business will suffer.

We do not currently have an extensive organizdtiorthe sales, marketing and distribution of pharendical products and the cos
establishing and maintaining such an organizatiag exceed the costffectiveness of doing so. If we do not licensedbmmercialization of
product, we may have to build our sales, marketmngnagerial and other ndeehnical capabilities or make arrangements wittd tharties t
perform these services. If we are unable to esfaldi fund adequate sales, marketing and distabutapabilities, whether independentl
with third parties, it will impair our ability toedl products and have a material adverse effedusroperations.

Consolidation in the healthcare industry could ledad demands for price concessions or for the exabmsof some suppliers from certa
of our markets, which could have an adverse effentour business, financial condition or results operations.

Because healthcare costs have risen significamtijyerous initiatives and reforms by legislaturegutators and thirgharty payers 1
curb these cost increases have resulted in a iretiéd healthcare industry to consolidate produgiptiers and purchasersAs the healthca
industry consolidates, competition among supplierprovide products to purchasers has become mtgase. This in turn has resulted,
will likely continue to result, in greater pricingressures and the exclusion of certain suppliem fimportant market segments as gi
purchasing organizations, and large single accoworiinue to use their market power to influencedpict pricing and purchasing decisions.
We expect that market demand, government regulatiira-party reimbursement policies and societal pressaigontinue to influence tt
worldwide healthcare industry, resulting in furthmrsiness consolidations, which may exert furtt@wmvard pressure on the prices of
anticipated products. This downward pricing pressuay adversely impact our business, financial itimmdor results of operations.Undel
our agreement with Pfizer, Pfizer controls the @i¢ Oxecta and may provide price discounts anckpeductions in its discretionSuch pric
discounts and reductions will reduce the net safesur licensed products and, correspondingly, mylty payments under the Pfi
Agreement.

Our success depends on our ability to protect autellectual property.

Our success depends on our ability to obtain anidtaia patent protection for products developedizitig our technologies, in tl
United States and in other countries, and to erfthese patents. The patent positions of pharmaeaetfitms, including us, are gener:
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualsgjoas. Notwithstanding our receipt of U.S. Patiiet 7,201,920 and U.S. Patent
7,510,726 from the USPTO encompassing our opioid productizimi our Aversion Technology, and U.S. Patent Ng981,43
encompassing certain napioid products utilizing our Aversion Technolodigere is no assurance that any of our patent clainegir othe
pending norprovisional and provisional patent applicationgtiel to our technologies will issue or if issuétht any of our existing and futt
patent claims will be held valid and enforceablaiasgt third-party infringement or that our produatdl not infringe any thirdparty patent ¢
intellectual property. Moreover, any patent claimigting to our technologies may not be sufficigttoad to protect our products. In addit
issued patent claims may be challenged, potentiaifglidated or potentially circumvented. Our patefaims may not afford us protect
against competitors with similar technology or pierthe commercialization of our products withoufringing thirdparty patents or oth
intellectual property rights.
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Our success also depends on our not infringingpaissued to others. We may become aware of gabetdnging to competitors €
others that could require us to obtain licensesuth patents or alter our technologies. Obtainu dicenses or altering our technology ct
be time consuming and costly. We may not be ablgbtain a license to any technology owned by ansed to a third party that we or
licensees require to manufacture or market oneareraf our products.Even if we can obtain a license, the financial atfter terms may |
disadvantageous.

Our success also depends on maintaining the canti@diéy of our trade secrets and kndwew. We seek to protect such informatior
entering into confidentiality agreements with enygles, potential licensees, raw material suppliessiract research organizations, con
manufacturers, consultants and other parties. Thgeements may be breached by such parties. Wenatdye able to obtain an adequatt
perhaps any, remedy to such a breach. In additontrade secrets may otherwise become known dandependently developed by 1
competitors. Our inability to protect our intelleat property or to commercialize our products withimfringing thirdparty patents or oth
intellectual property rights would have a mateaidverse affect on our operations and financial itmmd

We also rely on or intend to rely on our tradematkade names and brand names to distinguish @alupts from the products of
competitors, and have registered or applied tostegimany of these trademarks$iowever, our trademark applications may not be @ygut
Third parties may also oppose our trademark appica or otherwise challenge our use of the tradgksnaln the event that our trademarks
successfully challenged, we could be forced toamtbrour product, which could result in loss of lorarcognition and could require us
devote resources to advertising and marketing these brands. Further, our competitors may infrioge trademarks, or we may not h
adequate resources to enforce our trademarks.

We may become involved in patent litigation or othetellectual property proceedings relating to odtversion or Impede Technologi
or product candidates, which could result in lialiif for damages or delay or stop our developmentl@ommercialization efforts.

The pharmaceutical industry has been characteriaedsignificant litigation and other proceedings amting patents, pate
applications and other intellectual property rigfitlse situations in which we may become partiesuith litigation or proceedings may include:

« litigation or other proceedings we or our licensgatay initiate against third parties to enforce patent rights or other
intellectual property rights, including the PargdrdV Proceedings described belc

- litigation or other proceedings we or our licensg@fay initiate against third parties seeking tamlidate the patents held by such
third parties or to obtain a judgment that our jpicid do not infringe such third part patents

« litigation or other proceedings third parties maijiate against us or our licensee(s) to seek\alidate our patents or to obtain a
judgment that third party products do not infrirme patents

« if our competitors file patent applications thaiol technology also claimed by us, we may be fotoguhrticipate in interference
or opposition proceedings to determine the priasftinvention and whether we are entitled to patggitts on such invention; ar

« if third parties initiate litigation claiming thatur products infringe their patent or other inteflel property rights, we will need to
defend against such proceedin

The costs of resolving any patent litigation, irihg the Paragraph IV Proceedings, or other irtelle property proceeding, evel
resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Mahypur potential competitors will be able to sustHia cost of such litigation and proceed
more effectively than we can because of their suttistlly greater resources. Uncertainties resulfiogn the initiation and continuation
patent litigation or other intellectual propertyopeedings could have a material adverse effectunrability to compete in the marketpla
Patent litigation, including the Paragraph IV Pextiags, and other intellectual property proceedimgy also consume significant manager
time.
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In the event that a competitor infringes upon oatept or other intellectual property rights, enifiegcthose rights may be cos
difficult and time consuming. Even if successfitightion to enforce our intellectual property righor to defend our patents against chall
could be expensive and time-consuming and couldrtliour managemest’attention. We may not have sufficient resourcesriforce ot
intellectual property rights or to defend our patenother intellectual property rights againsthalenge. If we are unsuccessful in enfor
and protecting our intellectual property rights gdtecting our products, it could harm our businde certain circumstances, our licer
Pfizer has the first right to control the enforcemef certain of our patents against third partyimgers. Pfizer may not put adequate resot
or effort into such enforcement actions or otheews! to restrain infringing products. In additian an infringement proceeding, including
Paragraph IV Proceedings, a court may decide thptent of ours is invalid or is unenforceablenmay refuse to stop the other party fi
using the technology at issue on the grounds thatpatents do not cover the technology in questiim.adverse result in any litigatic
including the Paragraph IV Proceedings, or defgmseeedings could put one or more of our patentsktof being invalidated or interpre!
narrowly and could put our patent applicationssit of not issuing.

Our technologies or products may be found to igiirtlaims of patents owned by others. If we deteenthat we are, or if we ¢
found to be infringing a patent held by anothemyawre, our suppliers or our licensees might havedek a license to make, use, and se
patented technologies and products. In that caseow suppliers or our licensees might not be tbteEbtain such license on acceptable te
or at all. The failure to obtain a license to ahyrd party technology that may be required wouldterially harm our business, financ
condition and results of operations. If a legalacis brought against us or our licensee(s), waddcncur substantial defense costs, and
such action might not be resolved in our favosu€h a dispute is resolved against us, we may foapay the other party large sums of mc
and use of our technology and the testing, manufiagf, marketing or sale of one or more of our picid could be restricted or prohibit
Even prior to resolution of such a dispute, usewftechnology and the testing, manufacturing, mnk or sale of one or more of our prod
could be restricted or prohibited.

We are aware of certain United States and inteynakipending patent applications owned by thirdiparwith claims potential
encompassing Oxecta and our Aversion products ureldpment. While we do not expect the claims caomdiin such pending pat
applications will issue in their present form, #heran be no assurance that such patent applicatiihaot issue as patents with clai
encompassing one or more of our product candidatésuch patent applications result in valid andoeogable issued patents, contail
claims in their current form or otherwise encompag®ur products we or our licensees may be reduiveobtain a license to such pate
should one be available, or alternatively, alter pnoducts so as to avoid infringing such thirakty patents. If we or our licensees are unat
obtain a license on commercially reasonable teonst all, we or our licensees could be restriciegrrevented from commercializing «
products. Additionally, any alterations to our pumots or our technologies could be time consumind eostly and may not result
technologies or products that are non-infringingammercially viable.

We are aware of an issued United States patentdwpe third party having claims encompassing tbe of one of our Aversi
inactive ingredients in a controlled release phaeutical preparation.We are also aware of an issued United States pateméd by a thir
party having claims encompassing a pharmaceutigggpation containing viscosity producing ingretiethat can be drawn into a syril
when dissolved in 10mL’s or less of aqueous satuti@Vhile we believe that our Aversion products do infitinge these patents, or that s
patents are otherwise invalid, there can be norassa that we or Pfizer will not be sued for ingiimg these patents, and if sued, there ci
no assurance that we or Pfizer will prevail in augh litigation. If we or Pfizer are found to infringe either or baif these patents, we
Pfizer may seek a license to use the patented démyyn If we are unable to obtain such a license, of wimnichassurance can be given, w
Pfizer may be restricted or prevented from comnadiming our Aversion products.

We are aware of certain issued United States matemied by a third party having claims encompasaipgocess used to manufac
oxycodone HCI of high purity and pharmaceuticaldurets resulting therefrom As required by the FDA, Oxecta contains a similghtpurity
oxycodone HCI manufactured by a supplier that isthe owner or licensee of such patent¥he owner of these patents has filed p:
infringement actions relating to these patentsrajaiompanies that have filed abbreviated new dpglications with the FDA for extended-
release versions of oxycodone HCT.o our knowledge, the patent owner has not intiaey patent infringement actions against the et
immediate-release oxycodone HCI products or thaipBers of oxycodone HCI, however, we cannot betage that these immediateleas
products actually utilize a high purity oxycodon&/e cannot provide assurance that Pfizer or its odgoe HCI supplier will not be sued
infringing these patentsln the event of an infringement action, Pfizer éimeir oxycodone HCI supplier would have to eith@): demonstra
that the manufacture of the oxycodone HCI used xedta does not infringe the patent claims, (b) destrate the patents are invalic
unenforceable, or (c) enter into a license with plagent owner. If Pfizer or their oxycodone HCI supplier is unalite demonstrate tl
foregoing, or obtain a license to these patierfigePmay be required or choose to withdraw Oxéaim the market.
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We are aware of a certain issued United Statesipatened by a third party having claims similaroiar second generation Impe
Technology directed to ingredient amounts thatggmeerally less than the amounts used in our teoggoMhile we believe our technolc
does not infringe this patent, we cannot providaieence that we will not be sued under such pateifitsued, that we will prevail in any st
suit.

We cannot assure you that our technologies, predumt/or actions in developing our products wilt imringe third-party patents.
Our failure to avoid infringing thirgbarty patents and intellectual property rightshie tlevelopment and commercialization of our prog
would have a material adverse affect on our opmmatand financial condition.

Generic manufacturers are using litigation and reatory means to seek approval for generic versiafixecta, which could cause o
and our licensee’s sales to suffer.

Under the HatchWaxman Act, the FDA can approve an ANDA for a gengersion of a branded drug and what is referedd :
Section 505(b)(2) NDA, for a branded variation of existing branded drug, without requiring such lgapt to undertake the full clinic
testing necessary to obtain approval to marketva dieig. An ANDA applicant usually needs to only submit ddaemonstrating that
product has the same active ingredient(s) andadsdpiivalent to the branded product, in additiorany data necessary to establish thai
difference in strength, dosage form, inactive idigats, or delivery mechanism does not result fifedint safety or efficacy profiles,
compared to the reference drug.

The Hatchwaxman Act requires an applicant for a drug thidresces one of our branded drugs to notify useif tapplication if the
assert in their application that the patents weeHested in the Orange Book will not be infringedatherwise are invalid or unenforceabli
Paragraph IV Certification). Upon receipt of thitioe, we have 45 days to bring a patent infringenseit in federal district court against s
applicant. If such a suit is commenced, the FDgeigerally prohibited from granting approval of #&&DA or Section 505(b)(2) NDA until tt
earliest of 30 months from the date the FDA acakpie application for filing, the conclusion ofigiation in the generig favor or expiration «
the patent(s). If the litigation is resolved avér of the applicant or the challenged patentrespiuring the 3@aonth stay period, the stay
lifted and the FDA may thereafter approve the appion based on the standards for approval of ANBAd Section 505(b)(2) NDAs.
Frequently, the unpredictable nature and significarsts of patent litigation leads the partiesdtils to remove this uncertaintySettlemer
agreements between branded companies and genplicaaps may allow, among other things, a genemeipct to enter the market prior to
expiration of any or all of the applicable pateotwering the branded product, either through thmduction of an authorized generic or
providing a license to the applicant for the pagenutbject to the litigation.

On September 20, 2012, we announced that we hatseglca Paragraph IV Certification Notice underl2$6.C. 355(j) (a Paragra
IV Notice) from a generic sponsor of an ANDA fogeneric drug listing Oxecta as the reference lidie). Since such date, we have rece
similar Paragraph IV Notices from three other genpharmaceutical companies that have filed ANDi&ng Oxecta as the reference d
The Paragraph IV Notices refer to our U.S. Patemnbers 7,201,920, 7,510,726 and 7,981,439, whielkercour Aversion Technology a
Oxecta. The Paragraph IV Notices state that gecteric sponsor believes that such patents ardidnumenforceable or not infringedOn
October 31, 2012, we initiated suit against eackVatson Laboratories, Inc.FHorida, Par Pharmaceutical, Inc., Impax Laborawrinc. an
Sandoz Inc., and on April 29, 2013, we initiated against Ranbaxy, Inc., each in the United StBtistrict Court for the District of Delawa
alleging infringement of our U.S. Patent No. 7,5D8, listed in the FDA Orange Book. The commencement of such litiggtiahibits th
FDA from granting approval of the filed ANDAs untiie earliest of 30 months from the date the FDéepted the application for filing, or 1
conclusion of litigation. The above actions aferred to as the “Paragraph IV Proceedings.”
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On October 9, 2013, we announced that we had ehiete distinct Settlement Agreements with eactPaf and Impax, to settle our
patent infringement action pending against theth@United States District Court for the Distri¢tlelaware. In the suit, we alleged that ¢
generic Oxecta® product for which each of Par angdadx is separately seeking approval to marketenlthited States pursuant to an ANDA
filing with the FDA infringes a U.S. patent owned bis. Par is the first filer of an ANDA for a gaic Oxecta® product and is entitled to the
180-day first filer exclusivity under applicableMand FDA regulations.

Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement with Par may launch its generic Oxecta® product ehS. through the grant of a
non-exclusive, royalty-bearing license from us tivatld trigger on January 1, 2022. We currentlyénOrange Book patents that are due t
expire between November 2023 and March 2025. ettaim limited circumstances, our license to Paulddbecome effective prior to January
1,2022. Paris required to pay us royaltiehenrange of 10% to 15% of Par’s net profits from $hle of its generic Oxecta® product.

Under the Settlement Agreement with Impax, Impay taanch its generic Oxecta® product in the U.$otigh the grant of a non-
exclusive, royalty-free license from us that wotridger 180 days following the first sale of a gen®xecta® product in the U.S. by an entity
that is entitled to the 180 day first-filer exchisy under applicable law and FDA regulations (bmo entity is entitled to such 180 day
exclusivity period, the date on which a generic @a® product is first sold in the U.S. or NovemBé&r 2021, whichever date occurs first). In
certain circumstances, our license to Impax woelcoime effective prior to such time.

The Settlement Agreements with Par and Impax dafiett the status of our separate Oxecta patigdtions against Sandoz Inc. i
Ranbaxy Inc. pending in the United States Distiourt for the District of Delaware.

Litigation is inherently uncertain and we cannoégict the outcome of the Paragraph IV ProceedintfsSandoz and/or Ranba
prevails its respective lawsuit and is able to wbEDA approval of its product, it may be able &mhch its generic version of Oxecta pric
the expiration of our patents in 202%dditionally, it is possible that other generic méacturers may also seek to launch a generic verd
Oxecta and challenge our patentdny determination in the Paragraph IV Proceedimgs bur patents covering our Aversion Technology
Oxecta are invalid or unenforceable, in whole opant, or that the products covered by generic spanANDAS do not infringe our paten
could have a material adverse affect on our operatand financial condition.

We may be exposed to product liability claims andymot be able to obtain or maintain adequate pratiliability insurance.

Our business exposes us to potential product iialyisks, which are inherent in the testing, mamtifiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical productsProduct liability claims might be made by patietitsalth care providers or others that sell or coresour product
These claims may be made even with respect to {hreskicts that possess regulatory approval for ceroial sale. We are currently cover
by clinical trial product liability insurance on @daimsimade basis and for product liability insurance cimge our sale and distribution
Nexafed. This coverage may not be adequate to @weproduct liability claims. Product liability eerage is expensive. In the future, we
not be able to maintain such product liability irece at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amaownfsotect us against losses due to prc
liability claims. Any claims that are not covereg product liability insurance could have a matedderse effect on our business, finar
condition and results of operations.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significéinancial resources will be bet
able to bring and defend any such litigation. Neuaance can be given that we would not becomeedoain future litigation, in addition to t
ongoing Reglan/Metoclopramide mass tort litigatdtiscussed below under “ltem 3. Legal Proceedin§sich litigation may have matel
adverse consequences to our financial conditiorresults of operations.
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We face significant competition, which may resutt others developing or commercializing products def or more successfully than \
do.

Our products and technologies compete to varyingeses against both brand and generic productsirgffeimilar therapeutic benel
and being developed and marketed by small and I|phgemaceutical (for prescription products) andscwner packaged goods (for O
products) companiesMany of our competitors have substantially greéiteancial and other resources and are able to ekpesre funds ar
effort than us in research, development and comaleation of their competitive technologies anagbucts. Prescription generic produ
and OTC store brand products will offer cost sasit@third party payers and/or consumers thatavéhte pricing pressure on our products.
Also, these competitors may have a substantias sallime advantage over our products, which mayitresour costs of manufacturing be
higher than our competitorgosts. If our products are unable to capture anthtaia market share, we or our licensees may nbtese
significant product revenues and our financial ¢oonl and results of operations will be materiaiyversely affected.

We believe potential competitors may be developp@pid abuse deterrent technologies and produetsh $otential competitc
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapzytiin collaboration with Pfizer, Purdue Pharmalaftic Pharmaceuticals, Ege
Corporation, KemPharm, Shionogi, Nektar Therapsutisignature Therapeutics, QRx Pharma, Tris PhaRisgah Labs, and Collegi
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. These companies appear téohesing their development efforts on ER Opioid drcts, except for Atlant
Pharmaceuticals, while the majority of our Aversidachnology opioid analgesic product candidateseurdevelopment are IR Opic
Products. Pfizer, our partner in commercializing Oxecta, lmaleveloping and/or marketing ER Opioid Produatser analgesic products ¢
non-analgesic products, all of which will compete farvdlopment and commercialization resources with praducts, which may del
development or adversely impact the sales of conlyssts.

Our Impede Technology products containing PSEuitiolg Nexafed, will compete in the highly compsttimarket for cold, sinus a
allergy products generally available to the consumighout a prescription. Some of our competitors will have multiple consurpesduc
offerings both within and outside the cold, allerggd sinus category providing them with substariBakbrage in dealing with a higt
consolidated pharmacy distribution networkThe competing products may have well establisheshdmames and may be supporte:
national or regional advertising. Nexafed will coetg directly with Johnson & Johnson’s Sudafeld@®@nd as well as generic formulati
manufactured by Perrigo Company and othets. addition, Highland Pharmaceuticals has recelatiynched a PSE product that is state
resist PSE extraction in aqueous solutions.

We are concentrating a substantial majority of effiorts and resources on developing product catekdatilizing our Aversion ar
Impede Technologies. The commercial success ofugtsditilizing such technologies will depend, irgkapart, on the intensity of competiti
FDA approved product labeling for our products canagl to competitive products, and the relativerigrand sequence for commercial lat
of new products by other companies developing, etar§, selling and distributing products that cotepwith the products utilizing o
Aversion and Impede Technologies. Alternativéhtextogies and noopioid products are being developed to improveemiace the use
opioid analgesics. In the event that such alteraatto opioid analgesics are widely adopted, themtarket for products utilizing our Avers
and Impede Technologies may be substantially dsetgahus reducing our ability to generate futeeenues and adversely affecting
ability to generate a profit.

If we fail to comply with the covenants and othebl@ations under our term loan, the lender may béla to accelerate amounts ow
under the facility and may foreclose upon the asssécuring our obligations.

In December 2013, we (including our wholly-ownedsidiary Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, INnART")) entered into a loz
and security agreement with Oxford Finance LLC (f@a") pursuant to which we borrowed $10 million from Oxf@and issued warrants
them to purchase 297,805 shares of our common.stbiecider this agreement, we are subject to a variesffomative and negative covenal
including required financial reporting, limitatiols certain dispositions and licensing of assétstdtions on the incurrence of additional ¢
and other requirements. To secure our performahaioobligations under this loan and security agrent, we granted Oxford a sect
interest in substantially all of our assets, otfran intellectual property assets, and pledgedxior@ the stock of APT. Our failure to com
with the terms of the loan and security agreentaetpccurrence of a material adverse change itbasiness, operations or condition (finan
or otherwise) or prospects, the material impairime our prospect of repaymenta material impairment in the perfection or prioritf/the
Oxford’s lien on our assets or the value of Oxferdbllateral, or the occurrence of certain othexctjed events could result in an even
default that, if not cured or waived, could resultthe acceleration of all or a substantial portafnour loan, coupled with prepaymer
penalties, an additional interest payment of betwg#95,000 and $995,000, potential foreclosurewrassets, and other adverse results.
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Key personnel are critical to our business and aurccess depends on our ability to retain them.

We are dependent on our management and sciemt#in,tincluding Robert Jones, our President andf&xiecutive Officer, Peter ,
Clemens, our Chief Financial Officer, and Albert Bfzeczko, Ph.D., our Vice President of TechnicHhits. We may not be able to attr
and retain personnel on acceptable terms givenctimepetition for such personnel among biotechnolqgyarmaceutical and healthc
companies, universities and nprofit research institutions. While we have empleyrin agreements with our CEO and CFO, all of
employees are atill employees who may terminate their employmeinaiay time. We do not have key personnel insuramcany of ou
officers or employees. The loss of any of our keyspnnel, or the inability to attract and retaichsypersonnel, may significantly delay
prevent the achievement of our product and teclyyottevelopment and business objectives and coutdrially adversely affect our busine
financial condition and results of operations.

Our products are subject to regulation by the U.Brug Enforcement Administration, or DEA, and suchegulation may affect th
development and sale of our products

The DEA regulates certain finished drug products active pharmaceutical ingredients, includingaierbpioid active pharmaceuti
ingredients and pseudoephedrine HCI that are awedain our products. Consequently, their manufacttesearch, shipment, storage, sale
use are subject to a high degree of regulatiorthEtmore, the amount of active ingredients we daaio for our clinical trials is limited by tl
DEA and our quota may not be sufficient to complgieical trials. There is a risk that DEA regutats may interfere with the supply of
products used in our clinical trials.

In addition, we and our contract manufacturers sangiect to ongoing DEA regulatory obligations, imtihg, among other thing
annual registration renewal, security, recordkegptheft and loss reporting, periodic inspectiord amnual quota allotments for the |
material for commercial production of our product§he DEA, and some states, conduct periodic inspestdf registered establishments
handle controlled substanced-acilities that conduct research, manufacture estdistribute, import or export controlled subsesmoust b
registered to perform these activities and haves#gwuirity, control and inventory mechanisms requivg the DEA to prevent drug loss
diversion. Failure to maintain compliance, parécly noneompliance resulting in loss or diversion, can lteisuregulatory action that cot
have a material adverse effect on our businesaltsesf operations, financial condition and progpecThe DEA may seek civil penaltit
refuse to renew necessary registrations, or irimbceedings to revoke those registratioms.certain circumstances, violations could lea
criminal proceedings.

Individual states also have controlled substanaes.| Though state controlled substances laws often miederal law, because f
states are separate jurisdictions, they may separsthedule drugs, as wellWhile some states automatically schedule a drugwhe DE/
does so, in other states there has to be a rulegali a legislative action.State scheduling may delay commercial sale of amtrollec
substance drug product for which we obtain FDA apal and adverse scheduling could have a matafiarae effect on the attractivenes
such product. We or our licensees must also obtain separate igtgistrations in order to be able to obtain, handhd distribute controll
substances for clinical trials or commercial sale] failure to meet applicable regulatory requireteeould lead to enforcement and sanc
from the states in addition to those from the DEAtherwise arising under federal law.
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Prior ownership changes limit our ability to use otax net operating loss carryforwards.

Significant equity restructuring often results in lnternal Revenue Section 382 ownership changelithids the future use of N
Operating Loss, or NOL, carryforwards and otherdtikbutes. We have determined that an ownership change (asedelby Section 382
the Internal Revenue Code) did occur as a resutsifucturing that occurred in 200Neither the amount of our NOL carryforwards nor
amount of limitation of such carryforwards claimadus have been audited or otherwise validatedhéyriternal Revenue Service, which cc
challenge the amount we have calculated. The réttog and measurement of our tax benefit includsimates and judgment by
management, which includes subjectivity. Changesstimates may create volatility in our tax ratduture periods based on new informa
about particular tax positions that may cause mamegt to change its estimates.

Risks Relating to our Common Stock
Our quarterly results of operations will fluctuategnd these fluctuations could cause our stock pricedecline.

Our quarterly and annual operating results ardylite@fluctuate in the future. These fluctuatiomauld cause our stock price to decl
The nature of our business involves variable factsuch as the timing of launch and market acceptahour products, and the timing of
research, development and regulatory submissiormuofproducts in development that could cause @earaiing results to fluctuate.The
forecasting of the timing and amount of sales afoeducts is difficult due to market uncertaintydathe uncertainty inherent in seeking F
and other necessary approvals for our product datel. As a result, in some future quarters or years, dhinical, financial or operatir
results may not meet the expectations of secuatiadysts and investors, which could result inclide in the price of our stock.

Volatility in stock prices of other companies magrdribute to volatility in our stock price.

The market price of our common stock, like the reairice for securities of pharmaceutical and lwbt®logy companies, h
historically been highly volatile. The stock marketm time to time experiences significant priced arolume fluctuations unrelated to
operating performance of particular companies. dfactsuch as fluctuations in our operating resdlifjre sales of our common stc
announcements of the timing and amount of prodaldss announcements of the status of developmentioproducts, announcements
technological innovations or new therapeutic praslly us or our competitors, announcements regambtaborative agreements, labora
or clinical trial results, government regulatiol)A determinations on the approval of a product édeteé NDA submission, development:
patent or other proprietary rights, public concamto the safety of drugs developed by us or otheranges in reimbursement polic
comments made by securities analysts and generket@onditions may have a substantial effect ennttarket price of our common stock
the past, following periods of volatility in the nkat price of a compang’securities, securities class action litigatiod ahareholder derivati
litigation has often been instituted. A securitidass action suit or shareholder derivative sudirsgf us could result in substantial cc
potential liabilities and the diversion of manageth® attention and resources and result in a matadiarse affect on our financial condit
and results of operations.

Our stock price has been volatile and there may hetan active, liquid trading market for our commatock.

Our stock price has experienced significant pricd wolume fluctuations and may continue to expeéewolatility in the future.
Factors that may have a material impact on theepgsfcour common stock, in addition to the otheuéssdescribed herein, include the lat
and commercial success of Oxecta and Nexafed,tsesubr delays in our prelinical and clinical studies, any delays in, oituiee to receiv
FDA approval of our product candidates, the entrio icollaboration or license agreements relatingotw products in developme
announcements of technological innovations or nemraercial products by us or others, developmentsaients and other proprietary ric
by us or others, future sales of our common stocleXisting stockholders, regulatory developmentgtmnges in regulatory guidance,
departure of our officers, directors or key empksjeand period-to-period fluctuations in our finahcesults. Also, you may not be able to ¢
your shares at the best market price if tradingtin stock is not active or if the volume is lo There is no assurance that an active tre
market for our common stock will be maintained ba NASDAQ Capital Market.
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The National Association of Securities Dealers,,lnoc NASD, and the Securities and Exchange Conianiser SEC, have adopt
rules relating to the listing of publicly tradeask. If we were unable to continue to comply witlels rules, we could be delisted from trac
on the NASDAQ Capital Market and thereafter tradimgur common stock, if any, would be conductedulgh the Over-th&€ounter Bulletil
Board of the NASD. As a consequence of such degjstin investor would likely find it more difficuld dispose of, or to obtain quotations ¢
the price of, our common stock. Delisting of oumtoon stock from the NASDAQ Capital Market couldoatesult in lower prices per share
our common stock than would otherwise prevail.

We do not have a history of paying dividends on @ammon stock.

Historically, we have not declared and paigt cash dividends on our common stockVe intend to retain all of our earnings for
foreseeable future to finance the operation andesipn of our businessAs a result, you may only receive a return on yiauestment in ot
common stock if the market price of our common lstoacreases.

Because our principal shareholders control a largercentage of our voting power, other stockholdersting power may be limited

Our principal shareholders, Galen Partners Ill, Bl its affiliates and Essex Woodlands Health Vess V, beneficially ow
approximately 24.4% and 20.8%, respectively, of mustanding common stock (calculated in accordavitte Rule 13d3 promulgated und
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenddd)cordingly, these shareholders, individually othiéy were to act as a group or vote ir
same manner, may be able to influence the outcdmmbaveholder votes, including the adoption or an@éent of provisions in our Certifice
of Incorporation or By-aws and the approval of mergers and other sigmficorporate transactions, including a sale o$trtially all of ou
assets. These shareholders may make decisiorar¢hativerse to other shareholders' interests.olnigrship concentration may also adver
affect the market price of our common stock.

Any future sale of a substantial number of sharescluded in our current registration statement couldkepress the trading price of o
stock, lower our value and make it more difficulbif us to raise capital.

In accordance with the terms of the Securities Ifase Agreement dated August 20, 2007 between uthandvestors named there
we filed a registration statement with and declaeffdctive by the SEC, to register the shares geiuin our Units issued pursuant to
Securities Purchase Agreement, including sharesriyiglg warrants included in the Unitsln addition, pursuant to the exercise of previo
granted piggyback registration rights, each of Gdbartners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners InternatidialL.P., Galen Employee Fund IlI, L.|
Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Gdfghinvestments Il, LP and Essex Woodlands Heaéthtites V, L.P. have exercised tl
piggyback registration rights to include an aggtegd 26,584,016 shares in such registration statemAs a result, approximately 26,800,
shares (representing approximately 48% of our shaméstanding on a fully-diluted basigneluding all derivative securities, whether or
currently exercisable) remain available for redaleselling stockholders under the registrationestegnt. If some or all of the shares incluc
in such registration statement are sold by outiaifis and others, it may have the effect of degingsthe trading price of our common stock.
In addition, such sales could lower our value ardtent more difficult for us to raise capital ifeded in the future.
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Future sales of our common stock in the public matkby us or our significant stockholders or othersiders could lower our share price.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stodkeénpublic market, or the perception that the ssalauld occur, could cause
market price of our common stocks to decline anddtonaterially impair our future ability to raisemital through offerings of our comm
stock. In April 2013, we entered into an at-tharket equity facility, or ATM, with MLV & Co. LLCpr MLV, as sales agent under which
may sell up to approximately $13 million of our amwn stock under our prospectus supplement by arthadedeemed to be an “at-the-
market” offering under SEC rules. As of December 31, 20E3seid $3.3 million of common stock (1,940,652 sk@aunder the ATM. If w
continue to sell shares under the ATM, such saléglilute our existing shareholders and could eatrse market price of our common stoc
decline significantly. The availability of the ATkt us, as well as any sales of our common stockmting ATM, should we elect to continut
use it, could encourage short sales by third pantidich could contribute to the further declineoaf stock price. In addition, as of Decemt
31, 2013, our directors, executive officers, Gefamtners Ill, L.P. and its affiliates, and EssexdMands Health Ventures V, L.P. ownec
aggregate of approximately 45% of our common stoci21,835,147 shares. They are able to sell thleares under Rule 144 of the Secur
Act, subject to restrictions in the case of shdwelsl by persons deemed to be our affiliates, osyamt to our registration statement decl
effective by the SEC on November 20, 2007.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Company has received no written comments ragapgriodic or current reports from the staff loé tSEC that were issued 180
days or more preceding the end of its 2013 fiseal yhat remain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease from an unaffiliated Lessor, approximaleB00 square feet of administrative office spacg@lé N. North Court, Suite 12
Palatine, lllinois 60067. The lease agreement hésrra expiring March 31, 2015. The lease agreerpeovides for rent, property tax
common area maintenance, and janitorial servicemncemnualized basis of approximately $25,000 par.yWe utilize this lease space for
administrative, marketing and business developrantions.

We conduct research, development, laboratory, dewebnt scale and NDA submission batch scale manufag and other activitie
relating to developing product candidates usingr8iom and Impede Technologies at the facility wendacated at 16235 State Road
Culver, Indiana. At this location, our wholtywned subsidiary Acura Pharmaceutical Technolodies, is a 25,000 square foot facility w
7,000 square feet of warehouse, 8,000 square ferehoufacturing space, 4,000 square feet of rebesmnd development labs and 6,000 sc
feet of administrative and storage space. Theitiacsl located on 28 acres of land.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Paragraph IV ANDA Litigation

On or about September 17, 2012, we believe the FiDgknally changed the status of Oxecta to be densd a Reference Listed Dr
or RLD. An RLD is the standard to which all generic versionust be shown to be bioequivalent and a drug aagngeeking approval
market a generic equivalent must refer to the RLBy designating Oxecta as an RLD, the FDA was altbiweaccept ANDAs referenci
Oxecta.

On September 20, 2012, we announced that we hadreglca Paragraph IV Certification Notice underl28.C. 355(j) (a Paragra
IV Notice) from a generic sponsor of an ANDA fogeneric drug listing Oxecta as the reference ligred). Since such date, we have rece
similar Paragraph IV Notices from three other genpharmaceutical companies that have filed ANDi&8Hg Oxecta as the reference d
The Paragraph IV Notices refer to our U.S. Pateminbers 7,201,920, 7,510,726 and 7,981,439, whiglercour Aversion Technology a
Oxecta. The Paragraph IV Notices state that gaecteric sponsor believes that such patents ardéidnumenforceable or not infringedOn
October 31, 2012, we initiated suit against eacWatson Laboratories, Inc.Forida (Watson), Par Pharmaceutical, Inc., Impakdratories
Inc. and Sandoz Inc., and on April 29, 2013, wédted suit against Ranbaxy, Inc., each in the édhBtates District Court for the District
Delaware alleging infringement of our U.S. Patemt M,510,726 listed in the FD&’'Orange Book. The commencement of such litig
prohibits the FDA from granting approval of theetil ANDASs until the earliest of 30 months from tretalthe FDA accepted the applicatior
filing, or the conclusion of litigation.

On October 9, 2013, we announced that we had ehiete distinct Settlement Agreements with eactPaf and Impax, to settle our
patent infringement action pending against theth@nUnited States District Court for the Distriétlelaware. In the suit, we alleged that ¢
generic Oxecta® product for which each of Par angddx is separately seeking approval to marketenlhited States pursuant to an ANDA
filing with the FDA infringes a U.S. patent owned bis. Par is the first filer of an ANDA for a gait Oxecta® product and is entitled to the
180-day first filer exclusivity under applicableMand FDA regulations.
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Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement with Par may launch its generic Oxecta® product ethS., through the grant of a
non-exclusive, royalty-bearing license from us thatld trigger on January 1, 2022. We currentlydnOrange Book patents that are due t
expire between November 2023 and March 2025. ettaim limited circumstances, our license to Pauldkdbecome effective prior to January
1,2022. Paris required to pay us royaltiehenrange of 10% to 15% of Par’s net profits from $hle of its generic Oxecta® product.

Under the Settlement Agreement with Impax, Impay aanch its generic Oxecta® product in the U.Brotigh the grant of a non-
exclusive, royalty-free license from us that wotrldger 180 days following the first sale of a gen®xecta® product in the U.S. by an entity
that is entitled to the 180 day first-filer exchity under applicable law and FDA regulations (bmo entity is entitled to such 180 day
exclusivity period, the date on which a generic @a® product is first sold in the U.S. or NovemBé&r 2021, whichever date occurs first). In
certain circumstances, our license to Impax woelcbime effective prior to such time.

The Settlement Agreements with Par and Impax dafiett the status of our separate Oxecta patigdtions against Sandoz Inc. i
Ranbaxy Inc. pending in the United States Distiourt for the District of Delaware.

Litigation is inherently uncertain and we cannatgict the outcome of these infringement actiofsSandoz and/or Ranbaxy previ
its respective lawsuit and is able to obtain FDArapal of its product, it may be able to launchdeneric version of Oxecta prior to
expiration of our patents in 2025Additionally, it is possible that other generic méacturers may also seek to launch a generic vers
Oxecta and challenge our patentény determination in these infringement actionst thar patents covering our Aversion Technology
Oxecta are invalid or unenforceable, in whole opamt, or that the products covered by generic spaANDAS do not infringe our pater
could have a material adverse affect on our opgeratand financial condition.

By designating Oxecta as an RLD, we believe the Fia8 acknowledged that Oxecta contains unique piepand/or a unique lal
that is different from other FDA approved immediatéease oxycodone HCI tablets that do not corahinse resistant characteristic#\s
required by the Food and Drug Administration Safatd Innovation Act of July 2012, the FDA publisifed comment draft guidance on
development of abuse-deterrent drug products inalgi2013. We believe the ANDA applicants that refer to Oxeasaan RLD will have 1
have substantially equivalent, if not identicalusé deterrent characteristics to be considerechéyFDA as therapeutically equivalen
Oxecta. There can be no assurance, howevelk-Bawill rely on such guidance for ANDA applicants.

Reglar®/Metoclopramide Litigation

Halsey Drug Company, as predecessor to Acura, @as bamed, along with numerous other companies,defendant |
cases filed in three separate state coordinatiggdtlbns pending in Pennsylvania, New Jersey anlifo@@a, respectively captioned In
Reglan®/Metoclopramide Mass Tort Litigation, Phiégghia County Court of Common Pleas, January T@0i0, No. 01997; In re: Reglan
Litigation, Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Diais, Atlantic County, Case No. 289, Master Dockeb. NATL-L-3865-10; ant
Reglan®Metoclopramide Cases, Superior Court of Califorf8an Francisco County, Judicial Council CoordimatRroceeding No. 463
Superior Court No.: CJC-1004631. In addition, Acura was served with a simélamplaint by two individual plaintiffs in Nebraskedere
court. In this product liability litigation againstumerous pharmaceutical product manufacturersdistdbutors, including Acura, plaintii
claim injuries from their use of the Reglan brafdnetoclopramide and generic metoclopramide.

In the Pennsylvania state court mass tort procgedimer 200 lawsuits have been filed against Aamd Halsey Drug Compa
alleging that plaintiffs developed neurologicalaiders as a result of their use of the Reglan beartlor generic metoclopramide. Plain
have filed approximately 150 lawsuits against Aclmat have served less than 50 individual lawsyitsn Acura in the New Jersey action
the California action, Acura was not served witly anmplaints until the spring of 2011 when a singbenplaint including over 400 plainti
was served.
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In the lawsuits filed to date, plaintiffs have rmnfirmed they ingested any of the generic metaelopde manufactured by Acu
Acura discontinued manufacture and distributiomgeferic metoclopramide more than 15 years agadtttion, Acura believes the June
2011 decision by the U.S. Supreme Court in PLIVAAensing (“Mensing decision"hiolding that state tort law failure to warn claiaggins
generic drug companies are pre-empted by the 188dhMVaxman Act Amendments and federal drug regulatwifisassist Acura in favorab
resolving these casesAcura has consistently maintained the position thase claims are without merit and intend to wgsty defend the:
actions.

In New Jersey, Generic Defendants, including Acfiled dispositive motions based on the Mensingsien, which the Court grant
with a limited exception. In June 2012, the News@gitrial court dismissed Acura with prejudice.

In Philadelphia and California, Generic Defendamtsiuding Acura, also filed dispositive motionsskd on the Mensing decision.

On November 18, 2011, the Philadelphia trial calemied Generic Defendantdispositive motion. In December 2011, the Get
Defendants appealed this ruling. On April 13, 204I2 trial court proceedings were stayed pendingigiens by the Pennsylvania appel
courts. An adverse decision by the PennsylvangeBor Court was issued in July 2013. Further appezceedings are pending. This ap
process eventually could result in dismissal obélhe Philadelphia cases against all genericrdisfists including Acura, although there ca
no assurance in this regard. Legal fees relatéiidonatter are currently covered by Acura’s inegeacairrier.

In California, the trial court entered a May 25,1200rder denying Generic Defendardgpositive preemption motions. The Gene
Defendantsappeals from this order were denied by the Califoappellate courts. Therefore, subject to furtterelopments, plaintiffs may
permitted to proceed with these lawsuits includstege law claims based on (1) failing to commuricaarnings to physicians througbéai
Doctor” letters; and (2) failure to update labeling to adm@and labeling changes. California trial coudcahas acknowledged the preemg
effect of Mensing so that any clainthat would render the generic defendants in viotatf federal law if they are found responsible ems
state law cause of action, would not be permissitNenetheless, plaintiffs have not confirmed theyestgd any of the generic metocloprar
manufactured by Acura. Therefore, Acura expectsitimber of plaintiffs with possible claims to belueed voluntarily or by motion practic
Action will be taken in an effort to dismiss Acuram these cases, although there can be no assuiraticis regardLegal fees related to tt
matter are currently covered by our insurance earri

In Nebraska, the litigation against Acura has be&taged and will be dismissed if plaintiffs preseatevidence of ingestion of gene
metoclopramide manufactured by Acura. Legal felzged to this matter are currently covered by Auiasurance carrier.

As any potential loss is neither probable nor estil®, Acura has not accrued for any potential he¢sted to these matters as
December 31, 2013 and Acura is presently unablietermine if any potential loss would be coveredt®ynsurance carrier.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISLCOSURES

Not Applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market and Market Prices of Common Sto

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tlghtand low sales prices for trading in our comnstock on the NASDAQ Capii
Market as reported by the NASDAQ Capital Market.

Period Sale Price:
High Low
2012 Fiscal Yea
First Quarte! $ 423 $ 3.12
Second Quarte 3.56 2.50
Third Quartel 3.26 1.40
Fourth Quarte 4,50 1.06
2013 Fiscal Yea
First Quarte! $ 3.62 $ 1.81
Second Quarte 3.78 1.85
Third Quartel 2.59 1.36
Fourth Quarte 2.23 1.50

2014 Fiscal Yea
First Quarter (through January 31, 20 $ 191 $ 1.62

Holders

There were approximately 325 holders of recordwfammon stock on February 28, 201Zhis number, however, does not ref
the ultimate number of beneficial holders of oumooon stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends is subject to therélin of our Board of Directors and is dependgn many factors, including c
earnings, our capital needs and our general fiehnondition. Historically, we have not paid anglkalividends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

Reference is made to the Company’s Proxy Statefoeits 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders undierd¢aption Compensation
Executive Officers and DirectorsRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitieghduzed for Issuance under Equity Compens:i
Plans”.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data preseb#&tolw for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2PQ21, 2010 and 2009 :
derived from our audited Consolidated Financiateteents. The Consolidated Financial Statements Be@ember 31, 2013 and 2012 anc
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2013, and the seffmteon, are included elsewhere in this Repi. Selecte
financial information presented for our 2010 an@2@perations and for our 2011, 2010 and 2009 balaheets are derived from our auc
Consolidated Financial Statements not presentddsrReport.
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The information set forth below is qualified by eefnce to, and should be read in conjunction wilie, Consolidated Financ
Statements and related notes thereto included k&sewin this Report and "ltem 7. Management's Bisicn and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations".

OPERATING DATA (in thousands) except per share 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Revenues, ne $ 123 $ — $ 20,466 $ 3311 $ 3,835
Operating expense

Cost of sale: 364 — — — —

Research and developmdb 4,923 3,726 4,037 7,177 5,673

Selling, marketing, general and administra(® 8,926 6,013 5,895 8,858 11,662
Interest expens 9) — — — —
Investment incom 194 79 32 42 147
Other (expense) incon 4 (8) (34) (14) 3)
(Loss) income before income t (13,901 (9,668 10,532 (12,696 (13,356
Provision for income taxe — — 147 11 2,479
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockhol: $ (13,901 (9,668 $ 10,385 $ (12,707 $ (15,835
(Loss) earnings per share: Ba $ (0.29 % (0.20 $ 022 $ 0.27 % (0.35
(Loss) earnings per share: Dilut $ (0.29 % (0.20 $ 022 $ 0.27' % (0.35
Weighted average shares used in computing netnggerni

(loss) per share: Bas 47,764 47,521 47,496 47,029 45,932
Weighted average shares used in computing netnegsrni

(loss) per share: Dilute 47,764 47,521 48,007 47,029 45,932

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense of appmately $500, $400, $500, $1,700 and $1,900 forg/2813, 2012, 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively.

(2) Includes stock-based compensation expense of apuately $1,900, $1,300, $1,900, $5,100 and $7,80¢dars 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectively.

BALANCE SHEET DATA

(in thousands 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Working capital $ 26,346 $ 26572 $ 35599 $ 23289 $ 28,750
Total asset 28,630 29,054 37,173 25,493 31,917
Total liabilities 10,707 1,424 530 1,152 2,007
Accumulated defici (349,112 (335,211 (325,543 (335,928 (323,221
Stockholders' equit $ 17923 $ 27630 $ 36,643 $ 24341 $ 29,910

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucatipn with our financial statements and accompanyotes included elsewhere
this Report. Operating results are not necessariicative of results that may occur in the futperiods. Certain statements in this Re
under this Item 7, Item 1, "Business", Item 1A, sSRFactors” and elsewhere in this Report constititevarddooking statements” within tl
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation RefoAnt of 1995. Such forwartboking statements involve known and unknown r
uncertainties and other factors which may causeaotual results, performance or achievements arsitng results, to be materially differ:
from any future results, performance, or achievasenpressed or implied by such forward-lookingesteents. See page 1 of this Rep
under the caption “Forward-Looking Statements”datescription of the most significant of such fasto
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Company Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagttkiresearch, development and commercializafieechnologies and produ
intended to address medication abuse and misugée have discovered and developed two proprietachn@ogies. Our Aversi@
Technology is a mixture of inactive ingredientsarmorated into pharmaceutical tablets and capsukended to address some comi
methods of product tampering associated with opatidse. Pfizer Inc.’s Oxecta®xycodone HCI) tablets, Cll is the first approvetd
marketed product utilizing Aversion and is commalized under our license agreement with a subsididiPfizer, or the Pfizer Agreement.
We have also developed our Impedé&hnology which is a combination of inactive irgjents that prevent the extraction of pseudoephe
from tablets and disrupt the direct conversionsguyzloephedrine from tablets into methamphetamine.

We have 7 additional opioid products utilizing Asi@n in various stages of developmenOur product containing hydrocodc
bitartrate and acetaminophen utilizing the Aversteshnology, or hydrocodone/acetaminophen, is thstnadvanced opioid product
development and the primary focus of our opioidedepment efforts. Hydrocodone/acetaminophen is the most widely pifesdrand ofte
abused opioid product in the United StatesWe filed an Investigational New Drug Applicationy ¢ND, with the Food and Drt
Administration, or FDA, on December 20, 2012, whildtame effective in late January 2013. On AuB6s2013, we announced the tiage
results from Study AP-ADF-301 (“Study 301§, phase Il clinical study in 40 recreational driogisers assessing the liability of snorting
hydrocodone/acetaminophen product. Study 301s pyireadpoint indicated that Aversion hydrocodonetf@rénophen had slightly low
numeric mean maximum drug liking compared to anvedent dose of a generic hydrocodone/acetaminopddaet, however these results w
not statistically significant. The Study 301 secondary endpoints demonstrateidt&tal significance in mean minimum drug likingicluding
the Overall Drug Liking score and the Take Drug igassessment. On December 5, 2013, we met with the FDA to diséuise FDA will
consider whether the results of Study 301 are dab&pfor submission in a New Drug Application,MDA. On February 7, 2014, the FI
advised us their discussion of whether the regifilstudy AP-ADF-301 could support abuse-deterrabeling is ongoing. We expect that tt
development program for our other Aversion opioidoducts in development will be consistent with theft Oxecta and o
hydrocodone/acetaminophen product candidate.

We launched Nexafed commercially in nidddcember 2012 into the $1 billion United Statesrdkie counter market, or OTC, for ¢
and allergy products containing a decongestahtexafed was demonstrated in a clinical study totntee FDA Guideline standards
bioequivalence to the reference drug Sudafed® ntedkey Johnson & Johnson CorporatioWe anticipate developing line extensions for
Nexafed franchise to capitalize on the many difie@mbination offerings in the OTC cold/allergy mket and expect to launch our first |
extension in 2014. We also are developing a gereration of our Impede Technology in order tdhfeirimprove our Nexafed franchise.

We also have discovered an eastgge technology which, in proof of concept labamatests, demonstrates the ability to limit
release of the active ingredient from tablets wimerltiple tablets are consumed simultaneously.

Company'’s Present Financial Condition

At December 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivadertsnmarketable securities of $26.1 million comgdaie $27.4 million of cas
cash equivalents and marketable securities at DeeeB1, 2012. We had working capital of $26.3 miilat December 31, 2013, compare
working capital of $26.6 million at December 31120 We had an accumulated deficit of approximately $34#8illion and $335.2 million .
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, resplyctive had a loss from operations of $14.1 millard a net loss of $13.9 million for -
year ended December 31, 2013, compared to a lmssdperation of $9.7 million and a net loss of $illion for the year ended December
2012. As of January 31, 2014, we had cash, aasivaents and marketable securities of approxip&24.8 million.
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During the year ended December 31, 2013, we rezedr#113 thousand of product sales on gross shigméNexafed which total
$402 thousand.Certain of our customers have accepted a pricilogvahce in exchange for forfeiting the right touret Nexafed and therefc
we are recognizing revenue upon product shipmetitetm. Additionally, we are recognizing revenuerfroertain of our other customers be
on a pharmacy’s Nexafed reorder activity with treim drug wholesaler supplierFor all other customers, given the limited salesdny o
Nexafed, the Company currently cannot reliably neate expected returns of the product from thes¢éomess at the time of shipme
Accordingly, the Company is deferring recognitidir@enue on these product shipments of Nexafeidl thietright of return no longer exists
adequate history and information is available tmeste product returns. Our royalty revenue fronizdts sale of Oxecta Tablets begal
February 2013 and we are accruing royalties basd@teestimate of net product sales of Oxecta Tapi®vided by Pfizer to us.

To fund our continued operations, we expect to malyour current cash resources, the proceeds o$timillion term loan froi
Oxford Finance, net proceeds, if any, from ourtfe-market’offering of our common stock pursuant to our S#lgseement with MLV &
Co., royalty payments that may be made under Piggeement, milestones and royalty payments that beamade under future licer
agreements with other pharmaceutical company partn&f which there can be no assurance of obtainamd revenues from c
commercialization of our Nexafed Tablet©ur cash requirements for operating activities immayease in the future as we continue to cor
pre<linical studies and clinical trials for our prodwandidates, maintain, defend, and expand theesobpur intellectual property, includi
the litigation of the Paragraph IV Proceedingse lsidditional personnel, commercialize our Nexafell@ts, or invest in other areas.

Our losses have resulted principally from costaiired in connection with research and developmetiviies, salaries and ott
personnel-related costs and general corporate egpenResearch and development activities indodts of prezlinical studies, clinical trial
and clinical trial product supplies associated witin product candidates. Salaries and other peedaelated costs include the non-cash stoc
based compensation associated with stock optichsesmtricted stock units granted to employees amdemployee directors.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decemtir2013 and 201

December 3:
2013 2012 Change
$00Cs $00C's Percen
Revenues:
Royalty revenut $ 10 $ — 3 10 100
Product sales, ni 113 — 113 100
Total revenues, ni 123 — 123 100
Operating expense
Cost of sale: 364 - 364 100
Research and developmt 4,923 3,726 1,197 32
Selling, marketing, general and administra 8,926 6,013 2,913 48
Total operating expens 14,213 9,739 4,474 46
Operating los! (14,090 (9,739 4,351 45
Non-Operating income (expens
Investment incom 194 79 115 146
Other expense, n (5) (8) ?3) ?3)
Total other income (expense), | 189 71 118 166
Income (loss) before income tax (13,901 (9,668 4,233 44
Provision for income taxe — — - -
Net loss $ (13901 $ (9,668 $ 4,233 44
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Revenue
Product Sale:

Nexafed® was launched in mid-December 2012. The Compahy Bexafed ®in the United States to wholesale pharmaceuticstidutor:
and as well as directly to chain drug stores. Nead&is sold subject to the right of return for a perafdup to twelve months after the proc
expiration. Nexafed ® currently has a shelf lifetwentyfour months from the date of manufacture. Givenlithnéed sales history of Nexaf
® , the Company currently cannot reliably estimate etgxreturns of the product at the time of shipmentertain customers. According
the Company has deferred the recognition of revemu80.3 million of Nexafed &hipments to these customers until the right afrretc
longer exists or adequate history and informatieadmes available to estimate product returns. We hecognized revenue of $113 thous
in 2013for shipments to customers where the right of renw longer existed either because a pricing alhm@avas accepted in exchange
forfeiting the right of return or because infornoatbecame available on pharmackeorder activity with their drug wholesaler. Wil wontinue tc
analyze information to assess the recognition ofexenue but also expect to continue the defefrabme revenue in the foreseeable future. ,
December 31, 2013, we had $0.3 million in defemredenue on our balance sheet related to Nexafqamehits which occurred since
commercial launch. We had no net product salend@012.

Royalty Revenu

In connection with our License, Development, andn@eercialization Agreement dated October 30, 20Q# Wing Pharmaceutice
Research and Development, Inc., now a subsidiafyfiakr Inc., we began to earn royalties on Oxeetasales starting in February 2013.
Pfizer will pay us a royalty at one of six ratesigang from 5% to 25% based on the level of annwlsales for Oxecta across all Pf
Territories, with the highest applicable royaltyerapplied to such annual sal&bhese royalties are based on net sales of Oxeotateel to u
by Pfizer being paid to us within 45 days after ¢mel of each calendar quartéfe recorded royalties of approximately $10 thousan@®01:
on Pfizer's net sales of Oxecta of approximately2$aillion.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes third party acquisition spstird party warehousing and product distributedrarges and inventory rese
charges for the Nexafed product line. During 2048 established an inventory reserve of $0.25 millio

Operating Expenses

Research and development expense (R&D) during 218 primarily for our Aversion development expenaad during 2012 we
for product candidates utilizing either our Aversior our Impede®echnologies, including costs of preclinical, diali trials, clinical supplie
and related formulation and design costs, salamelsother personnel related expenses, and facdits. Included in each of the 2013 and :
results are non-cash share-based compensationsegen$0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectivaikcluding the sharbased compensati
expense, our R&D expenses increased approximateyrfillion between reporting periods primarily fiour Aversion development exper
on our hydrocodone/acetaminophen product candidate.
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Selling and marketing expenses during 2013 primpasdnsisted of advertising and marketing activitees Nexafed which wi
launched in December 2012. Selling and marketimerges during 2012 primarily consisted of markeéaech studies on our Aversion
Impede®Technologies. Our Nexafed advertising and markesiatvities will continue in 2014. Our G&A expenspemarily consisted ¢
legal, audit and other professional services, aagoinsurance, and payroll. Included in the 2048 2012 results are non-cash shiaase:
compensation expenses of $0.9 million and $1.3anillrespectively. Excluding the sharvased compensation expense our selling, mark
general and administrative expenses increased dpmately $3.4 million between reporting periodsingarily for the marketing, advertisi
and promotional programs on Nexafed of $1.1 millicompensation costs of $0.2 million, legal sersioa our paragraph IV litigation of $:
million, patent and trademark services of $0.3iomlland general corporate legal matters of $0.1lianil

Non-Operating Income

During 2013 and 2012, navperating income consisted principally of investtianome derived from our cash reserves being tee
in accordance with a Board of Director approvecdstment policy.

Income Taxes

The net loss for 2013 and 2012 includes no federsiate income tax benefit provisions due to uaddy of their future utilization.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decentiier2012 and 201

December 3.
2012 2011 Change
$00Cs $00C's Percen
Revenues:
Program fee revent — 466 (466 (100
Milestone revenu — 20,000 (20,000 (100
Total revenue — 20,466 (20,466 (100;
Operating expense
Research and developmt 3,726 4,037 (311 (8)
Selling, marketing, general and administra 6,013 5,895 118 2
Total operating expens 9,739 9,932 (193 2)
Income (loss) from operatiol (9,739 10,534 (20,273 (192
Non-Operating income (expens
Investment incom 79 32 47 147
Other expense, n (8) (34) 26 76
Total other income (expense), | 71 2) 73 3,650
Income (loss) before income tax (9,668 10,532 (20,200 (192
Provision for income taxe — 147 (147 (100
Net income (loss $ (9668 $ 10,385 $ (20,053 (193

Revenue

In 2012, we recorded $6.0 thousand from gross mtoskies of Nexafed from two regional wholesalensich we completely offs
with a returned goods reservahis compares to revenues in 2011 of $20.5 millahfrom the Pfizer Agreement comprised of a $2ilion

milestone payment for achieving the FDA approvaDagEcta and the amortization of the final amounthefinitial upfront fee received back
2007.
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Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2012 &kidv#€re primarily for product candidates utilizinogr Aversion and Impei
Technologies, including costs of preclinical stdlielinical trials, clinical supplies and relatemrhulation and design costs, salaries and
personnel related expenses, and facility costscludled in the 2012 and 2011 results are non-castk-based compensation charges of
million and $0.5 million, respectively, associatedth the grant of stock options and restricted ktooits. Excluding the stodiase:
compensation expense, there was a $0.2 millioredserin development expenses in 2012 comparedlio 20

Marketing expenses during 2012 and 2011 consisfetharket research studies on our Impede Technol@yy. general ar
administrative expenses primarily consisted of llegadit and other professional fees, corporatararsce, and payroll.Included in the 201
and 2011 results are non-cash stbeked compensation charges of $1.3 million and &iligon, respectively, associated with the graf
stock options and restricted stock units. Excludimg stockbased compensation expense, there was an incre&8eramillion in marketing
general and administrative expenses in 2012 cordgar2011, primarily attributable to Nexafed deyetent and promotion.

Non-Operating Income

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company ameritiethvestment policy allowing greater flexibiliip investment selections.As
such, some investments were shifted from lowerdiynigl money market funds to high grade corporatedboresulting in significa
improvement in interest income over the prior year.

Income Taxes

The net loss of $9.7 million for 2012 includes edédral or state income tax benefit provisions dusntertainty of their future utilizatic

In 2011, the Company was able to utilize existiegaperating loss carryforwards to offset the migjaf its 2011 federal and state income ta

The income tax expense for 2011 is comprisecedéral alternative minimum taxes as well as staterne taxes totaling $0.1 millionThe

Company has maintained a full valuation allowanneits deferred tax asset due to the uncertaintfutnire utilization of the Company’'ne
operating losses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivaeatsnarketable securities of $26.1 million comgawe$27.4 million in cash a
cash equivalents at December 31, 201%/e had working capital of $26.3 million at Deceml!8d, 2013 compared to $26.6 million
December 31, 2012. Our investing activities forigdgxpenditures were $23,000 in 2013 and $147i0Q@D12.

Pending the receipt of milestone and royalty paymemder license agreements similar to the PfizgreAment anticipated to
negotiated and executed with other pharmaceutmalpany partners, of which no assurance can be givermust rely on royalty payme
from Pfizer for its sales of Oxecta, revenues for Nexafed sales, the net proceeds, if any, from“atthe-market’offering of our comma
stock pursuant to our Sales Agreement with MLV & ,Gbe proceeds of our $10.0 million loan from Qxféinance completed in Decem
2013 (as described below), and our current casérves, including interest income from the investmehour cash reserves, to fund
development of our Aversion Technology, Impede Tebtbgy and related administrative and operatingeasps. Our future sources
revenue, if any, will be derived from milestone pegnts and royalties under license agreements simailthe Pfizer Agreement with ott
pharmaceutical company partners, for which therebmano assurance, and from the commercializafi@uroNexafed tablets and other Imp
Technology products that we expect to develop.

At January 31, 2014, we had cash, cash equivatamtsmarketable securities of approximately $24.8ani We estimate that su

cash reserves will be sufficient to fund the depsient of Aversion Technology and Impede Technolpgyduct candidates, and rele
operating expenses at least through the next 12hson
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The amount and timing of our future cash requirerill depend on regulatory and market acceptarfi@r product candidates ¢
the resources we devote to the development and eotiatization of our product candidates.

The following table presents our expected cash jgaysnon contractual obligations outstanding asexfdinber 31, 2013:

Payments due by period (in thousar

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years

Operating lease $ 33 % 26 $ 7 9% — 3 —
Contract manufacturin 243 243 — — —
Clinical studies 675 675 — — —
Marketing and advertisin 658 658 — — —
Employment agreemen 667 667 — — —
Debt principal 10,000 — 4,280 5,720 —
Debt interes 3,451 765 1,380 1,306 —
Total $ 15,754 ¢ 3,061 $ 5,667 $ 7,026 $ —

Term Loan with Oxford Finance

On December 27, 2013, we and our subsidiary, ABln@maceutical Technologies, Inc. entered into @nLand Security Agreems
(the “Loan Agreement”) with Oxford Finance LLC (“@xd"), as collateral agent and as a lender, pursuant ichwwhe Oxford made a te
loan to us in the principal amount of $10.0 millighe “Term Loan”), subject to the terms and candg set forth in the Loan AgreementVe
will use the proceeds of the Loan Agreement foregainworking capital and to fund our business regquents.

The full principal amount of the Term Loan was faddn December 27, 2013. The Term Loan accrueesitat a fixed rate of 8.3t
per annum (with a default rate of 13.35% per annuMje are required to make monthly interesly payments until the Amortization Date i
starting on the Amortization Date, we are requigechake payments of principal and accrued intérestjual monthly installments sufficient
amortize the Term Loan through the maturity dat®©etember 1, 2018. The “Amortization Daig”April 1, 2015, but shall automatice
become April 1, 2016 if we achieve 75% of our pectgel Nexafed® cash receipts and 75% of our pieje©Oxecta®cash receipts for tl
fiscal year ending December 31, 2014 (collectivéhg “First Revenue Event”).The Amortization Date will be further deferred Wikpril 1,
2017 if the First Revenue Event occurs and in &mfditve achieve 75% of our projected Nexafed cash récaipd 75% of our projected Oxe
cash receipts for the fiscal year ending Decemhbe2815 (collectively, the “Second Revenue EventAll unpaid principal and accrued &
unpaid interest with respect to the Term Loan is dad payable in full on December 1, 2018s security for our obligations under the L
Agreement, we granted Oxford a security interestubstantially all of our existing and af@cquired assets, exclusive of intellectual proy
assets. Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, we ar@lowed to pledge our intellectual property asdetothers.

We may voluntarily prepay the Term Loan in full timot in part, and any prepayment is subject toepgyment premium equal to
of the principal prepaid if prepaid on or prior@ecember 27, 2014, 2% of the principal prepaigyrépaid after December 27, 2014 but o
prior to December 27, 2015, and 1% of the princfpabaid if prepaid after December 27, 201k addition, at the maturity, termination
upon voluntary or mandatory prepayment of the Teaan, we must pay Oxford an additional dimee interest payment of (A) $795,000 if
First Revenue Event does not occur, (B) $895,00D6f First Revenue Event occurs but the Second riRev&vent does not occur, or
$995,000 if both the First Revenue Event and tteo®e& Revenue Event occur.

The Loan Agreement contains customary representatiod warranties and customary affirmative andtineg covenants, includir
among others, limits or restrictions on our abitibyincur liens, incur indebtedness, pay dividemddeem stock, and merge or consolidate
dispose of assets. In addition, it contains custgragents of default that entitles Oxford to caasg or all of our indebtedness under the 1
Agreement to become immediately due and payable. éMents of default (some of which are subjectpplieable grace or cure perioc
include, among other things, npayment defaults, covenant defaults, a materiati@sdvchange affecting us or our operations, bamtdywgnc
insolvency defaults and material judgment defaults.
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Simultaneous with the funding of the Term Loan,spant to the terms and conditions of the Loan Agezd, we issued to the Oxfc
warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 29&Bafes of our common stock at an exercise pricaléqu$1.595 per share (the “Warrants”
The Warrants are immediately exercisable for cadlymet exercise and will expire December 27, 2020

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not engage in transactions or arrangemetitsunconsolidated or other special purpose entities
Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements in etaoce with United States generally accepted adowuprinciples requires us
make estimates and assumptions that affect theteghamounts of assets, liabilities, revenues aqmrses in our financial statements
accompanying notes. We evaluate our estimates oongoing basis, including those estimates relateddntract agreements, rese:
collaborations and investments. We base our estsnan historical experience and various other agsans that we believe to be reason
under the circumstances, the results of which ftivenbasis for making judgments about the carrymlges of assets and liabilities that are
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resulty differ from these estimates under differersuagptions or conditions. The followi
items in our financial statements require significastimates and judgments:

Revenue Recognitic

Revenue is generally realized or realizable andezhwhen there is persuasive evidence an arranganxists, delivery has occuri
or services rendered, the price is fixed and detexinte, and collection is reasonably assured. Th@gany records revenue from its Nex:
product sales when the price is fixed and deterbiénat the date of sale, title and risk of owngydive been transferred to the customer
returns can be reasonably estimated.

Nexafed was launched in midecember 2012. The Company sells Nexafed in thaednBtates to wholesale pharmaceu
distributors and as well as directly to chain dstgres. Nexafed is sold subject to the right ainefor a period of up to twelve months after
product expiration. Nexafed currently has a shiédf of twentyfour months from the date of manufacture. Givenlimited sales history 1
Nexafed, the Company currently cannot reliably neate expected returns of the product at the timeshifment to certain custome
Accordingly, the Company has deferred revenue neitiog on Nexafed shipments of $0.3 million sinbe products launch to these custom
until the right of return no longer exists or adagguhistory and information is available to estienatoduct returns.

Commencing in February 2013, we began earning tiegdbased on net sales of Oxecta by Pfizer putsoahe Pfizer Agreement.

Such royalties are paid to us within 45 days dfterend of each calendar quarter. We have recooyedties of approximately $10 thousand
the year ended December 31, 2013 on Oxecta’s et ghapproximately $0.2 million.
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Research and Developme

Research and Development, or R&D, expenses inéhtdeal R&D activities, external CRO services dheir clinical research site
and other activities. Internal R&D activity expessinclude facility overhead, equipment and facilitaintenance and repairs, labora
supplies, pre-clinical laboratory experiments, @éetion, salaries, benefits, and shbased compensation expenses. CRO activity exg
include preclinical laboratory experiments andichih trial studies. Other activity expenses includgulatory consulting, and regulatory le
counsel. Internal R&D activities and other activiiypenses are charged to operations as incur®¥d. make payments to the CRO's base
agreed upon terms and may include payments in advafithe study starting date. We review and ac@R©® expenses and clinical trial st
expenses based on services performed and relyegionates of those costs applicable to the stagerapletion of a study as provided by
CRO. Accrued CRO costs are subject to revisionsugf studies progress to completion. Revisionschagged to expense in the perio
which the facts that give rise to the revision lmeedknown. We have entered into several cancelaBl® @rrangements and our obligati
under these arrangements were approximately $dliomand $1.5 million at December 31, 2013 and 20%&spectively, for services to
incurred as subjects are enrolled and progressghrthe studies.

Income Taxe

We account for income taxes under the liability moet Under this method, deferred income tax ass®dsliabilities are determin
based on differences between financial reportirdjianome tax basis of assets and liabilities ardnaeasured using the enacted incom
rates and laws that will be in effect when theati#hces are expected to reverse. Additionallyppetating loss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax asselbe realization of deferred income tax assets j@ddent upon future earnings. A valuation allow.
against deferred income tax assets is requirdohged on the weight of available evidence, it igsarlikely than not that some or all of
deferred income tax assets may not be realiz8cause we realized taxable income in 2011 we able to utilize a portion of our r
operating loss carryforwardsAt December 31, 2013, 100% of the remaining deteimeome tax assets are offset by a valuation alfm& du
to uncertainties with respect to future utilizatmihnet operating loss carryforwards. If in theufet it is determined that amounts of our defe
income tax assets would likely be realized, theiabn allowance would be reduced in the period/liich such determination is made ar
benefit from income taxes in such period would depgnized.

Stock Compensation

Compensation cost related to stdzksed payment transactions is measured basedrovafae of the equity or liability instrume
issued. For purposes of estimating the fair valueach stock option unit on the date of grant, wkzad the Black-Scholes optigoricing
model. The Blackscholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optionkjala have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In addifi@option valuation models require the input oftiygsubjective assumptions including
expected volatility factor of the market price efrcommon stock (as determined by reviewing it¢ohisal public market closing prices). C
accounting for stock-based compensation for résttistock units, or RSUs, is based on thevfaitile method. The fair value of the RSUs is
market price of our common stock on the date offgiass its exercise cost.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures during 2013, 2012 and 2@ére $23,000, $147,000 and $132,000, respecti@apital expenditures in ec
such year were primarily attributable to the pusehaf scientific equipment and improvements toGhbéver, Indiana facility.

Impact of Inflation

We believe that inflation did not have a mateniapact on our operations for the periods reported.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Some of the securities that we invest in may bgestilto market risk. Our primary objective in our cash management awis tc
preserve principal while at the same time maxingizimcome we receive from our investmenté. change in the prevailing interest rates

cause the principal amount of our investmentsuotflate. We have no holdings of derivative finahand commodity instrumentsAs ol
December 31, 2013, our investments consisted giocate bonds and exchange-traded funds.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements of Acura Rlaaeuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary and the Repati@independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon, to be filed pursu@nitem 8 are included in Item 15.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurd& have conducted an evaluation, under the supamvand with the participatic
of our management, including our Chief Executivdic@f and Chief Financial Officer of the effectivess of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 1345(e). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Exeeudfficer and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosuretecols and procedures are effective in timely atgrtihem to material information relating
the Company (including our subsidiary) requiretbéoincluded in our periodic Securities and Exchabigmmission filings.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over FinahcReporting. Our management is responsible for establishing
maintaining adequate internal control over finahg@orting. Internal control over financial repog is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-1°
(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a prodesignated by, or under the supervision of, oimcjpal executive and principal financ
officers and effected by our board of directorshagement and other personnel, to provide reasoressigrance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordante generally accepted accounting princi
and includes those policies and procedures that:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that in regigle detail accurately and fairly reflect the s@actions and disposition of
our assets

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactionseepeded as necessary to permit preparation ofdiah statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that our receipts and expenditures anegbmade only in
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshdinectors; an

» Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on ttanéiral statement:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtwver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements.Therefore, eve

those systems determined to be effective can peosidy reasonable assurance with respect to finhatatement preparation and presente

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveméds future periods are subject to the risk thaitmds may become inadequate becau:
changes in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the policies or procedures may detemorat

Our management assessed the effectiveness of teanah control over financial reporting as of Det@®m31, 2013. In making thi:
assessment, management used the criteria setbiprthe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Tneadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control — Integrated FrameworlBased on our assessment, our Chief Executive @ffind our Chief Financial Officer both beli¢
that, as of December 31, 2013, our internal coraver financial reporting is effective based onsenariteria.

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm natsrequired to and did not express an opiniotheneffectivene:
of the Company’s internal control over financigboeting.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin There was no change in our internal control ovearitial reporting th
occurred during the Fourth Quarter 2013 that mallgraffected, or is reasonably likely to mategadiffect, our internal control over financ
reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE
Reference is made to 2014 Proxy Statement to bé filith the SEC on or about March13, 2014 with eespo Directors, Executi
Officers and Corporate Governance, which is incoafeul herein by reference and made a part hereesponse to the information requirec
ltem 10.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Reference is made to our 2014 Proxy Statement téldmk with the SEC on or about March 13, 2014 wiéspect to Executi
Compensation, which is incorporated herein by eafee and made a part hereof in response to theriafmn required by Item 11.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Reference is made to our 2014 Proxy Statement fidelgewith the SEC on or about March 13, 2014 wigspect to the to the secu
ownership of certain beneficial owners and manageraed related stockholder matters, which is inomaed herein by reference and ma
part hereof in response to the information requingdtem 12.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Reference is made to our 2014 Proxy Statement tdildsk with the SEC on or about March 13, 2014 widspect to certa
relationships and related transactions and diret#pendence, which is incorporated herein by reéereand made a part hereof in respon
the information required by Item 13.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Reference is made to our 2014 Proxy Statement fibelolewith the SEC on or about March 13, 2014 witepect to auditor fees, wh
is incorporated herein by reference and made arpaesponse to the information required by Item 14

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ tieport:
1.  All Financial Statements: See Index todficial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules: None
3. Exhibits: See Index to Exhibits
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Date: February 27, 201 ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s ROBERT B. JONE!
Robert B. Jone
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpithe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the dattisdted.

Signhature Title(s) Date
/sIRobert B. Jone President, Chief Executive Officer and Director February 27, 2014
Robert B. Jone (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/Peter A. Clemer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Office February 27, 2014
Peter A. Clemen (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/William G. Skelly Director February 27, 2014

William G. Skelly

/s/Bruce F. Wessa Director February 27, 2014
Bruce F. Wesso

/s/lmmanuel Thangar: Director February 27, 2014
Immanuel Thangar:

/sIGeorge K. Ros Director February 27, 2014
George K. Ros
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, lllinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals Inc. as of Deeerdl, 2013 and 2012 and
related consolidated statements of operations antprehensive income (loss), stockholdemuity, and cash flows for each of the three y
in the period ended December 31, 2013. These fiabstatements are the responsibility of the Corgfgsamanagement.Our responsibility i
to express an opinion on these financial statenteaged on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversightf8lo(United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdimidngcial statements are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to havewere we engaged to perform, an audit ofitsrnal control over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtiver financial reporting as a basis for desigradit procedures that are appropriate il
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsaimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compsairyternal control over financial reportii
Accordingly, we express no such opinioAn audit also includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts and disclosu
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made bypagement, as well as evaluating
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals Inc. at December 31, 2013 and 201Pthe results of its operations and its cashidlfor each of the three years in the pe
ended December 31, 2018 conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Chicago, lllinois
March 3, 201«




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(in thousands except par value)

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivale $ 12,340 $ 7,476
Marketable securitie 13,733 19,946
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $28 &l 194 5
Accrued investment incor 120 36
Finished good inventories, n 251 219
Income taxes refundab - 43
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 629 271
Other current deferred ass 186 -
Total current asse 27,453 27,996
Property, plant and equipment, | 941 1,052
Deferred debt issuance co 231 -
Other asset 5 11
Total asset $ 28,630 $ 29,059
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 274 % 994
Accrued expense 541 413
Other current liabilitie: 5 12
Deferred revenu 287 5
Total current liabilities 1,107 1,424
Long-term debt, net of debt discount of $£ 9,600 -
Other liabilities - 5
Total liabilities $ 10,707 $ 1,429
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Common stock: $.01 par value per shares; 100,08@shauthorized, 48,325 and 45,867 shares issuked
outstanding in 2013 and 2012, respecti 483 459
Additional paic-in capital 366,533 362,422
Accumulated defici (349,112 (335,211
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li 19 (40)
Total stockholder equity $ 17,923 $ 27,630
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 28,630 $ 29,059

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financa¢®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE INCOME (LOSS)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Revenues
Royalty revenus
Product sales, ni
Program fee revent
Milestone revenu
Total revenues, nt

Operating expense
Cost of sales (excluding inventory w-down)
Inventory write-down
Research and developmt
Selling, marketing, general and administra
Total operating expens:

Operating income (los!

Non-Operating income (expens:
Investment incom:
Gain on sales of marketable securi
Interest expens— promissory not
Other expense, n
Total other income (expense), |

Income (loss) before income tax
Provision for income taxe

Net income (loss
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrealized gains (losses) on securi
Total other comprehensive income (lo

Comprehensive income (los

Earnings (loss) per shai
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic
Diluted

(in thousands except per share amounts)

2013 2012 2011
$ 10 $ - $ -
113 : 5
- - 466
2 2 20,000
123 - 20,466
114 : 5
250 - -
4,923 3,726 4,037
8,926 6,013 5,895
14,213 9,739 9,932
(14,090 (9,739 10,534
194 79 32
4 - -
) - -
- (8) (34)
189 71 B)
(13,901 (9,668 10,532
- - 147
$ (13,901 $ (9,668 $ 10,385
59 (40) s
59 (40) -
$ (13,842 $ (9,708 $ 10,385
$ 029 $ (0.20' $ 0.22
$ 0.29' $ (0.20' $ 0.22
47,764 47,521 47,505
47,764 47,521 48,007

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
(in thousands)

Balance at Dec. 31, 20:

Comprehensive income: net income for the year eldsd 31, 201!
Shar-based compensatic

Net distribution of common stock pursuant to reséd stock unit award ple
Common shares withheld for withholding taxes ortritigtion of restricted stoc
units

Net issuance of common stock pursuant to cashiessise of stock optior
Common shares withheld for withholding taxes orhtzss exercise of stock optic

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog
Issuance of common stock for exercise of warr

Balance at Dec. 31, 20:

Net loss

Other comprehensive income (lo

Shar~-based compensatic

Net distribution of common stock pursuant to reséd stock unit award ple
Common shares withheld for withholding taxes orritistion of restricted stoc
units

Net issuance of common stock pursuant to cashiessise of stock optior
Common shares withheld for withholding taxes orhtess exercise of stock optic

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog

Balance at Dec. 31, 20:

Net loss

Other comprehensive income (lo

Shar-based compensatic

Warrants issued with promissory no

Net distribution of common stock pursuant to reséd stock unit award ple
Common shares withheld for withholding taxes ortritigtion of restricted stoc
units

Net issuance of common stock pursuant to cashiessise of stock optior
Common shares withheld for withholding taxes orhiess exercise of stock optic

Issuance of common stock unc‘at the marke’ offerings, net of offering costs
$102

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog

Balance at Dec. 31, 20:

Accumulatec

Additional Other
Common Stocl Paic-in Accumulatec Comprehensiv:
Shares $ Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss Total

43,894 $ 439 $ 359,83C $ (335,928 $ - $ 24,341
- - - 10,385 - 10,385
- - 2,458 - - 2,458
828 8 (8) - - -
(288, 3) (945) - - (948,
611 6 (6) - - -
(228 @) (884) - - (886
167 2 215 - - 217
336 3 1,073 - - 1,076
45,320 $ 453 $ 361,733 $ (325,543 $ - 3 36,643
- - - (9,668 - (9,668
- - - - (40) (40)
- - 1,733 - - 1,733
827 8 @ - - 1
(296 @) (1,031 - - (1,033
14 - - - - -
®) - (15) - - (15)
7 - 9 - - 9
45,867 $ 459 $ 362,422 $ (335,211 $ (40) $ 27,630
- - - (13,901 - (13,901
- - - - 59 59
- - 1,215 - - 1,215
- - 400 - - 400
826 8 ) - - 1
(321, 3) (709) - - (712,
7 - - - - -
(1) - 4) - - 4
1,940 19 3,207 - - 3,226
7 - 9 - - 9
48,325 $ 483 $ 366,533 $ (349,112 $ 19 3 17,923

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financié®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

Cash Flows from Operating Activitie
Net income (loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rmesthc(used in) provided by operating

activities:
Depreciatior

(in thousands)

Provision to reduce inventory to net realizablaue:

Shar+-based compensatic

Gain on sales of marketable securi

Loss on asset disposi
Changes in assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n

Collaboration revenue receivat

Accrued investment incon
Inventories

Income taxes refundab
Prepaid expenses and other
Other current deferred ass
Other asset

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Deferred program fee reven
Deferred revenu

Other liabilities

current a

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi

Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securi
Proceeds from sale and maturit
Additions to property, plant and

ies of marketablergies
equipm

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi

Cash Flows from Financing Activitie

Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from distribution of restricted stock s

Statutory minimum withholding taxes paid on thetritisition of common stock

pursuant to restricted stock unit
Proceeds from warrant exerc
Long-term debt borrowing
Capitalized debt issuance co

plan and exeroisgock option:

Proceeds fror*at the market offerir”
“At the market offerin” transaction cosi
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
Cash and cash equivalents at beginn
Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Fl
Cash paid (refunded) during the year
Interest
Income taxes, net of refun

cash equis
ing of

ow Informat

2013 2012 2011
$ (13,901 $ (9,668 $ 10,385
134 131 131

250 : :

1,215 1,733 2,458

@) : :

- 8 8

(194) - -

: : 126

(84) - -

(282) (219) 5

43 110 (141

(358) (16) (33)

(186) - -

6 - -

(720) 941 53

128 (64) (209,

- - (466,

287 : s

(12) 6 -

(13,678 (7,038 12,312
(7,611 (20,306 5
13,887 320 -

(23) (147, (131

6,253 (20,133 (131

9 9 217

1 1 5

(716) (1,048 (1,839

- - 1,076

10,000 - -

(231) - -

3,328 - -

(102 2 s

12,289 (1,038 (541

4,864 (28,209 11,640

7,476 35,685 24,045

$ 12,340 $ 7,476 $ 35,685
$ - $ - $ 26
$ 42) $ (108, $ 284

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing exah€ing activities (amounts presented are rounddke nearest thousand):

Year ended December 31, 2013

1.

829 thousand shares of common stock were HEifgp distribution pursuant to our RSU Plan utilig various cashless exercise features c
the plan and after withholding 3 thousand shares$f@ in exercise costs and withholding 321 thodssimares for $ 712 in statutory
minimum payroll taxes; we issu05thousand shares of common stc

Options to purchase #dousand shares of common stock were exercisezingjilvarious cashless exercise features of theksiption pla
and after withholding 17 thousand shares for $m3@xercise costs and withholding 1 thousand sHare® 4in statutory minimum payrc
taxes, we issued 6 thousand shares of common stock.

In connection with a debt issuance of $ 10iami|lwe issued the lender 298 thousand warrants avitexercise price of $ 1.595 . The fair
value of these warrants 01400was recorded as a debt discount and will be angatids interest expense over the term of this

Year ended December 31, 2012

1.

829 thousand shares of common stock were Eifgo distribution pursuant to our RSU Plan utilig various cashless exercise features ¢
the plan and after withholding 2 thousand share$foin exercise costs and withholding 296 thodsstrares for $ 1.0 million in statutory
minimum payroll taxes; we issub31thousand shares of common stc

Options to purchase #dousand shares of common stock were exercisedingilvarious cashless exercise features of theksiption plai
and after withholding 10 thousand shares for $n3dxercise costs and withholding 5 thousand sHare®s 15in statutory minimum payrc
taxes, we issued 9 thousand shares of common stock.

Year ended December 31, 2011

1.

2.

829 thousand shares of common stock were Eifgo distribution pursuant to our RSU Plan utilig various cashless exercise features ¢
the plan and after withholding 1 thousand shares$f8 in exercise costs and withholding 288 thodssimares for $ 948 in statutory
minimum payroll taxes; we issub40thousand shares of common stc

Options to purchase 98%usand shares of common stock were exercisadingilvarious cashless exercise features of theksoptior
plan and after withholding 324 thousand shares$fdr.3 million in exercise costs and withholding 22®usand shares for $ 8&6
statutory minimum payroll taxes, we issued 383 ffamd shares of common stock.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financa¢®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New York corporatiand its subsidiary (the “Company”, “We”, or “Oliris a specialty pharmaceuti
company engaged in the research, development antherxialization of technologies and products inezhtb address medication abuse
misuse. We have discovered and developed two mtapyi technologies. Our Aversion®echnology is a mixture of inactive ingredie
incorporated into pharmaceutical tablets and cassintended to address some common methods of girtadupering associated with opi
abuse. Pfizer Inc.’s Oxecta® (oxycodone HCI) tahle€ll is the first approved and marketed produtilizing Aversion ® and it
commercialized under a license agreement we hatreansubsidiary of Pfizer. We have also developadimpede ®Technology which is
combination of inactive ingredients that preveng textraction of pseudoephedrine from tablets arstugdi the direct conversion
pseudoephedrine from tablets into methamphetanineid-December 2012 we launched in the United eStdexafed® gseudoephedrii
HC1) tablets formulated with our Impede ® Technglog

N OTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentatiol

The Companys consolidated financial statements are prepareddnrdance with accounting principles generallyeated in the United Sta
of America (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial s&teents include the accounts of our whallyned subsidiary, Acura Pharmaceu!
Technologies Inc., after elimination of intercompatcounts and transactions.

Use of Estimates

Management is required to make certain estimatdsagsumptions in order to prepare consolidatechiah statements in conformity w
GAAP. Such estimates and assumptions affect thertegh amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues exmbnses and disclosure of contin
assets and liabilities in the consolidated finanstatements and accompanying nota@stual results could differ from those estims
Management periodically evaluates estimates usetidnpreparation of the consolidated financialestants for continued reasonabler
Appropriate adjustments, if any, to the estimateduare made prospectively based on such perigdiaations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash and cash equivalentxhiade cash in banks, U.S. Treasury Bills and ngomarketfunds. The Compal
considers all highly liquid investments with angimial maturity of three months or less to be caghivalentsOur cash and cash equivalents
governed by our investment policy as approved hyBnard of DirectorsThe carrying amount of cash and cash equivalergsoapnates it
fair value due to its short-term nature.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments
The Companys financial instruments consist primarily of casld @ash equivalents, marketable securities, acs@mt other receivables, tri
accounts payable and our notes payable. The cgrgmounts of these financial instruments, othen tharketable securities and

promissory notes, are representative of their spefair values due to their relatively short mrittes. We estimate the fair value of our nc
payable to be its carrying value due to its reéemtling. As discussed below, marketable securitiesrecorded at fair value.
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Marketable Securitie:

The Companys marketable securities primarily consist of cogp@rbonds and other instruments that invest in Ur8asury, U.S. agen
securities and agency mortgage-backed secur@iesmarketable securities are governed by our invest policy as approved by our Boart
Directors. The Company’s marketable securitiesctassified as available-faale and are recorded at fair value, based upotedjunarke
prices or net asset value. Unrealized temporarysatients to fair value are included in a separataponent of stockholdergquity a
unrealized gains and losses and reported as a ec@npof accumulated other comprehensive incoms)(l® gains or losses on market;
securities are realized until shares are sold dedine in fair value is determined to be othemttemporary. If a decline in fair value
determined to be other-than-temporary, an impaitrobarge is recorded and a new cost basis in tresiment is established.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We invest our excess cash in accordance with thestment policy approved by our Board of Directtivat seeks a combination of b
liquidity and safety of principal, such as inveshtgein instruments issued by the United States mowent and investment grade corpa
bonds.

Our accounts receivable arise from our productssake Nexafed®and represents amounts due from wholesalers irhéladth care ar
pharmaceuticals industries and from chain drugestofrhe Company has performed a credit evaluafiots customers and may maintain
allowance for potentially uncollectable accounts® Wéave not experienced any losses on uncollecéaiolzunts.

Sales to certain of our customers accounted for d@%nore of our annual net revenues, whether razednor deferred, during 2013
illustrated below:

Customel 2013
Rite Aid Corporatior 52 %
Cardinal Health, Inc 15 %

Inventories

Inventories consist of finished goods held for sald distribution on our Nexafed® product. Inveigsrare stated at the lower of cost (first-
first-out method) or market (net realizable value). Tlhenany writes down inventories to net realizable@dased on forecasted demand
market conditions, which may differ from actualuks. Our gross inventory is valued at $ 0.5 milland $ 0.2nillion at December 31, 20
and 2012, respectively. We have recorded inverresgrves of $ 0.258nillion which results in a net reported inventeglue of $0.25 million
December 31, 2013. We did not have an invent®sgrie at December 31, 2012.

The related cost of sales on deferred revenue®8 $nillion from Nexafed® shipments excluded from the value of the December 31,
inventory and is reported in our Balance Sheeh@ndther current deferred assets account. We &dgtignize the revenue and cost of sale
these Nexafed ®hipments once the right of return no longer exastadequate history and information becomes adailto estimate prodt
returns.

Our purchases of active pharmaceutical ingredients amdmaterials required for our development and cdihtrial manufacture of prodt
candidates utilizing our Aversion® or Impede® Teglugies are expensed as incurred.

Property, Plant and Equipmer
Property, plant and equipment are stated at aesg,dccumulated depreciation. We have no leas@éhpldvements. Betterments are capital
and maintenance and repairs are charged to opgsa®incurred. When a depreciable asset is rdtioau service, the cost and accumuli

depreciation is removed from the respective ac&unt

Depreciation expense is recorded on a strdightbasis over the estimated useful lives of #lated assets. The estimated useful lives ¢
major classification of depreciable assets are:

Building and improvement 10- 40 year
Land improvement 20- 40 year
Machinery and equipme 7-10 year
Scientific equipmen 5-10 year
Computer hardware and softwz 3-10year
Office equipmen 5-10 year
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Debt Issuance Costs and Debt Discot

Deferred debt issuance costs include costs of fitedoicing undertaken by the Company, including ldgas, placement fees and other di
costs of the financing. Debt discount is the valttebutable to warrants issued in conjunction vifth financing. Debt issuance costs and
discount are amortized into interest expense dwetdrm of the related debt using the effectiveriggt method.

Revenue Recognitio

Revenue is generally realized or realizable andezhwhen there is persuasive evidence an arrangenxists, delivery has occurred or serv
rendered, the price is fixed and determinable, @ikbction is reasonably assured. The Company dscavenue from its Nexafed@oduc
sales when the price is fixed and determinabl&eaidate of sale, title and risk of ownership hagerbtransferred to the customer, and re
can be reasonably estimated.

Nexafed® was launched in mid-December 2012. The Compalty Nexafed ®in the United States to wholesale pharmaceuticttidutors a
well as directly to chain drug stores. Nexafeds®sold subject to the right of return for a periofdup to twelve months after the proc
expiration. Nexafed ® currently has a shelf lifetwentyfour months from the date of manufacture. Givenlithhéed sales history of Nexaf
® , the Company currently cannot reliably estimate etgxreturns of the product at the time of shipmentertain customers. According
the Company has deferred the recognition of revemu& 0.3 million of Nexafed ®hipments to these customers until the right afrretic
longer exists or adequate history and informatiecames available to estimate product returns.

In connection with our License, Development, andn@eercialization Agreement dated October 30, 20Gh Wing Pharmaceuticals Resee
and Development, Inc., now a subsidiary of Pfizer. (the “Pfizer Agreement”)ve recognize program fee revenue, collaboratioenmag an
milestone revenue. Commencing in February 2013p&gan earning royalties based on net sales of @Rdwnt Pfizer. Such royalties are p
to us within 45 days after the end of each calemgmrter. We have recorded royalties of approxitpeabel0 thousand for the year enc
December 31, 2013 on net sales of Oxecta® by Pdizapproximately $ 0.2 million.

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized upfpayments, such as the $ 3tdlion upfront payment from Pfizer received in [2eabe
2007, and license fees, such as the $ndlllon option exercise fee paid by Pfizer to useiach of May 2008 and December 2008 upo!
exercise of its option to license a third and fbwpioid analgesic product candidate under theePf#igreement. We assigned an equal po
of Pfizer's $ 30.0million upfront payment to each of three produchdidates identified in the Pfizer Agreement andogeize the upfroi
payment as program fee revenue ratably over oima of the development period for each identifiedduct candidate. We recognizec
program fee revenue in either 2013 or 2012, andgrezed $ 0.5 million of program fee revenue in 201

Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursenantievelopment expenses, which are invoiced qugrie arrears, and are recogni
when costs are incurred pursuant to the Pfizer égent. The research and development services gawidPfizer under the collaboration
priced at fair value based upon the reimbursemeexpenses incurred pursuant to the collaboratiith Rfizer. There are no ongoing resei
and development services being provided to Pfindrvee had no collaboration revenue in 2013, 2012041.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievéroknertain pre-defined events in the developnu#dxecta®Tablets and other prodt
candidates licensed to Pfizer under the Pfizer Agrent.Milestone payments from Pfizer are recognized &emee upon achievement of
“at risk” milestone events, which represent the culminatioth® earnings process related to that milestorilesidne payments are trigge
either by the results of our research and developretorts or by events external to us, such asleggry approval to market a product.
such, the milestones are substantially at riskhatinception of the Pfizer Agreement, and the arn®oh the payments assigned theretc
commensurate with the milestone achieved. In aafditipon the achievement of a milestone event, ave mo future performance obligati
related to that milestone payment. Each milestaanent is non-refundable and noreditable when made. In June 2011, Pfizer paid 8
20.0 million milestone relating to the receipt @4 approval of the NDA for Oxecta®.
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Shipping and Handling Cost
The Company records shipping and handling costelimg expenses. The amounts recorded from tles sdiNexafed ® were not material.
Research and Development Activiti

Research and Development (“R&D”) expenses inclumdernal R&D activities, external Contract Reseabriyanization (“CRO")services an
their clinical research sites, and other activitiasernal R&D activity expenses include facilityayhead, equipment and facility maintene
and repairs, laboratory supplies, pre-clinical talbary experiments, depreciation, salaries, besiefihd sharbased compensation expen
CRO activity expenses include preclinical laborat@xperiments and clinical trial studies. Otherivdist expenses include regulatc
consulting, and regulatory legal counsel. IntefR&D activities and other activity expenses are gbdrto operations as incurred. We n
payments to the CRQO's based on agreed upon teminsmay include payments in advance of a study stadate. We review and accrue C
expenses and clinical trial study expenses basexdimices performed and rely on estimates of tikhoses applicable to the stage of comple
of a study as provided by the CRO. Accrued CROscast subject to revisions as such studies propessmpletion. Revisions are charge
expense in the period in which the facts that gise to the revision become known. We did not hawg accrued CRO costs and clinical
study expenses at either December 31, 2013 or ZG1Recember 31, 2013 we had $ Or@élion in prepaid CRO costs and clinical trial g
expenses. We had no prepaid CRO costs and clinigbstudy expenses at December 31, 2012.

Share-based Compensation

We have three shatmsed compensation plans covering stock optionsR8ids for our employees and directors, which aserileed mor
fully in Note 10.

We measure our compensation cost related to $fzmed payment transactions based on fair valueeoéduity or liability instrument issut
For purposes of estimating the fair value of edokksoption unit on the date of grant, we utilibe Black-Scholes optiopricing model. Th
Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optiongjal have no vesting restrictic
and are fully transferable. In addition, optionuation models require the input of highly subjeeti@ssumptions including the expet
volatility factor of the market price of our commatock (as determined by reviewing our historicablg market closing prices). C
accounting for share-based compensation for RSWssed on the fawvalue method. The fair value of the RSUs is theketaprice of ou
common stock on the date of grant, less its exeust.

Our share-based compensation expense recognitleel @ompany’s results of operations comprised aeviing:
Year Ended December &

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands

Research and developme

Stock option award $ 315 % 375 $ 457
RSU award: s = 75
315 375 532

Selling, general and administratiy
Stock option award 900 1,358 1,698
RSU award: s = 228
900 1,358 1,926
Total $ 1,215 $ 1,733 $ 2,458

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changesjiity during a period except those that resuimah investments by or distributions to
Companys stockholders. Other comprehensive income (lafg)s to revenues, expenses, gains and lossestiugEr, GAAP, are included
comprehensive income (loss), but excluded fromimatme (loss) as these amounts are recorded girastan adjustment to stockholders
equity. Acuras other comprehensive income (loss) is composenhiafalized gains (losses) on certain holdings akaetable securities, net
any realized gains (losses) included in net incoss).
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moelt Under this method, deferred income tax assddiabilities are determined basec
differences between the financial reporting anditieeme tax basis of assets and liabilities andregasured using the enacted income tax
and laws that will be in effect when the differep@@e expected to reverse. Additionally, net opegabss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax assets. The raafizaf deferred income tax assets is dependent fytare earnings. A valuation allowanc
required against deferred income tax assets iedas the weight of available evidence, it is mitkely than not that some or all of 1
deferred income tax assets may not be realizedhoftt December 31, 2013 and 2012, 100% of all reimginet deferred income tax as:
were offset by a valuation allowance due to unaaits with respect to future utilization of netespting loss carryforwards. If in the future |
determined that additional amounts of our defeinedme tax assets would likely be realized, theiatbn allowance would be reduced in
period in which such determination is made anddatitimnal benefit from income taxes in such penzlld be recognized.

Earnings Per Share“EPS”)

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income os Ibg the weighted average common shares outstandirigg a period, including sha
weighted related to vested Restricted Stock UARS(Us”) (See Note 10). Diluted EPS is based on the treastogk method and compu
based on the same number of shares used in thedhase calculation and includes the effect froteipiial issuance of common stock, suc
shares issuable pursuant to the exercise of stptkns and stock warrants, assuming the exercisellah-themoney stock options a
warrants. Common stock equivalents are excluded fte computation where their inclusion would bg-dilutive. No such adjustments w:
made for either 2013 or 2012 as the Company repateet loss for the years and including the effeétcommon stock equivalents in
diluted EPS calculation would have been antidileittiln 2011, stock awards to purchase r@iion common shares were outstanding but
included in the computation of diluted EPS as tvards were anti-dilutive.

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominatdrisasic and diluted EPS consisted of the follagwin

Years ended December

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands except per share d
EPS- basic
Numerator: net income (los $ (13,901 $ (9,668 $ 10,385
Denominator
Common share 46,935 45,863 45,016
Vested RSU: 829 1,658 2,489
Basic weighted average shares outstan 47,764 47,521 47,505
EPS- basic $ (0.29 $ (0.20 $ 0.22
EPS- assuming dilutior
Numerator: net income (los $ (13,901 $ (9,668 $ 10,385
Denominator
Common share 46,935 45,863 45,016
Vested RSU: 829 1,658 2,489
Stock options - - 366
Common stock warran > - 136
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 47,764 47,521 48,007
EPS- diluted $ (0.29 $ (0.20 $ 0.22
Excluded dilutive securitiet
Common stock issuabl
Stock options 3,738 3,296 2,805
Common stock warran 2,154 1,856 -
Total excluded potentially dilutive shar 5,892 5,152 2,805
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NOTE 3 — LICENSE, DEVELOPMENT, AND COMMERCIALIZATIO N AGREEMENT

In October 2007, we entered into a License, Dewalat and Commercialization Agreement, or the Pfiagreement, with Kin
Pharmaceuticals Research and Development, Inc.,ansubsidiary of Pfizer, covering the United Sta@snada and Mexico. Under the Pf
Agreement, Pfizer will manufacture and commercalizxecta ®n the United States. As of December 31, 2013, aeieceived an aggreg
of $ 78.5 million in payments from Pfizer in therfo of a $ 30.0million upfront cash payment, milestone paymenistiom fees an
reimbursement for research and development expemsfsding a $ 20.0nillion milestone fee relating to the receipt of ABpproval of th
NDA for Oxecta® . In addition, as of December 31, 2013, we haceived $ Shousand of royalties from Pfizer, which royaltypeent:
were calculated using a 5 % royalty rate basetherurrent annual Oxecta® net sales levels.

Pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement, we and Pfizenéar a joint steering committee to oversee developred commercialization strategies
Oxecta®. Pfizer is responsible, at its own expefweall regulatory, manufacturing and commerciiian activities for Oxecta@ubject to th
Pfizer Agreement, Pfizer will have final decisiomking authority with respect to all regulatory ammercialization activities for Oxecta®.

Pfizer's royalty payment obligations for Oxecta®pér on a country-bygountry basis upon the later of (i) the expiratidrihe last valid pate
claim covering Oxecta® in such country, or (ii) {@ars from the first commercial sale of Oxecta®uch country. No minimum annual fi
are payable by either party under the Pfizer Agesgmif Pfizer, after consultation with us, entan® a license agreement with a third part
avoid or settle such third party’s allegations lairas regarding freedom to operate against Oxededider may deduct 5% of any royalties «
other license payments it pays to such third pargler such license, provided that the royaltiesapbgy/to us are no less than &Dof the
royalties otherwise due to us under the Pfizer Agrent.

The Pfizer Agreement expires upon the expiratioRfifer’s royalty payment and other payment obligationseutide Pfizer Agreement. Pfi.
may terminate the Pfizer Agreement in its entir@tyny time by written notice to us. We may terrtérthe Pfizer Agreement in its entiret
Pfizer commences any interference or oppositiortgeding challenging the validity or enforceabilitiyany of our patent rights licensec
Pfizer under the Pfizer Agreement. Either party thasright to terminate the Pfizer Agreement omantry-by-country basis if the other party
in material breach of its obligations under thez@fiAgreement relating to such country, and to iteate the Agreement in its entirety in
event the other party makes an assignment for ¢neftt of creditors, files a petition in bankruptoy otherwise seeks relief under applic:
bankruptcy laws, in each case subject to applicalnle periods.

F-13




In the event of termination, no payments are dwepixthose royalties and milestones that have adgpuior to termination under the Pfi
Agreement and all licenses under the Pfizer Agregraee terminated. For all Acura terminations asrthination by Pfizer where we are na
breach, the Pfizer Agreement provides for the ftamsof development and marketing of the licenpedducts from Pfizer to us, including

conveyance by Pfizer to us of the trademarks ahrbgllatory filings and approvals solely used amgection with the commercialization
such licensed products and, in certain cases,fipers supply of such licensed products for a $iianal period at Pfizer's cost plus a mang-

Paragraph IV ANDA Litigation

On or about September 17, 2012, we believe the KFigknally changed the status of OxectmRbe considered a Reference Listed Dru
RLD. An RLD is the standard to which all generigsiens must be shown to be bioequivalent and a dougpany seeking approval to mark
generic equivalent must refer to the RLD. By deatgiy Oxecta® as an RLD, the FDA was allowed taeept&NDAs referencing Oxecta®.

On September 20, 2012, we announced that we hat/egica Paragraph IV Certification Notice undel2$.C. 355(j) (a Paragraph IV Noti
from a generic sponsor of an ANDA for a genericgdiigting Oxecta®as the reference listed drug. Since such date,ave received simil;
Paragraph IV Notices from three other generic pla@entical companies that have filed ANDAs listinge©ta®as the reference drug. 1
Paragraph IV Notices refer to our U.S. Patent Nu%201,920, 7,510,726 and 7,981,439, which cawerAversion® Technology an
Oxecta®.The Paragraph IV Notices state that each genednssp believes that such patents are invalid, wreaéble or not infringed. (
October 31, 2012, we initiated suit against eacWWafson Laboratories, Inc.Forida (Watson), Par Pharmaceutical, Inc., Impakdratories
Inc. and Sandoz Inc., and on April 29, 2013 weiatéd suit against Ranbaxy, Inc., each in the dn8&ates District Court for the District
Delaware alleging infringement of our U.S. Patemt M,510,726 listed in the FD&’'Orange Book. The commencement of such litig
prohibits the FDA from granting approval of theetil ANDAs until the earliest of 30 months from tretalthe FDA accepted the applicatior
filing, or the conclusion of litigation.

On October 9, 2013, we announced that we had ehtete distinct Settlement Agreements with eaclPaf and Impax, to settle our pa
infringement action pending against them in thetéthiStates District Court for the District of Delae. In the suit, we alleged that a ger
Oxecta®product for which each of Par and Impax is sepbraeeking approval to market in the United Statessuant to an ANDA filin
with the FDA infringes a U.S. patent owned by uar: B the first filer of an ANDA for a generic Oxa® product and is entitled to the 188y
first filer exclusivity under applicable law and RDegulations.

Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement with Par may launch its generic Oxecta® product & thS., through the grant of a non
exclusive, royaltybearing license from us that would trigger on Janda 2022. We currently have Orange Book patdmis @re due to expi
between November 2023 and March 2025. In certaiitdd circumstances, our license to Par would beceffective prior to January 1, 20
Par is required to pay us royalties in the rang&0o¥o to 15 % of Par’s net profits from the salé®fjeneric Oxecta® product.

Under the Settlement Agreement with Impax, Impay faanch its generic Oxecta® product in the U.Brotigh the grant of a nagxclusive
royalty-free license from us that would trigger 1@&ys following the first sale of a generic Oxecta®duct in the U.S. by an entity tha
entitled to the 180 day firditer exclusivity under applicable law and FDA rdations (or if no entity is entitled to such 180ydexclusivity
period, the date on which a generic Oxec@m®duct is first sold in the U.S. or November 2022, whichever date occurs first). In cer
circumstances, our license to Impax would becorfec#fe prior to such time.

The Settlement Agreements with Par and Impax doaffect the status of our separate Oxecfzffent litigations against Sandoz Inc.
Ranbaxy Inc. pending in the United States Distiourt for the District of Delaware.

Litigation is inherently uncertain and we cannogégict the outcome of these infringement actionsSdhdoz and/or Ranbaxy prevails ir
respective lawsuit and is able to obtain FDA applaf its product, it may be able to launch its gén version of Oxecta®rior to the
expiration of our patents in 2025. Additionally,ist possible that other generic manufacturers nisy seek to launch a generic versiol
Oxecta® and challenge our patents. Any determindticdhese infringement actions that our patenterdng our Aversion®rlechnology an
Oxecta® are invalid or unenforceable, in wholeropart, or that the products covered by generinsps’ ANDAS do not infringe our pater
could have a material adverse affect on our operatind financial condition.
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NOTE 4 — INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Investments in marketable securities consistetiefallowing:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201

(in millions) (in millions)
Marketable securitie:
Corporate bond— maturing within 1 yea $ 31 % 1.2
Corporate bond— maturing after 1 through 4 yee 6.8 6.3
Pooled investment fun - 8.0
Exchang-traded fund: 3.8 4.4
Total marketable securitit $ 13.7 $ 19.9

The Company’s marketable securities are classdgedvailable-fosale and are recorded at fair value based on quwekiet prices using t
specific identification method. The purchase cdstasporate bonds may include a purchase price jpiramr discount which will be amortiz
or accreted against earned interest income to thwrity date of the bond. Our investments are dflagsas current in the Compary’
Consolidated Balance Sheet as they may be soldnwithe yearin response to changes in market prices or intaess, to realign o
investment concentrations or to meet our workingjtahneeds.

The following tables provide a summary of the faifue and unrealized gains (losses) related t€tmpany’s available-for-sale securities (in
millions):

December 31, 201

(in millions)
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale:
Corporate bond $ 99 $ - $ - $ 9.9
Exchang-traded fund: 3.8 = = 3.8
Total - Current $ 13.7 $ - $ - $ 13.7
December 31, 201
(in millions)
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale:
Corporate bond $ 76 $ - $ 01 % 7.5
Pooled investment fun 8.0 - - 8.0
Exchang-traded fund: 4.4 - - 4.4
Total - Current $ 20.0 $ - $ 0.1 $ 19.9

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be receivedeiban asset or paid to transfer a liability (ait gxice) in an orderly transaction between me
participants. Fair values determined based on Leweputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) invectmarkets for identical assets or liabilit
Fair values determined based on Level 2 inputzetdbservable quoted prices for similar assetdliabdities in active markets and observe
quoted prices for identical or similar assets inrkats that are not very active. Fair values deteedhibased on Level 3 inputs util
unobservable inputs and include valuations of assetiabilities for which there is little, if anynarket activity. A financial asset or liabiliy’
classification within the above hierarchy is detierd based on the lowest level input that is sigaift to the fair value measurement. We
no liabilities at December 31, 2013 meeting failueaneasurement.
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Our assets measured at fair value or disclosegiratdlue on a recurring basis as at December@3 2nd 2012 consisted of the following (in
millions):
December 31, 201

(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Corporate bond 9.9 9.9 - -
Exchang-traded fund: 3.8 3.8 - -
Total $ 13.7 $ 137 $ - $ -
December 31, 201
(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Corporate bond 7.5 7.5 - -
Pooled investment fur 8.0 - 8.0 -
Exchang-traded fund: 4.4 4.4 - -
Total $ 199 $ 119 $ 8.0 $ -

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Lo

Unrealized gains or losses on marketable securétiesrecorded in accumulated other comprehensivernia (loss). Accumulated otl
comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 20i%isted of unrealized gains on securities of $tH@usand. Accumulated otl
comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 20d4&isted of unrealized losses on securities of hdQsand.

NOTE 5 — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are summarized &snfsi
December 31

2013 2012

(in thousands
Building and improvement $ 1,259 $ 1,259
Scientific equipmen 595 595
Computer hardware and softw: 252 255
Machinery and equipme 252 229
Land and improvemen 162 162
Other personal proper 70 70
Office equipmen 27 27

2,617 2,597
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (1,676 (1,545
Total property, plant and equipment, $ 941 $ 1,052

Depreciation and amortization expense was apprdrimnd 0.1 million for each of the years ended Deber 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.
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NOTE 6 — ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:

December 31

2013 2012
(in thousands

Professional service $ 293 $ 216
Other fees and servic 140 75
Payroll, payroll taxes and benef 78 55
Clinical and regulatory servict - 21
Contract manufacture servic 14 21
Property taxe 15 20
Franchise taxe 1 5

$ 541 $ 413

NOTE 7 — LONG-TERM DEBT

On December 27, 2013, we entered into a Loan andriBe Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with OxfoRihance LLC (“Oxford”or the
“Lender”), for a term loan to the Company in thénpipal amount of $ 10.0 million (the “Term Loan™he full principal amount of the Te|
Loan was funded on December 27, 2013. The Compayyuse the proceeds of the Loan Agreement for gémerrking capital and to fund
business requirements. The Term Loan accrues sttatea fixed rate of 8.35 % per annum (with a diéfeate of 13.3%% per annum). Tt
Company is required to make monthly interesly payments until the Amortization Date and stgrion the Amortization Date, the Comp.
is required to make payments of principal and aatrimterest in equal monthly installments suffitismamortize the Term Loan through
maturity date of December 1, 2018 . The “Amorti@gatDate”is April 1, 2015, but shall automatically becomerihg, 2016 if the Compar
achieves 75% of its projected Nexafed® cash reseaipt 75% of its projected Oxecta®sh receipts for the fiscal year ending Decemtis
2014 (collectively, the “First Revenue EventThe Amortization Date will be further deferred Uitpril 1, 2017 if the First Revenue Ew
occurs and in addition the Company achieves 75%s qfrojected Nexafed® cash receipts and 75% qgrigected Oxecta®ash receipts fi
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015 (colletyivthe “Second Revenue EventAll unpaid principal and accrued and unpaid inteveth
respect to the Term Loan is due and payable indnllDecember 1, 2018. As security for its obligagiaunder the Loan Agreement,
Company granted Lender a security interest in suibistly all of its existing and aftexequired assets, exclusive of its intellectual proj
assets. Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Conipanoy allowed to pledge its intellectual propeassets to others.

The Company may voluntarily prepay the Term Loafulh but not in part, and any prepayment is sabje a prepayment premium equal3to
% of the principal prepaid if prepaid on or priorDecember 27, 2014,% of the principal prepaid, if prepaid after Dece&mB7, 2014 but ¢
or prior to December 27, 2015, and4lof the principal prepaid if prepaid after Decemd@, 2015. In addition, at the maturity, termioatiol
upon voluntary or mandatory prepayment of the Teaan the Company must pay the Lender an additionatime interest payment of (A)
795 thousand if the First Revenue Event does natirp¢B) $ 895thousand if the First Revenue Event occurs butStheond Revenue Ev
does not occur, or (C) $ 99Bousand if both the First Revenue Event and tlmigkRevenue Event occur. We will incur and acedsitiona
monthly interest expense over the term of the foamhis additional one-time interest payment udimg loan’s effective cash interest rate.

The Company was obligated to pay customary leneles ind expenses, including a one-time facilityofle® 50 thousand and the Lender’
expenses in connection with the Loan Agreement. lthoed with the Company’s own expenses and a $i@@sand consulting placement
the Company incurred $ 23fousand in deferred debt issue costs. We will #z@those costs into operating expense over tine ¢ the loa
using the loan’s effective interest rate.

The Loan Agreement contains customary representaimd warranties and customary affirmative andtieg covenants, including, amc
others, limits or restrictions on the Compangbility to incur liens, incur indebtedness, paydénds, redeem stock, and merge or consol
and dispose of assets. In addition, it containgoongry events of default that entitles the Lendercause any or all of the Compasiy’
indebtedness under the Loan Agreement to becomediately due and payable. The events of defauthésof which are subject to applica
grace or cure periods), include, among other thimgmpayment defaults, covenant defaults, a materiab@tyv change in the Compa
bankruptcy and insolvency defaults and materiajment defaults.
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We issued to the Lender warrants to purchase aregate of up to 298housand shares of our common stock at an exepdise equal to
1.595 per share (the “Warrants”). We recorded $t#00sand as debt discount associated with thevéire of the Warrants and will amort
it to non-operating expense over the term of tlam losing the loas’ effective interest rate. The Warrants are imnieljieexercisable for ca
or by net exercise and will expire December 27,020Zhe fair value of the warrants was determinsitigithe Black-Scholes optigricing
model. Significant assumptions used in the BlackeBzs model were:

Expected dividend yiel 0.0 %
Risk-free interest rat 2.4 %
Expected volatility 92 %
Expected term (year: 7

The annual principal payments of the Long-term del@ecember 31, 2013 are as follows:

Annual
Principal Payment
(in thousands

2014 $ _
2015 1,758
2016 2,622
2017 2,741
2018 2,979
2019 and subseque -
Total $ 10,000

NOTE 8 — EQUITY FINANCING

Our universal shelf registration statement on F&® was declared effective by the Securities anchBmge Commission (“SECHn Marct
15, 2013. On April 18, 2013, we filed a prospecdupplement with the SEC pursuant to which we mélyskares of our common stock fri
time to time in “at the market” offerings and cémtather transactions, having sales proceeds aoup 13 million. During the year end:
December 31, 2013, we sold approximately In@ilion shares of our common stock under a Salese&gent with MLV & Co., our sal
agent, through an “at the market” offering, for gggroceeds of approximately $ 3.3 million. Tratisaccosts were approximately (51
million. The net proceeds of these transactiony/éar ended ending December 31, 2013 were apprtedyrt 3.2million and will be used fc
general corporate purposes, which may include wgrkiapital, capital expenditures, research, devetoph and marketing expenditures
clinical trial expenditures.

NOTE 9 — COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

The Company had outstanding common stock purchasemis at December 31, 2012 exercisable fonill®n shares of our common stc
at an exercise price of $ 3.40 per share and ainatigm date in August 2014 . In connection witle iksuance of the $ 10rfillion secure:
promissory notes in December 2013, we issued constoamk purchase warrants to acquire approximat@8tl2ousand shares of our comn
stock at an exercise price of $ 1.58%5 share with an expiration date of December 2088.Company has outstanding common stock pur
warrants at December 31, 2013 exercisable for Albmshares of our common stock at a weightedage exercise price of $ 3.p&r share
All of our outstanding common stock purchase wagaontain a cashless exercise feature.
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NOTE 10 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan

We have a 401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan (the “Bléor our employees. Employees may elect to makasic contribution of up to 8% ol
their annual earnings subject to certain regulat@strictions on their total contribution. The Plprovides that the Company can m
discretionary matching contributions along with iacdetionary profitsharing contribution. We did not contribute matchior profit sharin
contributions for the Plan in years 2013, 2012, 20d1.

Stock Option Plan:

We maintain various stock option plassummary of our stock option plans as of Decen#dgr2013, 2012, and 2011 and for the years
ended consisted of the following:

Years Ended December ¢

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands except price da

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number Average Number Average Number Average

of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options) Price

Outstanding, beginnin 3,296 $ 5.50 3,556 $ 6.41 4,243 $ 5.40
Grantec 548 1.66 475 2.80 491 3.63
Exercisec (31) 1.30 (31) 1.30 (1,102 1.33
Forfeited or expires (75) 5.02 (704 8.43 (76) 3.15
Outstanding, endin 3,738 $ 4.99 3,296 $ 5.50 3,556 $ 6.41
Options exercisabl 3,115 $ 5.61 2,763 $ 5.99 2,962 $ 7.01

The following table summarizes information aboubhwested stock options outstanding at December(Bii3:2

Number of Weighted
Options Average
Not Fair
Exercisable Value
(in thousands except p
price data

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 533 $ 2.77
Granted 548 1.54
Vested (443, 2.75
Forfeited (15) 2.17
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 623 $ 1.71

We estimate the option’s fair value on the dateg@nt using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mod&hck-Scholes utilizes assumptic
related to volatility, the riskree interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswsed to be zero, as we have not paid any castedids) an
price. The riskiree interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasteld curve in effect at the time of grant. Thepected life of the grants
derived from historical exercise activity. Histaily, the majority of our stock options have beezidhuntil their expiration date. T
assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model taméte fair value for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 stoton grants were:

2013 2012 2011
Expected dividend yiel 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.9% to 2.9% 1.7% to 2.0% 1.9% to 3.4%
Average expected volatilit 111% 114% 114%
Expected term (year: 10 10 10
Weighted average grant date fair va $1.54 $2.60 $3.39
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As of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 the aggregéinsic value of the option awards which weested and outstanding wasl$
thousand, $ 0.1 million, and $ Orillion, respectively. In addition, the aggregatérinsic value of option awards exercised during yea
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $ 28ahd, $ 0.1 million and $ 2miillion, respectively. The total remaining unrecog
compensation cost on unvested option awards odisgat December 31, 2013 was $ tillion and is expected to be recognized in opag
expense in varying amounts over the twenty-threethsoremaining in the requisite service period.

During 2013, options to purchase thbusand shares of common stock were exercisadingilvarious cashless exercise features of owk
option plan and after withholding 17 thousand sbdoe $ 32 in exercise costs and withholding 1 #zmd shares for $id statutory minimur
withholding payroll taxes, we issued 6 thousandehaf common stock. During 2012, options to puseh2dthousand shares of common si
were exercised utilizing various cashless exerf@atures of the stock option plan and after withirad 10 thousand shares for $iBlexercis
costs and withholding 5 thousand shares for $ 1&atutory minimum payroll taxes, we issuethBusand shares of common stock. DL
2011 options to purchase 98tusand shares of common stock were exercisadingilvarious cashless exercise features of theksbptior
plan and after withholding 324 thousand sharesbf@r3 million in exercise costs and withholding 2B8usand shares for $ 886 statutor
minimum payroll taxes, we issued 383 thousand shafreommon stock.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Pla

We have a Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (“20@URPlan”) for our employees and nemployee directors. Vesting of an RSU entitles
holder to receive a share of common stock of the@my on a distribution datA. summary of the RSU Plan as of December 31, 22Q82
and 2011, and for the years then ended consisti dbllowing:

Years Ended December ¢

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands
Number Number of Number Number
Number of Vested Number Vested of of Vested
of RSUs RSUs of RSUs RSUs RSUs RSUs

Outstanding, beginnin 1,658 1,658 2,487 2,487 3,316 3,267
Granted - - - - - -
Distributed (829 (829 (829 (829 (829 (829
Vested - - - - - 49
Forfeited or expires - - - - - -
Outstanding, endin 829 829 1,658 1,658 2,487 2,487

The share-based compensation cost to be incurreal gnanted RSU is the RSU’s fair value, which is tharket price of the Company’
common stock on the date of grant, less its exercist. The compensation cost is amortized to esgpener the vesting period of the R
award.

The 2005 RSU Plan provides that upon a change mraloof the Company or upon termination of an esgpes employment with tf
Company without cause, vesting will accelerate taiedRSUs will fully vest. If a change in controlooes, the vested shares underlying the
award will be distributed at or about the timelof thange in control. Absent a change of contredfourth of vested shares of common si
underlying an RSU award will be distributed (affmyment of $ 0.0Jar value per share) on January 1 of each of 2bdd 2014. Th
distribution dates of January 1, 2011 thru 201 eamnsisting of 0.83 million shares and occurretblisws:
. On January 1, 2011, 0.54 million shares were thisteid to the holders while 0.28illion shares were withheld by the Comp
upon elections made to exchange RSUs in satisfaofi® 1.0 million withholding tax obligations
. On January 1, 2012, 0.53 million shares were thisteid to the holders while 0.3fillion shares were withheld by the Comp
upon elections made to exchange RSUs in satisfaofi® 1.0 million withholding tax obligations
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. On January 1, 2013, 0.50 million shares were thisteid to the holders while 0.38illion shares were withheld by the Comp
upon elections made to exchange RSUs in satisfaofi®¢ 0.7 million withholding tax obligations; an
. On January 1, 2014, 0.50 million shares were thisteid to the holders while 0.38illion shares were withheld by the Comp
upon elections made to exchange RSUs in satisfaofi®¢ 0.5 million withholding tax obligations
NOTE 11 — INCOME TAXES
Provision for Income Taxe!

The reconciliation between our provision for incotages and the amounts computed by multiplyingincome (loss) before taxes by the |
statutory tax rate is as follows :

December 31

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands
Tax (benefit) at U.S. statutory 34% tax r $ (4,690 $ (3,287 $ 3,510
State taxes (benefit), net of federal ef (238 - 6
Research and development tax cre (185 - 77)
Shar-based compensatic 369 473 626
Other 2 2 (55)
Change in valuation allowan: 4,742 2,812 (3,863
Provision for income taxe $ D - $ 147

The tax expense 2011 is federal alternative mininaxas (“AMT”) and current state taxes.
Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowan

Deferred tax assets reflect the tax effects obperating losses (“NOLs"Jax credit carryovers, and temporary differencdsvben the carryir
amounts of assets and liabilities for financialamimg purposes and the amounts used for incompugposes. The most significant item of
deferred tax assets is derived from our Federal l@\e have approximately $46.8 million federal imeotax benefits at December 31, 2
derived from $137.6 million Federal NOLs at the Usttutory tax rate of 34% and $ 2.8 million stdteLs, available to offset future taxal
income, some of which have limitations for use essgribed under IRC Section 382. Our NOLs will egph varying amounts between 2!
and 2033 if not used, and those expirations wiliseafluctuations in our valuation allowances. 112We adjusted the estimated future valt
NOLs under IRC Section 382 resulting in increadingse NOLs by §15.5 million with an equally offsetting valuati@lowance.The ne
change in the valuation allowance in 2013, 2018,201.1 was approximately $ 18.0 million, $ 2.8 il and $ 2.8 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2013 we had federal researctdamdlopment tax credits of approximately $ 1.1liom| which expire in the years 20
through 2033 ; and we had approximately $ 0.4 amllof Indiana state research and development &ditsr whichexpire in the years 20
through 2017 . The components of our deferrecatmets are as follows:

December 31
2013 2012

(in thousands

Deferred tax asset
Estimated future value of NOI

- Federa $ 46,830 $ 26,674
- State 2,843 4,434
Research and development tax cre 1,433 887
Shar+-based compensatic 2,261 3,486
Other, ne 119 (20)
Total deferred taxe 53,486 35,461
Valuation allowanct (53,486 (35,461
Net deferred tax asse $ - 3 -

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent fysiore earnings, if any, and the timing and ami@frwhich may be uncertain. Valuat
allowances are placed on deferred tax assets whegrtainty exists on their near term utilizatione \Wake periodic reviews of our valuai
allowances and fluctuations can occur. Those fhtatns may be reflected as income tax expensegigfis in the period they occur. !
continue to maintain full valuation allowance agiall of our deferred tax assets at December 813 2lue to uncertainties with respec
future utilization of net operating loss carryfords. If in the future it is determined that amouofsour deferred tax assets would likely
realized, the valuation allowance would be reducetthe period in which such determination is madd a benefit from income taxes in s
period would be recognized.
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Uncertainty in Income Taxes

We adopted FASB' statement regarding accounting for uncertainfipéome taxes which defined the threshold for reirgg the benefits
tax-return positions in the financial statementsrasre-likely-thannot" to be sustained by the taxing authorities. @dwmption of the stande
did notresult in establishing a contingent tax liabiligserve or a corresponding charge to retained egrnit each of December 31, 2C
2012 and 2011 we had no liability for income tagamsated with uncertain tax positions. If in théufe we establish a contingent tax liab
reserve related to uncertain tax positions, ouctm@ will be to recognize the interest in interegpense and the penalties in other nparating
expense.

The Company files federal and state income taxmetand in the normal course of business the Coynjzasubject to examination by th
taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2013, thenfanys tax years 2010, 2011 and 2012 are subject toieg#ion by the taxing authoritie
With few exceptions, we believe the Company isarngker subject to U.S. federal, state and local é@xations by taxing authorities for ye
before 2010. As of December 31, 2012 the Compaay year of 2009 was included in the tax yearsexilip examination.

NOTE 12 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Facility Lease

The Company leases administrative office spaceaiatie, Illinois under a lease expiring March 20,15 for approximately $ 2thousan
annually.

Reglan® /Metoclopramide Litigation

Halsey Drug Company, as predecessor to us, hasrnmaed along with numerous other companies as endait in cases filed in thi
separate state coordinated litigations pending iennBylvania, New Jersey and California, respegtivadaptioned In re
Reglan®/Metoclopramide Mass Tort Litigation, Phigghia County Court of Common Pleas, January T@0i0, No. 01997; In re: Reglan
Litigation, Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Diais, Atlantic County, Case No. 289, Master Dockeb. NATL-L-3865-10; ant
Reglan®Metoclopramide Cases, Superior Court of Califorf8an Francisco County, Judicial Council CoordimatRroceeding No. 463
Superior Court No.: CJC-1004631. In addition, Acura was served with a siméamplaint by two individual plaintiffs in Nebrazkedere
court. In this product liability litigation againsumerous pharmaceutical product manufacturersd@stdbutors, including us, plaintiffs cla
injuries from their use of the Reglan brand of notpramide and generic metoclopramide.

In the Pennsylvania state court mass tort procgediner 200lawsuits have been filed against us and Halsey [@ampany alleging th
plaintiffs developed neurological disorders as sulteof their use of the Reglan brand and/or generétoclopramide. Plaintiffs have fil
approximately 150 lawsuits against us, but haveesktess than 5@hdividual lawsuits upon us in the New Jersey actim the Californi
action, we were not served with any complaintsluing spring of 2011 when a single complaint inahgdover 400 plaintiffs was served.

In the lawsuits filed to date, plaintiffs have moinfirmed they ingested any of the generic metaeloyde manufactured by us. We discontir
manufacture and distribution of generic metoclopdemmore than 15 years ago. In addition, we beligne June 23, 2011 decision by the
Supreme Court ifPLIVA v. Mensing (“Mensinglecision”)holding that state tort law failure to warn claiagainst generic drug companies
pre-empted by the 1984 Hatdllaxman Act Amendments and federal drug regulatwifisassist us in favorably resolving these cas®s.hav
consistently maintained the position that thesendare without merit and intend to vigorously defehese actions.

In New Jersey, Generic Defendants, including Acfitag dispositive motions based on thkensingdecision, which the Court granted wit
limited exception. In June 2012, the New Jersey tourt dismissed Acura with prejudice.
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In Philadelphia, and California, Generic Defendamisluding Acura, also filed dispositive motionzsed on th&lensingdecision.

On November 18, 2011, the Philadelphia trial colertied Generic Defendaniispositive motion. In December 2011, the Generéeddant
appealed this rulingOn April 13, 2012, all trial court proceedings westayed pending decisions by the Pennsylvania Epeatourts. A
adverse decision byhe Pennsylvania Superior Court was issued in Jah32Further appeal proceedings are pending. Tgpsal proce:
eventually could result in dismissal of all of tRéiladelphia cases against all generic defendastading Acura, although there can be
assurance in this regard. Legal fees related sontlaitter are currently covered by our insuranceesar

In California, the trial court entered a May 25,1200rder denying Generic Defendantispositive preemption motions. The Gene
Defendantsappeals from this order were denied by the Califoappellate courts. Therefore, subject to furtterelopments, plaintiffs may
permitted to proceed with these lawsuits includstege law claims based on (1) failing to commuricaarnings to physicians througbéai
Doctor” letters; and (2) failure to update labeling to adm@and labeling changes. California trial coudcahas acknowledged the preemg
effect of Mensingso that any claimthat would render the generic defendants in viotatf federal law if they are found responsible emz
state law cause of action, would not be permissitNenetheless, plaintiffs have not confirmed theyestgd any of the generic metocloprar
manufactured by us. Therefore, we expect the nuwigaintiffs with possible claims to be reduocenluntarily or by motion practiceAction
will be taken in an effort to dismiss Acura fromesle cases, although there can be no assurande nedhard. Legal fees related to this mi
are currently covered by our insurance carrier.

In Nebraska, the litigation against Acura has bstyed and will be dismissed if plaintiffs pres@mt evidence of ingestion of gene
metoclopramide manufactured by us. Legal feesaeéltat this matter are currently covered by ourriasae carrier.

As any potential loss is neither probable nor esfil®, we have not accrued for any potential loksed to these matters as of Decembe
2013 and we are presently unable to determineyifpatential loss would be covered by our insuracargier.

Financial Advisor Agreement

In connection with our August 2007 Unit Offeringeare obligated to pay a fee to our then finarauwisor upon each exercise of the wart

issued in the Unit Offering, in proportion to thember of warrants exercised. The amount of theagseming 1006 exercise of the remaini

1.9 million warrants is $ 0.38 million. The expimat date of these warrants is in August 200We have not reflected this obligation &

liability in our consolidated financial statemeatsthe payment is contingent upon the timing amdaése of the warrants by each of the wai

holders. Such fee, if any, will be paid to the finil advisor and be offset against the equity @eds as the warrants are exercised.
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA (UNAUDITED)

Selected unaudited quarterly consolidated finardasd is shown below (in thousands except per states:

For Three Month Periods End

Mar. 31, June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
Revenues (i $ 4 % 19 83 $ 35
Operating expenst 4,248 3,141 3,308 3,516
Operating los! (4,244 (3,140 (3,225 (3,481
Net loss $ (4,218 $ (3,076 $ (3,190 $ (3,417
Basic loss per sha $ (0.09 $ (0.07 $ (0.07' $ (0.07;
Diluted loss per shai $ (0.09 $ (0.07 $ (0.07 $ (0.07
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Revenues (i
Operating expens¢

Operating los!
Net loss

Basic loss per sha
Diluted loss per shai

(i) See Note 2 for revenue recognitit

For Three Month Periods End

Mar. 31, June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012

- 3 - % - 3 >
2,344 2,189 2,149 3,057
(2,344 (2,189 (2,149 (3,057
(2,333 $ (2,179 $ (2,140 $ (3,016
(0.05 $ (0.05 $ (0.04 % (0.06
(0.05 $ (0.05 $ (0.04 $ (0.06
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part a6 thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated hetsy reference.

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

1.1 At Market Issuance Sales Agreement dated April 28,3 between Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and ML\C@& LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to thgiR&an’s Form K filed on April 18, 2013’

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation a&f Registrant (incorporated by reference to Ext8titto the Registrant’'s Form 8-
K filed on June 25, 2009

3.2 Certificate of Amendment Reverse Splitting Commadack and restating but not changing text of parfAdicle Il of
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporatgdreference to Exhibit 3.1 to the For+-K filed December 4, 2007

3.3 Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporatedeligrence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Forr-K filed on March 3, 2009

10.1 License, Development and Commercialization Agredrdated October 30, 2007 by and between the Regisand King
Pharmaceuticals Research and Development, Incorfincated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the F@# filed on
November 2, 2007

10.2 Letter Agreement dated as of September 24, 2012ndybetween the Registrant and King PharmaceutRadgarch ar
Development, Inc. (incorporated by reference toiEki 0.1 of the Form & filed on September 26, 2012) (confiden
treatment has been granted for portions of thistitjh

10.3 Manufacturing Services Agreement dated as of J@ly2D11 between the Registrant and Patheon Phauticads Inc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to oarr® 8K filed July 27, 2011) (confidential treatment Haeen granted fi
portions of this Exhibit

10.4 Securities Purchase Agreement dated Asigdist 20, 2007 (“PIPE SPA@mong the Registrant, Vivo Ventures Fund
L.P., Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, L.P., GCEodiflings LLC, and certain other signatories ther@baorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Forr-K filed on August 21, 2007

10.5 Form of Warrant dated as of August 20, 2007 issueduant to the PIPE SPA (incorporated by referémdexhibit 4.1 tc
the Form K filed on August 21, 2007

*10.6 Loan and Security Agreement dated as of DecembeP@I3 between Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Acuiraceutice
Technologies, Inc. and Oxford Finance L

*10.7 Form of Warrant issued to Oxford Finance L dated December 27, 20

*10.8 Form of Mortgage dated December 27, 2

10.9 Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated aslwfubiry 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Care Cadpitaistments I

LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., G#lartners lll, L.P., and others (incorporated by reference to Ex
10.5 of the Form-K filed on February 10, 2004 (tl“ February 2004 Form-K”)).
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Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.10

10.11

10.12

110.13

110.14

110.15

110.16

110.17

110.18

110.19

110.20

110.21

Joinder and Amendment to Amended and Restated iy @&greement dated November 9, 2005 between thesRagi
GCE Holdings, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures ¥, ,LCare Capital Investments II, LP, Galen Parthiérd .P. anc
others (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.the Form -K filed November 10, 2005

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Votingeékgent dated as of January 24, 2008 between thstReg an
GCE Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to it 0.1 to the Form-K filed January 28, 2008

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Voting Agrent dated as of October 1, 2012 between the tRagisCar:
Capital Investments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Hedkhtures V, L.P., Galen Partners lll, L.P., andeosh(incorporated t
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Forr-K filed on October 3, 2012

Registrarg’ 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchdae @ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te
Registrant's Registration Statement on Fo-8, File No. 3-98396).

Registrant’s 1998 Stock Option Planaamnded (incorporated by reference to Appendix Gh&oRegistrans Proxy
Statement filed on May 12, 200¢

Registrarg’ 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, as amen(iecbrporated by reference to Appendix B to
Registrar’s Proxy Statement filed on April 2, 200

Registrarg’2008 Stock Option Plan, as amended on June BS, @@corporated by reference to Appendix B to Buxy
Statement filed on May 12, 200!

Employment Agreement dated as of Ma@;h1998 between the Registrant and Peter Clem&ier(iens”) incorporate:
by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Forn-K for the period ending December 31, 2007, filedAqumil 15, 1998).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement made akuoé 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Clemeosrfiorate:
by reference to Exhibit 10.44A to the Regist’s 2005 Form 1-K).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbeiween Registrant and Clemens, dated as of JaBy&§0~
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to tlegRtrant's Form-K filed January 31, 2005

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeated December 22, 2005 between Registrant and @k
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to thec@mber 2005 Forn-K).

Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemdaied December 16, 2007 between Registrant and eDk

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Bmem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2007, filed oardh 5
2008).
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

110.22 Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeaeited July 9, 2008 between Registrant and Clemens
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oarrf &K filed on July 10, 2008

110.23 Sixth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemedicated December 14, 2012 between the RegistranCmen
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to oarrk &K filed on December 17, 2012

*110.24 Seventh Amendment to Executive Employment Agreensxetcuted December 12, 2013 between the Registizo
Clemens

110.25 Employment Agreement dated as of March 18, 200&¢dxt the Registrant and Robert B. Jones (incorpaiay referenc
to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form-K filed on March 24, 2008

110.26 Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement datedfaApril 28, 2011 between the Registrant and RoBe Jone
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to oarr 1(-Q filed July 28, 2011

t10.27 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerhetween Registrant and Robert B. Jones executeeniizr 14
2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.ddo Form K filed December 17, 2012

110.28 Strategic Transaction Bonus Grant Agreement datelruary 28, 2013 between the Registrant and Rdberione:
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of oorr 1(-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2013, filed MayY013)

110.29 Strategic Transaction Bonus Grant Agreement daworuary 28, 2013 between the Registrant and PeteClémen
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of owrr® 10Q filed for the quarter ending March 31, 2013, dilslay 2
2013).

10.30 Stipulation of Settlement dated October 31, 2011Cilass Action Litigation (incorporated by refererto Exhibit 10.1 t
our Form &K filed November 4, 2011

141 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHilil of the Form-K filed on December 10, 2007

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorpordtgdeference to Exhibit 21 to the Form KGer the fiscal year ended Decem
31, 2006 filed on March 15, 200°

*23.1 Consent of BDO USA, LLP, Independent RegisterediPutccounting Firm.

*31.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chiekecutive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 18dbf the Securities Exchar
Act of 1934.

*31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chigihancial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 18dsf the Securities Exchar

Act of 1934,
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description
*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigfhancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section(,3% adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of2002.
*101.INS XBRL Instance Documer
*101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
*101.CAL XBRL Extension Calculation Linkbas
*101.LAB XBRL Extension Label Linkbas
*101.PRE XBRL Extension Presentation Linkba
*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba

*Filed or furnished herewith.

T Management contract or compensatory plan or geraent
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LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (as the same may from time to time be amended,fraddsupplemented or restat
this “ Agreement”) dated as of December 27, 2013 (th&ffective Date”) among OXFORD FINANCE LLC, a Delaware limited liabj
company with an office located at 133 North Fairfatkeet, Alexandria, Virginia 22314 Oxford "), as collateral agent (in such capacity,
Collateral Agent ), the Lenders listed on Schedule hdreof or otherwise a party hereto from time tcetincluding Oxford in its capacity a
Lender (each aLender ” and collectively, the ‘Lenders”), and ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a New York corpdian with offices
located at 616 N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatifimois (* Parent ") and ACURA PHARMACEUTICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC., i
Indiana corporation with offices locates at 1623&t& Road 17, Culver, IN 46511 (“APT&nd individually and collectively, jointly ai
severally, “Borrower "), provides the terms on which the Lenders shall kenBorrower and Borrower shall repay the Lendetse partie
agree as follows:

1. ACCOUNTING AND OTHER TERMS

1.1 Accounting terms not defined in this Agreement khm construed in accordance with GAAP. Calculaticamc
determinations must be made in accordance with GAZdpitalized terms not otherwise defined in thggeement shall have the meaning:
forth in Section 13. All other terms contained hiistAgreement, unless otherwise indicated, shalehthe meaning provided by the Code tc
extent such terms are defined therein. All refeesrto “Dollars ” or “ $ " are United States Dollars, unless otherwise noted

2. LOANS AND TERMS OF PAYMENT

2.1 Promise to PayBorrower hereby unconditionally promises to payhelbender, the outstanding principal amount of &liri
Loans advanced to Borrower by such Lender and adcand unpaid interest thereon and any other ammalug hereunder as and when dt
accordance with this Agreement.

2.2 Term Loan
€) Availability. (i) Subject to the terms and conditions of thgrédement, the Lenders agree, severally and ndtyj¢

to make term loans to Borrower on the EffectiveeDiatan aggregate amount of Ten Million DollarsQRD0,000) according to each Lender’

Term Loan Commitment as set forth on Schedulehkrketo (such term loans are hereinafter referredinigly as a “Term Loan ”, anc
collectively as the Term Loans ). After repayment, no Term Loan may be re-borrdwe

(b) RepaymentBorrower shall make monthly payments of intedy commencing on the first @) Payment Da
following the Funding Date of the Term Loan, anatiauing on the Payment Date of each successivehbereafter through and includ
the Payment Date immediately preceding the AmdritimaDate. Borrower agrees to pay, on the Fundimgedf the Term Loan, any init
partial monthly interest payment otherwise duetlf@r period between the Funding Date of the Ternmlanad the first Payment Date ther
Commencing on the Amortization Date, and continuongthe Payment Date of each month thereafter,0B@r shall make consecutive ec
monthly payments of principal and interest, in arse to each Lender, as calculated by CollateranA@which calculations shall be deer
correct absent manifest error) based upon: (1)atheunt of such Lendex’Term Loan, (2) the effective rate of interest,dasermined i
Section 2.3(a), and (3) a repayment schedule aqu@l) forty-five (45) months if the First Reven&went does not occur, (B) thirthwree (33
months if the First Revenue Event occurs but theoS& Revenue Event does not occur and (C) tweng/{21) months if both the Fi
Revenue Event and the Second Revenue Event ocltumpeid principal and accrued and unpaid intevéti respect to the Term Loan is «
and payable in full on the Maturity Date. The Tdroan may only be prepaid in accordance with Sest(c) and 2.2(d).




(c) Mandatory Prepaymentdf the Term Loans are accelerated following tleewrence of an Event of Defal
Borrower shall immediately pay to Lenders, payableach Lender in accordance with its respectiveBata Share, an amount equal tc
sum of: (i) all outstanding principal of the Ternedns plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon dhrtlue prepayment date, (ii) the Fi
Payment, (iii) the Prepayment Fee, plus (iv) alentObligations that are due and payable, includiegders’Expenses and interest at
Default Rate with respect to any past due amouNswithstanding (but without duplication with) tfieregoing, on the Maturity Date, if t
Final Payment had not previously been paid inifutonnection with the prepayment of the Term Loarfsill, Borrower shall pay to Collate!
Agent, for payment to each Lender in accordanch itstrespective Pro Rata Share, the Final Paymeaespect of the Term Loan(s).

(d) Permitted Prepayment of Term LoaBsrrower shall have the option to prepay all, oit less than all, of the Te
Loans advanced by the Lenders under this Agreementided Borrower (i) provides written notice tolateral Agent of its election to pref
the Term Loans at least thirty (30) days prioruotsprepayment, and (ii) pays to the Lenders ord#te of such prepayment, payable to
Lender in accordance with its respective Pro Réar&s an amount equal to the sum of (A) all outtitam principal of the Term Loans p
accrued and unpaid interest thereon through theagreent date, (B) the Final Payment, (C) the Preyeay Fee, plus (D) all other Obligatic
that are due and payable, including Lenders’ Exgeasd interest at the Default Rate with respeahyopast due amounts.

2.3 Payment of Interest on the Credit Exinsions.

(a) Interest Rat&ubject to Section 2.3(b), the principal amounstartding under the Term Loans shall accrue ini
at a fixed per annum rate (which rate shall bedfifa the duration of the applicable Term Loan)ado the Basic Rate, which interest sha
payable monthly in arrears in accordance with $asti2.2(b) and 2.3(e). Interest shall accrue orh 8g&rm Loan commencing on, ¢
including, the Funding Date of such Term Loan, ahdll accrue on the principal amount outstandindeursuch Term Loan through ¢
including the day on which such Term Loan is paidiil.

(b) Default Ratelmmediately upon the occurrence and during theicoance of an Event of Default, Obligations <
accrue interest at a fixed per annum rate equilegate that is otherwise applicable thereto filkespercentage points (5.00%) (thé®&fault
Rate ). Payment or acceptance of the increased interespravided in this Section 2.3(b) is not a perndiéternative to timely payment ¢
shall not constitute a waiver of any Event of Déiffau otherwise prejudice or limit any rights onredies of Collateral Agent.

(c) 366Day Year. Interest shall be computed on the basis of athumdred sixty (360) day year consisting of tw
(12) months of thirty (30) days.

(d) Debit of Accounts Collateral Agent and each Lender may debit (oHA@ny deposit accounts, maintainec
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, including tBesignated Deposit Account, for principal and iestrpayments or any other amol
Borrower owes the Lenders under the Loan Documehé&n due. Any such debits (or ACH activity) shait oonstitute a set-off.

(e) PaymentsExcept as otherwise expressly provided herelnpalments by Borrower under the Loan Docum
shall be made to the respective Lender to whiclm fuyments are owed, at such Lengl@ffice in immediately available funds on the
specified herein. Unless otherwise provided, irgeie payable monthly on the Payment Date of eaohtim Payments of principal and
interest received after 12:00 noon Eastern timecansidered received at the opening of businesh®next Business Day. When a payme
due on a day that is not a Business Day, the patyimelue the next Business Day and additional éeeésterest, as applicable, shall continu
accrue until paid. All payments to be made by Besohereunder or under any other Loan Documenltydittg payments of principal a
interest, and all fees, expenses, indemnities aimbursements, shall be made withoutafétrecoupment or counterclaim, in lawful mone
the United States and in immediately available fund

2.4 Secured Promissory NoteEhe Term Loans shall be evidenced by a SecurediBsony Note or Notes in the form attac
as _Exhibit Dhereto (each a Secured Promissory Note”), and shall be repayable as set forth in this AgreemBorrower irrevocab
authorizes each Lender to make or cause to be road®, about the Funding Date of any Term Loantdhatime of receipt of any paymen
principal on such Lender’'s Secured Promissory Nateappropriate notation on such Lende3ecured Promissory Note Record reflecting
making of such Term Loan or (as the case may lejdbeipt of such payment. The outstanding amofueach Term Loan set forth on si
Lenders Secured Promissory Note Record shall be prima faddence of the principal amount thereof owing anpaid to such Lender, |
the failure to record, or any error in so recorgiagy such amount on such LendeBecured Promissory Note Record shall not lirr
otherwise affect the obligations of Borrower unday Secured Promissory Note or any other Loan Dectito make payments of principa
or interest on any Secured Promissory Note whendpen receipt of an affidavit of an officer of &mder as to the loss, theft, destructiol
mutilation of its Secured Promissory NqtBorrower shall issue, in lieu thereof, a replacen®scured Promissory Note in the same prin
amount thereof and of like tenor.




2.5 FeeBorrower shall pay to Collateral Agent:

€)) Facility Fee A fully earned, norrefundable facility fee of Fifty Thousand Dollai$50,000) to be shared betw:
the Lenders pursuant to their respective CommitniRarcentages payable, the entire amount of whishalr@ady been paid on or ak
November 15, 201:

(b) Final PaymentThe Final Payment, when due hereunder, to beedhaetween the Lenders in accordance with
respective Pro Rata Shares;

(c) Prepayment Feéelhe Prepayment Fee, when due hereunder, to lvedshatween the Lenders in accordance
their respective Pro Rata Shares; and

(d) LendetsExpenses All Lenders’ Expenses (including reasonable atgs’ fees and expenses for documents
and negotiation of this Agreement) incurred throagt after the Effective Date, when due.

2.6 Withholding. Payments received by the Lenders from Borrower urater will be made free and clear of and witl
deduction for any and all present or future tal@sges, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdiragsessments, fees or other charges impos
any governmental authority (including any interestditions to tax or penalties applicable there®pecifically, however, if at any time &
Governmental Authority, applicable law, regulationinternational agreement requires Borrower to enaky withholding or deduction frc
any such payment or other sum payable hereundietbenders, Borrower hereby covenants and agheg¢she amount due from Borrov
with respect to such payment or other sum payadleumder will be increased to the extent necedsagynsure that, after the making of s
required withholding or deduction, each Lender inex® a net sum equal to the sum which it would haaeeived had no withholding
deduction been required and Borrower shall payfuheamount withheld or deducted to the relevantv&omental Authority. Borrower wi
upon request, furnish the Lenders with proof reabbn satisfactory to the Lenders indicating thatrBaer has made such withhold
payment; provided, however, that Borrower needmake any withholding payment if the amount or uglief such withholding payment
contested in good faith by appropriate and timebcpedings and as to which payment in full is bohdereserved against by Borrower.
agreements and obligations of Borrower containgtii;iSection 2.6 shall survive the terminatiorito$ Agreement.

3. CONDITIONS OF LOANS

3.1 Conditions Precedent to Initial Credi Extension. Each Lendes obligation to make a Term Loan is subject to
condition precedent that Collateral Agent and ehehder shall consent to or shall have receivediorm and substance satisfactory
Collateral Agent and each Lender, such documentscampletion of such other matters, as CollatAgent and each Lender may reason
deem necessary or appropriate, including, withiouitation:

(a) original Loan Documents, each dulyoeted by Borrower and each Subsidiary, as appkcabl
(b) Borrower shall have recorded the Magtg in Marshall County, Indiana providing for fipgiority mortgage lien i

respect of the Mortgaged Premises in favor of @aféd Agent and such other documents which areomesty in commercial mortga
transactions in Indiana, each in form and substaatisfactory to Collateral Agent.




(c) duly executed original Control Agreertewith respect to any Collateral Accounts mairgdiby Borrower or any
its Subsidiaries;

(d) duly executed original Secured ProomngsNotes and Warrants, in number, form and conéaceptable to ea
Lender, and in favor of each Lender accordingsd érm Loan Commitment Percentage;

(e) the certificate(s) for the Sharesetbgr with Assignment(s) Separate from Certificdtdy executed in blank;
® the Operating Documents and good standertificates of Borrower and its Subsidiariestified by the Secretary

State (or equivalent agency) of Borrower's and sS8dbsidiaries’jurisdiction of organization or formation and eaginisdiction in whict
Borrower and each Subsidiary is qualified to condwsiness, each as of a date no earlier thay (8@) days prior to the Effective Date

(9) a completed Perfection Certificate Barrower and each of its Subsidiaries;
(h) the Annual Projections, for the cutremlendar year;
0] duly executed original officer’certificate for Borrower and each Subsidiary that party to the Loan Documents

a form acceptable to Collateral Agent and the Leside

)] certified copies, dated as of dateeawlier than thirty (30) days prior to the EffeetiDate, of financing statemi
searches, as Collateral Agent shall request, acaoimg by written evidence (including any UCC teration statements) that the Li
indicated in any such financing statements eitbastitute Permitted Liens or have been or, in cotioe with the initial Credit Extension, w
be terminated or released;

(k) a landlord’s consent executed in fagbrCollateral Agent in respect of all of Borronerand each Subsidiaries’
leased locations;

)] a bailee waiver executed in favor dll@teral Agent in respect of each third party éailwhere Borrower or a
Subsidiary maintains Collateral having a book vatuexcess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1@000);

(m) a duly executed legal opinion of calrie Borrower dated as of the Effective Date;

(n) evidence satisfactory to CollateraleAgand the Lenders that the insurance policiesined| by Section 6.5 here
are in full force and effect, together with appiaf evidence showing loss payable and/or additimsared clauses or endorsements in f
of Collateral Agent, for the ratable benefit of thenders; and

(0) payment of the fees and Lenders’ Espsrihen due as specified in Section 2.5 hereof.

3.2 Conditions Precedent to all Credit Bensions.The obligation of each Lender to make each Crexti¢ision, including tt
initial Credit Extension, is subject to the follawgi conditions precedent:

€) receipt by Collateral Agent of an axted Disbursement Letter in the form_of ExhibiaBached hereto;

(b) the representations and warranti€Saation 5 hereof shall be true, accurate and cdmpieall material respects
the date of the Disbursement Letter and on the iRgndate of each Credit Extension; provided, howetlgat such materiality qualifier sh
not be applicable to any representations and wiesathat already are qualified or modified by mialéy in the textthereof; and provide
further that those representations and warranipeessly referring to a specific date shall be taezurate and complete in all material resy
as of such date, and no Event of Default shall feirred and be continuing or result from the @rEdtension. Each Credit Extensior
Borrower’s representation and warranty on that date thakegmwesentations and warranties in Section 5 heneofrue, accurate and complet
all material respects; provided, however, that suelteriality qualifier shall not be applicable toyaepresentations and warranties that alr
are qualified or modified by materiality in the tekereof; and provided, further that those repregeons and warranties expressly referring
specific date shall be true, accurate and compiedé material respects as of such date;




(c) in such Lendes’sole discretion, there has not been any MatAdskrse Change or any material adverse devi
by Borrower from the Annual Projections of Borroveesented to and accepted by Collateral Agenteaxt Lender;

(d) to the extent not delivered at theeEfive Date, duly executed original Secured Proonjsdlotes and Warrants,
number, form and content acceptable to each Leaderjn favor of each Lender according to its Cotnmant Percentage, with respect to ¢
Credit Extension made by such Lender after thediffe Date; and

(e) payment of the fees and Lenders’ Egpsithen due as specified in Section 2.5 hereof.

3.3 Covenant to DeliverBorrower agrees to deliver to Collateral Agent dmel Lenders each item required to be deliver
Collateral Agent under this Agreement as a condifjoecedent to any Credit Extension. Borrower esglyeagrees that a Credit Exten:
made prior to the receipt by Collateral Agent oy &mnder of any such item shall not constitute a®mby Collateral Agent or any Lender
Borrower’s obligation to deliver such item, and @uch Credit Extension in the absence of a requiieed shall be made in each Lendesole
discretion.

3.4 Procedures for BorrowingSubject to the prior satisfaction of all other apgible conditions to the making of a Term L
set forth in this Agreement, to obtain a Term LoBorrower shall notify the Lenders (which noticeabtbe irrevocable) by electronic mi
facsimile, or telephone by 12:00 noon Eastern tihmee (3) Business Days prior to the date the Tleman is to be made. Together with
such electronic, facsimile or telephonic notificati Borrower shall deliver to the Lenders by elagit mail or facsimile a complet
Disbursement Letter executed by a Responsible &ffic his or her designee. The Lenders may relgrgntelephone notice given by a pel
whom a Lender reasonably believes is a Respon€ifileer or designee. On the Funding Date, each kersthall credit and/or transfer
applicable) to the Designated Deposit Account,raount equal to its Term Loan Commitment.

4, CREATION OF SECURITY INTEREST

4.1 Grant of Security InterestBorrower hereby grants Collateral Agent, for thialée benefit of the Lenders, to secure
payment and performance in full of all of the Obligns, a continuing security interest in, and gixito Collateral Agent, for the rats
benefit of the Lenders, the Collateral, whereverated, whether now owned or hereafter acquiredrising, and all proceeds and prodi
thereof. Borrower represents, warrants, and covsrtiat the security interest granted herein is stmall at all times continue to be a 1
priority perfected security interest in the Coltale subject only to Permitted Liens that are pé&ediby the terms of this Agreement to
priority to Collateral Agens Lien. If Borrower shall acquire a commercial tddim (as defined in the Code), Borrower, shadirpptly notify
Collateral Agent in a writing signed by Borrowes, the case may be, of the general details theeguaf further details as may be requiret
Collateral Agent) and grant to Collateral Agent; tbe ratable benefit of the Lenders, in such wgita security interest therein and in
proceeds thereof, all upon the terms of this Agessmwith such writing to be in form and substaressonably satisfactory to Collateral Ag

If this Agreement is terminated, Collateral Agsentiien in the Collateral shall continue until théli@ations (other than incho:
indemnity obligations) are repaid in full in caglpon payment in full in cash of the Obligationsh@tthan inchoate indemnity obligations)
at such time as the Lendemsbligation to make Credit Extensions has terminat@dllateral Agent shall, at the sole cost and ezpeo
Borrower, release its Liens in the Collateral alhdights therein shall revert to Borrower.




4.2 Authorization to File Financing Statments. Borrower hereby authorizes Collateral Agent to filancing statements
take any other action required to perfect CollatAgent’s security interests in the Collateral, withoutic®to Borrower, with all appropric
jurisdictions to perfect or protect Collateral At's interest or rights under the Loan Documentsytiolg a notice that any disposition of
Collateral, except to the extent permitted by #rens of this Agreement, by Borrower, or any othersBn, shall be deemed to violate the ri
of Collateral Agent under the Code.

4.3 Pledge of CollateraBorrower hereby pledges, assigns and grants t@teadll Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lest
a security interest in all the Shares, togethehwit proceeds and substitutions thereof, all castck and other moneys and property
thereon, all rights to subscribe for securitieslal®t or granted in connection therewith, and #fleo cash and noncash proceeds o
foregoing, as security for the performance of th#digations. On the Effective Date, or, to the exteat certificated as of the Effective Dz
within ten (10) days of the certification of anya&bs, the certificate or certificates for the Skangll be delivered to Collateral Age
accompanied by an instrument of assignment dulgwegre in blank by Borrower. To the extent requibgdhe terms and conditions goverr
the Shares, Borrower shall cause the books of eatity whose Shares are part of the Collateralamdtransfer agent to reflect the pledg
the Shares. Upon the occurrence and during thencamice of an Event of Default hereunder, CollatAgent may effect the transfer of ¢
securities included in the Collateral (includingt lmot limited to the Shares) into the name of Gelial Agent and cause new (as applice
certificates representing such securities to beeidsn the name of Collateral Agent or its trarsferBorrower will execute and deliver s
documents, and take or cause to be taken sucmscts Collateral Agent may reasonably requestetegt or continue the perfection
Collateral Agents security interest in the Shares. Unless an EafeDefault shall have occurred and be continuingrr®wer shall be entitled
exercise any voting rights with respect to the 8sand to give consents, waivers and ratificatiomespect thereof, provided that no vote ¢
be cast or consent, waiver or ratification giveraction taken which would be inconsistent with afiyhe terms of this Agreement or wh
would constitute or create any violation of anysath terms. All such rights to vote and give cotsemaivers and ratifications shall termir
upon the occurrence and continuance of an Eveletdult.

5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Borrower represents and warrants to Collateral Aged the Lenders as follows:

5.1 Due Organization, Authorization: Poweand Authority. Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries is duly éxistand ir
good standing as a Registered Organization imitsdictions of organization or formation and Bavey and each of its Subsidiaries is quali
and licensed to do business and is in good standirany jurisdiction in which the conduct of its diesses or its ownership of prop
requires that it be qualified except where theufailto do so could not reasonably be expectedue haMaterial Adverse Change. In connec
with this Agreement, Borrower and each of its Sdiasies has delivered to Collateral Agent a congalgierfection certificate signed by
officer of Borrower or such Subsidiary (each Réerfection Certificate ” and collectively, the ‘Perfection Certificates”). Borrower represen
and warrants that (a) Borrower and each of its lidfes’ exact legal name is that which is indicated orrétpective Perfection Certific:
and on the signature page of each Loan Documaenmhith it is a party; (b) Borrower and each of itgSidiaries is an organization of the t
and is organized in the jurisdiction set forth tsmrespective Perfection Certificate; (c) each &gidn Certificate accurately sets forth eac
Borrower’s and its Subsidiariesrganizational identification number or accuratsigtes that Borrower or such Subsidiary has nafjesdcl
Perfection Certificate accurately sets forth Boreo'w and each of its Subsidiarigdace of business, or, if more than one, its chiefcutiv
office as well as Borrower’s and each of its Sulasids’ mailing address (if different than its chief exeeetoffice); (e) Borrower and each
its Subsidiaries (and each of its respective prestrs) have not, in the past five (5) years, obénits jurisdiction of organizatic
organizational structure or type, or any organarel number assigned by its jurisdiction; and lfpther information set forth on the Perfect
Certificates pertaining to Borrower and each ofSitdsidiaries, is accurate and complete (it beirdptstood and agreed that Borrower and
of its Subsidiaries may from time to time updateaia information in the Perfection Certificateadiuding the information set forth in clai
(d) above) after the Effective Date to the exteatnmtted by one or more specific provisions in tAigreement); such updated Perfec
Certificates subject to the review and approvaCoflateral Agent. If Borrower or any of its Subsides is not now a Registered Organize
but later becomes one, Borrower shall notify Celat Agent of such occurrence and provide Collhté&gent with such Persos’
organizational identification number within five)([Business Days of receiving such organizationahiification number.




The execution, delivery and performance by Borroamd each of its Subsidiaries of the Loan Documtmtshich it is a party ha
been duly authorized, and do not (i) conflict withy of Borrower’s or such Subsidiarie®’ganizational documents, including its respet
Operating Documents, (ii) contravene, conflict witlonstitute a default under or violate any matdRiequirement of Law applicable there
(iii) contravene, conflict or violate any applicabbrder, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, deteation or award of any Governmer
Authority by which Borrower or such Subsidiary,amy of their property or assets may be bound @ctdfl, (iv) require any action by, filir
registration, or qualification with, or Governmenégpproval from, any Governmental Authority (exceqaich Governmental Approvals wh
have already been obtained and are in full forckedfect) or are being obtained pursuant to Sediafb), or (v) constitute an event of def
under any material agreement by which Borrowemyr@f such Subsidiaries, or their respective prigris bound. Neither Borrower nor i
of its Subsidiaries is in default under any agresn@ which it is a party or by which it or any it assets is bound in which such default ¢
reasonably be expected to have a Material Advehssn@e.

5.2 Collateral.

(a) Borrower and each its Subsidiariesehguod title to, have rights in, and the powerrams$fer each item of t
Collateral upon which it purports to grant a Liemdaer the Loan Documents, free and clear of anyadindiens except Permitted Liens, ¢
neither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries hawny ®eposit Accounts, Securities Accounts, Commoditycounts or other investme
accounts other than the Collateral Accounts ordtier investment accounts, if any, described in Peefection Certificates delivered
Collateral Agent in connection herewith with respetwhich Borrower or such Subsidiary has giverl&@eral Agent notice and taken si
actions as are necessary to give Collateral Aggdrtected security interest therein. The Accowmés bona fide, existing obligations of
Account Debtors.

(b) On the Effective Date, and exceptiasldsed on the Perfection Certificate (i) the &wfal is not in the possess
of any third party bailee (such as a warehouse) (@ndo such third party bailee possesses compsnehthe Collateral in excess of C
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00). None ofcttraponents of the Collateral shall be maintaineld@ations other than as disclose
the Perfection Certificates on the Effective Datea® permitted pursuant to Section 6.11.

(c) All Inventory is in all material resgte of good and marketable quality, free from matalefects.

(d) Borrower and each of its Subsidiaigethe sole owner of the Intellectual Property eadpectively purports to ow
free and clear of all Liens other than Permitteehisi Except as noted on the Perfection Certificaeisher Borrower nor any of its Subsidia
is a party to, nor is bound by, any material li@ens other material agreement with respect to wBiatrower or such Subsidiary is the licer
that (i) prohibits or otherwise restricts Borrowaerits Subsidiaries from granting a security ingerie Borrower’s or such Subsidiaridateres
in such material license or material agreementnyr @her property, or (ii) for which a default umda termination of could interfere w
Collateral Agent’s or any Lendartight to sell any Collateral. Borrower shall pideswritten notice to Collateral Agent and each demwithir
ten (10) days of Borrower or any of its Subsidisrentering into or becoming bound by any licenseagneement with respect to wh
Borrower or any Subsidiary is the licensee (othantover-the-counter software that is commerciigilable to the public).

5.3 Litigation. Except as disclosed (i) on the Perfection Certiéisaor (ii) in accordance with Section 6.9 her¢loére are n
actions, suits, investigations, or proceedings pendr, to the knowledge of the Responsible Officghreatened in writing by or agai
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries involving mdinhan One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00).

5.4 No Material Deterioration in Financid Condition; Financial Statements. All consolidated financial statements
Borrower and its Subsidiaries, delivered to Colalté\gent fairly present, in conformity with GAAR) all material respects the consolid:
financial condition of Borrower and its Subsidiari@nd the consolidated results of operations af@eer and its Subsidiaries. There has
been any material deterioration in the consolid&teghcial condition of Borrower and its Subsiderisince the date of the most recent fina
statements submitted to any Lender.




5.5 SolvencyBorrower and each of its Subsidiaries is Solvent.

5.6 Regulatory ComplianceNeither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is ‘anvestment company’or a compan
“controlled” by an “investment companyhder the Investment Company Act of 1940, as antkerideither Borrower nor any of its Subsidia
is engaged as one of its important activities iteeding credit for margin stock (under Regulatighd and U of the Federal Reserve Boar
Governors). Borrower and each of its Subsidiarias tomplied in all material respects with the Fed€air Labor Standards Act. Neitl
Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is a “holdic@mpany” or an “affiliate” of a “holding company't @ “subsidiary company” of ahbldinc
company”as each term is defined and used in the PubligtyJtlolding Company Act of 2005. Neither Borrowesrrany of its Subsidiaries
violated any laws, ordinances or rules, the violatof which could reasonably be expected to hawaterial Adverse Change. Neitl
Borrower’'s nor any of its Subsidiaries’ propertmsassets has been used by Borrower or such Salsioli, to Borrowes knowledge, t
previous Persons, in disposing, producing, stortregting, or transporting any hazardous substaticer than in material compliance w
applicable laws. Borrower and each of its Subsigsaihas obtained all consents, approvals and az#tions of, made all declarations or filii
with, and given all notices to, all Governmentaltiarities that are necessary to continue theiraethpe businesses as currently conducted.

None of Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries, or afhyorrower’s or its Subsidiarieg(ffiliates, or any of their respective agents agtm
benefiting in any capacity in connection with thansactions contemplated by this Agreement im(iiolation of any AntiTerrorism Law
(ii) engaging in or conspiring to engage in anygaction that evades or avoids, or has the pumgioseading or avoiding or attempts to viol:
any of the prohibitions set forth in any Afterrorism Law, or (iii) is a Blocked Person. NoneBorrower, any of its Subsidiaries, or to
knowledge of Borrower and any of their Affiliates agents, acting or benefiting in any capacity onrection with the transactic
contemplated by this Agreement, (x) conducts arsirmss or engages in making or receiving any dumutidn of funds, goods or services t
for the benefit of any Blocked Person, or (y) dealsor otherwise engages in any transaction raatb, any property or interest in propt
blocked pursuant to Executive Order No. 13224, simyjlar executive order or other Anti-Terrorism Law

5.7 InvestmentsNeither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries owmy atock, shares, partnership interests or otheity
securities except for Permitted Investments.

5.8 Tax Returns and Payments; Pension Ciibutions. Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries has timéédfall required ts
returns and reports, and Borrower and each ofutssiiaries, has timely paid all foreign, fedesdfte, and local taxes, assessments, de
and contributions owed by Borrower and such Subgih, in all jurisdictions in which Borrower oryasuch Subsidiary is subject to ta
including the United States, unless such taxesbaing contested in accordance with the followingteece. Borrower and each of
Subsidiaries, may defer payment of any contesteelstgrovided that Borrower or such Subsidiary ir{aood faith contests its obligation
pay the taxes by appropriate proceedings prompity diligently instituted and conducted, (b) nosfi€ollateral Agent in writing of tt
commencement of, and any material developmenthim,proceedings, and (c) posts bonds or takes dmwyr steps required to prevent
Governmental Authority levying such contested takem obtaining a Lien upon any of the Collatefsttis other than aPermitted Lien .”
Neither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is eavaf any claims or adjustments proposed for anBafowe’s or such Subsidiariesfyrior
tax years which could result in additional taxes dh aggregate amount exceeding $25,000) becomiagadd payable by Borrower or
Subsidiaries. Borrower and each of its Subsidiani@ge paid all amounts necessary to fund all ptegension, profit sharing and defer
compensation plans in accordance with their teand, neither Borrower nor any of its Subsidiariegehavithdrawn from participation in, a
have not permitted partial or complete terminatinor permitted the occurrence of any other ewdtit respect to, any such plan which cc
reasonably be expected to result in any liabilifyBorrower or its Subsidiaries, including any liétlyi to the Pension Benefit Guara
Corporation or its successors or any other Goventah@uthority.

5.9 Use of ProceedBorrower shall use the proceeds of the Credit Eitars solely as working capital and to fund itsegel
business requirements in accordance with the pomgof this Agreement, and not for personal, fgibusehold or agricultural purposes.




5.10 SharesBorrower has full power and authority to createrst fien on the Shares and no disability or carttral obligatiol
exists that would prohibit Borrower from pledgitgetShares pursuant to this Agreement. To Borr@narbwledge, there are no subscripti
warrants, rights of first refusal or other restdos on transfer relative to, or options exercisabith respect to the Shares. The Shares have
and will be duly authorized and validly issued, ane fully paid and non-assessable. To Borrosvienowledge, the Shares are not the subije
any present or threatened suit, action, arbitratamministrative or other proceeding, and Borrokeows of no reasonable grounds for
institution of any such proceedings.

511 Full DisclosureNo written representation, warranty or other staeimof Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in
certificate or written statement given to Collatesgent or any Lender, as of the date such reptaten, warranty, or other statement
made, taken together with all such written cenriféics and written statements given to CollateralrAge any Lender, contains any uni
statement of a material fact or omits to state dera fact necessary to make the statements cwdan the certificates or statements
misleading (it being recognized that the projectiamd forecasts provided by Borrower in good faitkd based upon reasonable assumg
are not viewed as facts and that actual resultsngluhe period or periods covered by such projestiand forecasts may differ from
projected or forecasted results).

5.12 Definition of* Knowledge.” For purposes of the Loan Documents, whenever aeseptation or warranty is made
Borrower’s knowledge or awareness, to the “bestBaffrower’s knowledge, or with a similar qualification, kn@ee or awareness means
actual knowledge, after reasonable investigatibthe Responsible Officers.

6. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Borrower shall, and shall cause each of its Suasé&s to, do all of the following:
6.1 Government Compliance.

(a) Maintain its and all its Subsidiariésjal existence and good standing in their respegtirisdictions of organizatic
and maintain qualification in each jurisdiction which the failure to so qualify could reasonably dogected to have a Material Adve
Change. Comply with all laws, ordinances and regaia to which Borrower or any of its Subsidiariesubject, the noncompliance with wk
could reasonably be expected to have a Materiabfgi/Change.

(b) Obtain and keep in full force and effall of the material Governmental Approvals resegy for the performance
Borrower and its Subsidiaries of their respectiusibesses and obligations under the Loan Docunsrishe grant of a security interes
Collateral Agent for the ratable benefit of the Hers, in all of the Collateral. Borrower shall prothg provide copies to Collateral Agent of :
material Governmental Approvals obtained by Bornowe any of its Subsidiaries; provided, howevegttlf such Governmental Appro
necessarily includes a filing with a Governmentaithfority of an Investigational New Drug Applicatian New Drug Application (or simil:
filing with the U.S. Food and Drug Administratiom foreign equivalent), Borrower shall provide Codlaal Agent with written notice with
five (5) days after such filing and promptly makeaiable to Collateral Agent electronically a coplysuch New Drug Application (or simil
filing with the U.S. Food and Drug Administrationforeign equivalent) upon Collateral Agent’s resjue

6.2 Financial Statements, Reports, Ceritfates.
€) Deliver to each Lender:
0] as soon as available, but no latentfarty five (45) days after the last day of ea@lendar month,

company prepared consolidated and consolidatirgnioal sheet, income statement and cash flow statemegring the consolidated operati
of Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such monthified by a Responsible Officer and in a form reesuy acceptable to Collateral Agent;




(i) as soon as available, but no latentbae hundred twenty (120) days after the lastafaorrower’s fisca
year or within five (5) days of filing with the SEGudited consolidated financial statements prepareder GAAP, consistently appli
together with an unqualified opinion on the finai@tatements from an independent certified pudaticounting firm acceptable to Collate
Agent in its reasonable discretipn

(iii) as soon as available after approvelréiof by Borrowess Board of Directors, but not less than annuallg
no later than ten (10) days after approval thebgdBorrower’s Board of Directors, Borrowsrannual financial projections for the entire cot
fiscal year as approved by Borrower’'s Board of Bioes, which such annual financial projections kbalset forth in a month-byonth forma
(such annual financial projections as originallyivdered to Collateral Agent and the Lenders aremef to herein as theAnnual Projections
": provided that, any revisions of the Annual Patjens approved by Borrowexr'Board of Directors shall be delivered to Collat&gent an
the Lenders no later than seven (7) days after apphoval);

(iv) within five (5) days of delivery, coeof all statements, reports and notices made ablailto Borrowes
security holders or holders of Subordinated Debt;

(v) in the event that Borrower becomes acibjo the reporting requirements under the Seesriixchange A
of 1934, as amended, within five (5) days of filimdl reports on Form 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K filed witie Securities and Exchange Commissior

(vi) prompt notice of any amendments of teo changes to the capitalization table of Bormoaed to th
Operating Documents of Borrower or any of its Sdiasies, together with any copies reflecting suatieadments or changes with res)
thereto;

(vii) prompt notice of (A) any material chantn the composition of the Intellectual Prope(B) the registratio
in the United States of any copyright, including aubsequent ownership right of Borrower or anyt®fSubsidiaries in or to any copyric
patent or trademark, including a copy of any suwegistration, and (C) any event that could reasgnbélexpected to materially and adver
affect the value of the Intellectual Property;

(viii)  as soon as available, but no later tttairty (30) days after the last day of each mostipies of the month-
end account statements for each Collateral Accowmntained by Borrower or its Subsidiaries, whitdtements may be provided to Collat
Agent and each Lender by Borrower or directly fribra applicable institution(s), and

(ix) other information as reasonably redqedsy Collateral Agent or any Lender.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, documents requieté delivered pursuant to the terms hereof (tcetttent any such documents are inclt
in materials otherwise filed with the SEC) may Iedivaered electronically and if so delivered, shedldeemed to have been delivered on the
on which Borrower posts such documents, or provédisk thereto, on Borrower’s website on the intdrat Borrower’s website address.

(b) Concurrently with the delivery of tlimancial statements specified in Section 6.2(aljipve but no later than thi
(30) days after the last day of each month, deliverach Lender, a duly completed Compliance Geat# signed by a Responsible Officer.

(c) Keep proper books of record and actaumccordance with GAAP in all material respeatsyhich full, true an
correct entries shall be made of all dealings aastctions in relation to its business and a@witBorrower shall, and shall cause each
Subsidiaries to, allow, at the sole cost of Bormgv@ollateral Agent or any Lender, during regulasibess hours upon reasonable prior n
(provided that no notice shall be required whercgent of Default has occurred and is continuing)visit and inspect any of its properties
examine and make abstracts or copies from anys dfdbks and records, and to conduct a collatedit and analysis of its operations and
Collateral. Such audits shall be conducted no rofien than twice every year unless (and more fretiyé) an Event of Default has occuri
and is continuing.
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6.3 Inventory; Returns.Keep all Inventory in good and marketable conditiomee from material defects. Returns
allowances between Borrower, or any of its Subsiea and their respective Account Debtors shdlbfo Borrower’s, or such Subsidiary/
customary practices. Borrower must promptly noGfyllateral Agent and the Lenders of all returnspxeries, disputes and claims that invi
more than One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,00n@idvidually or more than $250,000 in the aggtega any calendar year.

6.4 Taxes; Pension3imely file and require each of its Subsidiariegitoely file, all required tax returns and repaatsd timel
pay, and require each of its Subsidiaries to tinfitdy all foreign, federal, state, and local taxassessments, deposits and contributions ow
Borrower or its Subsidiaries, except for deferraegiment of any taxes contested pursuant to the tefr8gction 5.8 hereof, and shall delive
Lenders, promptly on demand, appropriate certéisattesting to such payments, and pay all ammetsssary to fund all present pens
profit sharing and deferred compensation plansaoalance with the terms of such plans.

6.5 InsuranceKeep Borrower’s and its Subsidiaridsisiness and the Collateral insured for risks andniounts standard -
companies in Borrower’s and its Subsidiari@slustry and location and as Collateral Agent negsonably request. Insurance policies shi
in a form, with companies, and in amounts thatraesonably satisfactory to Collateral Agent anddeza. All property policies shall hav
lenders loss payable endorsement showing Collateral Agsnlender loss payee and waive subrogation ag@iokkateral Agent, and
liability policies (other than Directors and O#is Insurance, Fiduciary Liability, Employment Riees Liability, Workers Compensation ¢
Automobile insurance) shall show, or have endoesgmshowing, Collateral Agent, as additional iesurThe Collateral Agent shall be nat
as lender loss payee and/or additional insured weiipect to any such insurance providing coveragespect of any Collateral, and e
provider or responsible broker of any such insueasicall agree, by endorsement upon the policy ticips issued by it or by independ
instruments furnished to the Collateral Agent, tihawill give the Collateral Agent thirty (30) dayd0 days for nompayment) prior writte
notice before any such policy or policies are ctettand in the case of the aforementioned liabjiicies if policy limits are reduced. Len
will receive a certificate and applicable endorseta®f any renewal of any such liability policy.t Bollateral Agens request, Borrower sh
deliver certified copies of policies and evidentalbpremium payments. Proceeds payable undepahgy shall, at Collateral Agergt'option
be payable to Collateral Agent, for the ratabledfi¢iof the Lenders, on account of the Obligatiohtwithstanding the foregoing, (a) so I
as no Event of Default has occurred and is comgpuBorrower shall have the option of applying pneceeds of any casualpplicy up to On
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00) with respeeany loss, but not exceeding Two Hundred Fittydsand Dollars ($250,000.00), in
aggregate for all losses under all casualty pdigieany one year, toward the replacement or realestroyed or damaged property; prov
that any such replaced or repaired property (i)l d§& of equal or like value as the replaced oranegm Collateral and (ii) shall be deer
Collateral in which Collateral Agent has been gedra first priority security interest, and (b) aflee occurrence and during the continuant
an Event of Default, all proceeds payable undeh siasualty policy shall, at the option of Collatekgent, be payable to Collateral Agent,
the ratable benefit of the Lenders, on accounhef@bligations. If Borrower or any of its Subsiika fails to obtain insurance as requ
under this Section 6.5 or to pay any amount origtrany required proof of payment to third persdaljlateral Agent and/or any Lender r
make, at Borrowes expense, all or part of such payment or obtath snsurance policies required in this Section &t take any action unc
the policies Collateral Agent or such Lender deprusient.

6.6 Operating Accounts.

(a) Subject to the provisions of subsexfi) below, maintain all of Borrower’s and its Sidharies’Collateral Account
with one or more banking institutions in accoutiattare subject to Control Agreement(s) in favo€oflateral Agent.

(b) Borrower shall provide Collateral Agdive (5) days’prior written notice before Borrower or any of 8sibsidiarie
establishes any Collateral Account at or with amysBn other than with a bank or financial instd@ntiwith which one or more Cont
Agreement(s) in favor of Collateral Agent that aatisfactory to Collateral Agent are then in pl@téeing understood Bank of America is
such a bank). In addition, for each Collateral Aguothat Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, ay dime maintains, Borrower or st
Subsidiary shall cause the applicable bank or firmnstitution at or with which such Collaterat@ount is maintained to execute and deli
Control Agreement or other appropriate instrumeitih wespect to such Collateral Account to perfecliaeral Agents Lien in such Collater
Account in accordance with the terms hereunden pgadhe establishment of such Collateral Accowttich Control Agreement may not
terminated without prior written consent of CollaleAgent. The provisions of the previous sentesbell not apply to deposit accou
exclusively used for payroll, payroll taxes andestlemployee wage and benefit payments to or forbdreefit of Borrowers, or any of it
Subsidiaries’, employees and identified to Collaltérgent by Borrower as such in the Perfection ifeates.
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(c) Neither Borrower nor any of its Suliaites shall maintain any Collateral Accounts exc€pllateral Account
maintained in accordance with Sections 6.6(a) ahd (

(d) Notwithstanding the provisions of settsons (a) - (c) above,

(@ Borrower may continue to maintain @Gtdral Accounts with Charles Schwab (that are ifledtin the
Perfection Certificate delivered to the Collatefglent) for a period of up to ninety (90) days frohe Effective Date, by the end of wh
period, Borrower must either deliver evidence dadscre of all such Collateral Accounts to the Cellat Agent in form and substal
satisfactory to the Collateral Agent or the CollateAgent must have entered into Control Agreens®ni(ith respect to such Collate
Accounts with Borrower and Charles Schwab in ford aubstance satisfactory to the Collateral Agent.

(i) Borrower must, within ninety (90) dafi®om the Effective Date, (A) deliver evidence ¢dsure of all suc
Collateral Accounts maintained by Borrower at BarikAmerica (that are identified in the Perfectioertficate delivered to the Collate
Agent), and (B) establish Collateral Account(sidbank or financial institution which Collateral @aunt(s) shall be subject to one or n
Control Agreement(s) between the Borrower, Colltéxgent and such bank or financial institutionform and substance satisfactor
Collateral Agent.

(iii) Prior to the fulfillment of Borrowes covenants set forth in Section 6.6(d)(ii) ababe, aggregate ca
balance (which shall not be deemed to include thleevof any securities but shall include “cash egleints”) in the Collateral Accoun
maintained at Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smiititorporated (that are subject to Control Agreetfs@rin favor of the Collateral Agel
shall at all times be not less than the aggregatauat of the Term Loans made under this Agreement.

6.7 Protection of Intellectual Property Rghts. Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries shall: (& asmmercially reasonal
efforts to protect, defend and maintain the vafidind enforceability of its Intellectual Propertyat is material to Borrowes’ busines:
(b) promptly advise Collateral Agent in writing afaterial infringement by a third party of its Idésltual Property; and (c) not allow ¢
Intellectual Property material to Borrower’'s busisdo be abandoned, forfeited or dedicated to th®igwithout Collateral Agens$ priol
written consent.

6.8 Litigation CooperationCommencing on the Effective Date and continuingulgh the termination of this Agreement, m
available to Collateral Agent and the Lenders, aithexpense to Collateral Agent or the Lendersy@®eer and each of Borrower'officers
employees and agents and BorroweBooks, to the extent that Collateral Agent or &epder may reasonably deem them necessi
prosecute or defend any thipdwty suit or proceeding instituted by or againetl&eral Agent or any Lender with respect to argll&eral o
relating to Borrower.

6.9 Notices of Litigation and DefaultBorrower will give prompt written notice to Collaté Agent and the Lenders of ¢
litigation or governmental proceedings pendinghoeatened (in writing) against Borrower or anytefSubsidiaries, which could reasonabl
expected to result in damages or costs to Borrawvany of its Subsidiaries of Two Hundred Fifty Tisand Dollars ($250,000.00) or mort
which could reasonably be expected to have a MdtAdverse Change. Without limiting or contradigtiany other more specific provision
this Agreement, promptly (and in any event withinee (3) Business Days) upon Borrower becoming ewéathe existence of any Even
Default or event which, with the giving of notice massage of time, or both, would constitute annEwé Default, Borrower shall give writt
notice to Collateral Agent and the Lenders of sooturrence, which such notice shall include a nealsly detailed description of such Ever
Default or event which, with the giving of noticemmassage of time, or both, would constitute anmEwé Default.

6.10 Intentionally Omitted.

6.11 Landlord Waivers; Bailee Waiversln the event that Borrower or any of its Subsidigyiafter the Effective Date, intend
add any new offices or business locations, inclgdirarehouses, or otherwise store any portion ofCtbikateral with, or deliver any portion
the Collateral to, a bailee, in each case pursiea8ection 7.2, then Borrower or such Subsidiayfiest provide thirty (30) daysprior writter
notice to Collateral Agent and, in the event tihat €ollateral at any new location is valued in escef One Hundred Thousand ($100,00(
in the aggregate, such bailee or landlord, as egqigk, must execute and deliver a bailee waivéaratiord waiver, as applicable, in form :
substance reasonably satisfactory to Collaterahfpgeor to the addition of any new offices or lmess locations, or any such storage wi
delivery to any such bailee, as the case may be.
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6.12 Creation/Acquisition of Subsidiariesln the event Borrower, or any of its Subsidiariesates or acquires any Subsidi
Borrower shall provide prior written notice to Gailtral Agent and each Lender of the creation ouiaitpn of such new Subsidiary and t
all such action as may be reasonably required tateoal Agent or any Lender to cause each suchsiBiany to become a cBerrowel
hereunder or to guarantee the Obligations of Bogrounder the Loan Documents and, in each caset graantinuing pledge and secu
interest in and to the assets of such Subsidianystantially as described on Exhibith¥ereto); and Borrower (or its Subsidiary, as agie’
shall grant and pledge to Collateral Agent, forridiable benefit of the Lenders, a perfected sscimierest in the stock, units or other evide
of ownership of each such newly created Subsidiary.

6.13 Further Assurances.

€) Execute any further instruments aria thurther action as Collateral Agent or any Lendsasonably requests
perfect or continue Collateral Agent’s Lien in fBellateral or to effect the purposes of this Agream

(b) Deliver to Collateral Agent and Lenslawithin five (5) days after the same are senmeoeived, copies of all matel
correspondence, reports, documents and other dilmigh any Governmental Authority that could reesdy be expected to have a mate
adverse effect on any of the Governmental Approwaddgerial to Borrowes business or otherwise could reasonably be expéotbave
Material Adverse Change; provided, however, thauifh filing with a Governmental Authority is arvérstigational New Drug Application
New Drug Application (or similar filing with the 3. Food and Drug Administration or foreign equivd)eBorrower shall provide Collate
Agent with written notice within five (5) days afteuch filing and promptly make available to Cadlal Agent electronically a copy of st
New Drug Application (or similar filing with the 8. Food and Drug Administration or foreign equivdjaipon Collateral Age’s request.

7. NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any of $isbsidiaries to, do any of the following withohetprior written consent of t
Required Lenders:

7.1 DispositionsConvey, sell, lease, transfer, assign, or otherdispose of (collectively, Transfer ), or permit any of it
Subsidiaries to Transfer, all or any part of itsibess or property (excluding any equity securitésParent or instruments or securi
convertible into equity securities of Parent, sagl@s such securities are not debt securities@iwhg as transfer, assignment, conveyance
or other disposition thereof is not used to effecherger or consolidation in violation of the piwns of Section 7.3 or other provisions of
Agreement), except for Transfers (a) of Inventamythie ordinary course of business; (b) of worn outobsolete Equipment; and (c)
connection with Permitted Liens, Permitted Invesita@and Permitted Licenses.
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7.2 Changes in Business, Management, Owstap, or Business Locations(a) Engage in or permit any of its Subsidiarie
engage in any business other than the businesgageshin by Borrower as of the Effective Date @sanably related thereto; (b) liquidate
dissolve; or (c) (i) any Key Person shall ceaskeactively engaged in the management of Borrowkyss written notice thereof is provider
Collateral Agent within 5 days of such change, iDrefiter into any transaction or series of relatieshsactions in which the stockholder:
Borrower who were not stockholders immediately ptithe first such transaction own more than faitye percent (49%) of the voting st
of Borrower immediately after giving effect to sutthnsaction or related series of such transacfiother than by the sale of Borrowgequity
securities in a public offering, a private placemehpublic equity or to venture capital investsis long as Borrower identifies to Collate
Agent the venture capital investors prior to thestig of the transaction). Borrower shall not, with at least thirty (30) daygrior writter
notice to Collateral Agent: (A) add any new offiaasbusiness locations, including warehouses (srsesh new offices or business locat
contain less than One Hundred Thousand DollarsQ®00.00) in assets or property of Borrower or ahyts Subsidiaries); (B) change
jurisdiction of organization, (C) change its orgaational structure or type, (D) change its legaheaor (E) change any organizational nur
(if any) assigned by its jurisdiction of organizati

7.3 Mergers or AcquisitionsMerge or consolidate, or permit any of its Subsid&to merge or consolidate, with any o
Person, or acquire, or permit any of its Subsiditd acquire, all or substantially all of the talgtock, shares or property of another Pers:
Subsidiary may merge or consolidate into anothé&sBliary (provided such surviving Subsidiary isca-Borrower”hereunder or has provic
a secured Guaranty of BorrowgObligations hereunder) or with (or into) Borrovpeovided Borrower is the surviving legal entitpdaas lon
as no Event of Default is occurring prior theretoaoises as a result therefrom. Without limiting fteregoing, Borrower shall not, withe
Collateral Agents prior written consent, enter into any binding ttactual arrangement with any Person to attempgadditate a merger 1
acquisition of Borrower, unless (i) no Event of Byl exists when such agreement is entered inB®doyower, and (ii) such agreement does
give such Person the right to claim any fees, paymer damages from Borrower in excess of Two HeddFifty Thousand Dolla
($250,000), and (iii) Borrower notifies Collateragent in advance of entering into such an agreement

7.4 IndebtednessCreate, incur, assume, or be liable for any Indéi#ss, or permit any Subsidiary to do so, othen
Permitted Indebtedness.

7.5 EncumbranceCreate, incur, allow, or suffer any Lien on anyitsf property, or assign or convey any right to ree
income, including the sale of any Accounts, or peemy of its Subsidiaries to do so, except fomfiged Liens, or permit any Collateral no
be subject to the first priority security intergsanted herein (except for Permitted Liens thatpemenitted by the terms of this Agreemer
have priority over Collateral Agerst'Lien), or enter into any agreement, documentgungent or other arrangement (except with or irofam
Collateral Agent, for the ratable benefit of thenters) with any Person which directly or indiregbisohibits or has the effect of prohibit
Borrower, or any of its Subsidiaries, from assignimortgaging, pledging, granting a security intéri@ or upon, or encumbering any
Borrower’s or such Subsidiary’s Intellectual Prdpeexcept as is otherwise permitted in Sectionhéfeof and the definition of Permitted
Liens” herein.

7.6 Maintenance of Collateral Accountdvaintain any Collateral Account except pursuartheterms of Section 6.6 hereof.

7.7 Distributions; Investments(a) Pay any dividends (other than dividends payablelyin capital stock or dividends paya
to Parent from APT) or make any distribution or @yt in respect of or redeem, retire or purchasecapital stock (other than repurche
pursuant to the terms of employee stock purchamespemployee restricted stock agreements, stadd&hdghts plans, director or consuli
stock option plans, or restricted stock unit plansimilar plans, provided such repurchases d@roted, in the aggregate, One Million Dol
($1 million) for the fiscal year 2014 and Three Idwved Fifty Thousand Dollars ($350,000) for any otfiecal year during the term of tl
Agreement), or (b) directly or indirectly make dnyestment other than Permitted Investments, anfiemy of its Subsidiaries to do so.

7.8 Transactions with AffiliatesDirectly or indirectly enter into or permit to ek&ny material transaction with any Affiliate
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except fortapsactions that are in the ordinary course ofd@wer’s or such Subsidiary’business, upt
fair and reasonable terms that are no less favetatBorrower or such Subsidiary than would be iokthin an arns length transaction witt
non-affiliated Person, (b) Subordinated Debt oritygmvestments by Borrowes’investors in Borrower or its Subsidiaries andtfe) Voting
Agreement.

14




7.9 Subordinated Debt(a) Make or permit any payment on any Subordin8teldt, except under the terms of the subordine
intercreditor, or other similar agreement to whétith Subordinated Debt is subject, or (b) amendpaoyision in any document relating to
Subordinated Debt which would increase the amdarebf or adversely affect the subordination thet@@bligations owed to the Lenders.

7.10 ComplianceBecome an “investment company” or a company cdetlddy an “investment companyinder the Investme
Company Act of 1940, as amended, or undertake @®bits important activities extending credit targhase or carry margin stock (as def
in Regulation U of the Board of Governors of thel€ml Reserve System), or use the proceeds of eegitExtension for that purpose; fail
meet the minimum funding requirements of ERISAmmiea Reportable Event or Prohibited Transactiendafined in ERISA, to occur; fail
comply with the Federal Fair Labor Standards Actiofate any other law or regulation, if the vidtat could reasonably be expected to he
Material Adverse Change, or permit any of its Sdiasies to do so; withdraw or permit any Subsidi@ryithdraw from participation in, perr
partial or complete termination of, or permit thecarrence of any other event with respect to, aegent pension, profit sharing and defe
compensation plan which could reasonably be exgdoteesult in any liability of Borrower or any @$ Subsidiaries, including any liability
the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or itxeasors or any other Governmental Authority.

7.11 Compliance with Anti-Terrorism Laws. Collateral Agent hereby notifies Borrower and eaxfhits Subsidiaries th
pursuant to the requirements of Anti-Terrorism Laarsd Collateral Agend’ policies and practices, Collateral Agent is regpito obtain, verif
and record certain information and documentatiat ttientifies Borrower and each of its Subsidiaged their principals, which informati
includes the name and address of Borrower and &aith Subsidiaries and their principals and sutttepinformation that will allow Collater
Agent to identify such party in accordance with iARérrorism Laws. Neither Borrower nor any of its Sidliaries shall, nor shall Borrower
any of its Subsidiaries permit any Affiliate torelitly or indirectly, knowingly enter into any dauents, instruments, agreements or cont
with any Person listed on the OFAC Lists. Borrowad each of its Subsidiaries shall immediatelyfpdiiollateral Agent if Borrower or su
Subsidiary has knowledge that Borrower, or any Biidny or Affiliate of Borrower, is listed on the KAC Lists or (a) is convicted c
(b) pleadsolo contenderéo, (c) is indicted on, or (d) is arraigned anddheVer on charges involving money laundering odjm&e crimes 1
money laundering. Neither Borrower nor any of itdSidiaries shall, nor shall Borrower or any of $sbsidiaries, permit any Affiliate -
directly or indirectly, (i) conduct any businesseargage in any transaction or dealing with any BdgcPerson, including, without limitatic
the making or receiving of any contribution of fendjoods or services to or for the benefit of atgckBed Person, (ii) deal in, or otherw
engage in any transaction relating to, any propertynterests in property blocked pursuant to ExgeuOrder No. 13224 or any simi
executive order or other Anfierrorism Law, or (iii) engage in or conspire t@age in any transaction that evades or avoidsasitlie purpo:
of evading or avoiding, or attempts to violate, afyhe prohibitions set forth in Executive Ordes.N.3224 or other Anti-Terrorism Law.

8. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Any one of the following shall constitute an evehtlefault (an “Event of Default”) under this Agreement:

8.1 Payment DefaultBorrower fails to (a) make any payment of principainterest on any Credit Extension on its due dal
(b) pay any other Obligations within three (3) Busis Days after such Obligations are due and payaililich three (3) Business Day gr
period shall not apply to payments due on the Migtubate or the date of acceleration pursuant totiSe 9.1 (a) hereof). During the ci
period, the failure to cure the payment defauttdsan Event of Default (but no Credit Extensiofi i made during the cure period);

8.2 Covenant Default.
€) Borrower or any of its Subsidiariedsfar neglects to perform any obligation in Seati®.2 (Financial Statemer
Reports, Certificates), 6.4 (Taxes), 6.5 (Insurgn6es (Operating Accounts), 6.7 (Protection ofelleictual Property Rights), 6.9 (Notice

Litigation and Default), 6.11 (Landlord Waivers;ilga Waivers), 6.12 (Creation/Acquisition of Subaites) or 6.13 (Further Assurances
Borrower violates any covenant in Section 7; or
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(b) Borrower, or any of its Subsidiaridails or neglects to perform, keep, or observe ather term, provisiol
condition, covenant or agreement contained inAlgigeement or any Loan Documents, and as to anytdfiher than those specified in 1
Section 8) under such other term, provision, camalitcovenant or agreement that can be cured, dilesl fto cure the default within ten (.
days after the occurrence thereof; provided, howehat if the default cannot by its nature be dundthin the ten (10) day period or can
after diligent attempts by Borrower be cured witkirch ten (10) day period, and such default idylike be cured within a reasonable time, 1
Borrower shall have an additional period (whichllshat in any case exceed thirty (30) days) torafieto cure such default, and within s
reasonable time period the failure to cure the wefhall not be deemed an Event of Default (butOnedit Extensions shall be made du
such cure period). Grace periods provided undsrSkiction shall not apply, among other thingsjrtarfcial covenants or any other coven
set forth in subsection (a) above;

8.3 Material Adverse ChangeA Material Adverse Change occurs;
8.4 Attachment; Levy; Restraint on Busings.
(a) (i) The service of process seekingatimch, by trustee or similar process, any fund8afrower or any of il

Subsidiaries or of any entity under control of Baver or its Subsidiaries on deposit with any Leruleany Lendes Affiliate or any bank ¢
other institution at which Borrower or any of itat&idiaries maintains a Collateral Account, ordiinotice of lien, levy, or assessment is
against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries orrthespective assets by any government agency hansbime under subclauses (i) and (ii) he
are not, within ten (10) days after the occurrethegeof, discharged or stayed (whether throughptisting of a bond or otherwise); provid
however, no Credit Extensions shall be made duaimgten (10) day cure period; and

(b) (i) any material portion of Borrowerds any of its Subsidiariesissets is attached, seized, levied on, or come
possession of a trustee or receiver, or (ii) anyrtcorder enjoins, restrains, or prevents Borroareany of its Subsidiaries from conducting
part of its business;

8.5 Insolvency(a) Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is or beesrimsolvent; (b) Borrower or any of its Subsidiarbegins ¢
Insolvency Proceeding; or (c) an Insolvency Prooeeds begun against Borrower or any of its Sulasids and not dismissed or stayed wi
forty-five (45) days (but no Credit Extensions shall badm while Borrower or any Subsidiary is Insolvent/ar until any Insolvenc
Proceeding is dismissed);

8.6 Other AgreementsThere is a default in any agreement to which Boewar any of its Subsidiaries is a party with ad
party or parties resulting in a right by such thiafty or parties, whether or not exercised, teelrate the maturity of any Indebtedness i
amount in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dolld8Q®00.00) or that could reasonably be expectbdte a Material Adverse Change;

8.7 JudgmentsOne or more judgments, orders, or decrees for thenpnt of money in an amount, individually or ire
aggregate, of at least Two Hundred Fifty Thousaontabs ($250,000.00) (not covered by independeindgbarty insurance as to which liabil
has been accepted by such insurance carrier) Bbatbndered against Borrower or any of its Subsaiaand shall remain unsatisfi
unvacated, or unstayed for a period of ten (10)sdafyer the entry thereof (provided that no Crétitensions will be made prior to 1
satisfaction, vacation, or stay of such judgmerdeoor decree), including but not limited to anggment, order, decree, or arbitration av
relating to any litigation, arbitration, or otheispute disclosed by Borrower to Collateral Ageribpto the Effective Date and set forth on
Perfection Certificate delivered as of the Effeethate;

8.8 MisrepresentationsBorrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any Persciing for Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries me
any representation, warranty, or other statemem owolater in this Agreement, any Loan Documentroany writing delivered to Collatel
Agent and/or Lenders or to induce Collateral Ageemd/or the Lenders to enter this Agreement or amgnLDocument, and such representa
warranty, or other statement is incorrect in anyemal respect when made;
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8.9 Subordinated DebtA default or breach occurs under any agreementdmiviBorrower or any of its Subsidiaries and
creditor of Borrower or any of its Subsidiariesttianed a subordination, intercreditor, or otherilsr agreement with Collateral Agent or
Lenders, or any creditor that has signed such ezeatent with Collateral Agent or the Lenders breadmy terms of such agreement;

8.10 MortgageAn event of default occurs under the Mortgage;

8.11 Governmental ApprovalsAny Governmental Approval shall have been revokedcinded, suspended, modified ir
adverse manner, or not renewed in the ordinaryseofar a full termand such revocation, rescission, suspension, modifinatr nonrenewa
has resulted in or could reasonably be expecteestdt in a Material Adverse Change;

8.12 Lien Priority . Any Lien created hereunder or by any other LoacuPnent shall at any time fail to constitute a dialnc
perfected Lien on any of the Collateral purportedb¢ secured thereby, subject to no prior or ehjigal, other than Permitted Liens which
permitted to have priority in accordance with taents of this Agreement; or

9. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES
9.1 Rights and Remedies.
€)) Upon the occurrence and during thetinaance of an Event of Default, Collateral Agersynand at the writte

direction of Required Lenders shaljthout notice or demand, do any or all of the daling: (i) deliver notice of the Event of Defauti
Borrower, (ii) by notice to Borrower declare all i@fations immediately due and payable (but if arelitvof Default described in Section
occurs all Obligations shall be immediately due pagable without any action by Collateral Agentlar Lenders) or (iii) by notice to Borrov
suspend or terminate the obligations, if any, ef tlenders to advance money or extend credit fordeer's benefit under this Agreement
under any other agreement between Borrower anda@odll Agent and/or the Lenders (but if an EvenDefault described in Section !
occurs all obligations, if any, of the Lenders ttvance money or extend credit for Borroveebenefit under this Agreement or under any «
agreement between Borrower and Collateral Agentoautde Lenders shall be immediately terminatedhauit any action by Collateral Agent
the Lenders).

(b) Without limiting the rights of Collatd Agent and the Lenders set forth in Section&.abpove, upon the occurre
and during the continuance of an Event of Defdldt)ateral Agent shall have the right at the writtérection of the Required Lendenwithout
notice or demand, to do any or all of the following

0] foreclose upon and/or sell or othemnigiuidate, the Collateral;

(i) apply to the Obligations any (a) bates and deposits of Borrower that Collateral Agerany Lender holc
or controls, or (b) any amount held or controllgdGwllateral Agent or any Lender owing to or foe ttredit or the account of Borrower; and/or

(iii) commence and prosecute an Insolvenmyc@eding or consent to Borrower commencing anplescy
Proceeding.

(c) Without limiting the rights of Collatd Agent and the Lenders set forth in Sectiongad.and (b) above, upon 1

occurrence and during the continuance of an Eviebetault, Collateral Agent shall have the righitheut notice or demand, to do any or a
the following:
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@ settle or adjust disputes and clainmeadly with Account Debtors for amounts on ternmgl @n any order th
Collateral Agent considers advisable, notify anysBe owing Borrower money of Collateral Agensecurity interest in such funds, and ve
the amount of such account;

(i) make any payments and do any act®iis@ers necessary or reasonable to protect tHat&mwll and/or il
security interest in the Collateral. Borrower stedksemble the Collateral if Collateral Agent re¢aiesd make it available in a locatior
Collateral Agent reasonably designates. Collateg@nt may enter premises where the Collateraldatkd, take and maintain possession o
part of the Collateral, and pay, purchase, contestompromise any Lien which appears to be pnicuperior to its security interest and pa
expenses incurred. Borrower grants Collateral Agetitense to enter and occupy any of its premigdéthout charge, to exercise any
Collateral Agent's rights or remedies;

(iii) ship, reclaim, recover, store, finishaintain, repair, prepare for sale, and/or adseffior sale, the Collater
Collateral Agent is hereby granted a non-exclusreyalty-free license or other right to use, withaharge, Borrowes and each of i
Subsidiaries’labels, patents, copyrights, mask works, rightaigé of any name, trade secrets, trade names, taakienservice marks, a
advertising matter, or any similar property asdttpins to the Collateral, in completing productiafp advertising for sale, and selling
Collateral and, in connection with Collateral Agsrexercise of its rights under this Section 9.@rBwer’s and each of its Subsidiariegjhts
under all licenses and all franchise agreementgitauCollateral Agent, for the benefit of the Lers}

(iv) place a “holdon any account maintained with Collateral Agenttar Lenders and/or deliver a notice
exclusive control, any entittement order, or ottigections or instructions pursuant to any Cong&gteement or similar agreements provic
control of any Collateral;

(v) demand and receive possession of BaraBooks;

(vi) appoint a receiver to seize, manage r@adize any of the Collateral, and such receivalshave any rigl
and authority as any competent court will granawthorize in accordance with any applicable lawluding any power or authority to man:
the business of Borrower or any of its Subsidiarkes

(vii) subject to clauses 9.1(a) and (b), eiser all rights and remedies available to Colldté&wgent and eac
Lender under the Loan Documents or at law or equigiuding all remedies provided under the Codel(iding disposal of the Collate
pursuant to the terms thereof).

Notwithstanding any provision of this Section Qlthe contrary, upon the occurrence of any Evereafhult, Collateral Agent shall have
right to exercise any and all remedies referenndtlis Section 9.1 without the written consent efjRired Lenders following the occurrenc
an Exigent Circumstance. As used in the immedigtedgeding sentence Exigent Circumstance” means any event or circumstance the
the reasonable judgment of Collateral Agent, immilyethreatens the ability of Collateral Agent ®alize upon all or any material portior
the Collateral, such as, without limitation, fraleht removal, concealment, or abscondment thedssftruction or material waste thereot
failure of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries afteasonable demand to maintain or reinstate adegasualty insurance coverage, or whic
the judgment of Collateral Agent, could reasondigyexpected to result in a material diminutionafue of the Collateral.

9.2 Power of AttorneyBorrower hereby irrevocably appoints Collateral Agas its lawful attorney-ifiact, exercisable up:
the occurrence and during the continuance of amtveDefault, to: (a) endorse Borrower’s or anyitefSubsidiarieshame on any checks
other forms of payment or security; (b) sign Boreols or any of its Subsidiariesiame on any invoice or bill of lading for any Accboi
drafts against Account Debtors; (c) settle and stdjisputes and claims about the Accounts diresifly Account Debtors, for amounts and
terms Collateral Agent determines reasonable; @Rensettle, and adjust all claims under Borrogv@msurance policies; (e) pay, contes
settle any Lien, charge, encumbrance, securitydsteand adverse claim in or to the Collateralamy judgment based thereon, or other
take any action to terminate or discharge the same(f) transfer the Collateral into the name ofi&eral Agent or a third party as the Cod
any applicable law permits. Borrower hereby appoi@bllateral Agent as its lawful attorney-in-fact sign Borrowers or any of it
Subsidiaries’ name on any documents necessaryrfecp@r continue the perfection of Collateral Agensecurity interest in the Collate
regardless of whether an Event of Default has @eduuntil all Obligations (other than inchoate indety obligations) have been satisfiec
full and Collateral Agent and the Lenders are urmefurther obligation to make Credit Extensionseliader. Collateral Agerst’foregoin
appointment as Borrower’s or any of its Subsid&ratorney in fact, and all of Collateral Agentights and powers, coupled with an inte
are irrevocable until all Obligations (other thachoate indemnity obligations) have been fully ié@ad performed and Collateral Agenént
the Lenders’ obligation to provide Credit Extensidarminates.
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9.3 Protective Paymentdf Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries fail to olstahe insurance called for by Section 6.5 or f&b
pay any premium thereon or fails to pay any otlmeowant which Borrower or any of its Subsidiarieslidigated to pay under this Agreemer
any other Loan Document, Collateral Agent may abgaich insurance or make such payment, and all aimeo paid by Collateral Agent
Lenders’Expenses and immediately due and payable, beartegest at the Default Rate, and secured by thiat@al. Collateral Agent w
make reasonable efforts to provide Borrower witkiagoof Collateral Agent obtaining such insurancenaking such payment at the time
obtained or paid or within a reasonable time thideeaNo such payments by Collateral Agent are dmbran agreement to make sin
payments in the future or Collateral Agent’s waigéany Event of Default.

9.4 Application of Payments and Proceedslotwithstanding anything to the contrary contairedhis Agreement, upon t
occurrence and during the continuance of an Evebiefault, (&) Borrower irrevocably waives the righ direct the application of any and
payments at any time or times thereafter receiye@dilateral Agent from or on behalf of Borroweramy of its Subsidiaries of all or any f
of the Obligations, and, as between Borrower onatie hand and Collateral Agent and Lenders on theroCollateral Agent shall have
continuing and exclusive right to apply and to m@g@ny and all payments received against the @btigs in such manner as Collateral A
may deem advisable notwithstanding any previous$iagon by Collateral Agent, and (b) the proceeflany sale of, or other realization uj
all or any part of the Collateral shall be appliéidst, to the LendersExpenses; second, to accrued and unpaid interefteo®bligation
(including any interest which, but for the provissoof the United States Bankruptcy Code, would Feoerued on such amounts); third, to
principal amount of the Obligations outstandinggl &ourth, to any other indebtedness or obligatiohBorrower owing to Collateral Agent
any Lender under the Loan Documents. Any balancairing shall be delivered to Borrower or to whaeway be lawfully entitled to recei
such balance or as a court of competent jurisdictiay direct. In carrying out the foregoing, (x) @amts received shall be applied in
numerical order provided until exhausted priorhte &pplication to the next succeeding category,(@hdach of the Persons entitled to rec
a payment in any particular category shall recaweamount equal to its pro rata share of amourdBadle to be applied pursuant theretc
such category. Any reference in this Agreementtaléocation between or sharing by the Lendersngfright, interest or obligation “ratably,”
“proportionally” or in similar terms shall refer to Pro Rata Shamkess expressly provided otherwise. Collateral Agenif applicable, eac
Lender, shall promptly remit to the other Lendasstssums as may be necessary to ensure the radpialgment of each Lendsrportion o
any Term Loan and the ratable distribution of iestr fees and reimbursements paid or made by BerrdMotwithstanding the foregoing
Lender receiving a scheduled payment shall noebpansible for determining whether the other Lendéso received their scheduled payr
on such date; provided, however, if it is lateredetined that a Lender received more than its ratabare of scheduled payments made ol
date or dates, then such Lender shall remit toaGathl Agent or other Lenders such sums as magbessary to ensure the ratable payme
such scheduled payments, as instructed by Colladgient. If any payment or distribution of any kind character, whether in cash, prope
or securities, shall be received by a Lender iresgmf its ratable share, then the portion of umyment or distribution in excess of s
Lenders ratable share shall be received by such Lendegugt for and shall be promptly paid over to thkeeo Lender for application to t
payments of amounts due on the other Lenddaims. To the extent any payment for the accofif@arrower is required to be returned ¢
voidable transfer or otherwise, the Lenders staltigbute to one another as is necessary to ertkatesuch return of payment is on a pro
basis. If any Lender shall obtain possession of@oNateral, it shall hold such Collateral for ifsend as agent and bailee for Collateral A
and other Lenders for purposes of perfecting GalidtAgent’s security interest therein.
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9.5 Liability for Collateral. So long as Collateral Agent and the Lenders comyith reasonable and customary ban!
practices regarding the safekeeping of the Colatarthe possession or under the control of CelldtAgent and the Lenders, Collateral Ag
and the Lenders shall not be liable or respondire(a) the safekeeping of the Collateral; (b) dogs or damage to the Collateral; (c)
diminution in the value of the Collateral; or (d)yaact or default of any carrier, warehousemargbabr other Person. Except to the exte
any loss, damage or destruction of the Collateaabed by Collateral Agent’s or the Lenddeslure to comply with reasonable and custon
banking practices regarding the safekeeping ofCibkateral in the possession or control of the &elal Agent or the Lenders, as applice
Borrower bears all risk of loss, damage or deswaaf the Collateral.

9.6 No Waiver; Remedies Cumulativei-ailure by Collateral Agent or any Lender, at amyet or times, to require str
performance by Borrower of any provision of thisrégment or any other Loan Document shall not waaffect, or diminish any right
Collateral Agent or any Lender thereafter to demsainitt performance and compliance herewith ordivith. No waiver hereunder shall
effective unless signed by Collateral Agent andRiequired Lenders and then is only effective fer$pecific instance and purpose for whit
is given. The rights and remedies of Collateral Wtgand the Lenders under this Agreement and therdtban Documents are cumulat
Collateral Agent and the Lenders have all right$ @medies provided under the Code, any applidableby law, or in equity. The exercise
Collateral Agent or any Lender of one right or reljmés not an election, and Collateral Agent’s oy denders waiver of any Event of Defa
is not a continuing waiver. Collateral Agent’s aiyd_ender’s delay in exercising any remedy is naia@ver, election, or acquiescence.

9.7 Demand WaiverBorrower waives, to the fullest extent permittedléaw, demand, notice of default or dishonor, noti
payment and nonpayment, notice of any default, apment at maturity, release, compromise, settlemexténsion, or renewal of accou
documents, instruments, chattel paper, and guasihigd by Collateral Agent or any Lender on wtcirower or any Subsidiary is liable.

10. NOTICES

All notices, consents, requests, approvals, demasrdsther communication (collectively, Communication ”) by any party to th
Agreement or any other Loan Document must be itingriand shall be deemed to have been validly serywen, or delivered: (a) upon
earlier of actual receipt and three (3) Businesgsldter deposit in the U.S. mall, first class,istared or certified mail return receipt reques
with proper postage prepaid; (b) upon transmissidren sent by facsimile transmission; (c) one (a}iBess Day after deposit with a reput
overnight courier with all charges prepaid; or\idien delivered, if handelivered by messenger, all of which shall be askird to the party
be notified and sent to the address, facsimile rarmér email address indicated below. Any of Cellat Agent, Lender or Borrower rr
change its mailing address or facsimile numberilsing the other party written notice thereof in agtance with the terms of this Section 10.

If to Borrower: ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
616 N. North Court, Suite 12
Palatine, lllinois
Attn: Peter A. Clemen
Fax: (847) 70-5399
Email: pclemens@acurapharm.cc

ACURA PHARMACEUTICAL
TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

c/o Acura Pharmaceuticals, Ir
616 N. North Court, Suite 12
Palatine, lllinois

Attn: Peter A. Clemen

Fax: (847) 70-5399

Email: pclemens@acurapharm.cc
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with a copy (which shall not LeClairRyan
constitute notice) tc
One Riverfront Plaz
1037 Raymond Bouleval
Sixteenth Floo
Newark, New Jersey 071(
Attn: John P. Reilly
Fax: (973) 49-3511
Email: John.Reilly@leclairryan.cor

If to Collateral Agent OXFORD FINANCE LLC
133 North Fairfax Stree
Alexandria, Virginia 2231:
Attention: Legal Departmel
Fax: (703) 51-5225
Email: LegalDepartment@ oxfordfinance.ci

with a copy (which shall not Greenberg Traurig, LLP
constitute notice) tc
One International Plac
Boston, MA 0211(
Attn: Jonathan Bell, Est
Fax: (617) 31-6001
Email: bellj@gtlaw.com

11. CHOICE OF LAW, VENUE AND JURY TRIAL WAIVER

New York law governs the Loan Documents withoutareigto principles of conflicts of law. Borrower, haers and Collateral Agent e:
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Stateld&ederal courts in the City of New York, BoroughManhattan. NOTWITHSTANDIN(
THE FOREGOING, COLLATERAL AGENT AND THE LENDERS SHA HAVE THE RIGHT TO BRING ANY ACTION OF
PROCEEDING AGAINST BORROWER OR ITS PROPERTY IN THEOURTS OF ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHIC
COLLATERAL AGENT AND THE LENDERS (IN ACCORDANCE WIH THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 9.1) DEEM NECESSARY
APPROPRIATE TO REALIZE ON THE COLLATERAL OR TO OTHEWISE ENFORCE COLLATERAL AGENTS AND THE
LENDERS' RIGHTS AGAINST BORROWER OR ITS PROPERTY. Borrowempesssly submits and consents in advance to suidictior
in any action or suit commenced in any such camt] Borrower hereby waives any objection that iyyrhave based upon lack of persc
jurisdiction, improper venue, or forum non convesieand hereby consents to the granting of sucH mgaquitable relief as is deen
appropriate by such court. Borrower hereby waivasgnal service of the summons, complaints, aner gtfocess issued in such action or
and agrees that service of such summons, complaimisother process may be made by registeredtifiezemail addressed to Borrower at
address set forth in, or subsequently provided byrd@®ver in accordance with, Section 10 of this Amgnent and that service so made she
deemed completed upon the earlier to occur of Beers actual receipt thereof or three (3) days aftgrodi in the U.S. mails, first cla
registered or certified mail return receipt reqadsproper postage prepaid.

TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, BORROWER, COLLATERAL AGENT, AND THE LENDERS
EACH WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR BASED
UPON THIS AGREEMENT, THE LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY CONT EMPLATED TRANSACTION, INCLUDING CONTRACT,
TORT, BREACH OF DUTY AND ALL OTHER CLAIMS. THIS WAI VER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR EACH PARTY
TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY HAS REVIEW ED THIS WAIVER WITH ITS COUNSEL.
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12. GENERAL PROVISIONS

12.1 Successors and Assigisis Agreement binds and is for the benefit of shecessors and permitted assigns of each
Borrower may not transfer, pledge or assign thise&gent or any rights or obligations under it with@ollateral Agent’'s and each Lender’
prior written consent (which may be granted or Wil in Collateral Agent’'s and each Lendediscretion, subject to Section 12.6).
Lenders have the right, without the consent of @ice to Borrower, to sell, transfer, assign, pkdgegotiate, or grant participation (@ny
such sale, transfer, assignment, negotiatimngrant of a participation, ‘@ender Transfer”) all or any part of, or any interest in, the Lender:
obligations, rights, and benefits under this Agreatrand the other Loan Documemispvided, however, that any such Lender Transfer (o
than a transfer, pledge, sale or assignment toligiblé Assignee) of its obligations, rights, andnefits under this Agreement and the c
Loan Documents shall require the prior written @mf the Required Lenders (such approved assigme®Approved Lender ") . Borrowel
and Collateral Agent shall be entitled to continoi@eal solely and directly with such Lender in mwection with the interests so assigned
Collateral Agent shall have received and accepteeffective assignment agreement in form satisfgdtw Collateral Agent executed, delive
and fully completed by the applicable parties theerand shall have received such other informatiegarding such Eligible Assignee
Approved Lender as Collateral Agent reasonablyl seglire. Notwithstanding anything to the contrapntained herein, so long as no Evel
Default has occurred and is continuing, no Lendan3fer (other than a Lender Transfer (i) in respéthe Warrants or (ii) in connection w
(x) assignments by a Lender due to a forced divestat the request of any regulatory agency; puppn the occurrence of a default, evel
default or similar occurrence with respect to aden's own financing or securitization transactiosbgll be permitted, without Borrower’
consent, to any Person which is an Affiliate or Sdiary of Borrower, a direct competitor of Borrawer a vulture hedge fund, each
determined by Collateral Agent.

12.2 Indemnification.Borrower agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Qetll Agent and the Lenders and their respe
directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneysiny other Person affiliated with or represent@glateral Agent or the Lenders (each, an
Indemnified Person”) harmless against: (a) all obligations, demaraigims, and liabilities (collectively, Claims ") asserted by any ott
party in connection with; related to; following; arising from, out of or under, the transactionstemplated by the Loan Documents;
(b) all losses or Lender&xpenses incurred, or paid by Indemnified Persotoimection with; related to; following; or arisifigm, out of o
under, the transactions contemplated by the Loatubents between Collateral Agent, and/or the Lendad Borrower (including reasone
attorneys’ fees and expenses), except for ClaintBoariosses directly caused by such Indemnifiedsé¥es gross negligence or willi
misconduct. Borrower hereby further indemnifiesfedes and holds each Indemnified Person harmless émd against any and all liabiliti
obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actiodgnjents, suits, claims, costs, expenses and disients of any kind or nature whatso
(including the fees and disbursements of counselsteh Indemnified Person) in connection with anyestigative, response, remec
administrative or judicial matter or proceeding,etifer or not such Indemnified Person shall be deségl a party thereto and including
such proceeding initiated by or on behalf of Boreoyand the reasonable expenses of investigati@ngineers, environmental consultants
similar technical personnel and any commissionofeeompensation claimed by any broker (other tmanbroker retained by Collateral Ag
or Lenders) asserting any right to payment fortthasactions contemplated hereby which may be iegha®, incurred by or asserted ag:
such Indemnified Person as a result of or in cotimeaevith the transactions contemplated herebytherdise or intended use of the procee
the loan proceeds except for liabilities, obligaip losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgmeunits, claims, costs, expenses
disbursements directly caused by such Indemnifeaddh’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.

12.3 Time of Essenc@&ime is of the essence for the performance of bligations in this Agreement.

12.4 Severability of ProvisionsEach provision of this Agreement is severable frewery other provision in determining
enforceability of any provision.

125 Correction of Loan DocumentsCollateral Agent and the Lenders may correct pagerdgrs and fill in any blanks in tl
Agreement and the other Loan Documents consistightthhe agreement of the parties
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12.6 Amendments in Writing; Integration. (@) No amendment, modification, termination or vesiwf any provision of th
Agreement or any other Loan Document, no approvatamsent thereunder, or any consent to any depalty Borrower or any of i
Subsidiaries therefrom, shall in any event be éffecunless the same shall be in writing and sigbhgdorrower, Collateral Agent and -
Required Lenders provided that:

() no such amendment, waiver or other ification that would have the effect of increasiogreducing
Lender’'s Term Loan Commitment or Commitment Per@gatshall be effective as to such Lender withoahdiender’s written consent;

(i) no such amendment, waiver or modificatthat would affect the rights and duties of @tdral Agent she
be effective without Collateral Agent’s written @@mt or signature;

(iii) no such amendment, waiver or other ifiodtion shall, unless signed by all the Lenderedaily affecte:
thereby, (A) reduce the principal of, rate of ieron or any fees with respect to any Term Loafor@ive any principal, interest (other tt
default interest) or fees (other than late chargasl) respect to any Term Loan (B) postpone thes dited for, or waive, any payment
principal of any Term Loan or of interest on anyrid_oan (other than default interest) or any feessigled for hereunder (other than
charges or for any termination of any commitme(@); change the definition of the ternrRequired Lenders” or the percentage of Lend
which shall be required for the Lenders to take attjon hereunder; (D) release all or substant&lllpf any material portion of the Collate
authorize Borrower to sell or otherwise disposelbbr substantially all or any material portiontbe Collateral or release any Guarantor ¢
or any portion of the Obligations or its guaranbjigations with respect thereto, except, in eadeasith respect to this clause (D), as other
may be expressly permitted under this Agreementherother Loan Documents (including in connectioithvany disposition permitte
hereunder); (E) amend, waive or otherwise modifg ®ection 12.6 or the definitions of the termsduse this Section 12.6 insofar as
definitions affect the substance of this Sectior618F) consent to the assignment, delegation leeraransfer by Borrower of any of its rig
and obligations under any Loan Document or rel@seower of its payment obligations under any L&xcument, except, in each case
respect to this clause (F), pursuant to a mergeroosolidation permitted pursuant to this Agreemé€@) amend any of the provisions
Section 9.4 or amend any of the definitions of Reda Share, Term Loan Commitment, Commitment P&geror that provide for the Lend
to receive their Pro Rata Shares of any fees, patansetoffs or proceeds of Collateral hereundér;stibordinate the Liens granted in favc
Collateral Agent securing the Obligations; or (f)end any of the provisions of Section 12.10. Ihé&eby understood and agreed ths
Lenders shall be deemed directly affected by amament, waiver or other modification of the typechkibed in the preceding clauses (C),
(E), (F), (G) and (H) of the preceding sentence;

(iv) the provisions of the foregoing claug@s (ii) and (iii) are subject to the provisiomd any interlender «
agency agreement among the Lenders and CollatgettApursuant to which any Lender may agree to iggveonsent in connection with ¢
amendment, waiver or modification of the Loan Doeuis only in the event of the unanimous agreemfesit benders.

(b) Other than as expressly provided foSection 12.6(a)(ifiii), Collateral Agent may, if requested by thedreec
Lenders, from time to time designate covenanthimAgreement less restrictive by notification teepresentative of Borrower.

(c) This Agreement and the Loan Documeegpisesent the entire agreement about this subjettemand supersede pi
negotiations or agreements. All prior agreementslesstandings, representations, warranties, andtiaéigns between the parties about
subject matter of this Agreement and the Loan Danutsimerge into this Agreement and the Loan Doctsnen

12.7 Counterparts.This Agreement may be executed in any number ohtesparts and by different parties on sepi
counterparts, each of which, when executed andeateli, is an original, and all taken together, tiarte one Agreement.

12.8 Survival All covenants, representations and warranties niadlis Agreement continue in full force and effexttil this
Agreement has terminated pursuant to its termsa#ir@bligations (other than inchoate indemnity ghtions and any other obligations wh
by their terms, are to survive the termination o tAgreement) have been satisfied. The obligatibBorrower in Section 12.2 to indemn
each Lender and Collateral Agent, as well as thdidentiality provisions in Section 12.9 below, Bhaurvive until the statute of limitatio
with respect to such claim or cause of action dtebe run.
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12.9 Confidentiality.In handling any confidential information of Borroky¢he Lenders and Collateral Agent shall exertie
same degree of care that it exercises for their proprietary information, but disclosure of infortiom may be made: (a) subject to the te
and conditions of this Agreement, to the Lendersl £ollateral Agent's Subsidiaries or Affiliates; im connection with a Lendes’owr
financing or securitization transactions and ugandccurrence of a default, event of default oilamoccurrence with respect to such finan
or securitization transaction; (b) to prospectiransferees (other than those identified in (a) epbav purchasers of any interest in the C
Extensions (provided, however, the Lenders anda@otl Agent shall, except upon the occurrencedamihg the continuance of an Even
Default, obtain such prospective transferee’s aclpasers agreement to the terms of this provision or mailar confidentiality terms at least
protective as this Section 12.9); (c) as requingdbly, regulation, subpoena, or other order, upgasonable prior written notice to Borrowe
providing such notice is practicable and legallgsible; (d) to Lenders’ or Collateral Agemtegulators or as otherwise required in conne
with an examination or audit; (e) as Collateral Aigeeasonably considers appropriate in exercisimgedies under the Loan Documents;
(f) to third party service providers of the Lendarsd/or Collateral Agent so long as such serviawvigers have executed a confidentic
agreement with the Lenders and Collateral Agertt watms at least as protective as those contaiaeslrh Confidential information does
include information that either: (i) is in the pidbtlomain or in the Lenders’ and/or Collateral Agerpossession when disclosed to the Let
and/or Collateral Agent, or becomes part of thelipulbmain after disclosure to the Lenders and/olla@eral Agent; or (i) is disclosed to
Lenders and/or Collateral Agent by a third partythe Lenders and/or Collateral Agent does not kitloat the third party is prohibited frc
disclosing the information. Collateral Agent and ttenders may use confidential information for anypose related to this Agreement ant
the extent any of the following purposes shall m@tdeemed to be related to this Agreement) may @)sase confidential information for a
of their internal record keeping, due diligencsekranalysis, market analysis, maintenance and oewednt of client databases, statistical
reporting purposes; (ii) use Borrower's name aedpttincipal terms of the Loans for customary clieference purposes; and (iii) use ma:
confidential information for regulatory reportinginposes to the extent required by or advisable uagplicable law. The provisions of -
immediately preceding sentence shall survive thaiteation of this Agreement. The agreements praVideder this Section 12.9 supersed
prior agreements, understanding, representatioasanties, and negotiations between the partiestdabe subject matter of this Section 12.9.

12.10 Right of Set OffBorrower hereby grants to Collateral Agent andachelLender, a lien, security interest and righéegfof
as security for all Obligations to Collateral Agemd each Lender hereunder, whether now existirgeogafter arising upon and agains
deposits, credits, collateral and property, novheneafter in the possession, custody, safekeepicgrdrol of Collateral Agent or the Lend
or any entity under the control of Collateral Agenthe Lenders (including a Collateral Agent &fi¢) or in transit to any of them. At any ti
after the occurrence and during the continuancandtvent of Default, without demand or notice, &@tal Agent or the Lenders may sel
the same or any part thereof and apply the saraeytdiability or obligation of Borrower even thoughmatured and regardless of the adeq
of any other collateral securing the Obligation&NYAAND ALL RIGHTS TO REQUIRE COLLATERAL AGENT TO EXRCISE IT¢
RIGHTS OR REMEDIES WITH RESPECT TO ANY OTHER COLLERAL WHICH SECURES THE OBLIGATIONS, PRIOR 1
EXERCISING ITS RIGHT OF SETOFF WITH RESPECT TO SUDHPOSITS, CREDITS OR OTHER PROPERTY OF BORROWERE
HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVE D.

12.11 Cooperation of Borrowerlf necessary, Borrower agrees to (i) execute arpohents (including new Secured Promis
Notes) reasonably required to effectuate and acladmne each assignment of a Term Loan Commitmehban to an assignee in accorde
with Section 12.1, (ii) make Borrowarmanagement available to meet with Collateral Aged prospective participants and assignees o
Loan Commitments or Credit Extensions (which megtighall be conducted no more often than twiceyetveglve months unless an Even
Default has occurred and is continuing), and &s%ist Collateral Agent or the Lenders in the pragian of information relating to the financ
affairs of Borrower as any prospective participainassignee of a Term Loan Commitment or Term Lreasonably may request. Subject tc
provisions of Section 12.9, Borrower authorizeshelaender to disclose to any prospective participarassignee of a Term Loan Commitm
any and all information in such Lendepossession concerning Borrower and its finarafairs which has been delivered to such Lendeor
on behalf of Borrower pursuant to this Agreementwhich has been delivered to such Lender by obetmalf of Borrower in connection w
such Lender’s credit evaluation of Borrower primentering into this Agreement.
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13. DEFINITIONS
13.1 DefinitionsAs used in this Agreement, the following terms htagfollowing meanings:

“ Account” is any “account’as defined in the Code with such additions to gaom as may hereafter be made, and includes, wt
limitation, all accounts receivable and other sawing to Borrower.

“ Account Debtor” is any “account debtor” as defined in the Cod#éwguch additions to such term as may hereaftendste.

“ Affiliate " of any Person is a Person that owns or controéctijr or indirectly the Person, any Person thatrds or is controlled k&
or is under common control with the Person, andh ed¢hat Persos’ senior executive officers, directors, partnewd, dor any Person that it
limited liability company, that Person’s managend anembers.

“ Agreement” is defined in the preamble hereof.

“ Amortization Date " is April 1, 2015, but shall automatically becomeriff, 2016 if the First Revenue Event occurs. kermore
if after the occurrence of the First Revenue Evtrg, Second Revenue Event occurs, Amortization Bl automatically become April
2017.

“ Annual Projections” is defined in Section 6.2(a).
“ Anti-Terrorism Laws " are any laws relating to terrorism or money laumdgrincluding Executive Order No. 13224 (effec
September 24, 2001), the USA PATRIOT Act, the lasmsprising or implementing the Bank Secrecy Actd &éine laws administered
OFAC.

“ Approved Fund " is any (i) investment company, fund, trust, se@ation vehicle or conduit that is (or will be) extged in making
purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in comiad loans and similar extensions of credit in thidinary course of its business or (ii)
Person (other than a natural person) which temippraarehouses loans for any Lender or any entégatibed in the preceding clause (i)
that, with respect to each of the preceding cla@esd (i), is administered or managed by (&eader, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c
Person (other than a natural person) or an Aféilafta Person (other than a natural person) thatrasters or manages a Lender.

“ Approved Lender " is defined in Section 12.1.

“ Basic Rate” is, with respect to a Term Loan, the per annum attaterest (based on a year of three hundreg $880) days) equ
to Eight and Thirty-Five Hundredths percent (8.35%)

“ Blocked Person” is any Person: (a) listed in the annex to, or leentise subject to the provisions of, Executive édrido. 1322
(b) a Person owned or controlled by, or acting doron behalf of, any Person that is listed in theex to, or is otherwise subject to
provisions of, Executive Order No. 13224, (c) asearwith which any Lender is prohibited from deglior otherwise engaging in &
transaction by any Anti-Terrorism Law, (d) a Perghat commits, threatens or conspires to commisupports “terrorism’as defined i
Executive Order No. 13224, or (e) a Person thatasied a “specially designated national” or “blockeatson”on the most current li
published by OFAC or other similar list.

“ Borrower " is defined in the preamble hereof.

25




“ Borrower’'s Books " are Borrower’s or any of its Subsidiaridsdoks and records including ledgers, federal, datk gax return
records regarding Borrower’s or its Subsidiari@ssets or liabilities, the Collateral, businessraf@ns or financial condition, and all compt
programs or storage or any equipment containing suiformation.

“ Business Day is any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday oryaatawhich Collateral Agent is closed.

“ Cash Equivalents” are (a) marketable direct obligations issued owoadtionally guaranteed by the United States or @aggncy c
any State thereof having maturities of not moretbae (1) year from the date of acquisition; (bhaowercial paper maturing no more than
(1) year after its creation and having the higliahg from either Standard & Poor’'s Ratings GraupgMoody’s Investors Service, Inc., &
(c) certificates of deposit maturing no more thae ¢1) year after issue provided that the accounthich any such certificate of deposi
maintained is subject to a Control Agreement irofaaf Collateral Agent. For the avoidance of dodlbg direct purchase by Borrower or an
its Subsidiaries of any Auction Rate Securitiesparchasing participations in, or entering into &yye of swap or other derivative transaci
or otherwise holding or engaging in any ownershigriest in any type of Auction Rate Security by arer or any of its Subsidiaries shall
conclusively determined by the Lenders as an iildégCash Equivalent, and any such transactiorl slptessly violate each other provisiol
this Agreement governing Permitted Investmentswitbstanding the foregoing, Cash Equivalents daesntlude and Borrower, and eact
its Subsidiaries, are prohibited from purchasingrchasing participations in, entering into any tygfeswap or other equivalent derivai
transaction, or otherwise holding or engaging iy awnership interest in any type of debt instrumentluding, without limitation, ar
corporate or municipal bonds with a lotegm nominal maturity for which the interest rageréset through a dutch auction and more comn
referred to as an auction rate security (each,fAnction Rate Security”).

“ Claims " are defined in Section 12.2.

“ Code” is the Uniform Commercial Code, as the same maynftime to time, be enacted and in effect in theteSbf New Yor
provided, that, to the extent that the Code is usedefine any term herein or in any Loan Docurmaamd such term is defined differently
different Articles or Divisions of the Code, thefidéion of such term contained in Article or Divas 9 shall govern; provided further, tha
the event that, by reason of mandatory provisidnsws, any or all of the attachment, perfection,poiority of, or remedies with respect
Collateral Agents Lien on any Collateral is governed by the Unifd@mmmercial Code in effect in a jurisdiction otliean the State of Ne
York, the term “Code’shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as enaateldira effect in such other jurisdiction solely fourposes of tt
provisions thereof relating to such attachmentigotion, priority, or remedies and for purposeslefinitions relating to such provisions.

“ Collateral " is any and all properties, rights and assetsaf®ver described on Exhibit A

“ Collateral Account ” is any Deposit Account, Securities Account, or Cardity Account, or any other bank account maintaiby
Borrower or any Subsidiary at any time.

“ Collateral Agent” is, Oxford, not in its individual capacity, but sty in its capacity as agent on behalf of and fiar benefit of th
Lenders.

“ Commitment Percentag€’ is set forth in Schedule 1,1as amended from time to time.

“ Commodity Account” is any “commodity accountas defined in the Code with such additions to secin as may hereafter
made.

“ Communication” is defined in Section 10.

“ Compliance Certificate” is that certain certificate in the form attachezteto as Exhibit C
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“ Contingent Obligation " is, for any Person, any direct or indirect liagilitcontingent or not, of that Person for (a) angeibtednes
lease, dividend, letter of credit or other obligatiof another such as an obligation directly orirectly guaranteed, endorsed, m@de
discounted or sold with recourse by that Persofrwhich that Person is directly or indirecthatlle; (b) any obligations for undrawn letter
credit for the account of that Person; and (cphllgations from any interest rate, currency or owwdity swap agreement, interest rate ce
collar agreement, or other agreement or arrangedesignated to protect a Person against fluctuationterest rates, currency exchange |
or commodity prices; but “Contingent Obligatiodbes not include endorsements in the ordinary eowfsbusiness. The amount ¢
Contingent Obligation is the stated or determinetbant of the primary obligation for which the Caorgent Obligation is made or, if t
determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipateility for it determined by the Person in goodHaibut the amount may not exceed
maximum of the obligations under any guaranteglogrosupport arrangement.

“ Control Agreement ” is any control agreement entered into among thevsigpy institution at which Borrower or any of
Subsidiaries maintains a Deposit Account or thenseées intermediary or commodity intermediary dtigh Borrower or any of its Subsidiar
maintains a Securities Account or a Commodity ActpBorrower and such Subsidiary, and Collateraémgpursuant to which Collate
Agent obtains control (within the meaning of thed€p for the benefit of the Lenders over such DdpAstcount, Securities Account,
Commodity Account.

“ Copyrights " are any and all copyright rights, copyright appgiimas, copyright registrations and like protectionseach work ¢
authorship and derivative work thereof, whetherlighled or unpublished and whether or not the sdsteamnstitutes a trade secret.

“ Credit Extension” is any Term Loan or any other extension of crégitCollateral Agent or Lenders for Borrower’s bfine
“ Default Rate” is defined in Section 2.3(b).
“ Deposit Account” is any “deposit account” as defined in the Cod#hwuch additions to such term as may hereaftené&de.

“ Designated Deposit Account is Borrower’s deposit account, account number 5800103177, aia@tt with Bank of Americ
Merrill Lynch.

“ Disbursement Letter” is that certain form attached hereto as Exhibit B
“ Dollars ,” “ dollars " and “$” each mean lawful money of the United Btat
“ Effective Date” is defined in the preamble of this Agreement.

“ Eligible Assignee” is (i) a Lender, (ii) an Affiliate of a Lender, ifiian Approved Fund and (iv) any commercial bardgisgs an
loan association or savings bank or any otheryentitich is an “accredited investorag defined in Regulation D under the Securities &
1933, as amended) and which extends credit or loays as one of its businesses, including insuraosganies, mutual funds, lease finan
companies and commercial finance companies, in easl, which either (A) has a rating of BBB or leigfrom Standard & Poas’Rating
Group and a rating of Baa2 or higher from Moadifivestors Service, Inc. at the date that it bexomLender or (B) has total assets in e:
of Five Billion Dollars ($5,000,000,000.00), anddach case of clauses (i) through (iv), which, tlgtoits applicable lending office, is capz
of lending to Borrower without the imposition of yamwithholding or similar taxes; provided that natwgtanding the foregoing,Eligible
Assignee” shall not include, unless an Event ofaDifhas occurred and is continuing, (i) Borroweramy of Borrowers Affiliates ol
Subsidiaries or (ii) a direct competitor of Borrowar a vulture hedge fund, each as determined bat€oal Agent. Notwithstanding t
foregoing, (x) in connection with assignments Hyeader due to a forced divestiture at the requiahg regulatory agency, the restrictions
forth herein shall not apply and Eligible Assigrd®ll mean any Person or party and (y) in connectidh a Lenders own financing ¢
securitization transactions, the restrictions eethfherein shall not apply and Eligible Assignbalsmean any Person or party providing ¢
financing or formed to undertake such securitizati@nsaction and any transferee of such Persgamy upon the occurrence of a def:
event of default or similar occurrence with resgecsuch financing or securitization transactiorgvided that no such sale, transfer, pledc
assignment under this clause (y) shall release kaoter from any of its obligations hereunder distitute any such Person or party for ¢
Lender as a party hereto until Collateral Agentldiave received and accepted an effective assighagreement from such Person or par
form satisfactory to Collateral Agent executed,vd@kd and fully completed by the applicable partieereto, and shall have received :
other information regarding such Eligible Assig@eseCollateral Agent reasonably shall require.
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“ Equipment " is all “equipment”as defined in the Code with such additions to siecin as may hereafter be made, and incl
without limitation all machinery, fixtures, goodsehicles (including motor vehicles and trailersydany interest in any of the foregoing.

“ ERISA " is the Employee Retirement Income Security Aci874, as amended, and its regulations.
“ Event of Default” is defined in Section 8.

“ Final Payment” is a payment (in addition to and not a substitufienthe regular monthly payments of principal phscrue
interest) due on the earliest to occur of (a) thetuvity Date, or (b) the acceleration of any Teroah, or (c) the prepayment of a Term L
pursuant to Section 2.2(c) or (d), equal to thgioal principal amount of such Term Loan multiplieg the Final Payment Percentage, pay
to Lenders in accordance with their respectiveRata Shares.

“ Final Payment Percentag€ is: (A) Seven and Ninetyrive Hundredths percent (7.95%) if the First ReweBRwent does not occ
(B) Eight and NinetyFive Hundredths percent (8.95%) if the First ReveeBuent occurs but the Second Revenue Event daescoor and (C
Nine and Ninet-Five Hundredths percent (9.95%) if both the ARstzenue Event and the Second Revenue Event occur.

“ First Revenue Event’ is the achievement by Borrower, for the fiscahy@014, of (i) seventfive percent (75%) of its projected
Nexafed cash receipts set forth in the ProjectezklRés and (ii) seven-five percent (75%) of its projected Oxecta royaktgeipts set forth
the Projected Receipts, and delivery of evidenceuoch achievement by Borrower to Collateral Agentor before February 15, 2015, in s
form and substance as is acceptable to CollategahfAn its discretion.

“ Foreign Subsidiary” is a Subsidiary that is not an entity organizeder the laws of the United States or any territbgreof.
“ Funding Date” is any date on which a Credit Extension is maxlerton account of Borrower which shall be a BusinBay.

“ GAAP " is generally accepted accounting principles sehfiorthe opinions and pronouncements of the ActingrPrinciples Boatr
of the American Institute of Certified Public Acagants and statements and pronouncements of thadtal Accounting Standards Board ¢
such other statements by such other Person as enagpsoved by a significant segment of the accognirofession in the United States, wi
are applicable to the circumstances as of theafatetermination.

“ General Intangibles” are all “general intangiblesds defined in the Code in effect on the date hengthf such additions to su
term as may hereafter be made, and includes witlmitation, all copyright rights, copyright appéiions, copyright registrations and |
protections in each work of authorship and denaativork, whether published or unpublished, any matetrademarks, service marks anc
the extent permitted under applicable law, any iappbns therefor, whether registered or not, aagé secret rights, including any right:
unpatented inventions, payment intangibles, rogmlttontract rights, goodwill, franchise agreemgmnischase orders, customer lists, route
telephone numbers, domain names, claims, incometed tax refunds, security and other depositdpng to purchase or sell real or pers:
property, rights in all litigation presently or leafter pending (whether in contract, tort or othise) insurance policies (including with
limitation key man, property damage, and businetsriuption insurance), payments of insurance aids to payment of any kind.
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“ Governmental Approval " is any consent, authorization, approval, ordernse, franchise, permit, certificate, accreditg
registration, filing or notice, of, issued by, franto, or other act by or in respect of, any Gamagntal Authority.

“ Governmental Authority ” is any nation or government, any state or otheitipal subdivision thereof, any agency, autho
instrumentality, regulatory body, court, centrahbar other entity exercising executive, legislafijudicial, taxing, regulatory or administrai
functions of or pertaining to government, any setims exchange and any self-regulatory organization

“ Guarantor " is any Person providing a Guaranty in favor ofl@eral Agent.

“ Guaranty " is any guarantee of all or any part of the Obligati as the same may from time to time be amendstited, modifie
or otherwise supplemented.

“ Indebtedness’ is (a) indebtedness for borrowed money or the dedigprice of property or services, such as reimdgment and oth
obligations for surety bonds and letters of crefttij,obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, delestar similar instruments, (c) capital le
obligations, and (d) Contingent Obligations.

“ Indemnified Person” is defined in Section 12.2.

“ Insolvency Proceeding” is any proceeding by or against any Person underUhited States Bankruptcy Code, or any ¢
bankruptcy or insolvency law, including assignmefus the benefit of creditors, compositions, extens generally with its creditors,
proceedings seeking reorganization, arrangemeuther relief.

“ Insolvent” means not Solvent.

“ Intellectual Property ” means all of Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s rigtitle and interest in and to the following:

€) its Copyrights, Trademarks and Patents

(b) any Investigational New Drug ApplicatioNew Drug Application, Abbreviated New Drug Apgation or simila
application (or foreign equivalent) filed with theS. Food and Drug Administration (or foreign equ@nt) or licensed to Borrower or any ot
Subsidiaries;

(c) any and all trade secrets and tradeeseights, including, without limitation, any hits to unpatented inventio

know-how, operating manuals, preclinical and clinicaidéts, abuse liability studies, bioequivalence issidpseudoephedrine conversion
extraction studies, and the results of such studies

(d) any and all source code;
(e) any and all design rights which mayabailable to Borrower;
) any and all claims for damages by wéaypast, present and future infringement of anghefforegoing, with the rigt

but not the obligation, to sue for and collect sdamages for said use or infringement of the letdlial Property rights identified above; and
(9) all amendments, renewals and extensibasy of the Copyrights, Trademarks or Patents.

“ Inventory " is all “inventory” as defined in the Code in effect on the date hengthf such additions to such term as may herea#

made, and includes without limitation all merchaediproduct samples, raw materials, parts, supgleesking and shipping materials, worl

process and finished products, including withoutittition such inventory as is temporarily out ofydfersons custody or possession ol
transit and including any returned goods and amyuhents of title representing any of the above.
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“ Investment” is any beneficial ownership interest in any Per@ooluding stock, partnership interest or otherusiges), and an
loan, advance, payment or capital contributionrtyp Rerson.

“ Key Person” is each of Borrowes (i) Chief Executive Officer, who is Robert B. ésnas of the Effective Date, (ii) Chief Finan
Officer, who is Peter A. Clemens as of the Effeztivate and (iii) Vice President of Technical Affaivho is Albert W. Brzeczko as of
Effective Date.

“ Lender” is any one of the Lenders.

“ Lenders” are the Persons identified on ScheduleHeteto and each assignee that becomes a partistddgheement pursuant
Section 12.1.

“ Lenders’ Expenses’ are all audit fees and expenses, costs, and egpgincluding reasonable attornefes and expenses, as \
as appraisal fees, fees incurred on account ofskamches, inspection fees, and filing fees) feparing, amending, negotiating, administe!
defending and enforcing the Loan Documents (inclgdiwithout limitation, those incurred in connectiavith appeals or Insolven
Proceedings) or otherwise incurred by Collatera¢tgand/or the Lenders in connection with the LDacuments.

“ Lien " is a claim, mortgage, deed of trust, levy, chaggedge, security interest, or other encumbranceargf kind, whethe
voluntarily incurred or arising by operation of lawotherwise against any property.

“ Loan Documents” are, collectively, this Agreement, the Warrantg Berfection Certificates, each Compliance Cediéic eac
Disbursement Letter, Mortgage, the Post Closingeteand any subordination agreements, any noteyotes or guaranties executed
Borrower or any other Person, and any other presehiture agreement entered into by Borrower, @uyarantor or any other Person for
benefit of the Lenders and Collateral Agent in ametion with this Agreement; all as amended, redtaie otherwise modified.

“ Material Adverse Change” is (a) a material impairment in the perfectionpoiority of Collateral Agens Lien in the Collateral or
the value of such Collateral; (b) a material impeEnt in the perfection or priority of Collateral égt’'s Lien in the Mortgaged Premises o
the value of the Mortgaged Premises; (c) a matadsakrse change in the business, operations oitmon(financial or otherwise) or prospe
of Borrower or any Subsidiary; or (d) a materiapairment of the prospect of repayment of any portibthe Obligations.

“ Maturity Date " is December 1, 2018.

“ Mortgage " is a first lien Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agmeent, and Fixture Filing in respect of the MortgddPremises
favor of Collateral Agent to secure the Obligations

“ Mortgaged Premises’ is the real property owned by Borrower located 8235 State Road 17, Culver, Indiana 46511.

“ Obligations " are all of Borrower’s obligations to pay when damey debts, principal, interest, LendeEXpenses, the Prepaym
Fee, the Final Payment, and other amounts Borrowess the Lenders now or later, in connection wighated to, following, or arising froi
out of or under, this Agreement or, the other L&xotuments (other than the Warrants), or othervase, including interest accruing a
Insolvency Proceedings begin (whether or not alywand debts, liabilities, or obligations of Borrewassigned to the Lenders an
Collateral Agent, and the performance of Borrowetsies under the Loan Documents (other than the-alits).

“ OFAC " is the U.S. Department of Treasury Office of RgreAssets Control.
“ OFAC Lists " are, collectively, the Specially Designated Natlsnand Blocked Persons List maintained by OFAC yams tc

Executive Order No. 13224, 66 Fed. Reg. 49079 (S&pt 2001) and/or any other list of terroristsadiner restricted Persons maintai
pursuant to any of the rules and regulations of OfeA pursuant to any other applicable Executivee@yd
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“ Operating Documents” are, for any Person, such Persoférmation documents, as certified by the SecyaibState (or equivale
agency) of such Persanjurisdiction of organization on a date that iseaolier than thirty (30) days prior to the EffeetiDate, and, (a) if su
Person is a corporation, its bylaws in current fofi) if such Person is a limited liability compauiitg limited liability company agreement
similar agreement), and (c) if such Person is d@npaship, its partnership agreement (or similareagrent), each of the foregoing with
current amendments or modifications thereto.

“ Patents ” means all patents, patent applications and likeeptions including without limitation improvementsjvisions
continuations, renewals, reissues, extensions amihcations-in-part of the same.

“ Payment Date” is the first (15!) calendar day of each calendar month, commenairfgebruary 1, 2014.
“ Perfection Certificate ” and “ Perfection Certificates” is defined in Section 5.1.

“ Permitted Indebtedness’ is:

€) Borrower’s Indebtedness to the Lendeis Collateral Agent under this Agreement andbther Loan Documents;
(b) Indebtedness existing on the Effecihate and disclosed on the Perfection Certificate(s)

(c) Subordinated Debt;

(d) unsecured Indebtedness to trade crsditeurred in the ordinary course of business;

(e) Indebtedness consisting of capitalileede obligations and purchase money Indebtedimessch case incurred

Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to finance #wguisition, repair, improvement or constructionfigéd or capital assets of such per:
provided that (i) the aggregate outstanding prialcgmount of all such Indebtedness does not ex@eerlHundred Fifty Thousand Dolle
($250,000.00) at any time and (ii) the principaloamt of such Indebtedness does not exceed the lofatke cost or fair market value of
property so acquired or built or of such repairinggrovements financed with such Indebtedness (eedsured at the time of such acquisi
repair, improvement or construction is made);

® Indebtedness incurred as a resultnofoesing negotiable instruments received in thénarg course of Borrowes’
business; and

(9) Indebtedness relating to loans froneRato APT; and

(h) extensions, refinancings, modificatiomsnendments and restatements of any items of Redmindebtedne

(a) through (e) above, provided that the princgrabunt thereof is not increased or the terms ttfiemeonot modified to impose materially m
burdensome terms upon Borrower, or its Subsidasythe case may be.

“ Permitted Investments” are:
(a) Investments disclosed on the Perfad@iertificate(s) and existing on the Effective Date
(b) (i) Investments consisting of cash &@akh Equivalents, (ii) any Investments permittgdBlorrower’s investmer
policy as of Effective Date, and (iii) any Investm® permitted by Borrowes’ investment policy and added by amendment follgwtime
Effective Date, provided that such amendment tanttiestment policy has been approved in writingdoflateral Agent;
(c) Investments consisting of the endoesenof negotiable instruments for deposit or caitecor similar transactiol

in the ordinary course of Borrower;
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(d) Investments consisting of Deposit Aaais in which Collateral Agent has a perfected scinterest;
(e) Investments in connection with Transfgermitted by Section 7.1;

() Investments consisting of (i) trawevances and employee relocation loans and othplogee loans and advan
in the ordinary course of business, and (ii) lo@mnemployees, officers or directors relating to pliechase of equity securities of Borrower @
Subsidiaries pursuant to employee stock purchasesgr agreements approved by Borrow&oard of Directors; not to exceed One Hun
Thousand Dollars ($100,000) in the aggregate jar(d (ii) in any fiscal year;

(9) Investments (including debt obligagpmeceived in connection with the bankruptcy arganization of custome
or suppliers and in settlement of delinquent oltiages of, and other disputes with, customers ompbegs arising in the ordinary course
business;

(h) Investments consisting of notes reai® of, or prepaid royalties and other credit esiens, to customers &
suppliers who are not Affiliates, in the ordinaguese of business; provided that this paragraplst{a)l not apply to Investments of Borro
in any Subsidiary;

0] Investments by Parent in APT; and

()] non-cash Investments in joint vensuce strategic alliances in the ordinary coursBafrower’s business consisti
of the licensing of technology, the developmentezhnology or the providing of technical supporgyded that if such license is exclusive
shall be subject to the prior written consent ofjileed Lenders and the Required Lenders shall bigatbd to respond to Borrower within
(10) calendar days regarding their decision to goanwithhold such consent after receipt of a refjder such consent from Borrower
writing.

“ Permitted Licenses” are (A) licenses of over-the-counter softwaret tkacommercially available to the public, and (B)n-
exclusive and exclusive licenses for the use ofrnitellectual Property of Borrower or any of itstSidiaries entered into in the ordinary coi
of business, providedthat, with respect to each such license desciibb&thuse (B), (i) no Event of Default has occdrend is continuing
the time of such license; (ii) the license congtisuan armgength transaction, the terms of which, on thegefado not provide for a sale
assignment of any Intellectual Property and dorestrict the ability of Borrower or any of its Sutiaries, as applicable, to pledge, gra
security interest in or lien on, or assign or otfise Transfer any Intellectual Property; (iii) imetcase of any exclusive license, (x) Borrc
delivers ten (10) daygrior written notice and a brief summary of themsrof the proposed license to Collateral Agent tredLenders ar
delivers to Collateral Agent and the Lenders copiethe final executed licensing documents in catina with the exclusive license promg
upon consummation thereof and (y) any such licensdd not result in a legal transfer of title oétlicensed property, but may be exclusiv
to geographic areas outside the United Statespraydbe exclusive in the United States (and itsttgies and possessions) subject to the
written consent of Required Lenders, and the Redultenders shall be obligated to respond to Borrowi¢hin ten (10) calendar da
regarding their decision to grant or withhold swznsent after receipt of a request for such conent Borrower in writing; and (iv) €
upfront payments, royalties, milestone paymentstber proceeds arising from the licensing agreertieitare payable to Borrower or an
its Subsidiaries are paid to a Deposit Accountithgbverned by a Control Agreement.

“ Permitted Liens” are:

€) Liens existing on the Effective Datelalisclosed on the Perfection Certificates oriragisinder this Agreement a
the other Loan Documents;

(b) Liens for taxes, fees, assessmentghmr government charges or levies, either (i)cwa and payable or (ii) bei

contested in good faith and for which Borrower naiims adequate reserves on its Books, providednihatotice of any such Lien has b
filed or recorded under the Internal Revenue Cddi986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulaticsted thereunder;
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(c) liens securing Indebtedness permittedier clause (e) of the definition oPermitted Indebtedness” provided the
(i) such liens exist prior to the acquisition of,aitach substantially simultaneous with, or withirenty (20) days after the, acquisition, le
repair, improvement or construction of, such prgpénanced or leased by such Indebtedness andu@ liens do not extend to any prop
of Borrower other than the property (and proceduseof) acquired, leased or built, or the improvetseor repairs, financed by st
Indebtedness;

(d) Liens of carriers, warehousemen, sepgl or other Persons that are possessory ineatising in the ordina
course of business so long as such Liens attach toninventory, securing liabilities in the aggregamount not to exceed Twenty F
Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00), and which are nbhgleent or remain payable without penalty or whick being contested in good faith
by appropriate proceedings which proceedings Hazeffect of preventing the forfeiture or saletwf property subject thereto;

(e) Liens to secure payment of workergnpensation, employment insurance, alge pensions, social security
other like obligations incurred in the ordinary ceiof business (other than Liens imposed by ERISA)

() Liens incurred in the extension, reakor refinancing of the indebtedness securedibpd described in (a) throu
(c), butany extension, renewal or replacement Lien mudintited to the property encumbered by the existiren and the principal amount
the indebtedness may not increase;

(9) leases or subleases of real propeawptgd in the ordinary course of BorrowsebBusiness (or, if referring to anot
Person, in the ordinary course of such Person’'mbss), and leases, subleases, extiusive licenses or sublicenses of personal ptpgpethe
than Intellectual Property) granted in the ordineowrse of Borrowes business (or, if referring to another Persortheordinary course
such Persoml business), if the leases, subleases, licensesudnlidenses do not prohibit granting CollateraleAgor any Lender a secul
interest therein;

(h) bankes liens, rights of setoff and Liens in favor ofdirtial institutions incurred in the ordinary coutdebusines
arising in connection with Borrowex’deposit accounts or securities accounts heldict mstitutions solely to secure payment of feed
similar costs and expenses and provided such atcammmaintained in compliance with Section 6.6@xeof;

0] Liens arising from judgments, decreesattachments in circumstances not constitutimgeaent of Default und
Section 8.4 or 8.7;

@) easements, reservations, rightsvaf, restrictions, minor defects or irregularitiestitle and similar charges
encumbrances affecting real property not constiguéi material adverse effect on the business atiton (financial or otherwise) of Borrowe

(k) easements, zoning restrictions, rigiftvay and similar encumbrances on real property iregdsy law or arising
the ordinary course of business that do not seanyemonetary obligations and do not materially afgttfrom the value of the Mortgag
Premises or interfere with the ordinary condudbvwdiness of Borrower; and

()] Liens consisting of Permitted Licease

“ Person” is any individual, sole proprietorship, partnershimited liability company, joint venture, companyust, unincorporate
organization, association, corporation, institutipablic benefit corporation, firm, joint stock cpany, estate, entity or government agency.

“ Post Closing Letter” is that certain Post Closing Letter dated as offiffective Date by and among Collateral Agent, teader:
and Borrower.
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“ Prepayment Fee” is, with respect to any Term Loan subject to prepayt prior to the Maturity Date, whether by mandator
voluntary prepayment, acceleration or otherwiseaddtitional fee payable to the Lenders in amountktp:

@ for a prepayment made on or after Bumnding Date of such Term Loan through and inclgdime firs
anniversary of the Funding Date of such Term Laélarge percent (3.00%) of the principal amount @hstierm Loan prepaid,;

(i) for a prepayment made after the dateclv is after the first anniversary of the FundDagte of such Ter
Loan through and including the second anniversathe Funding Date of such Term Loan, two perc2r@(%) of the principal amount of 1
Term Loans prepaid; and

(iii) for a prepayment made after the datealv is after the second anniversary of the Fun@iate of such Ter
Loan and before the Maturity Date of such Term Laare percent (1.00%) of the principal amount ef Tierm Loans prepaid.

“ Pro Rata Share” is, as of any date of determination, with respeatdach Lender, a percentage (expressed as a decimadied t
the ninth decimal place) determined by dividing thestanding principal amount of Term Loans heldsogh Lender by the aggrec
outstanding principal amount of all Term Loans.

“ Projected Receipts’ means the projected net cash receipts and royadsipts for Nexafed and Oxecta, as provided by d®eer tc
Collateral Agent and Lenders (and acknowledgecethgron the Effective Date.

“ Registered Organization” is any “registered organizatioras defined in the Code with such additions to deam as may hereaf
be made.

“ Required Lenders” means (i) for so long as all of the Persons #ratLenders on the Effective Date (each @riginal Lender ")
have not assigned or transferred any of their éstsrin their Term Loan, Lenders holding one husdrercent (100%) of the aggrec
outstanding principal balance of the Term Loan(jiipat any time from and after any Original Lendirs assigned or transferred any intere
its Term Loan, Lenders holding at least sixty sixqent (66%) of the aggregate outstanding prindpédnce of the Term Loan and, in res
of this clause (ii), (A) each Original Lender tlngts not assigned or transferred any portion ofétsn Loan, (B) each assignee or transfer:
an Original Lendes interest in the Term Loan, but only to the extlat such assignee or transferee is an Affiliat&mproved Fund of sut
Original Lender, and (C) any Person providing fitiag to any Person described in clauses (A) andaf®)ve; provided, however, that 1
clause (C) shall only apply upon the occurrenca défault, event of default or similar occurrendgthwespect to such financing.

“ Requirement of Law " is as to any Person, the organizational or govgrdiocuments of such Person, and any law (statut
common), treaty, rule or regulation or determirmatod an arbitrator or a court or other Governme#tathority, in each case applicable tc
binding upon such Person or any of its propertioarhich such Person or any of its property is scibj

“ Responsible Officer” is any of the President, Chief Executive Officer,Chief Financial Officer of Borrower acting atan

“ Second Revenue Everitis the achievement by Borrower, for the fiscaby@015, of (i) seventfive percent (75%) of its project
net Nexafed cash receipts set forth in the PrajeBteceipts and (ii) sevenfixe percent (75%) of its projected Oxecta roya#geipts set for
in the Projected Receipts, and delivery of evidemicsuch achievement by Borrower to Collateral Agem or before February 15, 2016
such form and substance as is acceptable to Qall&gent in its discretionThe occurrence of the First Revenue Event is agmdition for the
occurrence of the Second Revenue Event.

“ Secured Promissory Not¢ is defined in Section 2.4.
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“ Secured Promissory Note Record is a record maintained by each Lender with respet¢he outstanding Obligations owed
Borrower to Lender and credits made thereto.

“ Securities Account” is any “securities account” as defined in the €adth such additions to such term as may herebéienade.

“ Shares” is one hundred percent (100%) of the issued anstanding capital stock, membership units or otleusties owned «
held of record by Borrower or Borrowsr'Subsidiary, in any Subsidiary; provided thatthe event Borrower, demonstrates to Colla
Agent’s reasonable satisfaction, that a pledge of maaa Hixty five percent (65%) of the Shares of suchs®liary which is a Forei
Subsidiary, creates a present and existing advarseonsequence to Borrower under the U.S. IntéRealenue Code, “Shareshall mea
sixty-five percent (65%) of the issued and outstandirmtabstock, membership units or other securitiemed or held of record by Borrow
or its Subsidiary in such Foreign Subsidiary.

“ Solvent " is, with respect to any Person: the fair salabddue of such Persosm’consolidated assets (including goodwill m
disposition costs) exceeds the fair value of sustséhs liabilities; such Person is not left with unreaaloly small capital after the transacti
in this Agreement; and such Person is able to fsageibts (including trade debts) as they mature.

“ Subordinated Debt” is indebtedness incurred by Borrower or any oSSithsidiaries subordinated to all Indebtedness ofdcel
and/or its Subsidiaries to the Lenders (pursuaatgabordination, intercreditor, or other similgreement in form and substance satisfactc
Collateral Agent and the Lenders entered into betw€ollateral Agent, Borrower, and/or any of itdbSidiaries, and the other creditor),
terms acceptable to Collateral Agent and the Lender

“ Subsidiary ” is, with respect to any Person, any Person of whiohe than fifty percent (50%) of the voting stawkother equit
interests (in the case of Persons other than catipos) is owned or controlled, directly or indilgc by such Person or through one or n
intermediaries.

“ Term Loan " is defined in Section 2.2(a)(ii) hereof.

“ Term Loan Commitment ” is, for any Lender, the obligation of such Lenaentake a Term Loan, up to the principal amount si
on Schedule 1.1* Term Loan Commitments” means the aggregate amount of such commitmerd bénders.

“ Trademarks ” means any trademark and servicemark rights, whetigéstered or not, applications to register amyisteations of th
same and like protections, and the entire good#ilhe business of Borrower connected with and ylinéd by such trademarks.

“ Transfer " is defined in Section 7.1.

“ Voting Agreement” means the Voting Agreement dated as of Februa2p®4, as amended to date, between Parent, GalereF
lll, L.P., Galen Partners International lll, L.RGalen Employee Fund Ill, L.P., Essex Woodlands theglentures V, L.P., Care Cap
investments Il, LP and Care Capital Offshore Inwestts Il, LP.

“ Warrants " are those certain Warrants to Purchase Stock d@ated the Effective Date, or any date thereafssyéd by Parent
favor of each Lender or such Lender's Affiliates.

[ Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have caused this Agreemdrg texecuted as of the Effective Date.
BORROWER:
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By /s/ Peter A. Clemer
Name: Peter A. Clemel
Title: Sr. V.P. & C.F.O
BORROWER:
ACURA PHARMACEUTICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC
By /s/ Peter A. Clemer
Name: Peter A. Clemel
Title: Sr. V.P. & C.F.O
COLLATERAL AGENT AND LENDER:
OXFORD FINANCE LLC
By /s/ Mark Davis
Name:

Title: Vice President Finance, Secretary & Treas

[ Signature Page to Loan and Security Agreemént




SCHEDULE 1.1

Lenders and Commitments

Term Loans
Lender Term Loan Commitment Commitment Percentage
OXFORD FINANCE LLC $ 10,000,00 100.0(%
TOTAL $ 10,000,00 100.0(%




EXHIBIT A

Description of Collateral

The Collateral consists of all of Borrower’s rigtitle and interest in and to the following persiom@perty:

All goods, Accounts (including healttare receivables), Equipment, Inventory, contragitts, rights to payment of money, lea
license agreements, franchise agreements, Genamraigibles (except as noted below), commercial ttatms, documents, instrume
(including any promissory notes), chattel paper dilibr tangible or electronic), cash, deposit actsoamd other Collateral Accounts,
certificates of deposit, fixtures, letters of ctedghts (whether or not the letter of credit isdmnced by a writing), securities, and all o
investment property, supporting obligations, amérficial assets, whether now owned or hereaften@etjuvherever located; and

All Borrower’s Books relating to the foregoing, and any andlaiims, rights and interests in any of the abowt @hsubstitutions fo
additions, attachments, accessories, accessionsngndvements to and replacements, products, pdscaed insurance proceeds of any ¢
of the foregoing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Collateral does include (i) any Intellectual Property; providdtbwever, the Collateral sh
include all Accounts and all proceeds of IntellettBroperty. If a judicial authority (including a.&l Bankruptcy Court) would hold tha
security interest in the underlying Intellectuabperty is necessary to have a security interestugh Accounts and such property that
proceeds of Intellectual Property, then the Calidtshall automatically, and effective as of théeEfive Date, include the Intellectual Prop:
to the extent necessary to permit perfection ofa@edal Agents security interest in such Accounts and such gihaperty of Borrower that &
proceeds of the Intellectual Property; and (ii) dicgnse or contract, in each case if the granth@ Lien in such license or contrac
prohibited by or would constitute a default undex agreement governing such license or contratt{fjwnly to the extent such prohibitior
enforceable under applicable law and (B) other toahe extent that any such term would be rendeeffiective pursuant to Sections 9-406, 9
408 or 9409 (or any other Section) of Division 9 of the @ndorovided that upon the termination, lapsingxpiration of any such prohibitic
such license or contract, as applicable, shallraat@ally be subject to the security interest gedrin favor of Collateral Agent hereunder
become part of the “Collateral.”

Pursuant to the terms of a certain negative pledgengement with Collateral Agent and the LendBreyower has agreed not
encumber any of its Intellectual Property (exclgdifermitted Licenses).




EXHIBIT B

Form of Disbursement Letter

[see attached]




DISBURSEMENT LETTER
[DATE]

The undersigned, being the duly elected and acting of ACURA PHARCEUTICALS, INC., a New Yor
corporation with offices located at 616 N. Northu@p Suite 120, Palatine, Illinois for and on béhafl each Borrower under the Lc
Agreement (as defined below) (collectivelyBorrower "), does hereby certify t&XFORD FINANCE LLC (“ Oxford " and “Lender ), as
collateral agent (the Collateral Agent”) in connection with that certain Loan and Securiydement dated as of December [_], 2013, by
among Borrower, Collateral Agent and the Lendessftime to time party thereto (thd.ban Agreement”; with other capitalized termgsec
below having the meanings ascribed thereto in thenlLAgreement) that:

1. The representations and warranties nbgdBorrower in Section 5 of the Loan Agreement anthe other Loan Documel
are true and correct in all material respects dheflate hereof.

2. No event or condition has occurred twatld constitute an Event of Default under the .@egreement or any other Lc
Document.

3. Borrower is in compliance with the cogats and requirements contained in Sections Ad& af the Loan Agreement.

4, All conditions referred to in SectiomBthe Loan Agreement to the making of the Loabéanade on or about the date he

have been satisfied or waived by Collateral Agent.
5. No Material Adverse Change has occurred
6. The undersigned is a Responsible Qffice

[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank]




7. The proceeds of the Term Loan shatlibbursed as follows:

Disbursement from Oxford:

Loan Amount $
Plus:
—Deposit Receive $ 50,00(
Less:
—Facility Fee $ (50,000
[—Interim Interes $ ( )]
—Lende’s Legal Fee $ ( )*
Net Proceeds due from Oxford: $
TOTAL TERM LOAN NET PROCEEDS FROM LENDERS $
8. The Term Loan shall amortize in accamawith the Amortization Table attached hereto.
9. The aggregate net proceeds of the Teans shall be transferred to the Designated Depasount as follows:
Account Name ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
Bank Name Bank of America, N.A
Bank Address 135 S. LaSalle Street, Chicago, IL 60¢
Account Number 580010317
ABA Number: 026(-095¢-3

[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

* Legal fees and costs are through the EffectiveeDRostelosing legal fees and costs, payable after theckffe Date, to be invoiced and f
post-closing.




Dated as of the date first set forth above.

BORROWER:

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. for
itself and on behalf of all Borrowe

By

Name:

Title:

COLLATERAL AGENT AND LENDER:
OXFORD FINANCE LLC

By:

Name:

Title:

[ Signature Page to Disbursement Letter




AMORTIZATION TABLE
(Term Loan)

[see attached]




EXHIBIT C

Compliance Certificate

TO: OXFORD FINANCE LLC, as Collateral Agent and Len
FROM: ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., for itself and on beliaf all Borrowers

The undersigned authorized officer@fficer ") of ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a New York corporiahn with offices located at 6
N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, Illinois farcaon behalf of each Borrower under the Loan Agex@ngias defined below) (collectivel
Borrower "), hereby certifies that in accordance with the teamd conditions of the Loan and Security Agreemenéaiid among Borrowe
Collateral Agent, and the Lenders from time to tipaety thereto (the Loan Agreement;” capitalized terms used but not otherwise de!
herein shall have the meanings given them in trenlAgreement),

(a) Borrower is in complete compliance the period ending with all requicevenants except as nc
below;

(b) There are no Events of Default, exephoted below;

(c) Except as noted below, all represéatand warranties of Borrower stated in the LDacuments are true and correct ir

material respects on this date and for the peresttiibed in (a), above; provided, however, thahsuateriality qualifier shall not be applica
to any representations and warranties that alreaelyqualified or modified by materiality in the takereof; and provided, further that th
representations and warranties expressly refetoirggspecific date shall be true, accurate and s all material respects as of such date.

(d) Borrower, and each of BorronweSubsidiaries, has timely filed all required teturns and reports, Borrower, and eac
Borrower’s Subsidiaries, has timely paid all foreign, fetlestate, and local taxes, assessments, depositsoautributions owed by Borrower,
Subsidiary, except as otherwise permitted purstaatiite terms of Section 5.8 of the Loan Agreement;

(e) No Liens have been levied or claimglenagainst Borrower or any of its Subsidiariestirdato unpaid employee payroll
benefits of which Borrower has not previously pded written notification to Collateral Agent ane thenders.

Attached are the required documents, if any, supmpour certification(s). The Officer, on behaffBorrower, further certifies that the attac
financial statements are prepared in accordande @énerally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAARpare consistently applied from «
period to the next except as explained in an acemryipg letter or footnotes and except, in the adsenaudited financial statements, for
absence of footnotes and subject to year-end adplistments as to the interim financial statements.

Please indicate compliance status since the lasti@pliance Certificate by circling Yes, No, or N/A urder “Complies” column.




Reporting Covenant Requirement Actual Complies
1) Financial statemen Monthly within 45 days Yes No N/A
2) Annual (CPA Audited) statemer Within 120 days after FY! Yes No N/A
3) Annual Financial Projections/Budget (prepared Annually (within 10 days of Board Yes No N/A
monthly basis Approval), and when revise
4) A/R & A/P agings If applicable Yes No N/A
5) 8-K, 10-K and 1(-Q Filings If applicable, within 5 days of filin Yes No N/A
6) Compliance Certificat Monthly within 30 days Yes No N/A
7) IP Repori When requirec Yes No N/A
8) Total amount of Borrower’s cash and cash $ Yes No N/A
equivalents at the last day of the measurement
period
9) Total amount of Borrower’s Subsidiaries’ cash and $ Yes No N/A
cash equivalents at the last day of the measurement
period
Deposit and Securities Accounts
(Please list all accounts; attach separate sheetdtlitional space needed)
Institution Name Account Number New Account?  Account Control Agreement in place?
1) Yes No Yes No
2) Yes No Yes No
3) Yes No Yes No
4) Yes No Yes No
Other Matters
1) Have there been any changes in management sintasti@ompliance Certificate Yes No
Have there been any transfers/sales/disposalsiregint of Collateral or Intellectual Property pratg by
2) Yes No
the Loan Agreement
3) Have there been any new or pending claims or caafsastion against Borrower that involve more than Yes No
One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.(
Have there been any amendments of or other changles capitalization table of Borrower and to the
4) Operating Documents of Borrower or any of its Sdiasies? If yes, provide copies of any such Yes No

amendments or changes with this Compliance Ceatéi




Exceptions

Please explain any exceptions with respect to ¢hification above: (If no exceptions exist, stdi® exceptions.” Attach separate sheet if
additional space needed.)

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., for itself and on beliaf all Borrowers
By:

Name:
Title:

Date:
LENDER USE ONLY

Received by: Date:

Verified by: Date:

Compliance Status: Yes No




EXHIBIT D

Form of Secured Promissory Note

[see attached]




SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE
(Term Loan)

$ Dated: December [ ], 20

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, ACURA PHARMAOEICALS, INC., a New York corporation with officdecated ¢
616 N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, lllinoisdaACURA PHARMACEUTICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC., an Indha corporation wii
offices locates at 16235 State Road 17, Culver4@811 (individually and collectively, jointly andegerally, “ Borrower ") HEREBY
PROMISES TO PAY to the order of OXFORD FINANCE LLC Lender ") the principal amount of TEN MILLION DOLLAR
($10,000,000) or such lesser amount as shall etpeabutstanding principal balance of the Term Lozede to Borrower by Lender, p
interest on the aggregate unpaid principal amo@isuoh Term Loan, at the rates and in accordante tive terms of the Loan and Sect
Agreement dated December [ ], 2013 by and amongoBer, Lender, Oxford Finance LLC, as CollateraleAg and the other Lenders fr
time to time party thereto (as amended, restatezhlemented or otherwise modified from time to tinte “Loan Agreement”). If not soone
paid, the entire principal amount and all accrued anpaid interest hereunder shall be due and pagabthe Maturity Date as set forth in
Loan Agreement. Any capitalized term not othervdeéned herein shall have the meaning attributeslitdh term in the Loan Agreement.

Principal, interest and all other amounts due wétspect to the Term Loan, are payable in lawful eyoof the United States of America
Lender as set forth in the Loan Agreement and$kisured Promissory Note (this\'bte ”). The principal amount of this Note and the inte
rate applicable thereto, and all payments made ne&pect thereto, shall be recorded by Lenderanat, to any transfer hereof, endorsed or
grid attached hereto which is part of this Note.

The Loan Agreement, among other things, (a) provifte the making of a secured Term Loan by LendeBorrower, and (b) contai
provisions for acceleration of the maturity herepdn the happening of certain stated events.

This Note may not be prepaid except as set forBeiction 2.2 (c) and Section 2.2(d) of the Loane&gnent.

This Note and the obligation of Borrower to repag unpaid principal amount of the Term Loan, irgeren the Term Loan and all ot
amounts due Lender under the Loan Agreement igesgcunder the Loan Agreement.

Presentment for payment, demand, notice of pratedtall other demands and notices of any kind imeotion with the execution, delive
performance and enforcement of this Note are henetiyed.

Borrower shall pay all reasonable fees and expeimsesiding, without limitation, reasonable attoysefees and costs, incurred by Lende
the enforcement or attempt to enforce any of Boerdswobligations hereunder not performed when due.

This Note shall be governed by, and construed atedpreted in accordance with, the internal lawthefState of New York.

The ownership of an interest in this Note shallregistered on a record of ownership maintained bgder or its agent. Notwithstand
anything else in this Note to the contrary, théntig the principal of, and stated interest ons thote may be transferred only if the transf
registered on such record of ownership and thesteage is identified as the owner of an interegshaobligation. Borrower shall be entitlec
treat the registered holder of this Note (as reetran such record of ownership) as the owner intfereof for all purposes and shall no
bound to recognize any equitable or other claimrtmterest in this Note on the part of any otherspn or entity.

[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower has caused this Notbe duly executed by one of its officers thereuhity authorized on tt
date hereof.

BORROWER:
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
By

Name:
Title:

BORROWER:
ACURA PHARMACEUTICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC
By

Name:
Title:

Term Loan Secured Promissory Na




LOAN INTEREST RATE AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL

Principal Scheduled
Date Amount Interest Rate Payment Amount Notation By




CORPORATE BORROWING CERTIFICATE
BORROWER : [ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.][ DATE : [DATE]
ACURA PHARMACEUTICAL
TECHNOLOGIES, INC.]
L ENDER: OXFORD FINANCE LLC, as Collateral Agent and Len
| hereby certify as follows, as of the date setf@bove:

1. | am the Secretary, Assistant Secresanther officer of Borrower. My title is as setth below.

2. Borrowes exact legal name is set forth above. Borrower ais [ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.]] ACURA
PHARMACEUTICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.] existing undene laws of the State of [New York][Indiana].

3. Attached hereto as ExhibitaAd_Exhibit B, respectively, are true, correct and completeepf (i) Borrowers Articles/Certificate ¢
Incorporation (including amendments), as filed witle Secretary of State of the state in which Beemwis incorporated as set forth
paragraph 2 above; and (ii) BorronerBylaws. Neither such Articles/Certificate of Imgoration nor such Bylaws have been amer
annulled, rescinded, revoked or supplemented, ackl Articles/Certificate of Incorporation and suBflaws remain in full force and effect
of the date hereof.

4, The following resolutions were duly aralidly adopted by Borrowes’ Board of Directors at a duly held meeting of sdizhctors (o
pursuant to a unanimous written consent or oth#ragized corporate action). Such resolutions areilliforce and effect as of the date he
and have not been in any way modified, repealestimded, amended or revoked, and the Lenders nmhapmahem until each Lender recei
written notice of revocation from Borrower.
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REsoLVED , thatany oneof the following officers or employees of Borrowarhose names, titles and signatures are below,atiagr
behalf of Borrower:

Authorized to
Add or Remove
Name Title Signature Signatories

O

O

O

O

REsoOLVED FURTHER, thatany oneof the persons designated above with a checkedbside his or her name may, from time to t
add or remove any individuals to and from the al®tef persons authorized to act on behalf ofrBaver.

REsSOLVED FURTHER , that such individuals may, on behalf of Borrower:

Borrow Money . Borrow money from the Lenders.

Execute Loan Documents Execute any loan documents any Lender requires.

Grant Security . Grant Collateral Agent a security interest in aff3orrower’s assets.

Negotiate Items. Negotiate or discount all drafts, trade accepanpromissory notes, or other indebtedness inhwBarrower has ¢
interest and receive cash or otherwise use theepdsc

Issue Warrants. Issue warrants for Borrower’s capital stock.

Further Acts . Designate other individuals to request advanpay, fees and costs and execute other documentgreeraeni
(including documents or agreement that waive Boemsvright to a jury trial) they believe to be necegst effectuate suc
resolutions.

REsoLvED FURTHER , that all acts authorized by the above resolutiomsamny prior acts relating thereto are ratified.

[ Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank




5. The persons listed above are Borrowaffisers or employees with their titles and sigmas shown next to their names.

By:

Name:

Title:

*** |f the Secretary, Assistant Secretary or otleartifying officer executing above is designatedh®yresolutions set forth in paragraph 4
one of the authorized signing officers, this Cixdife must also be signed by a second authoriZezkobr director of Borrower.

I, the of Borrower,thecertify as to paragraphs 1 through 5 above, as
[print title]
of the date set forth above.
By:
Name:
Title:

[ Signature Page to Corporate Borrowing Certificale




EXHIBIT A

Articles/Certificate of Incorporation (including am endments)

[see attached]




EXHIBIT B

Bylaws

[see attached]




DEBTOR: [ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.] ACURA PHARMA CEUTICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.]
SECURED PARTY: OXFORD FINANCE LLC,
as Collateral Agent
EXHIBIT A TO UCC FINANCING STATEMENT

Description of Collateral

The Collateral consists of all of Debtor’s rightietand interest in and to the following persopaiperty:

All goods, Accounts (including healttere receivables), Equipment, Inventory, contragltts, rights to payment of money, lea
license agreements, franchise agreements, Genwmalgibles (except as noted below), commercial ttatms, documents, instrume
(including any promissory notes), chattel paper dilibr tangible or electronic), cash, deposit actoamd other Collateral Accounts,
certificates of deposit, fixtures, letters of ctedghts (whether or not the letter of credit iSd®nced by a writing), securities, and all o
investment property, supporting obligations, améficial assets, whether now owned or hereafter@ttjwherever located; and

All Borrower’s Books relating to the foregoing, and any andlalims, rights and interests in any of the abow @hsubstitutions fo
additions, attachments, accessories, accessionsn@gndvements to and replacements, products, pdsceed insurance proceeds of any ¢
of the foregoing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Collateral doed include (i) any Intellectual Property; providdtbwever, the Collateral sh
include all Accounts and all proceeds of IntellettBroperty. If a judicial authority (including a.&l Bankruptcy Court) would hold tha
security interest in the underlying Intellectuabperty is necessary to have a security interestugch Accounts and such property that
proceeds of Intellectual Property, then the Colldtshall automatically, and effective as of théeEfive Date, include the Intellectual Prop:
to the extent necessary to permit perfection ofd@edal Agents security interest in such Accounts and such qihaperty of Borrower that &
proceeds of the Intellectual Property; and (ii) dicgnse or contract, in each case if the granth@ Lien in such license or contrac
prohibited by or would constitute a default unde agreement governing such license or contract{&)wonly to the extent such prohibitior
enforceable under applicable law and (B) other thahe extent that any such term would be rendm&ffiective pursuant to Sections 9-406, 9
408 or 9409 (or any other Section) of Division 9 of the @gdorovided that upon the termination, lapsingxpiration of any such prohibitic
such license or contract, as applicable, shallmatizally be subject to the security interest gedrin favor of Collateral Agent hereunder
become part of the “Collateral.”

Pursuant to the terms of a certain negative pleatggngement with Collateral Agent and the LendBmsbtor has agreed not
encumber any of its Intellectual Property (exclgdifermitted Licenses).

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein hla@eneanings ascribed in the Uniform Commercialgbadeffect in the State of
New York as in effect from time to time (t‘Code”) or, if not defined in the Code, then in thean and Security Agreement by and between
Debtor, Secured Party and the other Lenders plagteto (as modified, amended and/or restated fimen to time).




THIS WARRANT AND THE SHARES ISSUABLE HEREUNDER HAVEOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT
1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ACT "), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE AND, EXCEPT ASET FORTH IN SECTIONS 5
AND 5.4 BELOW, MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OBTHERWISE TRANSFERRED UNLESS AND UNTIL REGISTERI
UNDER SAID ACT AND LAWS OR, IN THE OPINION OF LEGAICOUNSEL IN FORM AND SUBSTANCE SATISFACTORY TO Tt
COMPANY, SUCH OFFER, SALE, PLEDGE OR OTHER TRANSFEREXEMPT FROM SUCH REGISTRATION.

FORM 1OF WARRANT TO PURCHASE STOCK (A_ )
Company: ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC., a New York corporatic

Number of Share [ 1(this Warrant and any other Warrants issued oml#te of issuance of this Warrant pursuant to thenLo
Agreement (as defined herein below), together| &lga¢xercisable for a total number of shares gh@on Stock
equal to: (i) four and seventy-five hundredths patd4.75%) of the aggregate principal amount eftérm loans
funded under the Loan Agreement on the date ohieseiof this Warrant divided by (ii) the WarranicBrset forth
below)

Type/Series of Stocl Common Stocl

Warrant Price: $1.595 per share (which represéetsverage price of the Company’s common stockprevious ten days of
trading, calculated on the day before the issuahtas Warrant

Issue Date December 27, 201
Expiration Date December 27, 2020. See also Section 5..
Credit Facility: This Warrant to Purchase Stock\(arrant ") is issued in connection with that certain Loan 8edurity Agreemer

of even date herewith among Oxford Finance LLO,exsder and Collateral Agent, the Lenders from timéme
party thereto, and the Company and (as modifieg&nalad and/or restated from time to time, th@an Agreement

).

THIS WARRANT CERTIFIES THAT, for good and valuabt®nsideration, OXFORD FINANCE LLC ( Oxford " and, togethe
with any successor or permitted assignee or tregesfef this Warrant or of any shares issued upa@mncése hereof, ‘Holder ") is entitled t
purchase the number of fully paid and non-assessaidres (the Shares”) of the above-stated Type/Series of Stock (th@ldss”) of the
above-named company (th&€€Cbmpany ") at the abovestated Warrant Price, all as set forth above arabassted pursuant to Section 2 of
Warrant, subject to the provisions and upon thaseand conditions set forth in this Warrant.

SECTION 1. EXERCISE.

1.1 Method of ExerciseHolder may at any time and from time to time ei@® this Warrant, in whole or in part,
delivering to the Company the original of this Waant together with a duly executed Notice of Exerdéissubstantially the form attached he
as Appendix 1 and, unless Holder is exercising Werant pursuant to a cashless exercise set ifor8ection 1.2, a check, wire transfe
sameday funds (to an account designated by the Companyjther form of payment acceptable to the Coman the aggregate Warr:
Price for the Shares being purchased.

1.2 Cashless Exercis®n any exercise of this Warrant, in lieu of papinef the aggregate Warrant Price in the ma
as specified in Section 1.1 above, but otherwisgctordance with the requirements of Section 1dldét may elect to receive Shares equ
the value of this Warrant, or portion hereof asvtuch this Warrant is being exercised. Thereupba,Gompany shall issue to the Holder ¢
number of fully paid and non-assessable Sharesaaputed using the following formula:

1Three warrants were issued with respect to 17858351 and 44,671 underlying shares, respectively.




X =Y(A-B)/A
where:
X = the number of Shares to be issued to the Hplder

Y = the number of Shares with respect to which Wiarrant is being exercised (inclusive of the Statgrendered
to the Company in payment of the aggregate WaR&ne);

A = the Fair Market Value (as determined pursuar8éction 1.3 below) of one Share; and
B = the Warrant Price.

1.3 Fair Market Valuelf the Companys common stock is then traded or quoted on a ratjorecognized securiti
exchange, inter-dealer quotation system or ovecthmter market (a Trading Market ”) and the Class is common stock, the fair m:
value of a Share shall be the closing price ordaf# price of a share of common stock reportedhferBusiness Day immediately before
date on which Holder delivers this Warrant togethih its Notice of Exercise to the Company. If tBempanys common stock is not trac
in a Trading Market, the Board of Directors of tBempany shall determine the fair market value @hare in its reasonable good f.
judgment.

1.4 Delivery of Certificate and New WarrahVithin a reasonable time after Holder exercisés \Warrant in the manr
set forth in Section 1.1 or 1.2 above, the Compsimgil deliver to Holder a certificate representthg Shares issued to Holder upon ¢
exercise and, if this Warrant has not been fullgreised and has not expired, a new warrant of tér representing the Shares nc
acquired.

15 Replacement of WarrantOn receipt of evidence reasonably satisfactorythie® Company of the loss, thi
destruction or mutilation of this Warrant and, letcase of loss, theft or destruction, on deliveiyan indemnity agreement reason:
satisfactory in form, substance and amount to tbhenany or, in the case of mutilation, on surrenafethis Warrant to the Company
cancellation, the Company shall, within a reasomaibhe, execute and deliver to Holder, in lieuho§ tWarrant, a new warrant of like tenor
amount.

1.6 Treatment of Warrant Upon Acquisit@mfiCompany.
€) Acquisition For the purpose of this WarrantAtquisition ” means any transaction or series of related traiosa

involving: (i) the sale, lease, exclusive licengepther disposition of all or substantially allthie assets of the Company (ii) any merger ¢
Company into or consolidation of the Company witiother person or entity (other than a merger orsclidation effected exclusively
change the Compars/’domicile), or any other corporate reorganizationwhich the stockholders of the Company in thegipacity as sut
immediately prior to such merger, consolidationr@organization, own less than a majority of the @any’'s (or the surviving or succes
entity’s) outstanding voting power immediately after suokerger, consolidation or reorganization (or, if Fu€ompany stockholde
beneficially own a majority of the outstanding vigti power of the surviving or successor entity asinofediately after such merg
consolidation or reorganization, such survivingsoccessor entity is not the Company); or (iii) aale or other transfer by the stockholde
the Company of shares representing at least a ityapdithe Company’s then-total outstanding comdineting power.

(b) Treatment of Warrant at Acquisitiom the event of an Acquisition in which the catesiation to be received by -
Company'’s stockholders consists solely of cashelpadf Marketable Securities or a combination ofltand Marketable Securities (a
Cash/Public Acquisition”), either (i) Holder shall exercise this Warrant parsuto Section 1.1 and/or 1.2 and such exerciseb&ideeme
effective immediately prior to and contingent ugba consummation of such Acquisition or (ii) if ldel elects not to exercise the Warrant,
Warrant will expire immediately prior to the consmation of such Acquisition.




(c) The Company shall provide Holder withtten notice of its request relating to the Casiliz Acquisition (togethe
with such reasonable information as Holder may awaBly require regarding the treatment of this \Matrrin connection with su
contemplated Cash/Public Acquisition giving risestwh notice), which is to be delivered to Holdet less than seven (7) Business Days
to the closing of the proposed Cash/Public Acqaisitin the event the Company does not provide suntite, then if, immediately prior to t
Cash/Public Acquisition, the fair market value ofeoShare (or other security issuable upon the eseetereof) as determined in accord:
with Section 1.3 above would be greater than ther&via Price in effect on such date, then this Wdrshall automatically be deemed on an
of such date to be exercised pursuant to Sectdmlove as to all Shares (or such other securfiesyhich it shall not previously have b
exercised, and the Company shall promptly notigy lfolder of the number of Shares (or such otheaurgtéas) issued upon such exercise tc
Holder and Holder shall be deemed to have restseld of the representations and warranties in@eétof the Warrant as the date thereof.

(d) Upon the closing of any Acquisition etithan a Cash/Public Acquisition defined above, dbquiring, surviving ¢
successor entity shall assume the obligationsisMtarrant, and this Warrant shall thereafter ber@zable for the same securities and/or «
property as would have been paid for the Sharemlide upon exercise of the unexercised portiorhisf YWarrant as if such Shares w
outstanding on and as of the closing of such Adtmiis subject to further adjustment from time imé in accordance with the provision:
this Warrant.

(e) As used in this WarrantMarketable Securities” means securities meeting all of the following reguients: (i) th
issuer thereof is then subject to the reportingiiregnents of Section 13 or Section 15(d) of theuB&es Exchange Act of 1934, as amer
(the “Exchange Act”), and is then current in its filing of all requiregports and other information under the Act andBkehange Act; (ii) th
class and series of shares or other security ofstheer that would be received by Holder in conioectvith the Acquisition were Holder
exercise this Warrant on or prior to the closingréof is then traded in Trading Market, and (i@)ldwing the closing of such Acquisitic
Holder would not be restricted from publicly reiswj all of the issues shares and/or other securities that would beweddy Holder in suc
Acquisition were Holder to exercise or convert thisrrant in full on or prior to the closing of suélequisition, except to the extent that
such restriction (x) arises solely under federadtate securities laws, rules or regulations, ghdi¢es not extend beyond six (6) months 1
the closing of such Acquisition.

SECTION 2. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE SHARES ANDARRANT PRICE.

2.1 Stock Dividends, Splits, Ettf the Company declares or pays a dividend dridigtion on the outstanding share:
the Class payable in common stock or other seesrdr property (other than cash), then upon exedfithis Warrant, for each Share acqu
Holder shall receive, without additional cost toldhr, the total number and kind of securities arapprty which Holder would have recei\
had Holder owned the Shares of record as of thettatdividend or distribution occurred. If the Qmany subdivides the outstanding share
the Class by reclassification or otherwise intare@ater number of shares, the number of Shares asaible hereunder shall be proportion:
increased and the Warrant Price shall be propat@y decreased. If the outstanding shares of tagsCare combined or consolidated
reclassification or otherwise, into a lesser nunifeshares, the Warrant Price shall be proportelgancreased and the number of Shares
be proportionately decreased.

2.2 Reclassification, Exchange, Combimatior Substitution Upon any event whereby all of the outstandingeha
the Class are reclassified, exchanged, combindsstituted, or replaced for, into, with or by Compasecurities of a different class ant
series, then from and after the consummation oh sawent, this Warrant will be exercisable for thenier, class and series of Comg
securities that Holder would have received hadshares been outstanding on and as of the consuamudtsuch event, and subject to fur
adjustment thereafter from time to time in accomawith the provisions of this Warrant. The prosrs of this Section 2.2 shall similarly ap
to successive reclassifications, exchanges, conibimsasubstitutions, replacements or other singlants.




2.3 Intentionally Left Blank

2.4 Adjustments for Diluting Issuance#/ithout duplication of any adjustment otherwisevided for in this Section
the number of shares of common stock issuable apawersion of the Shares shall be subject todihttion adjustment from time to time
the manner set forth in the Compasrticles or Certificate of Incorporation as ietlshares were issued and outstanding on and he dat
of any such required adjustment.

2.5 No Fractional Sharé&lo fractional Share shall be issuable upon egerof this Warrant and the number of Shar
be issued shall be rounded down to the nearestenwdludre. If a fractional Share interest arises wgnexercise of the Warrant, the Comg
shall eliminate such fractional Share interest ayipg Holder in cash the amount computed by muyjfiigl the fractional interest by (i) the f
market value (as determined in accordance withi@edt3 above) of a full Share, less (ii) the thedfective Warrant Price.

2.6 Notice/Certificate as to Adjustmentépon each adjustment of the Warrant Price, Glasor number of Shares,
Company, at the Comparsyexpense, shall notify Holder in writing withirr@asonable time setting forth the adjustments aéd/Marrant Pric
Class and/or number of Shares and facts upon wauich adjustment is based. The Company shall, upittemwrequest from Holder, furni
Holder with a certificate of its Chief Financial fi@gr, including computations of such adjustmerd #me Warrant Price, Class and numbe
Shares in effect upon the date of such adjustment.

SECTION 3. REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTSFOHE COMPANY.
3.1 Representations and Warrantiese Company represents and warrants to, and awgiile the Holder as follows:
(a) All Shares which may be issued uponetkercise of this Warrant, and all securitiesnf,assuable upon convers

of the Shares, shall, upon issuance, be duly aztdrvalidly issued, fully paid and n@ssessable, and free of any liens and encumbi
except for restrictions on transfer provided foreie or under applicable federal and state seesrlaws. The Company covenants that it
at all times cause to be reserved and kept availal of its authorized and unissued capital skt number of shares of the Class, corr
stock and other securities as will be sufficienpéomit the exercise in full of this Warrant ané tonversion of the Shares into common ¢
or such other securities.

(b) The Compang’capitalization table attached hereto as Schediderue and complete, in all material respecso!
the Issue Date.

3.2 Notice of Certain Event#f the Company proposes at any time to:

€) declare any dividend or distributiononpthe outstanding shares of the Class or commaek,stvhether in cas

property, stock, or other securities and whetherabra regular cash dividend;

(b) offer for subscription or sale pro ré&aghe holders of the outstanding shares of tlas<any additional shares of
class or series of the Company’s stock (other thasuant to contractual pre-emptive rights);

(c) effect any reclassification, exchangembination, substitution, reorganization or retamation of the outstandi
shares of the Class; or

(d) effect an Acquisition or to liquidatiissolve or wind up;
then, in connection with each such event, the Comghall give Holder:
(1) at least seven (7) Business Days mwidtten notice of the date on which a record wl taken for suc

dividend, distribution, or subscription rights (aspecifying the date on which the holders of ouditag shares of the Class will be enti
thereto) or for determining rights to vote, if anyyespect of the matters referred to in (a) d)dpove; and




(2) in the case of the matters referreth t¢) and (d) above at least seven (7) Business [P&aor written notic
of the date when the same will take place (andifieg the date on which the holders of outstandiégres of the Class will be entitlec
exchange their shares for the securities or ottapguty deliverable upon the occurrence of sucmgve

Reference is made to Section 1.6(c) whereby thig&kawill be deemed to be exercised pursuant tti@el.2 hereof if the Company does
give written notice to Holder of an Acquisition @gjuired by the terms hereof. Company will alsovjzte information requested by Holder 1
is reasonably necessary to enable Holder to comiptyHolder’s accounting or reporting requirements.

SECTION 4. REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES OHE HOLDER.

The Holder represents and warrants to the Compaifigllaws:

4.1 Purchase for Own Accourthis Warrant and the securities to be acquirezhugxercise of this Warrant by Hols
are being acquired for investment for Holdesiccount, not as a nominee or agent, and notaniiew to the public resale or distribution wit
the meaning of the Act. Holder also representsittrats not been formed for the specific purposaagjuiring this Warrant or the Shares.

4.2 Disclosure of InformationHolder is aware of the Compasybusiness affairs and financial condition and
received or has had full access to all the infoiomait considers necessary or appropriate to makiefarmed investment decision with resj
to the acquisition of this Warrant and its undentysecurities. Holder further has had an opponunitask questions and receive answers
the Company regarding the terms and conditionk@bffering of this Warrant and its underlying sétes and to obtain additional informat
(to the extent the Company possessed such infaymati could acquire it without unreasonable effortexpense) necessary to verify
information furnished to Holder or to which Hold®as access.

4.3 Investment Experiencélolder understands that the purchase of this &am@nd its underlying securities invol
substantial risk. Holder has experience as an tov@s securities of companies in the developméarges and acknowledges that Holder can
the economic risk of such Holdsrinvestment in this Warrant and its underlyingusiéies and has such knowledge and experiencenanfia
or business matters that Holder is capable of etialg the merits and risks of its investment irs \farrant and its underlying securities an
has a preexisting personal or business relationgtiipthe Company and certain of its officers, dicgs or controlling persons of a nature
duration that enables Holder to be aware of thealter, business acumen and financial circumstamicgsch persons.

4.4 Accredited Investor Statuslolder is an “accredited investowithin the meaning of Regulation D promulge
under the Act.

4.5 The Act Holder understands that this Warrant and thee&shiasuable upon exercise hereof have not beestess
under the Act in reliance upon a specific exempttrefrom, which exemption depends upon, amongrdttings, the bona fide nature of
Holder’'s investment intent as expressed herein. Holdeenstahds that this Warrant and the Shares issuea aipy exercise hereof must
held indefinitely unless subsequently registeredennthe Act and qualified under applicable stateigges laws, or unless exemption from s
registration and qualification are otherwise aud#aHolder is aware of the provisions of Rule pfdmulgated under the Act.

4.6 No Voting Rights Holder, as a Holder of this Warrant, will not leaany voting rights until the exercise of

Warrant.




SECTION 5. MISCELLANEQUS.

5.1 Term; Automatic Cashless Exercise Uprpiration.

(a) Term Subject to the provisions of Section 1.6 abolis, ¥Warrant is exercisable in whole or in partrag Eme an
from time to time on or before 6:00 PM, Easterngtimn the Expiration Date and shall be void theesaf

(b) Automatic Cashless Exercise upon Eatiin. In the event that, upon the Expiration Date, fdie market value ¢
one Share (or other security issuable upon theceseshereof) as determined in accordance with &edti3 above is greater than the Wal
Price in effect on such date, then this Warranll siiomatically be deemed on and as of such dale texercised pursuant to Section 1.2 a
as to all Shares (or such other securities) fockviti shall not previously have been exercised,taedCompany shall, within a reasonable t
deliver a certificate representing the Sharesfoh ®ther securities) issued upon such exercistolder.

5.2 LegendsEach certificate evidencing Shares (and eaclficaté evidencing the securities issued upon csiga O
any Shares, if any) shall be imprinted with a lejgnsubstantially the following form:

THE SHARES EVIDENCED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT IBBEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITII
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE ‘ACT "), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE AND, EXCEPT ASET
FORTH IN THAT CERTAIN WARRANT TO PURCHASE STOCK IS%D BY THE ISSUER TO OXFORD FINANC
LLC DATED DECEMBER 27, 2013, MAY NOT BE OFFERED, &0, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRE
UNLESS AND UNTIL REGISTERED UNDER SAID ACT AND LAW®R, IN THE OPINION OF LEGAL COUNSEL |
FORM AND SUBSTANCE SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER, SUGBFFER, SALE, PLEDGE OR OTHER TRANSF
IS EXEMPT FROM SUCH REGISTRATION.

5.3 Compliance with Securities Laws onnBfar. This Warrant and the Shares issued upon exeofiigs Warrar
(and the securities issuable, directly or indingatipon conversion of the Shares, if any) may motrbnsferred or assigned in whole or in
except in compliance with applicable federal aratessecurities laws by the transferor and the fea@s (including, without limitation, tl
delivery of investment representation letters aegal opinions reasonably satisfactory to the Compas reasonably requested by
Company). The Company shall not require Holderrtwsigle an opinion of counsel if the transfer isatoaffiliate of Holder, provided that &
such transferee is an “accredited invests”defined in Regulation D promulgated under thé Additionally, the Company shall also
require an opinion of counsel if there is no mateguestion as to the availability of Rule 144 pubgated under the Act.

5.4 Intentionally Left Blank.

5.5 Transfer Procedurdéfter receipt by Oxford of the executed Warrddkford may transfer all or part of this Warr
to one or more of Oxford’s affiliates (each, a®@%ford Affiliate ), by execution of an Assignment substantially in fimen of Appendix Z
Subject to the provisions of Article 5.3 and upawoviding the Company with written notice, Oxfordhyasuch Oxford Affiliate and ai
subsequent Holder, may transfer all or part of Wiegrant or the Shares issuable upon exerciseéoWhrrant (or the Shares issuable direct
indirectly, upon conversion of the Shares, if ato/pny other transferee, provided, however, in eation with any such transfer, the Oxf
Affiliate(s) or any subsequent Holder will give tli®mpany notice of the portion of the Warrant betiramsferred with the name, address
taxpayer identification number of the transfered Eolder will surrender this Warrant to the Compdor reissuance to the transferee(s)
Holder if applicable).




5.6 Notices All notices and other communications hereundemfthe Company to the Holder, or vice versa, she
deemed delivered and effective (i) when given peally, (i) on the third (3rd) Business Day aftezitg mailed by firstlass registered
certified mail, postage prepaid, (iii) upon actuadeipt if given by facsimile or electronic maildasuch receipt is confirmed in writing by
recipient, or (iv) on the first Business Day followg delivery to a reliable overnight courier sesjicourier fee prepaid, in any case at
address as may have been furnished to the Compadtglder, as the case may be, in writing by the Gany or such Holder from time to tii
in accordance with the provisions of this Sectidh All notices to Holder shall be addressed aefied until the Company receives notice
change of address in connection with a transfetteerwise:

Oxford Finance LLC

133 N. Fairfax Street

Alexandria, VA 22314

Attn: Legal Department

Telephone: (703) 519-4900

Facsimile: (703) 519-5225

Email: LegalDepartment@ oxfordfinance.com

Notice to the Company shall be addressed as folloviisHolder receives notice of a change in adstres

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
616 N. North Court, Suite 120
Palatine, lllinois

Attn: Peter A. Clemens

Fax: (847) 705-5399

Email: pclemens@acurapharm.com

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

LeClairRyan

One Riverfront Plaza

1037 Raymond Boulevard
Sixteenth Floor

Newark, New Jersey 07102

Attn: John P. Reilly

Fax: (973) 491-3511

Email: John.Reilly@leclairryan.com

5.7 Waiver This Warrant and any term hereof may be changaied, discharged or terminated (either genealin
a particular instance and either retroactively mispectively) only by an instrument in writing seghby the party against which enforcemel
such change, waiver, discharge or termination igkb

5.8 AttorneysFees. In the event of any dispute between the partieeerning the terms and provisions of this War
the party prevailing in such dispute shall be @itto collect from the other party all costs inewdr in such dispute, including reason
attorneys’ fees.

5.9 Counterparts; Facsimile/Electronicr@imres. This Warrant may be executed in counterpartpfalvhich togethe
shall constitute one and the same agreement. Aymatire page delivered electronically or by fackirshall be binding to the same exter
an original signature page with regards to anyemgent subject to the terms hereof or any amendthergto.

5.10 Governing LawThis Warrant shall be governed by and constraneactordance with the laws of the State of
York, without giving effect to its principles regting conflicts of law.




5.11 HeadingsThe headings in this Warrant are for purpose®f@ience only and shall not limit or otherwisesaffthe
meaning of any provision of this Warrant.

5.12 Business Day$ Business Day is any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or andagh banks in the State of N
York or Commonwealth of Virginia are closed.

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally]

[Signature page follows]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused thisrréivid to Purchase Stock to be executed by theiy @uithorize
representatives effective as of the Issue Dataemraibove.

“COMPANY”

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:
Name:

(Print)
Title:
“HOLDER"

OXFORD FINANCE LLC

By:

Name:
(Print)

Title:

[ Signature Page to Warrant to Purchase Stock-A2




APPENDIX 1

NOTICE OF EXERCISE

1. The undersigned Holder hereby exescige right purchase shares of the Gom@tock of ACUR/
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. (the “Company ") in accordance with the attached Warrant To Purclsisek, and tenders payment of
aggregate Warrant Price for such shares as follows:

check in the amount of $ payable to orfldreoCompany enclosed herev
O Wire transfer of immediately available funds to @empan’s accour
O Cashless Exercise pursuant to Section 1.2 of thean
O Other [Describe]
2. Please issue a certificate or certificates reptesgthe Shares in the name specified be

Holder s Name

(Address)

3. By its execution below and for the diigrof the Company, Holder hereby restates eatchefepresentations and warrantie
Section 4 of the Warrant to Purchase Stock aseofittie hereof.

HOLDER:

By:

Name:

Title:

Date:

Appendix 1




APPENDIX 2
ASSIGNMENT
For value received, Oxford Finance LLC hereby selsigns and transfers unto
Name: [OXFORD TRANSFEREE

Address:

Tax ID: ]

that certain Warrant to Purchase Stock issued by R& PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. (the “Company "), on December 27, 20
(the “Warrant ) together with all rights, title and interest tea.

OXFORD FINANCE LLC

By:

Name:

Title:

Date:

By its execution below, and for the benefit of thempany, [OXFORD TRANSFEREE] makes each of theasgmtations and warranties
forth in Article 4 of the Warrant and agrees toadher provisions of the Warrant as of the datebier

[OXFORD TRANSFEREE

By:

Name:

Title: ]

Appendix 2




Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Capitalization at December 27, 2013

SCHEDULE 1

Company Capitalization Table

Common
Comon Stock Restricted Stock Common Fully Diluted

Beneficial Owner Outstanding Stock Units Warrants Stock Options Shares
Galen Partners Ill, L.F 10,535,08 - 459,40( - 10,994,48
Galen Partners International Ill, L. 950,12: - 41,56 - 991,68:«
Galen Employee Fund lil, L. 43,39 - 1,93¢ - 45,33:
Essex Woodlands Health Venture: 9,781,98! - 502,90: - 10,284,388
Care Capital Investments 4,032,88! - 730,55¢ - 4,763,44.
Care Capital Offshore Investment 276,65t - 50,12( - 326,77¢
Andy Reddick - 227,50( - - 227,50(
Robert Jone 51,09¢ 23,75( - 907,50( 982,34!
Peter A. Clemen 214,02: 117,501 - 429,37! 760,89t
Robert Seise 86,34( 47,25( - 326,72! 460,31!
James Emig| 138,20: 38,87¢ - 294,72! 471,80«
Albert Brzeczkc 18,00( 6,00( - 308,00( 332,00
William Skelly - 25,00( - 100,00( 125,00(
William Sumner 94,85: 25,00( - 15,00( 134,85:.
Bruce Wessol 14,90« - - 100,00( 114,90«
Richard Markhan - - - 75,00( 75,00(
George Ros 3,00( - - 100,00( 103,00(
Immanuel Thangar: - - - 90,00( 90,00(
David Azad - - - 21,25( 21,25(
Brad Rivet - - - 185,00( 185,00(
Other employee 258,43 150,62! - 784,94 1,194,00!
Ron Spivey (no longer inside - 167,50( - - 167,50(
Non-insiders 21,826,10 69,54¢ - 21,895,65
Totals 48,325,08 829,00( 1,856,02! 3,737,652, 54,747,63
Percent of Total 88.2% 1.5% 3.4% 6.8% 100.(%

Notes:

Information for specified persons in Column enttl€ommon Stock" is based on their public filings
Information in column entitled "Common Stock" withspect to "Other Employees" is an estimate

Not all Stock Options are Currently Exercisa

Restricted Stock Units will be exchanged for stookor about January 1, 2014

Schedule 1




MORTGAGE, ASSIGNMENT
OF RENTS AND LEASES, SECURITY AGREEMENT AND FIXTURE FILING
by and from
ACURA PHARMACEUTICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,
an Indiana corporation, “Mortgagor”
to

OXFORD FINANCE LLC, a Delaware limited liability co mpany, “Mortgagee”

Dated as of December 27, 2013

Location: 16235 State Road 17, Culver, Indiana6b11




MORTGAGE, ASSIGNMENT OF
RENTS AND LEASES, SECURITY AGREEMENT AND FIXTURE FI LING
(Marshall County, Indiana)

THIS MORTGAGE, ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS AND LEASES, SERQUY AGREEMENT AND FIXTURE FILING (this
“ Mortgage ") is dated as of this 27th day of December, 2@#8and fromACURA PHARMACEUTICAL TECHNOLOGIES, INC. , ar
Indiana corporation with offices locates at 1623&t& Road 17, Culver, IN 46511 fortgagor ” or “ Term Borrower "), to OXFORD
FINANCE LLC , a Delaware limited liability company with an @i located at 133 North Fairfax Street, Alexanddaginia 22314 (*
Oxford "), as collateral agent (in such capacity;dllateral Agent”) (together with its successors and assigridpftgagee”).

RECITALS:
WHEREAS, Mortgagor is the fee owner of the realpemty described in Exhibit Attached hereto.

WHEREAS, Mortgagor and ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INCa, New York corporation with offices located at a4t
North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, lllino* Parent”) ( Mortgagor and Parent being sometimes referredlteatively herein as the Borrowers
" and each as aBorrower "), and Mortgagee have entered into that certain LoahSecurity Agreement, of even date herewith (assim
may be amended, amended and restated, supplenoeragdterwise modified from time to time, the.ban Agreement”) providing for a terr
loan from certain Lenders (as therein definedhamaximum principal amount of TEN MILLION DOLLAR&10,000,000.00).

WHEREAS, Mortgagee is acting as Collateral Agentli@ Lenders pursuant to the terms of the Loareégent;

WHEREAS, as a condition to the Lendeagjreement to enter into the Loan Agreement, andake available to Borrowe
the financial accommodations provided therein, agee has required that Mortgagor, among othegshieecure the “Obligationsf
Borrowers under the Loan Agreement and the othanl@ocuments by delivery and recordatoin of thigtiglage.

WHEREAS, Mortgagor is receiving a good and valudddaefit, the sufficiency and receipt of which esdby acknowledge
from the Lenders for entering into, and agreeingsttend credit and provide financial accommodationder, the Loan Agreement and
other Loan Documents with the Borrowers.




ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Definitions All capitalized terms used herein without ddfom shall have the respective meanings ascrib
them in the Loan Agreement. As used herein, tHeviahg terms shall have the following meanings:

(a) “Event of Default”: shall have the meaning ascribed to such tersriitle 4 hereof.

(b) “Mortgaged Property ": All of Mortgagor’s interest in (1) the fee intest in the real property describedgrhibit A
attached hereto and incorporated herein by thiseate, together with any greater estate theremei@after may be acquired by Mortgagor
“Land "), (2) all improvements now owned or hereafterwced by Mortgagor, now or at any time situateégceld or constructed upon the
Land (the “Improvements”; the Land and Improvements are collectively reddrto herein as thePremises”), (3) all materials, supplies,
equipment, apparatus and other items of personakpty now owned or hereafter acquired by Mortgagat now or hereafter attached to or
installed in any of the Improvements or the Laixtufes and goods that are or are to become figtumed water, gas, electrical, telephone,
storm and sanitary sewer facilities and all othdities whether or not situated in easements {théxtures "), (4) all deposit accounts
maintained by Mortgagor with respect to the Morg&roperty (the Deposit Accounts’), (5) all existing and future leases, subleases,
licenses, concessions, occupancy agreements agragfeements (written or oral, now or at any timeffect) which grant to any Person a
possessory interest in, or the right to use or pgcall or any part of the Mortgaged Property, vileetmade before or after the filing by or
against Mortgagor of any petition for relief undlee Bankruptcy Code, together with any extensienewal or replacement of the same and
together with all related security and other detgashe “Leases’), (6) all of the rents, additional rents, revesueyalties, income, proceeds,
profits, early termination fees or payments, segand other types of deposits, and other bengéiid or payable by tenants under the Leases
for using, leasing, licensing, possessing, opegédtiom, residing in, selling or otherwise enjoyithg Mortgaged Property or any part thereof,
whether paid or accruing before or after the filmgor against Mortgagor of any petition for religfder the Bankruptcy Code (th&ents”),

(7) all other agreements, such as constructiorractst, architects’ agreements, engineers’ contratitisy contracts, maintenance agreements,
management agreements, service contracts, lisgregments, guaranties, warranties, permits, licgreegtificates and entitlements in any way
relating to the construction, use, occupancy, d@ramaintenance, enjoyment or ownership of thetlyemed Property, in each case only tc
extent Borrower is permitted under the terms thigieegrant a Lien hereunder (thd*foperty Agreements”), (8) all rights, privileges,
tenements, hereditaments, rights-of-way, easemampendages and appurtenances appertaining tordgoing, (9) all property tax refunds,
utility refunds and rebates, earned or receivaahgttime (the ‘Tax Refunds”), (10) all accessions, replacements and subistitsitfor any of
the foregoing and all proceeds thereof (tirdceeds’), (11) all insurance policies, unearned premiuhesefor and proceeds from such
policies covering any of the above property novinereafter acquired by Mortgagor (thénsurance”), (12) all of Mortgagor’s right, title and
interest in and to any awards, damages, remungesatieimbursements, settlements or compensati@tdiere made or hereafter to be mad:
any governmental authority pertaining to the Lanthrovements or Fixtures (theCondemnation Awards”), (13) all of Mortgagors rights tc
appear and defend any action or proceeding brouigihtrespect to the Mortgaged Property and to contaeany action or proceeding to
protect the interest of Mortgagor in the Mortgagedperty, and (14) all rights, powers, privilegastions and other benefits of Mortgagor as
lessor under the Leases, including, without lindtatthe immediate and continuing right to claim, fieceive, collect and receive all Rents
payable or receivable under the Leases or purshargto (and to apply the same to the paymenteo©Otbligations), and to do all other things
which Mortgagor or any lessor is or may becometledtio do under the Leases. As used in this Mgegthe term “Mortgaged Property” shall
mean all or, where the context permits or requieyg, portion of the above or any interest thereinhith no event shall include Intellectual
Property (as defined in the Loan Agreement).




(c) “Obligations ": Collectively, all of the present and future obligas of Mortgagor and each other Borrower ari
from, or owing under or pursuant to, this Mortgate, Loan Agreement, or any of the other Loan Daentsy including all Loans made un
the Loan Agreement (including any interest, feasl{iding reasonable attorneyees), or expenses that accrue after the filingrofnsolvenc
Proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allide/an whole or in part as a claim in any insolwepcoceeding).

(d) “Permitted Real Property Encumbrances’: shall mean (i) the lien of ad valorem taxes notdeet, and (ii) zonin
restrictions, easements, licenses, restrictiontheruse of real property or minor irregularitieditte thereto, which do not materially impair
use of the Mortgaged Property in the operationhef lbusiness of Mortgagor or Borrowers or the valtighe Mortgaged Property for 1
purpose of such business, and (iii) Permitted Liemder the Loan Agreement that are inherently lmm#lortgaged Property.




(e) “UCC ": The Uniform Commercial Code of the state in whieb tand is located or, if the creation, perfection
enforcement of any security interest herein grargapbverned by the laws of a state other tharsthie in which the Land is located, then, ¢
the matter in question, the Uniform Commercial Ciodeffect in that state.

ARTICLE 2
GRANT

Section 2.1. Grant For and in consideration of good and valuableseration, the receipt and sufficiency whereeflareb
acknowledged, and in order to secure the indebssdaied other obligations of Mortgagor herein seghfdo secure the full and timely paym
and performance of the Obligations, Mortgagor MORIBES, GRANTS A SECURITY INTEREST IN, BARGAINS, ASSNS, SELLS
AND WARRANTS, to Mortgagee the Mortgaged Propegybject, however, to the Permitted Real Propertguibrances, TO HAVE AN
TO HOLD the Mortgaged Property and all parts, rigahd appurtenances thereof, to Mortgagee, andgifgot does hereby bind itself,
successors and assigns to WARRANT AND FOREVER DEDBHe title to the Mortgaged Property unto Mortgage

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, the Mortgaged Property, togettwith all and singular the parts, rights, prigiés, hereditamen
and appurtenances thereto in any ways belongiagertaining, to the use, benefit, and behoof oftysmee, its successors and assigns.

ARTICLE 3
WARRANTIES, REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS

Mortgagor warrants, represents and covenants tagdgee as follows:

Section 3.1. Title to Mortgaged Propertyand Lien of this Instrument . Mortgagor (i) has good and indefeasible titlelte
Mortgaged Property, in fee simple (to the exteat the Mortgaged Property constitutes real propefige and clear of any Liens, claims
interests, except the Permitted Real Property Ebcantes and (ii) has full power and lawful authotiét encumber the Mortgaged Propert
the manner and form set forth in this Mortgage.sTMiortgage creates valid, enforceable first piyoliéns and security interests against
Mortgaged Property.




Section 3.2. First Lien StatusMortgagor shall preserve and protect the firginLstatus of this Mortgage. If any Lien other !
the Permitted Real Property Encumbrances is asisagainst the Mortgaged Property, Mortgagor shalhyptly, and at its expense, (a) ¢
Mortgagee a detailed written notice of such Liertl{iding origin, amount and other terms), and @) the underlying claim in full or take st
other action so as to cause it to be released mesbthe same in compliance with the requiremehthe Loan Agreement (including 1
requirement of providing a bond or other securéiisfactory to Mortgagee).

Section 3.3. Payment and PerformanceMortgagor shall pay the Obligations when due wrile Loan Documents and sl
perform the Obligations in full when they are reqdito be performed.

Section 3.4. Replacement of Fixture€Except as otherwise permitted under the Loan ément or any other Loan Documi
Mortgagor shall not, without the prior written cens of Mortgagee, permit any of the Fixtures torémoved at any time from the Lanc
Improvements, unless the removed item is removetpéearily for maintenance and repair or replacen@ntif removed permanently,
obsolete or is of minimal value, owned by Mortgagobject to the Lien of this Mortgage and the ottean Documents, and free and clee
any other Lien except such as may be permittedrnuheéd oan Agreement or any other Loan Documenappmroved in writing by Mortgagee.

Section 3.5. Inspection Mortgagor shall permit Mortgagee and its agempresentatives and employees to inspec
Mortgaged Property and all books and records oftlyémor located thereon, and to conduct such enviemtal and engineering studies
Mortgagee may require.

Section 3.6. Other CovenantsAll of the covenants in the Loan Agreement ameiporated herein by reference and, togt
with covenants in this Article 3shall, to the extent applicable, be covenantaingwwith the land.




Section 3.7. Condemnation Awards and Insance Proceeds.

€) Condemnation Award#lortgagor, promptly upon obtaining knowledge led institution of any proceedings for
condemnation of the Premises or any portion thereilif notify Mortgagee of the pendency of such ggedings. Mortgagee may patrticipat
any such proceedings and Mortgagor from time teetimill deliver to Mortgagee all instruments reqeelsby it to permit such participatic
Mortgagor assigns all awards and compensation tohwihis entitled for any condemnation or othéting, or any purchase in lieu thereof
Mortgagee and authorizes Mortgagee to collect andive such awards and compensation and to giyepreceipts and acquittances ther
subject to the terms of the Loan Agreement. Morigagpon request by Mortgagee, shall make, exemutedeliver any and all instrume
requested for the purpose of confirming the ass@mnof the aforesaid awards and compensation tagdgee free and clear of any Lie
charges or encumbrances of any kind or nature wbe#s. Notwithstanding the foregoing, provided neiit of Default then exists, with 1
prior written consent of the Mortgagee, Mortgag@ymeceive such proceeds and apply the same torepalr or restoration.

(b) Insurance Proceed®lortgagor assigns to Mortgagee all proceeds gfiasurance policies insuring against los
damage to the Mortgaged Property. Mortgagor auteerMortgagee to collect and receive such procaedsuthorizes and directs the issu
each of such insurance policies to make paymenalfsuch losses directly to Mortgagee, insteatbdflortgagor and Mortgagee jointly,
more specifically described in the Loan Agreemémtthe event that the issuer of such insurancecpddils to disburse directly or solely
Mortgagee but disburses instead either solely totgdgor or to Mortgagor and Mortgagee, jointly, M@gor shall immediately endorse
transfer such proceeds to Mortgagee. Upon Mortgadailure to do so, Mortgagee may execute suchrsedtents or transfers from and in
name of Mortgagor, and Mortgagor hereby irrevocappoints Mortgagee as Mortgagor’s agent and aeimfact so to do. Notwithstandi
the foregoing, provided no Event of Default themstsg with the prior written consent of the Mortgag Mortgagor may receive such proct
and apply the same to such repair or restoration

Section 3.8. Costs of Defending and Uplaig the Lien . If any action or proceeding is commenced to whaction o
proceeding Mortgagee is made a party or in whitte@domes necessary for Mortgagee to defend or dghelLien of this Mortgage includi
any extensions, renewals, amendments or modifitatieereof, Mortgagor shall, on demand, reimbursetg§hgee for all expenses (includi
without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees emakonable appellate attorneys' fees) incurred bgtddgee in any such action or procee
and all such expenses shall be secured by thisgsiget In any action or proceeding to foreclose hhistgage or to recover or collect
Obligations, the provisions of law relating to tieeovering of costs, disbursements and allowaritals grevail unaffected by this covenant.




Section 3.9. TRANSFER OF THE MORTGAGED PRPERTY . EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PERMITTED PURSUAI
TO THE TERMS OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT, MORTGAGOR SHALNOT SELL, TRANSFER, PLEDGE, ENCUMBER, CREATE
SECURITY INTEREST IN, GROUND LEASE, OR OTHERWISE WOTHECATE, ALL OR ANY PORTION OF THE MORTGAGE
PROPERTY WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF MORAGEE. THE CONSENT BY MORTGAGEE TO ANY SAL
TRANSFER, PLEDGE, ENCUMBRANCE, CREATION OF A SECURM INTEREST IN, GROUND LEASE OR OTHE
HYPOTHECATION OF, ANY PORTION OF THE MORTGAGED PRERTY SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE
NOVATION OR A CONSENT TO ANY FURTHER SALE, TRANSFERPLEDGE, ENCUMBRANCE, CREATION OF A SECURI1
INTEREST IN, GROUND LEASE, OR OTHER HYPOTHECATIOMDR TO WAIVE THE RIGHT OF MORTGAGEE, AT ITS OPTIO
TO DECLARE THE OBLIGATIONS SECURED HEREBY IMMEDIATEY DUE AND PAYABLE, WITHOUT NOTICE TC
MORTGAGOR OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY, UPON ANYU&H SALE, TRANSFER, PLEDGE, ENCUMBRANC
CREATION OF A SECURITY INTEREST, GROUND LEASE, ORTBIER HYPOTHECATION TO WHICH MORTGAGEE SHALL NC
HAVE CONSENTED.

Section 3.10. Security DepositsTo the extent required by law, or after an EvehtDefault has occurred and during
continuance, if required by Mortgagee, all secudgposits of tenants of the Mortgaged Propertyl dhaltreated as trust funds not tao
commingled with any other funds of Mortgagor. Whthiventy (20) days after request by Mortgagee, Wagor shall furnish satisfactc
evidence of compliance with this Section 3,18s necessary, together with a statement of allrég deposits deposited by the tenants
copies of all Leases not theretofore delivered totlyagee, as requested thereby, certified by Mgdga

ARTICLE 4
DEFAULT

Section 4.1. Events of DefaultThe occurrence of any of the following eventslisbanstitute an event of default under
Mortgage (each anEvent of Default”):

€) an “Event of Default” (as such terndéfined in the Loan Agreement) shall have occyrred




(b) the breach or violation of any of teems contained in Article 8f this Mortgage (other than 3.4 and 3.6), excka!
with respect to Section 3.3, the following shalhstitute an Event of Default: failure to make q@yment of principal or interest on any Cr
Extension on its due date, failure to make paymduotson the Maturity Date or the date of accelemaiursuant to Section 9.1(a) of the L
Agreement, and failure to pay any other Obligatiwithin three (3) Business Days after such Ohiligatare due and payable.

(c) Mortgagos breach of any of the covenants set forth in Mhistgage other than those set forth in Article 3eld
(other than in Sections 3.3, 3.4 and 3.6) , whiokabh or failure to comply continues for a periddfifteen (15) days or more, providt
however, that if the default cannot by its natueechired within the fifteen (15) day period or canafter diligent attempts by Mortgagor
cured within such fifteen (15) day period, and sdefault is likely to be cured within a reasonainee, then Mortgagor shall have an additic
period (which shall not in any case exceed thiB) (days) to attempt to cure such default, andrpgadhe expiration of such reasonable 1
period the failure to cure the default shall notdeemed an Event of Default; provided, howevesuich breach or failure to comply wo
otherwise result in an Event of Default under tloauh. Agreement or any other Loan Document, suchchreafailure to comply shall result
an Event of Default hereunder concurrently with tiezurrence of an Event of Default under the Loagre&ment or such other Lc
Document; or

(d) if any statement or representatioany warranty or representation set forth in Arti8leereof shall now or hereaf
prove to be false or misleading in any materighees.

ARTICLE 5
REMEDIES AND FORECLOSURE

Section 5.1. Remedieslf an Event of Default exists, Mortgagee may,Mxdrtgagee$ election, exercise any or all of
following rights, remedies and recourses:

€) Declare the Obligations to be immeaiadue and payable, without further notice, présent, protest, notice
intent to accelerate, notice of acceleration, dafr@raction of any nature whatsoever (each of whieteby is expressly waived by Mortgag
whereupon the same shall become immediately dugayable.




(b) Notify all tenants of the Premises aticbthers obligated on leases of any part ofRle@mises that all rents and ot
sums owing on leases have been assigned to Moggawk are to be paid directly to Mortgagee, andrtimrce payment of all obligatic
owing on leases, by suit, ejectment, cancellatrefeasing, reletting or otherwise, whether or natrigagee has taken possession o
Premises, and to exercise whatever rights and res&tbrtgagee may have under any assignment of egmtt leases.

(c) As and to the extent permitted by lawter the Mortgaged Property, either personallipyits agents, nominees
attorneys, and take exclusive possession therebfremneupon, Mortgagee may (i) use, operate, mamagérol, insure, maintain, repair, res
and otherwise deal with all and every part of theniises and conduct business thereat; (i) compleyeconstruction on the Premises in ¢
manner and form as Mortgagee deems advisable irettsnable exercise of its judgment; (iii) exer@$ rights and power of Mortgagor w
respect to the Premises, whether in the name otgdgor, or otherwise, including, without limitatiotihe right to make, cancel, enforce
modify leases, obtain and evict tenants, and depsuelfor, collect and receive all earnings, reesnuents, issues, profits and other incon
the Premises and every part thereof, which rightdl 10t be in limitation of Mortgagee's rights @ndany assignment of rents and le
securing the Obligations; and (iv) pursuant tophavisions of the Loan Agreement, apply the recefpim the Premises to the payment o
Obligations, after deducting therefrom all expen@esluding attorneys' fees) incurred in connectisith the aforesaid operations and
amounts necessary to pay the taxes, assessmentsgrioe and other charges in connection with thetddged Property, as well as just
reasonable compensation for the services of Moeggaits counsel, agents and employees.

(d) Hold, lease, develop, manage, opesataetherwise use the Mortgaged Property upon sewhs and conditions
Mortgagee may deem reasonable under the circunestafmaking such repairs, alterations, additions iamgrovements and taking otl
actions, from time to time, as Mortgagee deems sszug or desirable), and apply all Rents and odimeounts collected by Mortgagee
connection therewith in accordance with the pravisiof Section 5.fereof.

(e) Require Mortgagor to assemble anyatethl under the UCC and make it available to My, at Mortgagas’sole
risk and expense, at a place or places to be desigiby Mortgagee, in its sole discretion.




) Institute proceedings for the complfsteeclosure of this Mortgage, either by judiciatian or, to the extent permitt
by law, by power of sale, in which case the Morggh&roperty may be sold for cash or credit in atmoce with applicable law in one or m
parcels as Mortgagee may determine. Except asvaeerequired by applicable law, with respect tg aatices required or permitted under
UCC, Mortgagor agrees that twenty (20) dgysor written notice shall be deemed commerciaigsonable. At any such sale by virtue of
judicial proceedings, power of sale (to the exteatmitted by law), or any other legal right, remeatyrecourse, the title to and right
possession of any such property shall pass toutehpser thereof, and to the fullest extent peeailty law, Mortgagor shall be completely
irrevocably divested of all of its right, title,terest, claim, equity, equity of redemption, andhdad whatsoever, either at law or in equit
and to the property sold and such sale shall er@epual bar both at law and in equity against gegbr, and against all other Persons clail
or to claim the property sold or any part therdgf, through or under Mortgagor. Mortgagee may perghaser at such sale. If Mortgagee i
highest bidder, Mortgagee may credit the portiothef purchase price that would be distributed totlybmee against the Obligations in liel
paying cash. In the event this Mortgage is foremdosy judicial action, appraisement and valuatibthe Mortgaged Property is waived. In
event of any sale made under or by virtue of thiicke 5 (whether made by virtue of judicial proceedingsobra judgment or decree
foreclosure and sale) all of the Obligations, if peeviously due and payable, immediately thereugmall become due and payable. The fa
to make any such tenants of the Premises partyytsiach foreclosure proceedings and to foreclosie tlghts will not be, nor be asserted t
by Mortgagor, a defense to any proceedings institbity Mortgagee to collect the sums secured hereby.

(9) With or without entry, to the extergrmitted and pursuant to the procedures provideddpficable law, institu
proceedings for the partial foreclosure of this Mage for the portion of the Obligations then dod payable (if Mortgagee shall have ele
not to declare the entire Obligations to be immietjadue and owing), subject to the continuing Ladrthis Mortgage for the balance of
Obligations not then due; or (1) as and to therexpermitted by law, sell for cash or upon credé Mortgaged Property or any part thereof
all estate, claim, demand, right, title and inte#sMortgagor therein, pursuant to power of satetiie extent permitted by law) or otherwise
one or more sales, as an entity or in parcelspel $ime and place, upon such terms and after sotibe thereof as may be requirec
permitted by law, and in the event of a sale, bgdsure or otherwise, of less than all of the tgaged Property, this Mortgage shall cont
as a Lien on the remaining portion of the MortgaBeoperty; or (2) institute an action, suit or greding in equity for the specific performa
of any covenant, condition or agreement contairgz@ih or in any Credit Document; or (3) to the extgermitted by applicable law, reco
judgment on the Loan Agreement or any other Loacubwnt either before, during or after any procegslifor the enforcement of tl
Mortgage.




(h) Make application to a court of competgirisdiction for, and obtain from such courtasnatter of strict right ai
without notice to Mortgagor or regard to the adexyuaf the Mortgaged Property for the repaymenthaf ©bligations, the appointment ¢
receiver of the Mortgaged Property, and Mortgag@viocably consents to such appointment. Any sachiver shall have all the usual pov
and duties of receivers in similar cases, includirggfull power to rent, maintain and otherwiserape the Mortgaged Property upon such t
as may be approved by the court, and shall appmlly Rents in accordance with the provisions of $adh. 7hereof.

0] Exercise all other rights, remediesl aacourses granted under the Loan Documents erwite available at law
in equity.

Section 5.2. Separate SaleShe Mortgaged Property may be sold in one or npaneels and in such manner and orde
Mortgagee in its sole discretion may direct; thghtiof sale arising out of any Event of Defaultlshat be exhausted by any one or more sales

Section 5.3. Remedies Cumulative, Concemt and Nonexclusive. Mortgagee shall have all rights, remedies anduese
granted in the Loan Documents and available atdaequity (including the UCC), which rights (a) #h#e cumulated and concurrent, (b) r
be pursued separately, successively or concurragaynst Mortgagor or others obligated under thenLDocuments, or against the Mortge
Property, or against any one or more of them, estile discretion of Mortgagee, as the case magcheyay be exercised as often as occ:
therefor shall arise, and the exercise or failorexercise any of them shall not be construedwaaizer or release thereof or of any other ri
remedy or recourse, and (d) are intended to beshallibe, nonexclusive. No action by Mortgagethinenforcement of any rights, remedie
recourses under the Loan Documents or otherwisevabr equity shall be deemed to cure any Evemefault.

Section 5.4. Release of and Resort to fatéral . Mortgagee may release, regardless of consideratid without the necess
for any notice to or consent by the holder of amyasdinate Lien on the Mortgaged Property, any phthe Mortgaged Property without, a:
the remainder, in any way impairing, affecting, autinating or releasing the Lien created in or emitkd by the Loan Documents or their st
as a first and prior Lien in and to the MortgagedpRrty. For payment of the Obligations, Mortgagesy resort to any other security in s
order and manner as Mortgagee may elect.




Section 5.5. Waiver of Redemption, Noticend Marshalling of Assets. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Mortge
hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives astbases (a) all benefit that might accrue to Maytgaby virtue of any present or futi
statute of limitations or law or judicial decisienempting the Mortgaged Property from attachmey br sale on execution or providing
any stay of execution, exemption from civil progegslemption or extension of time for payment,glbnotices of any Event of Default or
any election by Mortgagee to exercise or the aanatcise of any right, remedy or recourse proviedinder the Loan Documents, excef
otherwise specifically set forth in_Section /éreof or elsewhere in this Mortgage or any othearl Document, and (c) any right t
marshalling of assets or a sale in inverse ordetiehation.

Section 5.6. Discontinuance of Proceedmg If Mortgagee shall have proceeded to invoke aghtr remedy or recour
permitted under the Loan Documents and shall tlitere@lect to discontinue or abandon it for anysma Mortgagee shall have the unquali
right to do so and, in such an event, Mortgagor klodtgagee shall be restored to their former posgiwith respect to the Obligations,
Loan Documents, the Mortgaged Property and othervéiad the rights, remedies, recourses and poviévteidgagee shall continue as if
right, remedy or recourse had never been invoketnd such discontinuance or abandonment shallenaiy Event of Default which may tt
exist or the right of Mortgagee thereafter to eisgrany right, remedy or recourse under the Loacub@nts for such Event of Default.

Section 5.7. Application of ProceedsThe proceeds of any sale made under or by viofukis Article 5, together with ar
Rents and other amounts generated by the holdaging, management, operation or other use of tregsiged Property, shall be appliec
Mortgagee (or the receiver, if one is appointedhimfollowing order unless otherwise required pplaable law:

€)) to the payment of the costs and exgemd taking possession of the Mortgaged Property @& holding, using
leasing, repairing, improving and selling the saimeluding, without limitation (1) trustee’s andceiver's fees and expenses, including
repayment of the amounts evidenced by any recsivertificates, (2) court costs, (3) attorneys’ andountantsfees and expenses, (4) cosi
advertisement, (5) all costs and expenses incussedlortgagee to cure defaults of Mortgagor undes Mortgage and the other Lc
Documents, and (6) all costs and expenses incbyrédortgagee to protect or preserve the Mortgagegétty;




(b) to the payment of the Obligations uicls manner and order of preference as set fortheir.oan Agreement and
other Loan Documents; and

(c) the balance, if any, to the paymernthefPersons legally entitled thereto.

Section 5.8. Occupancy After ForeclosureExcept as otherwise required by applicable law,sale of the Mortgaged Prope
or any part thereof in accordance with Sectionfb.dr Section 5.1(ghereof will divest all right, title and interest dortgagor in and to tt
property sold. Subject to applicable law, any passhr at a foreclosure sale will receive immediatsspssion of the property purchase
Mortgagor retains possession of such property pmant thereof subsequent to such sale, Mortgaglbb&/considered a tenant at sufferanc
the purchaser, and will, if Mortgagor remains irsgession after demand to remove, be subject tdi@viand removal, forcible or otherwi
with or without process of law.

Section 5.9. Additional Advances and Dislbsements; Costs of Enforcement

(a) If any Event of Default exists, Mortgee shall have the right, but not the obligationgure such Event of Default
the name and on behalf of Mortgagor. All sums adedrand expenses incurred at any time by Mortgagder this Section 5.9or otherwis
under this Mortgage or any of the other Loan Doausi@r applicable law, shall bear interest from da¢e that such sum is advance
expense incurred, to and including the date of beirsement, computed at the rate or rates at whitdrest is then computed on
Obligations, and all such sums, together with ggethereon, shall be secured by this Mortgage.

(b) Subject to any limits set forth in thean Agreement, Mortgagor shall pay all expenseslyding reasonab
attorneys’fees and expenses and all costs and expensesirédakegal work, research and litigation) of oridental to the perfection a
enforcement of this Mortgage and the other Loanubments, or the enforcement, compromise or settlemiethe Obligations or any cla
under this Mortgage and the other Loan Documenmnis far the curing thereof, or for defending or @assg the rights and claims of Mortgag
in respect thereof, by litigation or otherwise.




Section 5.10. No Mortgagee in Possessidweither the enforcement of any of the remediedeurhis_Article 5, the assignme
of the Rents and Leases under ArticletBe security interests under Article vior any other remedies afforded to Mortgagee utite Loal
Documents, at law or in equity shall cause Mortgaigebe deemed or construed to be a mortgageessegsion of the Mortgaged Propert
obligate Mortgagee to lease the Mortgaged Proparttempt to do so, or to take any action, inay expense, or perform or discharge
obligation, duty or liability whatsoever under avfythe Leases or otherwise.

Section 5.11. WAIVER OF MORTGAGOR'S RIGHTS . BY EXECUTION OF THIS MORTGAGE, MORTGAGQ
EXPRESSLY: (A) ACKNOWLEDGES THE RIGHT OF MORTGAGEHO ACCELERATE THE APPLICABLE INDEBTEDNES
EVIDENCED BY THE LOAN AGREEMENT OR OTHER LOAN DOCUMNTS, AS THE CASE MAY BE, UPON THE OCCURREN:!
OF AN EVENT OF DEFAULT,; (B) TO THE EXTENT ALLOWED B APPLICABLE LAW, AND EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FOR1
IN SECTION 4.1HEREOF OR ELSEWHERE IN THIS MORTGAGE, THE LOAN AGEEIENT, OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT
WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS WHICH MORTGAGOR MAY HAVE BY REASON OF ANY APPLICABLE LAW, TO NOTICE ANI
TO JUDICIAL HEARING PRIOR TO THE EXERCISE BY MORTGBEE OF ANY RIGHT OR REMEDY HEREIN PROVIDED T
MORTGAGEE; (C) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT MORTGAGOR HAS READHIS MORTGAGE AND ITS PROVISIONS HAVE BEE
EXPLAINED FULLY TO MORTGAGOR AND MORTGAGOR HAS CONSLTED WITH LEGAL COUNSEL OF MORTGAGOR'
CHOICE PRIOR TO EXECUTING THIS MORTGAGE; AND (D) AINOWLEDGES THAT ALL WAIVERS OF THE AFORESAII
RIGHTS OF MORTGAGOR HAVE BEEN MADE KNOWINGLY, INTENIONALLY AND WILLINGLY BY MORTGAGOR AS PART
OF A BARGAINED FOR LOAN TRANSACTION.

ARTICLE 6
ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS AND LEASES

Section 6.1. Assignment In furtherance of and in addition to the assignim@ade by Mortgagor in_Section 2df this
Mortgage, as security for the Obligations. Mortgabereby transfers and conveys to Mortgagee alisofight, title and interest in and to
Leases, whether now existing or hereafter enterd and all of its right, title and interest indato all Rents. This assignment is an assign
for additional security only. So long as no EvehDefault shall have occurred and be continuing tmthe extent not prohibited by the L«
Agreement, Mortgagor shall have the right from Magee to exercise all rights extended to the laddiader the Leases, including the rigt
receive and collect all Rents and to use the sana@y manner as it sees fit. The foregoing riglgranted subject to the conditional limitai
that no Event of Default shall have occurred anddrginuing. Upon the occurrence and during thainaoance of an Event of Default, whet
or not legal proceedings have commenced, and wittegard to waste, adequacy of security for thedalibns or solvency of Mortgagor, 1
rights herein granted shall automatically expird garminate, without notice by Mortgagee (any snotice being hereby expressly waivec
Mortgagor).




Section 6.2. Perfection Upon RecordatianMortgagor acknowledges that Mortgagee has takeattons necessary to obte
and that upon recordation of this Mortgage, Mor@gaghall have, to the extent permitted under agipléclaw, a valid and fully perfected, f
priority, present assignment of the Rents arisingaf the Leases and all security for such Leakkstgagor acknowledges and agrees
upon recordation of this Mortgage, Mortgagee’s rege in the Rents shall be deemed to be fully peete “choate’and enforced as
Mortgagor and all third parties, including, withdlirnitation, any subsequently appointed trusteey case under the Bankruptcy Ci
without the necessity of commencing a foreclosution with respect to this Mortgage, making forndaimand for the Rents, obtaining
appointment of a receiver or taking any other affitive action.

Section 6.3. Bankruptcy Provisions Without limitation of the absolute nature of thesignment of the Rents hereun
Mortgagor and Mortgagee agree that (a) this Morgsttall constitute a “security agreemeifot” purposes of Section 552(b) of the Bankru
Code, (b) the security interest created by this tiyige extends to property of Mortgagor acquirecbfgethe commencement of a cas
bankruptcy and to all amounts paid as Rents andsich security interest shall extend to all Rerdquaed by the estate after
commencement of any case in bankruptcy.

Section 6.4. No Merger of EstatesSo long as part of the Obligations secured herelain unpaid and undischarged, the
and leasehold estates to the Mortgaged Propertiyrgitanerge, but shall remain separate and distimatwithstanding the union of such est
either in Mortgagor, Mortgagee, any tenant or drigdtparty by purchase or otherwise.




ARTICLE 7
SECURITY AGREEMENT

Section 7.1. Security InterestThis Mortgage constitutes a “security agreementpersonal property within the meaning of
UCC and other applicable law and with respect &Rixtures, Leases, Rents, Deposit Accounts, Pippgreements, Tax Refunds, Proce
Insurance and Condemnation Awards. To this end,tddgor grants to Mortgagee a first and prior séguriterest in the Fixtures, Leas
Rents, Deposit Accounts, Property Agreements, Tefxiils, Proceeds, Insurance and Condemnation Awadiall other Mortgaged Prope
which is personal property to secure the paymedtparformance of the Obligations, and agrees thattddgee shall have all the rights
remedies of a secured party under the UCC witheasjo such property. Any notice of sale, dispositbr other intended action by Mortga
with respect to the Fixtures, Leases, Rents, Depastounts, Property Agreements, Tax Refunds, Raeelnsurance and Condemna
Awards sent to Mortgagor at least ten (10) daysrpd any action under the UCC shall constitutesoeable notice to Mortgagor.

Section 7.2. Financing StatementsMortgagor shall deliver to Mortgagee, in form asubstance satisfactory to Mortgag
such financing statements and such further assesaag Mortgagee may, from time to time, reasonedogider necessary to create, perfec
preserve Mortgageg'security interest hereunder and Mortgagee magecauch statements and assurances to be recorddiedn at suc
times and places as may be required or permittedalwyto so create, perfect and preserve such $gcuterest. Mortgagos state ¢
organization is the State of Florida.

Section 7.3. Fixture Filing To the extent permitted under the UCC of theestatvhich the Land is located, this Mortgage ¢
also constitute a “fixture filingfor the purposes of the UCC against all of the lgaged Property which is or is to become fixturaformatior
concerning the security interest herein granted beagbtained at the address of Debtor (Mortgagud) @ecured Party (Mortgagee) as set"
in the first paragraph of this Mortgage.




ARTICLE 8
RESERVED

ARTICLE 9
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.1. NoticesAny notice required or permitted to be given urttiés Mortgage shall be given in accordance wiht®r
11.1 of the Loan Agreement.

Section 9.2. Covenants Running with theand . All Obligations contained in this Mortgage ar¢eimded by Mortgagor a
Mortgagee to be, and shall be construed as, cotenaming with the Mortgaged Property. As usecimer‘Mortgagor”’shall refer to the par
named in the first paragraph of this Mortgage andrty subsequent owner of all or any portion of Mwtgaged Property. All Persons v
may have or acquire an interest in the Mortgageg&hy shall be deemed to have notice of, and badby, the terms of the Loan Agreen
and the other Loan Documents; however, no sucly gagll be entitled to any rights thereunder withitie prior written consent of Mortgagee.

Section 9.3. Attorneyn-Fact . Mortgagor hereby irrevocably appoints Mortgagee is successors and assigns, as its attorn
in-fact, which agency is coupled with an interest aiitth full power of substitution, (a) to execute &drecord any notices of completi
cessation of labor or any other notices that Maytgadeems appropriate to protect Mortgagj@gerest, if Mortgagor shall fail to do so wit
ten (10) days after written request by Mortgagbgupon the issuance of a deed pursuant to thelésuare of this Mortgage or the delivery «
deed in lieu of foreclosure, to execute all instemts of assignment, conveyance or further assunaitberespect to the Leases, Rents, De|
Accounts, Property Agreements, Tax Refunds, Prazdedurance and Condemnation Awards in favor efgfantee of any such deed an
may be necessary or desirable for such purposeto(@repare, execute and file or record financitajesnents, continuation stateme
applications for registration and like papers neagsto create, perfect or preserve Mortgagesecurity interests and rights in or to any o
Mortgaged Property, and (d) while any Event of Défaxists, to perform any obligation of Mortgad@reunder, however: (1) Mortgagee <
not under any circumstances be obligated to perfamgnobligation of Mortgagor; (2) any sums advanbgdMortgagee in such performal
shall be added to and included in the Obligatiars shall bear interest at the rate or rates athwiniierest is then computed on the Obligati
(3) Mortgagee as such attorneyfaet shall only be accountable for such funds asaatually received by Mortgagee; and (4) Mortgas}es
not be liable to Mortgagor or any other personrdite for any failure to take any action which stempowered to take under this Section.9.:
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Mortgagee shall @ble for its gross negligence, willful misconduend bad faith in connection w
exercising its rights hereunder to the extent deitgzd by a court of competent jurisdiction in aafimon-appealable judgment.




Section 9.4. Successors and Assigihis Mortgage shall be binding upon and inurthobenefit of Mortgagee and Mortga
and their respective successors and assigns. Mortgdoall not, without the prior written consentMbrtgagee, assign any rights, dutie
obligations hereunder.

Section 9.5. No WaiverAny failure by Mortgagee to insist upon strictfoemance of any of the terms, provisions or cdondd
of the Loan Documents shall not be deemed to beaigew of same, and Mortgagee shall have the righang time to insist upon str
performance of all such terms, provisions and dis.

Section 9.6. Loan Agreementlf any conflict or inconsistency exists betwehis tMortgage and the Loan Agreement, the |
Agreement shall govern.

Section 9.7. Release or Reconveyandgpon payment and performance in full of the Odigns and termination of the Lc
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, Mortgaafedortgagors expense, shall release the Liens created byvihitgage or reconvey t
Mortgaged Property to Mortgagor.

Section 9.8. Waiver of Stay, Moratorium iad Similar Rights . Mortgagor agrees, to the full extent that it nteyfully do so
that it will not at any time insist upon or pleadin any way take advantage of any stay, marslgpltih assets, extension, redemptiol
moratorium law now or hereafter in force and effeotas to prevent or hinder the enforcement ofpilowisions of this Mortgage or t
Obligations secured hereby, or any agreement betMestgagor and Mortgagee or any rights or remediddortgagee.

Section 9.9. Applicable Law This Mortgage shall be governed by and constwmadkr the laws of the state in which
Mortgaged Property is located.




Section 9.10. HeadingsThe Article, Section and Subsection titles hearefinserted for convenience of reference onlysdrad
in no way alter, modify or define, or be used imstouing, the text of such Articles, Sections ob&ctions.

Section 9.11. Entire AgreementThis Mortgage and the other Loan Documents emlbloelentire agreement and understan
between Mortgagor and Mortgagee and supersedeiail ggreements and understandings between sutleeaglating to the subject ma
hereof and thereof. Accordingly, the Loan Documeantsy not be contradicted by evidence of prior, emgoraneous or subsequent
agreements of the parties. There are no unwrittelhagreements between the parties.

Section 9.12. ProceedsSo long as no Event of Default shall have occuard be continuing and to the extent not prohibiitg
the Loan Agreement, Mortgagor shall have a thetrfghm Mortgagee to use Tax Refunds and cash Pdsceeany manner as it sees
including for general working capital (without tleame constituting Proceeds). The foregoing righgyrented subject to the conditio
limitation that no Event of Default shall have oged and be continuing. Upon the occurrence anéhguhe continuance of an Event
Default, whether or not legal proceedings have cenwad, and without regard to waste, adequacy ofitgdor the Obligations or solvency
Mortgagor, the right herein granted shall autonadiffcexpire and terminate, without notice by Moxga (any such notice being her
expressly waived by Mortgagor).

ARTICLE 10
LOCAL LAW PROVISIONS

Section 10.1. Inconsistenciesin the event of any inconsistency between thms$eand conditions of the other articles
provisions of this Mortgage and this Article lthe terms and conditions of this Article dilall control and be binding.

Section 10.2. Costs, Expenses and AttoyseFees. The terms, “expenses (including, without limitatj reasonable attorneys’
fees) incurred by Mortgagee,” “costs, disbursemamd allowances,” “costs and expenses of takinggssion of the Mortgaged Property,
“attorneys’ fees and expenses,” and similar ternts ghrases as used in this Mortgage, includindyawit limitation,_Sections 3.85.7(a), 5.9
(b) and 10.4shall include, without limitation, support staff darparaprofessional costs, amounts expended iratiibiy preparation ai
computerized research, telephone and telefax egpemsileage, depositions, postage, photocopiesepsoservice, videotapes, and all ¢
associated with environmental testing, audits,a@sj inspections, remediation and clean-up.




Section 10.3. Fixture Filing Mortgagor and Mortgagee agree, to the extent piearby law, that: (i) all of the goods subjec
the foregoing grant of security interest, or arbégome, fixtures on the land described in ExHAbjt(ii) this instrument, upon recording in
real estate records of the proper office, shalktiute a “fixture filing” within the meaning of $tons 9.1-313 and 9.402 of the UCC; (iii
Mortgagor is a record owner of the Premises; (i) addresses of Mortgagor and Mortgagee are dsrebn the first page of this Mortga
(v) Mortgagor’s state organizational number is 18619; and (vi) a carbon, photographic, or otheradpction of this instrument, or of a
financing statement relating hereto, shall be sidfit for filing purposes.

Section 10.4. IndebtednessThis Mortgage is given to secure indebtednesmimmount not to exceed a maximum aggrt
principal amount of TEN MILLION DOLLARS ($10,000,00), exclusive of interest thereon, fees withpees thereto and exclusive
unpaid balances of advances made with respecetdtrtgaged Property for the protection of the idaged Property or the security of
Mortgage or for the payment of taxes, assessmimsisgrance premiums and all other costs which Mgegais authorized by the Mortgagt
pay on Mortgagos behalf and exclusive of attorneys fees incurnedMiortgagee in connection with any collection ofagnement actio
hereunder; and all amendments, extensions, renewatiifications, replacements or substitutionsrty ef the foregoing.

[The remainder of this page has been intentionaléft blank]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , Mortgagor has caused this Mortgage to be duly EXEED AND DELIVERED by its duly

authorized representative all as of the day andfysaabove written.

MORTGAGOR:

ACURA PHARMACEUTICAL
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. , an Indiane
corporation

By: /s/ Peter A. Clemer

Name: Peter A. Clemel
Title: Sr. VP & CFC




STATE OFlllinois )
)ss.
COUNTY OFCook )

On December 16, 2013, before me, the undersignetiril Public in and for said State and County, ealy appeared [Peter
Clemens, personally known to me (or proved to meahenbasis of satisfactory evidence) to be thequerghose name is subscribed to
within instrument and acknowledged to me that hecated the same in his authorized capacity, artdothhis signature on the instrument
person, or the entity upon behalf of which the peracted, executed the instrument.

WITNESS my hand and official sei

/s/ Robert A. Seise
Notary Public, State of lllinoi

Robert A. Seise
Printed Name of Notary Publ

My Commission Expires8/13/201€

PREPARED BY, RECORDING REQUESTED B
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:

Jonathan Bell Esc
Greenberg Traurig LLI
One International Plac
20" Floor

Boston, MA 0211(

| affirm, under the penalties for perjury, that dve taken reasonable care to redact each Sociatityesumber in this document, unl
required by law.

- Jonathan Bell, Esq.




Exhibit A
Real Property Description

A part of the Northwest Quarter of Section 9, Toips32 North, Range 1 East, Union Township, MaisBalunty, Indiana, described
follows: Commencing at the Northeast corner of $éddthwest Quarter; thence South 0°00’'@Xst (assumed bearing) along the East il
said Northwest Quarter a distance of 691.20 feet RK nail at the point of beginning; thence cauitig South 0°00'00’East along said E
line a distance of 691.20 feet to a PK nail; theSoath 89°52’40” West a distance of 200.00 feed /8 inch rebar; thence South 0°00'00
East a distance of 346.00 feet to a 5/8 inch rahance North 89°39'39West a distance of 1092.89 feet to a 5/8 inch rebahe West line
the East half of said Northwest Quarter; thencetiN@f09'23” West along said West line a distance of 1011.77téea 5/8 inch rebar; ther
North 89°0¢41” East a distance of 1313.44 feet to the point ofifregg, containing 29.077 acres, more or less. &ilp legal highway
rights-of-way and easements of record.

EXCEPT:

A part of the Northwest Quarter of Section 9, tolips32 North, Range 1 East, Union Township, Mails@alunty, Indiana, described
follows: Commencing at a 5/8 inch iron rod locatgdhe Northeast corner of said Northwest Quattemce South 00°00’00WVest (recor
bearing) along the East line of said Quarter 11%%#&t to a Mag nail at the point of beginningtugtdescription; thence continuing South 00
00’00” West along the East line of said Quarter 213.27tfe@ PK nail at the Northeast corner of the HdlerFishburn parcel as recordet
Deed Record 1984, page 4258 in the Office of theskil County Recorder; thence South 89°52"WXst 200.00 feet to a 5/8 inch iron ro
the Northwest corner of said Fishburn parcel; tkeBouth 00°00’00West along the West line of said Fishburn parcér 4eet to a 5/8 inc
iron rod at the intersection with the Easterly esien of a chainlink fence; thence North 89°15’18&st along said fenceline 109.57 feet
fence corner post; thence North 00°35'23" East glsaid fenceline 128.93 feet to a fence corner; floehce North 88°56’06East along sa
fenceline 40.40 feet to a fence corner post; th&argh 00°15'11" East 37.88 feet to a 5/8 inch irod, thence North 89°35’4@ast 65.54 fe:
to a 5/8 inch iron rod; thence North 02°36'10” E48t65 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod; thence Norti52940” East 199.93 feet to the point
beginning, containing 1.37 acres, subject to akezents, rights-of-way and restrictions of record.




EXECUTION VERSION

SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  (this “ Amendment”) made this 12" day
“of December, 2013 by and betweeBURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. , a New York corporation (theCorporation "), with offices at
616 N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, lllino67 andPETER A. CLEMENS (the “Employee”).
RECITALS

A. The Corporation and the Employee executed an Eixecttmployment Agreement dated as of March 10, 189&mended
(as amended, tI* Employment Agreement”).
B. The Corporatioil!! and the Employee now desire to further amend thpl&ment Agreement as provided here
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and ttallings herein contained, the parties agree &l

1. The first sentence of Section 3(a) of the Emplegt Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety the following is inserted in its

place:

“(a) Base Salary The Corporation shall pay the Employee an aggedogase salary at an annual rate of $280,000 paymabl
equal installments on the Compasyegular payroll schedule, less such deductiomsmunts to be withheld as required by applic
law or regulations.”

2. The first sentence of Section 3(b) of the Empilent Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety the following is inserted in its
place:

“(b) Annual Bonus During the Term, the Employee will be eligiblerteive from the Corporation an annual bonus (the
“Bonus”) in the amount of up to seventy percentgj@f the Employee’s then current annual Base $alaring the fiscal year (or
portion thereof) for which the Bonus may be awartled

3. Except as expressly amended by this AmendnmtenEinployment Agreement remains in full force afidat. Capitalized terms
used herein shall have the same meaning as innipdolfment Agreement unless otherwise defined hefiéiis Amendment shall be governed
and construed and enforced in accordance withoited laws of the State of New York applicable toesgnents made and to be performed
entirely in New York.

1The Board of Directors of the Corporation approteglterms of this Amendment at its December 12320&eting following the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee wiicbmmended approval at its September 20, 2013mgeet




4. This Amendment may be executed in one or marsirfale or original counterparts, each of whichlsha deemed an original, but
all of which taken together will constitute one @hd same instrument.

5. This Amendment shall be effective on Janua3014.

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Amendment aseaddte first above written.
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Robert Jone

Name: Robert B. Jont
Title: President an
Chief Executive Office
EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Peter Clemer

Peter A. Clemen




CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine , lllinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéndbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-151653, 333-151620, 3333172
333-123615, 333-63288, and 33-98356) and on FoB(I¥s. 333-146416 and 33®7075) of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our regdater
March 3, 2014, relating to the consolidated finahstatements, which appear in this Form 10-K.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 3, 201«




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert B. Jones, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescontain any untrue statement of a material facbmit to state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligktteotircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this reg

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disaie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15€&)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedures fesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpg; or caused such internal control over finahoéporting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmoce with generally accepted accounting princjj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimegport our conclusions ab:
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls aratguiures, as of the end of the period covered Isyréport based on sL
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmi$anternal control over financial reporting theicurred during the registrai
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qegrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondikly to materially affect, th
registrant's internal control over financial repugt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetazammittee of the registrant's board of direct@mspersons performing the equival
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controgofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the rtegig's ability to record, process, summarize @it financial information; an

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveammagement or other employees who have a significé@tin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 27, 201

/s/IRobert B. Jone
Robert B. Jone
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescontain any untrue statement of a material facbmit to state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligktteotircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this reg

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disaie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15€&)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e15(f) and 15-15(f) ) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedures fesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpg; or caused such internal control over finahoéporting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmoce with generally accepted accounting princjj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimegport our conclusions ab:
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls aratguiures, as of the end of the period covered Isyréport based on sL
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmi$anternal control over financial reporting theicurred during the registrai
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qegrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondikly to materially affect, th
registrant's internal control over financial repugt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetazammittee of the registrant's board of direct@mspersons performing the equival
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controgofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the rtegig's ability to record, process, summarize @it financial information; an

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveammagement or other employees who have a significé@tin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 27, 201«

/s/Peter A. Clemer
Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert B. Jones, certify, pursuant to 18 U.9.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 1@ of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2013 fully complies with thguirements «
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange & 1934 and that information contained in suanial Report of Form 18- fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of the slatesented and results of operations of 2
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the periods presented.

February 27, 2014 By: /s/Robert B. Jone
Robert B. Jone
President and Chief Executive Offic

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaSasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 1@ of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2013 fully complies with thguirements «
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange & 1934 and that information contained in suandal Report of Form 18- fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of the slatesented and results of operations of 2
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the periods presented.

February 27, 2014 By: [/s/Peter A. Clemer
Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




